RESEARCH AND PERSPECTIVES IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

Fondation Ipsen

Editor

Yves Christen, Fondation Ipsen, Paris (France)

Editorial Board

Yves Agid, Hôpital Pitié Salpêtrière, Paris (France) Albert Aguavo, The Montreal General Hospital, Montreal (Canada) Brian H. Anderton, St George's Hospital Medical School, London (GB) Raymond T. Bartus, Cortex, Irvine (USA) Anders Björklund, University of Lund (Sweden) Floyd Bloom, Scripps Clinic and Research Foundation, La Jolla (USA) François Boller, Inserm U324, Paris (France) Peter Davies, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, New-York (USA) André Delacourte, Inserm U16, Lille (France) Steven Ferris, New-York University Medical Center, New-York (USA) Jean-François Foncin, Hôpital Pitié Salpêtrière, Paris (France) François Forette, Hôpital Broca, Paris (France) Fred Gage, University of California, La Jolla (USA) Carleton D. Gajdusek, National Institute of Health, Bethesda (USA) George G. Glenner, University of California, La Jolla (USA) Dmitry Goldgaber, State University of New York, Stony Brook (USA) John Hardy, St Mary's Hospital, Medical School, London (GB) Jean-Jaques Hauw, Hôpital Pitié Salpêtrière, Paris (France) Robert Katzman, University of California, La Jolla (USA) Claude Kordon, Inserm U159 Paris (France) Yvon Lamor, Inserm U161, Paris (France) Jacqes Mallet, CNRS, Gif-sur-Yvette (France) Colin L. Masters, University of Melbourne, Parkville (Australia) Stanley I. Rapoport, National Institute on Aging, Bethesda (USA) André Rascol, Hôpital Purpan, Toulouse (France) Barry Reisberg, New York University Medical Center, New York (USA) Dennis J. Selkoe, Harvard Medical School Center for Neurological Diseases and Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston (USA) Michael L. Shelanski, Columbia University, New-York (USA) Jean-Louis Signoret, Hôpital Pitié Salpêtrière, Paris (France) Pierre-Marie Sinet, Hôpital Necker, Paris (France) Peter St George Hyslop, Massachussetts General Hospital, Boston (USA) Henry Wisniewski, Institute for Basic Research in Development Disabilities, Staten Island (USA) Edouard Zarifian, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire, Caen (France).

F. Boller R. Katzman A. Rascol J.-L. Signoret Y. Christen (Eds.)

Biological Markers of Alzheimer's Disease



Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg New York London Paris Tokyo Hong Kong Boller, François, Prof. Inserm U324 2 ter, rue d'Alesia 75014 Paris, France

Katzman, Robert, Prof. University of California at San Diego La Jolla, USA

Rascol, André, Prof. Hôpital Purpan Toulouse, France

Signoret, Jean-Louis, Prof. Hôpital Salpêtrière, Paris, France

Christen, Yves, Dr. Fondation IPSEN pour la Recherche Thérapeutique, 30, rue Cambronne, F-75737 Paris Cédex

ISBN-13: 978-3-642-46692-2 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-46690-8 e-ISBN-13: 978-3-642-46690-8

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustration, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in other ways, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is only permitted under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its version of June 24, 1985, and a copyright feet must always be paid. Violations fall under the prosecution act of the German Copyright Law.

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 1989 Softcover reprint of the hardcover 1st edition 1989

The use of general descriptive names, trade names, trade marks, etc. in this publication, even if the former are not especially identified, is not to be taken as a sign that such names, as understood by the Trade Marks and Merchandise Marks Act, may accordingly be used freely by anyone.

Product Liability: The publisher can give no guarantee for information about drug dosage and application thereof contained in this book. In every individual case the respective user must check its a accuracy by consulting other pharmaceutical literature.

2127/3140/543210 - Printed on acid-free paper

Preface

This volume presents the proceedings of the symposium held in Toulouse on April 24, 1989, on the topic "Biological Markers of Alzheimer's Disease." This symposium was the fourth of a continuing and successful series of Colloques Médecine et Recherche organized by the Fondation IPSEN pour la Recherche Thérapeutique, addressing various aspects of contemporary research in the field of Alzheimer's disease (AD). The series started in September 1987 with "Immunology and Alzheimer's Disease," followed 6 months later in Paris by "Genetics and Alzheimer's Disease" and in September 1988 in Montpellier by "Neuronal Grafting and Alzheimer's Disease."

The present symposium was organized for the purpose of gathering the most current ideas concerning biological markers of AD. The papers presented at this symposium may be roughly subdivided into three groups. The first deals with the markers of AD at the level of the brain itself. These markers are studied either through the cerebrospinal fluid or through techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) – approaches which respectively aim at demonstrating the cerebral changes indicated by the debris resulting from the disease, or studying the possible neurochemical abnormalities that occur in the earlier stages of AD. The second group of papers deals with possible extraneuronal changes in the blood, in the skin, or in other organs of AD patients, while the third group addresses the most current research on the genetic abnormalities which may be found in AD subjects. We think that the papers gathered in this volume will provide a unique view of the state of the art of these aspects of AD and their relation to both the pathogenesis and the in vivo diagnosis of the disease.

The city of Toulouse where this symposium was held has a long tradition of research in neuroscience, neurology and geriatrics. We wish to thank the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine, Professor Guiraud-Chaumeil, who generously provided hospitality in his prestigious insitution. We also wish to express our gratitude to the Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) for kindly agreeing to sponsor this meeting. We also wish to thank Mrs Mary Lynn Gage for her editorial assistance, Mrs Jacqueline Mervaillie for the organization of the meeting, and Yves Agid for his collaboration as chairman of the meeting.

The next meeting was organized in Lille on October 16, 1989 and was devoted to "Imaging, Cerebral Topography and Alzheimer's Disease."

Francois Boller Yves Christen

Contents

Cerebrospinal Fluid Neurochemical Markers in Alzheimer's Disease J. R. Atack	1
Potential Diagnostic Markers for Alzheimer's Disease P. Davies	17
Cerebrospinal Fluid-Based Laboratory Test for Alzheimer's Disease H. M. Wisniewski, P. D. Mehta, K. S. Kim, and G. S. Merz	23
Probes for the Molecular Components of Plaques and Tangles Point to a Broadening View of Alzheimer Pathology K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe	30
Tau 64 and Tau 69: Two Early Biochemical Markers of NeurofibrillaryDegenerationA. Delacourte, S. Flament, A. Défossez, L. Buee, B. Hémon, M. Parent,A. Furby, D. Leys, M. Goudemand, A. Destee, and H. Petit	39
A cDNA Encodes Epitopes Shared Between Microtubule-Associated Protein MAP2 and Alzheimer Neurofibrillary Tangles: In Situ Hybridization and Immunocytochemistry J. P. Brion, A. M. Couck, M. E. Cheetham, D. Hanger, B. H. Anderton, and J. Flament-Durand	56
Epitopes Characteristic of Paired Helical Filaments Demonstrated in Microglial Cells and Macrophages of the Meninges: A Possible Laboratory Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease from Cerebrospinal Fluid? J. Ulrich, S. Ipsen, A. Probst, and J. P. Brion	66
Relationship Between Tau, Paired Helical Filaments, Amyloid and the Intellectual Deterioration in the Neocortex in Normal Aging and in Senile Dementia of the Alzheimer Type <i>P. Delaère, C. Duyckaerts, J. P. Brion, F. Piette,</i> and <i>JJ. Hauw</i>	73
Molecular Insights into Alzheimer's Disease J. W. Pettegrew	83

VIII Contents

Altered Protein Kinase and Amyloid β-Protein Precursor in Alzheimer's Disease: Which Comes First? T. Saitoh and D. S. limoto	105
The Amyloid Gene of Alzheimer's Disease and Neuronal Dysfunction J. M. Salbaum, C. L. Masters, and K. Beyreuther	118
Cloning of Different Amyloid Peptide Precursors from Brains of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease <i>F. de Sauvage, A. F. Macq, J. M. Maloteaux,</i> and <i>J. N. Octave</i>	123
Genetic Studies of the Alzheimer's Disease-Associated Amyloid β-Protein Precursor Gene and Familial Alzheimer's Disease R. E. Tanzi, P. St. George-Hyslop, M. James, J. L. Haines, and J. F. Gusella	130
Alzheimer's Disease and Chromosome 21 A. R. Haynes, M. J. Owen, A. M. Goate, L. A. James, M. J. Mullan, R. Williamson, P. Roques, M. N. Rossor, and J. A. Hardy	138
Calcium and the Cytoskeleton in Alzheimer's Disease M. L. Shelanski	146
Use of Cultured Skin Fibroblasts in Studies of Alzheimer's Disease J. P. Blass, A. C. Baker, KF. R. Sheu, L. Ko, R. S. Black, and A. Smith	153
Lactate Production and Glycolytic Enzymes in Skin Cultured Cells from Alzheimer's Disease Patients S. Sorbi, M. Mortilla, S. Piacentini, G. Tesco, S. Tonini, and L. Amaducci	163
Subject Index	167

Contributors

Amaducci, L.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Italy Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

Anderton, B. H.

Department of Immunology, St. George's Hospital Medical School, Cranmer Terrace, London SW17 ORE, UK

Atack, J. R.

Laboratory of Neurosciences, National Institute on Aging, 9000 Rockville Pike, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA

Baker, A. C.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Beyreuther, K.

Zentrum für Molekulare Biologie, Universität Heidelberg, Im Neuenheimer Feld 282, D-6900 Heidelberg, FRG

Black, R. S.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Blass, J. P.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Brion, J. P.

Laboratoire d'Anatomie Pathologique, Université Libre de Bruxelles. Campus Erasme, 808, route de Lennik, B-1070 Bruxelles, Belgium

Buee, L.

Laboratoire de Neurosciences, Unité INSERM no. 16, Faculté de Médecine de Lille, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

X Contributors

Cheetham, M. E.

Department of Immunology, St. George's Hospital Medical School. Cranmer Terrace, London SW17 ORE, UK

Couck, A. M.

Laboratoire d'Anatomie Pathologique, Université Libre de Bruxelles. Campus Erasme, 808, route de Lennik, B-1070 Bruxelles, Belgium

Davies, P.

Departments of Pathology and Neuroscience, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, 1300 Morris Park Avenue, Bronx, NY 10461, USA

Défossez, A.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Delacourte, A.

Laboratoire de Neurosciences, Unité INSERM no. 16, Faculté de Médecine de Lille, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Delaère, P.

Laboratoire de Neuropathologie R. Escourolle. Hôpital Pitié- Salpétrière, 47 Bd de l'Hôpital, F-75013 Paris, France

Destee, A.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Duyckaerts, C.

Laboratoire de Neuropathologie R. Escourolle. Hôpital Pitié- Salpétrière, 47 Bd de l'Hôpital, F-75013 Paris, France

Flament, S.

Laboratoire de Neurosciences, Unité INSERM no. 16, Faculté de Médecine de Lille, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Flament-Durand, J.

Laboratoire d'Anatomie Pathologique, Université Libre de Bruxelles. Campus Erasme, 808, route de Lennik, B-1070 Bruxelles, Belgium

Furby, A.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Goate, A. M.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Goudemand, M.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Gusella, J. F.

The Neurogenetics Laboratory, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

Haines, J. L.

The Neurogenetics Laboratory, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

Hanger, D.

Department of Immunology, St. George's Hospital Medical School, Cranmer Terrace, London SW17 ORE, UK

Hardy, J. A.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Hauw, J.-J.

Laboratoire de Neuropathologie R. Escourolle. Hôpital Pitié-Salpétrière, 47 Bd de l'Hôpital, F-75013 Paris, France

Haynes, A. R.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Hémon, B.

Laboratoire de Neurosciences, Unité INSERM no. 16, Faculté de Médecine de Lille, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

limoto, D. S.

University of California, San Diego, School of Medicine, Department of Neurosciences, M-024 and Center for Molecular Genetics, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA

Ipsen, S.

Neuropathology Division, Department of Pathology, University of Basel, CH-4003 Basel, Switzerland

James, L. A.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

James, M.

The Neurogenetics Laboratory, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

XII Contributors

Kim, K. S.

New York State Institute for Basic Research in Developmental Disabilities, 1050 Forest Hill Road, Staten Island, NY 10314, USA

Ko, *L*.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Kosik, K. S.

Center for Neurologic Diseases, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Leys, D.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Macq, A. F.

Université Catholique de Louvain, Laboratoire de Neurochimie, Avenue Hippocrate 10, B-1200 Bruxelles, Belgium

Maloteaux, J. M.

Université Catholique de Louvain, Laboratoire de Neurochimie, Avenue Hippocrate 10, B-1200 Bruxelles, Belgium

Masters, C. L.

Department of Pathology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3502, Australia

Mehta, P. D.

New York State Institute for Basic Research in Developmental Disabilities, 1050 Forest Hill Road, Staten Island, NY 10314, USA

Merz, G. S.

New York State Institute for Basic Research in Developmental Disabilities, 1050 Forest Hill Road, Staten Island, NY 10314, USA

Mortilla, M.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

Mullan, M. J.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Octave, J. N.

Université Catholique de Louvain, Laboratoire de Neurochimie, Avenue Hippocrate 10, B-1200 Bruxelles, Belgium

Owen, M. J.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Parent, M.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Petit, H.

A.D.E.R.M.A., Faculté de Médecine, F-59045 Lille Cédex, France

Pettegrew, J. W.

University of Pittsburgh, Western Psychiatric Institute and Clinic, 3811 O'Hara Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15213-2593, USA

Piacentini, S.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

Piette, F.

Hôpital Charles Foix, 7 Avenue de la République, F-94205 Ivry, France

Probst, A.

Neuropathology Division, Department of Pathology, University of Basel, CH-4003 Basel, Switzerland

Roques, P.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Rossor, M. N.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK

Saitoh, T.

University of California, San Diego, School of Medicine, Department of Neurosciences, M-024 and Center for Molecular Genetics, La Jolla, CA 92093, USA

Salbaum, J. M.

Zentrum für Molecular Biologie, Universität Heidelberg, Im Neuenheimer Feld 282, D-6900 Heidelberg, FRG

de Sauvage, F.

Université Catholique de Louvain, Laboratoire de Neurochimie, Avenue Hippocrate 10, B-1200 Bruxelles, Belgium

XIV Contributors

Selkoe, D. J.

Center for Neurologic Diseases, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA 02115, USA

Shelanski, M. L.

Department of Pathology and Center for Neurobiology and Behaviour, College of Physicans and Surgeons, Columbia University, New York, NY 10032, USA

Sheu, K.-F. R.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Smith, A.

The Burke Rehabilitation Center, 785 Mamaroneck Avenue, White Plains, NY 10605, USA

Sorbi, S.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

St. George-Hyslop, P.

The Neurogenetics Laboratory, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

Tanzi, R. E.

The Neurogenetics Laboratory, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 02114, USA

Tesco, G.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

Tonini, S.

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 85, I-50134 Florence, Italy

Ulrich, J.

Neuropathology Division, Department of Pathology, University of Basel, CH-4003 Basel, Switzerland

Williamson, R.

Alzheimer's Disease Research Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Neurology, St. Mary's Hospital Medical School, London W2 1PG, UK Wisniewski, H. M.

New York State Institute for Basic Research in Developmental Disabilities, 1050 Forest Hill Road, Staten Island, NY 10314, USA

Cerebrospinal Fluid Neurochemical Markers in Alzheimer's Disease

J. R. Atack

Summary

Measurement of the concentration of neurotransmitter markers in lumbar CSF offers a relatively non-invasive method for evaluating CNS function. Consequently, we have measured the concentrations of a number of neurotransmitter markers in the CSF of patients with probable AD as indices of the integrity of these systems in the brain. We observed relatively modest (14% - 33%) reductions in the activity of the cholinergic marker enzyme AChE, the dopaminergic metabolite HVA and the neuropeptides somatostatin, CRF, ACTH and α -MSH. The concentrations of the serotonergic metabolite 5-HIAA, the noradrenergic metabolite MHPG and neuropeptide Y did not differ from those in age-matched healthy control subjects.

When these data were analysed further, we were able to identify neurochemically distinct subgroups of AD. Thus, reduced HVA concentrations observed in the AD group as a whole (33% reduction) were related to reduced HVA concentrations in subgroups of AD patients with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus; HVA concentrations in AD without movement disorders did not differ from control values. A dopaminergic deficit in patients with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus was further indicated by the fact that biopterin, a cofactor for tyrosine hydroxylase, was also reduced in these patients when compared to patients without movement disorders. In addition, in both extrapyramidal and myoclonic AD subgroups, 5-HIAA concentrations were also reduced relative to patients with no movement disorders, suggesting that, in addition to a dopaminergic deficit, extrapyramidal signs and myoclonus in AD are also associated with a serotonergic deficit.

There was also heterogeneity in AD patients without movement disorders. Thus, AChE activity and HVA concentrations were significantly reduced compared to control subjects in patients with early (65 years or less) but not late (over 65) age at onset, indicating more severe involvement of cholinergic and dopaminergic systems in patients younger at onset.

The relatively modest decrements in neurochemical marker concentrations in lumbar CSF of AD patients, along with the considerable overlap between AD and control groups, make it unlikely that the measurement of a single neurochemical parameter will be of diagnostic use. Nevertheless, the measurement of CSF neurochemical parameters offers a valuable insight into the functioning of the CNS in AD, particularly if repeated measurements are taken longitudinally during the progression of the disease.

2 J. R. Atack

Introduction

The cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) bathes the brain and spinal cord and in man has a volume of approximately 140 ml, of which the spinal subarachnoid fluid represents about 30 ml (Davson et al. 1987). The CSF acts as a mechanical support for the brain and greatly reduces the acceleration and deceleration of the brain produced by rapid head movement. It also provides a cushion between the delicate neural tissue and the hard skull and spinal column. Furthermore, CSF acts as a "third circulation" (Milhorat 1975) by removing products of metabolism as well as serving to circulate substances intracerebrally.

CSF is produced at a rate of 0.3-0.4 ml per minute in man via two routes (Fig.1): the choroid plexus and extrachoroidal sites (Milhorat and Hammock 1983). Although it has been estimated that the contributions to total CSF production of choroidal and extrachoroidal pathways are of the order of 70% and 30%, respectively (Wood 1980b), the precise relative contribution of these two pathways remains controversial.

The rapid distribution of dye throughout the brain following intraventricular injection suggests that there is no significant diffusion barrier between the central nervous system (CNS) extracellular fluid and CSF (Goldmann 1913). Since no diffusion barrier exists between the extracellular fluid and CSF, the concentration of neurotransmitters not capable of permeating the blood-brain barrier and their related metabolites in extrachoroidal CSF is a function of their neuronal secretion into extracellular fluid. Presumably, therefore, altered secretion of such substances by degenerating neurotransmitter systems is reflected by changes in CSF



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of CSF production. CSF is produced at either the choroid plexus by ultrafiltration of plasma through the blood-CSF barrier or at extrachoroidal sites by passage of extracellular fluid into CSF. The relative contributions of choroidal and extrachoroidal sites to total CSF production have been estimated at 70% and 30%, respectively (Wood 1980b). The composition of extracellular fluid (and therefore extrachoroidal CSF) is related to secretion of CNS elements (neurons, glia), ultrafiltration of plasma constituents through the endothelial cells of the CNS vasculature which constitute the blood-brain barrier, and water produced during cerebral metabolism (Rapoport 1976). Ideally, a neurochemical marker should not cross the blood-brain or blood-CSF barriers, in which case its concentration in CSF is a function of its concentration in extrachoroidal CSF, which in turn is a function of its rate of neuronal secretion into extracellular fluid

concentrations. This is the fundamental assumption underlying the study of CSF neurochemical parameters in Alzheimer's disease (AD) as markers of degeneration of specific neurotransmitter systems in the brain.

As is discussed in more detail below, the measurement of lumbar CSF concentrations of neurochemicals and their metabolites and related enzymes as markers of brain dysfunction is dependent upon: a) the markers originating within the CNS (i.e. the marker should not cross the blood-brain or blood-CSF barrier) and b) the markers originating primarily from brain, so that alterations in secretion from the brain are not masked by normal secretion from the spinal cord.

CSF:Plasma Protein Ratios as Indices of Blood-Brain Barrier Integrity

Before further describing the use of CSF neurochemical markers in AD, it is perhaps pertinent to discuss the use of CSF:plasma protein ratios as indices of blood-brain barrier integrity. Thus, although some proteins (e.g. acetylcholinesterase AChE), dopamine- β -hydroxylase, neuropeptides) are undoubtedly secreted from cells of the CNS into the extracellular fluid (and thereby the CSF), the vast majority of CSF total protein is of plasma origin (Rapoport 1983). Consequently, the ratio of protein concentration in CSF and plasma (normally in the region of 1:200) has been used as an index of either disruption of the blood-brain or blood-CSF barrier (e.g. trauma, tumour formation) or intrathecal synthesis of proteins (e.g. multiple sclerosis); in both cases an increase in the CSF:plasma protein ratio is observed.

Since blood-brain barrier disruption has been suggested as a possible pathogenic mechanism for AD (Wisniewski and Koslowski 1982), we used measurements of CSF and serum albumin and IgG concentrations to assess the blood-brain barrier integrity in AD. Our results showed no evidence of intrathecal IgG production and no significant differences between CSF:serum albumin of IgG ratios between AD and age-matched healthy control subjects (Kay et al. 1987), suggesting, in agreement with others (Eikelenboom et al. 1988), that blood-brain barrier permeability is normal in AD. Similarly, no gross disruption in the blood-brain barrier permeability in AD could be detected using positron emission tomography (PET) with [⁶⁸Ga]EDTA (Schlageter et al. 1987).

Neurochemical Changes in Alzheimer's Disease Brain Tissue

Although a number of neurotransmitter systems have been implicated in the pathogenesis of AD (Hardy et al. 1985), the most consistent neurochemical deficit reported to date in AD brain tissue is a degeneration of the cholinergic projections from the basal forebrain to the neocortex and hippocampus (Perry 1986). Although less consistent than changes in the cholinergic basal forebrain projections, degenerative changes have nevertheless been reported to occur in cortically projecting neuronal systems of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus, serotonergic raphe nucleus and dopaminergic ventral tegmental area (Ishii 1966; Tomlinson

et al. 1981; Cross et al. 1983; Iversen et al. 1983; Curcio and Kemper 1984; Marcyniuk et al. 1986; Bondareff et al. 1987; Mann et al. 1987; Palmer et al. 1987a, b). With respect to neuropeptide systems, pathological changes in the cortical somatostatin, neuropeptide Y and corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) systems have all been reported in AD (Davies et al. 1980; Beal et al. 1985, 1986a, b; Bissette et al. 1985; DeSouza et al. 1986). In addition, the amino acid neurotransmitters glutamate and GABA have also been reported to be involved in the pathogenesis of AD (Rossor et al. 1984; Palmer et al. 1986; Chu et al. 1987; Hardy et al. 1987a, b; Lowe et al. 1988; Procter et al. 1988).

In Vivo Evaluation of Neurotransmitter Systems in Alzheimer's Disease

Most neurochemical studies of the brain in AD have relied on studies of post-mortem tissue, which is generally obtained from severely demented patients in whom it is not unusual for the dementia to have existed for some 10-15 years. Consequently, in such subjects it is difficult to determine the extent to which neurochemical changes reflect the primary disease process or are a less specific consequence of chronic neurodegeneration.

Obviously, it would be advantageous to study neurotransmitter systems in vivo and evaluate their status during progression of the disease. The status of neurotransmitter systems in AD may be evaluated in vivo using either: a) neurochemical changes in lumbar CSF as indices of brain neurotransmitter systems, b) biopsy brain tissue, c) PET or d) neurochemical changes in blood.

With respect to lumbar CSF, the extrapolation between changes in lumbar CSF and brain tissue is confounded by a number of factors, not least of which is the extent to which neurochemical markers in lumbar CSF are derived from the brain (see below). On the other hand, brain biopsy offers a direct means of evaluating brain neurotransmitter function. However, biopsies are rarely performed and do not offer the possibility of longitudinal follow-up in individual patients. PET permits direct visualization and quantitation of neurotransmitter-related binding sites in the brain along with the potential of longitudinal follow-up. However, PET technology is very expensive and is only available at a limited number of research centers. Alternatively, blood is readily available, but although neurochemical parameters have been evaluated in various elements of the blood, it is often difficult to reconcile changes in the blood to changes in the brain. Neurochemical measurements in lumbar CSF therefore represent the only relatively non-invasive, inexpensive method of evaluating in vivo brain neurotransmitter function longitudinally.

Uses of Neurochemical Markers in Alzheimer's Disease

The definitive diagnosis of AD can currently be made post-mortem only on the basis of numerous cortical senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (McKhann et al. 1984; Khatchaturian 1985). Consequently, in the absence of a specific diag-

nostic test to discriminate reliably between the clinical diagnosis of AD and other forms of dementia, considerable effort has been expended in the search for antemortem markers of AD (Hollander et al. 1986). Since neurochemical deficits in the AD brain have been relatively well described, and the CSF bathes the brain and contains markers of the involved neurotransmitter systems, CSF neurochemical markers may be used in AD to answer the following questions: a) Are the neurochemical changes observed post-mortem also seen in vivo, are they progressive, and do they correlate with dementia severity? b) Are CSF neurochemical changes diagnostic, i.e. for any given demented subject is it possible to confidently diagnose AD on the basis of a CSF neurochemical measurement? And c) is there neurochemical heterogeneity among AD subjects?

Although the measurement and comparison of neurochemical markers in control and AD CSF are relatively straightforward propositions, interpretation of the data is complicated by a number of factors including the extent to which lumbar CSF composition reflects brain neurotransmitter status and the influence of a number of factors (e.g. environment, drugs, diet, physical activity, time of day and time of year) that should, as far as possible, be controlled for.

Do Lumbar CSF Concentrations Reflect Integrity of Brain Transmitter Systems?

An important factor in relating lumbar CSF neurochemical measurements to the integrity of the corresponding neurotransmitter systems in the brain is the extent to which the neurochemical marker crosses the blood-brain and blood-CSF barriers. For example, when a substance that is readily permeable across the blood-brain and blood-CSF barriers is secreted by neurons, it enters the extracellular fluid where it may enter either the CSF via the extrachoroidal route or the blood through the blood-brain barrier. This results in a less predictable relationship between neuronal secretion and extrachoroidal CSF concentration than for a substance that does not cross the blood-brain barrier. Moreover, in such a case, CSF may contain a significant contribution of peripherally derived neurochemical marker from plasma.

Although most monoamine neurotransmitters and their metabolites as well as neuropeptides do not to cross the blood-brain barrier (Wood, 1980c; Pardridge, 1983), there is a significant correlation between concentrations of 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylethyleneglycol (MHPG, the major noradrenergic metabolite) in CSF and plasma (Fig. 2), suggesting a plasma contribution to lumbar CSF MHPG. This is compatible with the blood-brain barrier being permeable to MHPG, and consequently CSF concentrations must be corrected for the plasma contribution by subtracting a value equivalent to 90% of plasma MHPG concentrations (Kopin et al. 1983).

Having established that a neurotransmitter marker is primarily of central rather than peripheral origin, it is important next to determine to what extent the marker measured in lumbar CSF originates from the brain or spinal cord. There are two indirect methods for doing this. One is the measurement of rostrocaudal concentration gradients of the neurotransmitter marker (Wood 1980a). Concentrations



Fig. 2. Correlation between CSF and plasma MHPG concentrations. The significant correlation (r = 0.60, n = 48, p < 0.0001) is consistent with MHPG freely crossing the blood-brain barrier, and measured CSF MHPG concentrations should consequently be corrected for the plasma contribution (corrected MHPG = CSF MHPG – (plasma MHPG × 0.9); Kopin et al. 1983). NB When the single high plasma MHPG data point (plasma MHPG = 42 pmol/ml) was omitted, the correlation between CSF and plasma MHPG concentrations remained significant (r = 0.47, n = 47, p < 0.0001). *EPS*, Extrapyramidal signs; *myo*, myoclonus

may be measured either in simultaneously obtained ventricular and lumbar CSF (samples of which are not available from normal subjects and are generally available only from neurological patients with, for example, normal pressure hydrocephalus) or, more usually, in sequential fractions of lumbar CSF. Higher concentrations in more rostral CSF fractions indicate primarily a brain origin (e.g. homovanillic acid, or HVA; Fig. 3) whereas less pronounced or non-existent gradients (e.g. AChE, somatostatin, neuropeptide Y; Fig. 3) reflect a more diffuse (brain and spinal cord) origin. The other method is measurement of concentrations in lumbar CSF of patients with blockage of the spinal canal (Post et al. 1973a). If a neurochemical marker is derived primarily from the brain, its concentration in lumbar CSF of subjects with spinal canal blockage should be much lower than in subjects without blockage. On the other hand, if the marker originates primarily from the spinal cord, then its concentrations should be similar in subjects with and without blockage.

In general, HVA in lumbar CSF originates primarily from the brain whereas the major serotonergic metabolite 5-HIAA (5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid) has both a brain and a spinal contribution. Although CSF MHPG is derived in part from plasma, lumbar CSF concentrations nevertheless seem to reflect, to a more limited extent than HVA and 5-HIAA, central neurotransmission with both a brain and spinal component being present. The lack of rostrocaudal gradients for AChE and a number of neuropeptides (Fig. 3; Berrettini et al. 1988) is consistent with a relatively diffuse (i.e. brain and spinal cord) origin within the CNS.

Fig. 3. CSF AChE activity and HVA, somatostatin and neuropeptide Y concentrations in sequential fractions of lumbar CSF obtained from healthy volunteers. Higher HVA in more rostral fractions suggests that lumbar CSF HVA originates primarily from the brain whereas the relatively flat gradients of AChE. somatostatin and neuropeptide Y are consistent with a relatively diffuse origin (i.e. brain and spinal cord) of these substances. Values shown are means $(\pm SD)$ of values obtained in CSF from 14 healthy subjects in the case of HVA, AChE and neuropeptide Y or from 7 subjects for somatostatin. (For AChE, the variance in the data was relatively small and consequently the error bars were smaller than the size of most of the data points.)



Selection of Control and Alzheimer's Disease Subjects

When studying CSF neurochemical changes in AD, the selection of appropriate control subjects is very important. Although we are fortunate to have access to CSF from extensively screened healthy subjects (Duara et al. 1983) who are free from significant medical complaints and drug therapy and admitted as inpatients undergoing lumbar puncture under carefully controlled conditions, such a control group is not the norm. More usually CSF is obtained from neurological controls undergoing lumbar puncture for a variety of disorders. If control and AD CSF is not collected under similar conditions using standardized procedures, there may be differential effects between groups of a number of factors, including environment (Guthrie et al. 1986; Karlsson et al. 1988; Widerlov et al. 1989), physical activity (Post et al. 1973b), diet (Teff et al. 1989), time of day (Nicoletti et al. 1981; Sorensen et al. 1987) and time of year (Brewerton et al. 1988; Csernansky et al. 1988).

The selection of probable AD patients (McKhann et al. 1984) is of equal importance, and again we have been able to obtain lumbar CSF from AD patients free of other significant medical complaints, all of whom were drug free for a period of 2-4 weeks prior to lumbar puncture. If drug-free subjects are not available, drug effects may be of particular importance if there is a difference between drugs taken by AD and control subjects since drugs can alter brain and CSF neurochemical compositions. For example, neuroleptics increase CSF HVA concentrations (Scheinin 1985) while decreasing brain and CSF somatostatin and opioid-peptide levels (Tang et al. 1983; Beal and Martin 1984; Doran et al. 1989).

CSF Cholinergic, Monoaminergic and Peptidergic Markers in Alzheimer's Disease

In our AD patients, we observed reductions in the activity of AChE (16%) and concentrations of HVA (33%), somatostatin (26%), CRF (30%), corticotropin (ACTH; 14%) and α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH; 31%) relative to age-matched control subjects (Table 1). However, there were no significant correlations between any of these neurotransmitter markers and dementia severity assessed using the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE; Folstein et al. 1975). No significant differences in either 5-HIAA, MHPG, biopterin or neuropeptide Y were observed between groups (Table 1).

Parameter	Age-matched control	Probable Alzheimer's disease	
Age	$68.0 \pm 10.8(14)$	$67.8 \pm 8.2(38)$	
Men/women	11/3	18/20	
$AChE (nmol ml^{-1} min^{-1})$	$21.5 \pm 5.6(13)$	$18.0 \pm 4.8(37)^{b}$	
HVA (pmol/ml)	$202 \pm 100 (14)$	$133 \pm 83 (38)^{b}$	
5-HIAA (pmol/ml)	91 ± 51 (14)	99 ± 46 (38)	
CSF MHPG (pmol/ml)	$39.8 \pm 12.7 (14)^{2}$	$39.2 \pm 12.0(38)$	
Plasma MHPG (pmol/ml)	$19.3 \pm 4.7(13)$	$20.5 \pm 5.9(35)$	
cMHPG (pmol/ml) ^a	$24.5 \pm 7.9(13)$	$20.8 \pm 10.4(35)$	
Biopterin (pmol/ml)	$17.9 \pm 5.6(11)$	$14.1 \pm 5.4(31)$	
Somatostatin (pg/ml)	$23.1 \pm 8.2(13)$	$17.2 \pm 4.9(37)^{c}$	
Neuropeptide Y (pg/ml)	$38.2 \pm 12.8(13)$	$36.6 \pm 11.6(37)$	
CRF (pg/ml)	$35.2 \pm 10.0(13)$	$24.8 \pm 9.6(33)^{c}$	
ACTH (pg/ml)	$30.6 \pm 5.5(12)$	$26.4 \pm 6.3(33)^{b}$	
α-MSH (pg/ml)	$21.8 \pm 10.0(12)$	$15.0 \pm 8.3(35)^{\circ}$	

Table 1. Neurochemical markers in CSF of patients with Alzheimer's disease

Values shown are mean \pm SD. Figures in parentheses show sample size. Data derived from May et al. 1986; Atack et al. 1988a, b; Kaye et al. 1988a b; Rainero et al. 1988b.

^a CSF MHPG corrected for plasma contribution [cMHPG = CSF MHPG - (0.9 × plasma MHPG); Kopin et al. 1983]

p < 0.05

 $c^{r} p < 0.01$



Fig. 4. Lumbar CSF concentrations of HVA, biopterin and 5-HIAA in subgroups of AD patients recognized on the basis of presence or absence of movement disorders. Values shown are

means and error bars show standard deviations; *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01 compared to AD patients without movement disorders; dashed lines, mean values in age-matched controls (Table 1). In patients without movement disorders (n = 24), with extrapyramidal signs (EPS); (n = 10) or with myoclonus (n = 6-8), respectively, mean values $(\pm SD)$ were: age = 70.4 \pm 7.2, 64.8 ± 7.1 and 60.4 ± 7.5 years; age at onset = 63.8 ± 6.4 , 58.2 ± 7.3 and 54.0 ± 7.1 years; durations of dementia = 6.6 ± 2.9 , 6.6 ± 2.2 and 6.0 ± 2.8 years; MMSE = 14.8 ± 7.8 , 5.1 ± 1.0 7.3 and 4.3 \pm 5.4; HVA = 168 \pm 80, 68 \pm 44 and 60 \pm 46 pmol/ml; biopterin = 16.1 \pm 4.7; 7.8 \pm 1.4 and 9.4 \pm 4.1 pmol/ml; and 5-HIAA = 116 \pm 47, 73 \pm 25 and 64 \pm 24 pmol/ml. In addition to reduced HVA, biopterin and 5-HIAA concentrations, AD patients with either EPS or myoclonus also had significantly (p < 0.05) earlier ages at onset and dementia severity (despite comparable durations of dementia) than AD patients without movement disorders. [It should be noted that in a previous analysis (Kaye et al. 1988b), a non-significant reduction in 5-HIAA concentrations was reported in AD patients with extrapyramidal subjects when compared to AD subjects without extrapyramidal signs. However, this latter group contained subjects with myoclonus, and when these individuals were omitted from the comparison group (i.e. AD patients with no movement disorders), the decrement in 5-HIAA in extrapyramidal AD patients achieved levels of significance.]

10 J. R. Atack

Of the 38 AD patients, 10 had extrapyramidal signs and 8 had myoclonus (4 had both extrapyramidal signs and myoclonus), and 24 had no movement disorders. Despite similar durations of disease (mean, 6.0-6.6 years, see legend Fig. 4), both the extrapyramidal and myoclonic subgroups had a significantly younger mean age at onset (58.2 ± 7.3 and 54.0 ± 7.1 years, respectively) and were more demented (MMSE, 5.1 ± 7.3 and 4.3 ± 5.4 , respectively) than AD subjects without movement disorders (age at onset, 63.4 ± 6.4 years; MMSE, 14.8 ± 7.8), suggesting a more aggressive disease process in AD patients with movement disorders.

Compared to AD patients without movement disorders, HVA concentrations in AD patients with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus were reduced by 66% or 70%, respectively (Fig. 4). This dopaminergic deficit in AD with movement disorders is further emphasized by the fact that biopterin, a cofactor for tyrosine hydroxylase (which catalyses the rate-limiting step in the dopamine synthetic pathway – the hydroxylation of tyrosine to L-dopa), was also significantly reduced by 52% in extrapyramidal patients and 42% in myoclonic patients relative to AD patients without movement disorders. In addition to a dopaminergic deficit, the 37% and 45% reductions in 5-HIAA concentrations in AD with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus, respectively, relative to AD without movement disorders suggest that extrapyramidal signs and myoclonus in AD are also accompanied by a serotonergic deficit. None of the other parameters studied (AChE, 5-HIAA, cMHPG, somatostatin, neuropeptide Y, CRF, ACTH, α -MSH) differentiated AD patients with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus from patients without movement disorders.

In addition to analysing data according to the presence or absence of movement disorders, we have also compared neurochemical parameters according to age at onset (Fig. 5). To eliminate bias due to monoamine deficits in subjects with movement disorders (who had younger age – at onset), analyses were confined to subjects with no movement disorders. We found that AChE activity and HVA concentrations were significantly reduced in early – compared to late – onset AD (Fig. 5).

To determine whether the decrements in AChE activity and somatostatin concentrations were progressive, we also measured levels of AChE and somatostatin (as well as neuropeptide Y) longitudinally in 5 control and 18 AD patients (Atack et al. 1988a, b). However, there was no tendency for any of these parameters to decrease systematically over a period of up to 2.5 years, although it should be emphasized that this period of time may be too short compared to the duration of AD (up to 10-15 years) to show progression of CSF neurochemical changes.

Discussion

Despite the greater than 50% reductions in AChE activity generally reported to occur in AD brain tissue, the decrement that we observed in the AD group as a whole was much more modest (16%). This discrepancy may be due to differences in severity in dementia between the patients used for post-mortem studies (usually severely demented) and CSF studies (generally less severe). However, the fact that a cholinergic deficit is observed in biopsy tissue of AD patients even in the



Cerebrospinal Fluid Neurochemical Markers in Alzheimer's Disease 11

AD, the respective values were 15.8 ± 3.7 and 19.5 ± 2.7 nmol ml⁻¹ min⁻¹ for AChE activity and for HVA concentrations were 139 ± 67 and 209 ± 80 pmol/ml

Fig. 5. AChE and HVA concentrations in early- (≤ 65 years) and late-onset (> 65 years) AD subjects with no movement disorders (i.e. no extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus). Values shown are means, and error bars show standard deviation; *, p < 0.05 compared to late-onset patients; *dashed lines*, mean values in age-matched controls (Table 1). In early-, and late-onset

0

relatively early stages of the disease process (Francis et al. 1985) suggests that the smaller reduction in CSF AChE compared to post-mortem brain tissue is probably not solely due to differences in dementia severity. It is more likely, however, that since AChE has a relatively diffuse origin within the CNS (Fig. 3), normal secretion of AChE from regions of the CNS relatively spared by AD (e.g. caudate nucleus, cerebellum and spinal cord) masks reduced cortical secretion of AChE.

Reductions in cortital somatostatin concentrations (Davies et al. 1980; Beal et al. 1986b) also appear to be reflected, to a limited extent, by reduced levels in lumbar CSF, although, as with AChE, the relatively diffuse central origin of somatostatin (Fig. 3) probably results in less affected regions of the CNS partially masking reduced cortical somatostatin secretion. Although neuropeptide Y has been reported to be reduced in AD brain tissue (Beal et al. 1986a), lumbar CSF concentrations were normal. However, neuropeptide Y involvement in AD is less consistent than is the case for somatostatin and may be found only in more severe

cases (Dawbarn et al. 1986; Foster et al. 1986). Consequently, normal lumbar CSF neuropeptide Y concentrations in the present study may be consistent with relatively normal brain neuropeptide Y concentrations in these subjects.

Interestingly, whereas reduced lumbar CSF CRF concentrations presumably reflect changes in brain CRF (Bissette et al. 1985; DeSouza et al. 1986), relatively little is known of the neurobiological basis for reduced ACTH concentrations in AD, although the interaction between CRF and ACTH could explain these findings. Similarly, the basis for reduced α -MSH concentrations is uncertain. However, we found a significant negative correlation between lumbar CSF α -MSH and HVA concentrations (Rainero et al. 1988b) which, along with the increased lumbar CSF α -MSH concentrations in Parkinson's disease (Rainero et al. 1988a), suggests an interaction between α -MSH and the dopaminergic system, the nature of which remains to be determined.

Although the similar dopaminergic and serotonergic deficits observed in AD patients with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus may be partly related to that fact out of a total of ten extrapyramidal and eight myoclonic patients, extrapyramidal signs and myoclonus coexisted in four individuals, these data nevertheless suggest that the clinical heterogeneity of AD (Mayeux et al. 1985; Roth 1986; Folstein et al. 1988) has a neurochemical substrate.

The neurochemical heterogeneity of AD is further emphasized by the observations that AChE activity and HVA concentration were significantly lower in early – compared to late – onset AD. Similarly, neurochemical changes in post-mortem brain tissue tend to be greater in younger compared to older AD cases (Whitehouse et al. 1983; Rossor et al. 1984; Francis et al. 1985; Rossor and Iversen 1986), and two subtypes of AD can be identified on the basis of locus coeruleus cell counts (Bondareff et al. 1987).

In summary, decrements in a number of neurochemical markers reported to be reduced in brain tissue were also observed in lumbar CSF of AD subjects. However, AChE activity and somatostatin concentrations remained relatively stable in repeat lumbar punctures with no tendency for either to decline with progression of the disease. Moreover, none of the parameters studied correlated with dementia severity, and the relatively modest nature of these decrements (about 14%-33%), along with the considerable overlap between AD and control groups, suggests that none of the parameters alone is of diagnostic use.

Neurochemically distinct subgroups of AD patients were also identified. Thus, in AD patients the occurrence of extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus was associated not only with a younger age at onset but also reduced concentrations of dopaminergic and serotonergic markers. Furthermore, in AD without movement disorders, early-onset patients had lower AChE activity and HVA concentrations than late-onset patients. These data are therefore consistent with AD being a heterogeneous disease process with patients of an early age at onset being more likely to develop dopaminergic and serotonergic deficits associated with extrapyramidal signs or myoclonus or, in the absence of movement disorders, having greater involvement of central cholinergic or dopaminergic systems.

References

- Atack JR, Beal MF, May C, Kaye J, Mazurek MF, Kay AD, Rapoport SI (1988a) CSF somatostatin and neuropeptide Y: concentrations in aging and in dementia of the Alzheimer type with and without extrapyramidal signs. Arch Neurol 45:269–274
- Atack JR, May C, Kaye JA, Kay AD, Rapoport SI (1988b) Cerebrospinal fluid cholinesterases in aging and in dementia of the Alzheimer type. Ann Neurol 23:161–167
- Beal MF, Martin JB (1984) Effects of neuroleptic drugs on brain somatostatin-like immunoreactivity. Neurosci Lett 47:125-130
- Beal MF, Mazurek MF, Tran VT, Chattha G, Bird ED, Martin JB (1985) Reduced numbers of somatostatin receptors in the cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease. Science 229:289–291
- Beal MF, Mazurek MF, Chattha GK, Svendsen CN, Bird ED, Martin JB (1986a) Neuropeptide Y immunoreactivity is reduced in cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 20:282-288
- Beal MF, Mazurek MF, Svendsen CN, Bird ED, Martin JB (1986b) Widespread reduction of somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in the cerebral cortex in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 20:489-495
- Berrettini WH, Oxenstierna G, Sedvall G, Nurnberger JI, Gold PW, Rubinow DR, Goldin LR (1988) Characteristics of cerebrospinal fluid neuropeptides relevant to clinical research. Psych Res 25:349-359
- Bissette G, Reynolds GP, Kilts CD, Widerlov E, Nemeroff CB (1985) Corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivity in senile dementia of the Alzheimer-type. J Am Med Assoc 254:3067–3069
- Bondareff W, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M, Rossor MN, Iversen LL, Reynolds GP (1987) Age and histopathologic heterogeneity in Alzheimer's disease evidence for subtypes. Arch Gen Psychiat 44:412–417
- Brewerton TD, Berrettini WH, Nurnberger JI, Linnoila M (1988) Analysis of seasonal fluctuations of CSF monoamine metabolites and neuropeptides in normal controls: findings with 5HIAA and HVA. Psychiat Res 23:257-265
- Chu DCM, Penney JB Jr, Young AB (1987) Cortical GABA_B and GABA_A receptors in Alzheimer's disease: a quantitative autoradiographic study. Neurology 37:1454–1459
- Cross AJ, Crow TJ, Johnson JA, Joseph MH, Perry EK, Perry RH, Blessed G, Tomlinson BE (1983) Monoamine metabolism in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. J Neurol Sci 60:383-392
- Csernansky JG, Faull KF, Pfefferbaum A (1988) Seasonal changes of CSF monoamine metabolites in psychiatric patients: what is the source? Psychiat Res 25:361–363
- Curcio CA, Kemper T (1984) Nucleus raphe dorsalis in dementia of the Alzheimer type: neurofibrillary changes and neuronal packing density. J Neuropath Exp Neurol 43:359–368
- Davies P, Katzman R, Terry RD (1980) Reduced somatostatin-like immunoreactivity in cerebral cortex from cases of Alzheimer disease and Alzheimer senile dementia. Nature 288:279-280
- Davson H, Welch K, Segal MB (1987) The physiology and pathophysiology of the cerebrospinal fluid. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh
- Dawbarn D, Rossor MN, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M, Emson PC (1986) Decreased somatostatin immunoreactivity but not neuropeptide Y immunoreactivity in cerebral cortex in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Neurosci Lett 70:154–159
- DeSouza EB, Whitehouse PJ, Kuhar MJ, Price DL, Vale WW (1986) Reciprocal changes in corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF)-like immunoreactivity and CRF receptors in cerebral cortex of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 319:593-595
- Doran AR, Rubinow DR, Wolkowitz OM, Roy A, Breier A, Pickar D (1989) Fluphenazine treatment reduces CSF somatostatin in patients with schizophrenia: correlations with CSF HVA. Biol Psychiat 25:431–439
- Duara R, Margolin RA, Robertson-Tchabo EA, London ED, Schwartz M, Renfrew JW, Koziarz BJ, Sundaram M, Grady C, Moore AM, Ingvar DH, Sokoloff L, Weingartner H, Kessler RM, Manning RG, Channing MA, Cutler NR, Rapoport SI (1983) Cerebral glucose utilization, as measured with positron emission tomography in 21 resting healthy men between the ages of 21 and 83 years. Brain 106:761-775

- 14 J. R. Atack
- Eikelenboom P, Fraser H, Rozemuller JM, Stam FC (1988) The blood-brain barrier in cerebral amyloidogenesis in Alzheimer's disease and scrapie. In: Pouplard-Barthelaix A, Emile J, Christen Y (eds) Immunology and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 30-41
- Folstein M, Folstein S, McHugh PR (1975) Mini-mental state: a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatry Res 12:189-198
- Folstein MF, Warren A, McHugh PR (1988) Heterogeneity in Alzheimer's disease: An exercise in the resolution of a phenotype. In: Sinet PM, Lamour Y, Christen Y (eds) Genetics and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 5–12
- Foster NL, Tamminga CA, O'Donohue TL, Tanimoto K, Bird ED, Chase TN (1986) Brain choline acetyltransferase activity and neuropeptide Y concentrations in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 63:71-75
- Francis PT, Palmer AM, Sims NR, Bowen DM, Davison AN, Esiri MM; Neary D, Snowden JS, Wilcock GK (1985) Neurochemical studies of early-onset Alzheimer's disease possible influence on treatment. N Engl J Med 313:7–11
- Goldmann EE (1913) Vitalfärbung am Centralnervensystem: Beitrag zur Physiologie des Plexus choroideus und der Hirnhaut. Abh Preuss Akad Wiss Phys Math Kl 1:1-60
- Guthrie SK, Berrettini W, Rubinow DR, Nurnberger JI, Bartko JJ, Linnoila M (1986) Different neurotransmitter metabolic concentrations in CSF samples from inpatient and outpatient normal volunteers. Acta Psychiat Scand 73:315–321
- Hardy J, Adolfsson R, Alafuzoff I, Bucht G, Marcusson J, Nyberg P, Perdahl E, Wester P, Winblad B (1985) Transmitter deficits in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Int 7:545-563
- Hardy J, Cowburn R, Barton A, Reynolds G, Dodd P, Wester P, O'Carroll A-M, Lofdahl E, Winblad B (1987a) A disorder of cortical GABAergic innervation in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 73:192–196
- Hardy J, Cowburn R, Barton A, Reynolds G, Lofdahl E, O'Carroll A-M, Wester P, Winblad B (1987b) Region-specific loss of glutamate innervation in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 73:77-80
- Hollander E, Mohs RC, Davis KL (1986) Antemortem markers of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 7:367-387
- Ishii T (1966) Distribution of Alzheimer's neurofibrillary changes in the brain stem and hypothalamus of senile dementia. Acta Neuropathol 6:181-189
- Iversen LL, Rossor MN, Reynolds GP, Hills R, Roth M, Mountjoy CQ, Foote SL, Morrison JH, Bloom FE (1983) Loss of pigmented dopamine-β-hydroxylase positive cells from locus coeruleus in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. Neurosci Lett 39:95–100
- Karlsson I, Brane G, Melin E, Nyth A-L, Rybo E (1988) Effects of environment stimulation on biochemical and psychological variables in dementia. Acta Psychiat Scand 77:207–213
- Khatchaturian ZS (1985) Diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol 42:1097-1105
- Kay AD, May C, Papadopoulos NM, Costello R, Atack JR, Luxenberg JS, Cutler NR, Rapoport SI (1987) CSF and serum concentrations of albumin and IgG in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 8:21-25
- Kaye JA, May C, Atack JR, Daly E, Sweeny DL, Beal MF, Kaufman S, Milstien S, Friedland RP, Rapoport SI (1988a) Cerebrospinal fluid neurochemistry in the myoclonic subtype of Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 24:647–650
- Kaye JA, May C, Daly E, Atack JR, Sweeny DL, Luxenberg JS, Kay AD, Kaufman S, Milstien S, Friedland RP, Rapoport SI (1988b) Cerebrospinal fluid monoamine markers are decreased in dementia of the Alzheimer type with extrapyramidal features. Neurology 38:554-557
- Kopin IJ, Gordon EK, Jimerson DC, Polinsky RJ (1983) Relation between plasma and cerebrospinal fluid levels of 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol. Science 219:73–75
- Lowe SL, Francis PT, Procter AW, Palmer AM, Davison AN, Bowen DM (1988) Gammaaminobutyric acid concentration in brain tissue at two stages of Alzheimer's disease. Brain 111:785-799
- Mann DMA, Yates PO, Marcyniuk B (1987) Dopaminergic neurotransmitter systems in Alzheimer's disease and in Down's syndrome at middle age. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat 50:341-344

- Marcyniuk B, Mann DMA, Yates PO (1986) The topography of cell loss from the locus coeruleus in Alzheimer's disease, J Neurol Sci 76:335-345
- May C, Rapoport SI, Tomai TP, Chrousos GP, Gold PW (1986) Cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) and corticotropin (ACTH) are reduced in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 37:535–538
- Mayeux R, Stern Y, Spanton S (1985) Heterogeneity in dementia of the Alzheimer type: evidence of subgroups. Neurology 35:453-461
- McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM (1984) Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA work group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. Neurology 34:939-944
- Milhorat TH (1975) The third circulation revisited. J Neurosurg 42:628-645
- Milhorat TH, Hammock MK (1983) Cerebrospinal fluid as reflection of internal milieu of brain.
- In: Wood JH (ed) Neurobiology of cerebrospinal fluid, vol 2. Plenum, New York, pp 1–23 Nicoletti F, Raffaele R, Falsaperla A, Paci R (1981) Circadian variation in 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid levels in human cerebrospinal fluid. Eur Neurol 20:9–12
- Palmer AM, Procter AW, Stratmann GG, Bowen DM (1986) Excitatory amino acid-releasing and cholinergic neurones in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 66:199-204
- Palmer AM, Francis PT, Benton JS, Sims NR, Mann DMA, Neary D, Snowden JS, Bowen DM (1987a) Presynaptic serotonergic dysfunction in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 48:8-15
- Palmer AM, Francis PT, Bowen DM, Benton JS, Neary D, Mann DMA, Snowden JS (1987b) Catecholaminergic neurones assessed ante-mortem in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 414:365-375
- Pardridge WM (1983) Neuropeptides and the blood-brain barrier. Annu Rev Physiol 45:73-82
- Perry EK (1986) The cholinergic hypothesis Ten years on. Br Med Bull 42:63–69
- Post RM, Goodwin FK, Gordon E, Watkin DM (1973a) Amine metabolites in human cerebrospinal fluid: effects of cord transection and spinal fluid block. Science 179:897–899
- Post RM, Kotin J, Goodwin FK, Gordon EK (1973b) Psychomotor activity and cerebrospinal fluid amine metabolites in affective illness. Am J Psychiat 130:67-72
- Procter AW, Palmer AM, Francis PT, Lowe SL, Neary D, Murphy E, Doshi R, Bowen DM (1988) Evidence of glutamatergic denervation and possible abnormal metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 50:790-802
- Rainero I, Kaye JA, May C, Durso R, Katz DI, Albert ML, Wolfe N, Pinessi L, Friedland RP, Rapoport SI (1988a) α-Melanocyte-stimulating hormone like immunoreactivity is increased in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Parkinson's disease. Arch Neurol 45:1224–1227
- Rainero I, May C, Kaye JA, Friedland RP, Rapoport SI (1988b) CSF α-MSH in dementia of the Alzheimer type. Neurology 38:1281-1284
- Rapoport SI (1976) Blood-brain barrier in physiology and medicine. Raven, New York
- Rapoport SI (1983) Passage of proteins from blood to cerebrospinal fluid model for transfer by pores and vesicles. In: Wood JH (ed) Neurobiology of cerebrospinal fluid, vol 2. Plenum, New York, pp 233–245
- Rossor M, Iversen LL (1986) Non-cholinergic neurotransmitter abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. Br Med Bull 42:70–74
- Rossor MN, Iversen LL, Reynolds GP, Mountjoy CQ, Roth M (1984) Neurochemical characteristics of early and late onset types of Alzheimer's disease. Br Med J 288:961–964
- Roth M (1986) The association of clinical and neurological findings and its bearing on the classification and aetiology of Alzheimer's disease. Br Med Bull 42:42–50
- Scheinin M (1985) Monoamine metabolites in human cerebrospinal fluid: indicators of neuronal activity? Med Biol 63:1-17
- Schlageter NL, Carson RE, Rapoport SI (1987) Examination of blood-brain barrier permeability in dementia of the Alzheimer type with [⁶⁸Ga]EDTA and positron emission tomography. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 7:1–8
- Sorenson KV, Alslev T, Christensen SE, Jensen NB, Orskov H (1987) CSF somatostatin in multiple sclerosis: reversible loss of diurnal oscillation in relapses. Neurology 37:1050-1053

16 J. R. Atack

- Tang F, Costa E, Schwartz JP (1983) Increase of proenkephalin mRNA and enkephalin content of rat striatum after daily injection of haloperidol for 2 to 3 weeks. Proc Natl Acad Sci 80:3841-3844
- Teff KL, Young SN, Marchand L, Botez MI (1989) Acute effect of protein or carbohydrate breakfasts on human cerebrospinal fluid monoamine precursor and metabolite levels. J Neurochem 52:235-241
- Tomlinson BE, Irving D, Blessed G (1981) Cell loss in the locus coeruleus in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. J Neurol Sci 49:419-428
- Whitehouse PJ, Hedreen JC, White CL III, Clark AW, Price DL (1983) Neuronal loss in the basal forebrain cholinergic system is more marked in Alzheimer's disease than in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Ann Neurol 14:149
- Widerlov E, Brane G, Ekman R, Kihlgren M, Norberg A, Karlsson I (1989) Elevated CSF somatostatin concentrations in demented patients parallel improved psychomotor functions induced by integrity-promoting care. Acta Psychiat Scand 79:41–47
- Wisniewski HM, Kozlowski PB (1982) Evidence for blood-brain barrier changes in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type (SDAT). In: Sinex FM (ed) Alzheimer's disease, Down's syndrome and aging. Ann NY Acad Sci 396:119-129

Wood JH (1980a) Neurochemical analysis of cerebrospinal fluid. Neurology 30:645-651

- Wood JH (1980b) Physiology, pharmacology, and dynamics of cerebrospinal fluid. In: Wood JH (ed) Neurobiology of cerebrospinal fluid, vol 1. Plenum, New York, pp 1–16
- Wood JH (1980c) Sites of origin and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations gradients neurotransmitter, their precursors and metabolites, and cyclic nucleotides. In: Wood JH (ed) Neurobiology of cerebrospinal fluid, vol 1. Plenum, New York, pp 53–62

Potential Diagnostic Markers for Alzheimer's Disease

P. Davies

Introduction

After a decade of intensive research it is now clear that there are several abnormalities in the protein composition of brains of patients who have died with Alzheimer's disease. At least some of these abnormalities are likely to be detectable in the cerebrospinal fluid, and perhaps in the blood, of living patients. This work raises the possibility that biologic tests to help in the diagnosis of this condition could be developed, and indeed there are claims being made that such tests will be available in the very near future. This chapter examines the potential sensitivity and specificity of some possible diagnostic markers for Alzheimer's disease.

Amyloid

A very prominent feature of senile plaques in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease is the deposition of an amyloid, either in the form of amorphous deposits or sometimes as a dense plaque core. Extensive amyloid deposition in cerebral blood vessels is also common in such cases. The composition of this amyloid is becoming clear, following the first successful isolation and sequencing studies of Wong and Glenner (Wong et al. 1985; Masters et al. 1985). The major component appears to be a peptide of 42 or 43 amino acids which is apparently deposited following cleavage of a larger precursor protein. The precise nature of this precursor is not yet established; the amyloid peptide sequence is apparently contained within at least three proteins, all of which are the product of the same gene (Goldgaber et al. 1987; Kang et al. 1987; Kitaguchi et al. 1988; Ponte et al. 1988; Tanzi et al. 1987). This gene, which has been assigned to chromosome 21, can produce at least three different messenger RNAs differing in length, and hence three proteins of slightly different size. Which of the three is cleaved to produce the amyloid peptide is not yet clear. There is some evidence that at least one of the possible precursors is heavily glycosylated, and it has been known for some time that some glycoprotein or glycopeptides are present in amyloid deposits.

Given that the deposition of amyloid involves the cleavage of at least one of the tentatively identified precursor molecules, it seems possible that some fragment or fragments of the precursor might be released into the cerebrospinal fluid. Because of the extensive vascular amyloid deposits found in most cases of Alzheimer's dis-

ease, it also seems possible that fragments of the precursor may be detectable in blood. There are no publications to support this proposal, but there can be little doubt that this is a very active area of investigation.

The single largest problem with the use of amyloid-related diagnostic testing will probably be the frequency of amyloid deposition in nondemented elderly people. Senile plaques and amorphous amyloid deposits are found with very high frequency (over 75% in most series) in patients over the age of 70 without evidence of intellectual or functional impairment (Tomlinson et al. 1968; Davies et al. 1988; Katzman et al. 1988). Vascular amyloid deposits are also found with high frequency in this population. It is possible that cleavage of precursor molecules to give rise to amyloid deposits occurs by different mechanisms in aging as compared to Alzheimer's disease, but as yet there is no indication that this is the case. Unless some fragment of the precursor can be found that will allow discrimination of Alzheimer patients from the nondemented elderly, efforts to develop diagnostic tests for amyloid deposition may be of limited usefulness, perhaps restricted to studies of younger patients with dementia, in whom amyloid deposition is rare in the absence of disease.

 α -1-Antichymotrypsin (ACT) has also been detected in plaques (Abraham et al. 1988). This protein is normally present in only very small amounts in brain, and thus detection of this molecule in cerebrospinal fluid might be proposed as a potential diagnostic. However, as with amyloid, ACT seems to be present in plaques of both Alzheimer's disease patients and the nondemented elderly, and discrimination of these two populations may be problematic.

Both the putative amyloid precursors and ACT are probably relatively abundant proteins in tissues other than brain. The presence and possible processing of these proteins in nonneural tissues will need to be considered in attempts to develop diagnostic markers.

Tangle Proteins

The second hallmark lesion of Alzheimer's disease is the neurofibrillary tangle, and this structure has come under intensive biochemical scrutiny over the past few years. Definitive evidence for the presence of two proteins within the tangle has been obtained, and indirect evidence for the presence of at least three other proteins has been presented. The two proteins that have been isolated from tangles are tau, a microtubule-associated protein (Kosik et al. 1986; Goedert et al. 1988; Wischik et al. 1988), and ubiquitin (Mori et al. 1987; Perry et al. 1987), probably a marker added to abnormal proteins to signal that they should be degraded. Neurofilament proteins, other microtubule-associated proteins, and the amyloid precursors have been suggested to contribute material to the tangle (Goldman and Yen 1986; Cork et al. 1986; Yen et al. 1987), but the presence of these proteins or fragments of them has not yet been definitively shown.

All of the above proteins are normally present in brain tissue, most of them being specifically found in neurons. Presumably they are all subjected to some modification process during incorporation into the tangle. The molecular details of this modification process are far from clear, although aberrant phosphorylation of tau and neurofilament proteins may occur. The basic strategy being employed to attempt to develop diagnostic tests is to use antibodies that react with some component of the tangle and to search for cross-reactive material in cerebrospinal fluid and/or blood. One report of such a study appeared some years ago (Mehta et al. 1985), and further data were presented at a recent IPSEN foundation meeting (Wisniewski and Iqbal 1988). Several potential problems with this approach have been identified. First, because the tangle seems to be composed of normal brain proteins, any condition that involves neuronal destruction seems likely to release these proteins into the cerebrospinal fluid. Thus great care would have to be taken to select antibodies that specifically reacted with the modified forms of these proteins that become incorporated into tangles. As mentioned above, these modifications appear to render normally soluble proteins insoluble in most aqueous media; whether or not modified forms of tangle proteins exist in cerebrospinal fluid is yet to be established.

Perhaps the most serious problem in the use of tangle-related antibodies for the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease is the observation that many elderly demented individuals have only a few tangles in the hippocampus, and very few in other brain regions, despite the presence of numerous senile plaques. Terry and his colleagues (Terry et al. 1987; Hansen et al. 1988; Katzman et al. 1988) have discussed this point at length, and it is notable that the NINCDS/ADRDA criteria for the pathologic diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease in the elderly patient (Khachaturian 1985) does not require the presence of tangles in the neocortex. Furthermore, tangles are present in significant numbers in several disorders apart from Alzheimer's disease, including progressive supranuclear palsy and dementia pugilistica (Goldman and Yen 1986). Even if technical problems can be overcome, it does not seem likely that methods for detection of tangle-related elements in cerebrospinal fluid can provide completely specific diagnoses of Alzheimer's disease.

Alz-50 and A68

In 1986, Wolozin et al. (1986) reported that a monoclonal antibody which they called Alz-50 reacted with a protein termed A68 that was greatly enriched in the brains of patients dying with Alzheimer's disease. Subsequent studies reported the presence of the protein in the cerebrospinal fluid of at least some living patients (Wolozin and Davies 1987), and several groups have confirmed that A68, if present at all in the normal adult, is very difficult to detect (Hyman et al. 1988; Tabaton et al. 1988). Transient expression of an A68-like molecule during the first 2 years of human life has been reported (Wolozin et al. 1988), but it is essentially undetectable after age 2 years.

Direct and clear demonstration of the presence of A68 has been possible only in brain tissue from patients with Alzheimer's disease and elderly Down's syndrome individuals. Using sensitive immunocytochemical methods, Alz-50 reactivity has been found in Pick's disease, progressive supranuclear palsy, and a few other, very rare neurologic conditions (Wolozin and Davies 1987; Tabaton et al. 1988). However, in none of these diseases is the amount of immunoreactivity sufficient to determine whether it is due to A68 or a similar cross-reactive molecule. Thus the presence of large amounts of A68 appears to be found only in individuals with Alzheimer's disease and older (over 40 years) individuals with Down's syndrome.

The above would seem to suggest that detection of A68 in cerebrospinal fluid might have the potential to assist in the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Much further work is needed before this potential can be realized. Samples of brain tissue from many more cases of both Alzheimer's disease and other neurologic disorders need to be examined to determine whether preliminary results hold up for a very large series of cases. Assays for A68 need to be improved – made more sensitive and more quantitative; so far it has been possible only to determine the presence or absence of the protein in the spinal fluid of patients, and not all the patients with a clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease have tested positive. Whether the samples from patients that do not show the presence of A68 are errors in clinical diagnosis or are the result of assay unreliability needs further investigation.

DNA Markers

There are families in which Alzheimer's disease is clearly an inherited disorder, and progress appears to be being made in the use of linkage analysis with DNA probes to find the location of the gene defect causing the disease. In four families with very early onset of the disease, the gene appears to be on chromosome 21 (St George-Hyslop et al. 1987). With the development of DNA probes closer to the gene itself, screening to determine which members of this family are likely to develop the disease should be possible. How generally useful such probes will be is impossible to determine at this time.

DNA markers are unlikely to be useful in diagnosis for the vast majority of cases of Alzheimer's disease, in which there is either no clear pattern of inheritance or no predictability in the age of onset. Even if a gene determining susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease were identified, knowing that a particular individual patient carried this gene would not rule out the presence of dementia due to other diseases. Without a clear-cut pattern of disease inheritance, dementia could not be attributed to the presence of a particular gene without, as at present, ruling out other possible causes.

References

- Abraham CR, Selkoe DJ, Potter H (1988) Immunocytochemical identification of the serine protease inhibitor alpha 1-antichymotrypsin in the brain amyloid deposits of Alzheimer's disease. Cell 52:487-501
- Cork LC, Sternberger NH, Sternberger LA, Casanova MF, Struble RG, Price DL (1986) Phosphorylated neurofilament antigens in neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 45:56-64
- Davies L, Wolska B, Simms G, Kakulas BA, Masters CL (1988) Prevalence of the A4 amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease in aged brains. Neurology (Suppl 1) 38:265
- Goedert M, Wischik CM, Crowther RA, Walker JE, Klug A (1988) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer's disease: identification as the microtubule associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4051-4055

- Goldgaber D, Lerman MI, McBride OW, Saffioti U, Gajdusek DC (1987) Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. Science 235:877–880
- Goldman JE, Yen S-H (1986) Cytoskeletal protein abnormalities in neurodegenerative diseases. Ann Neurol 19:209-223
- Hansen LA, DeTeresa R, Davies P, Terry RD (1988) Neocortical morphometry, lesion counts and choline acetyltransferase levels in the age spectrum of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 38:48-54
- Hyman BT, Van Hoesen GT, Wolozin BL, Davies P, Kromer LJ, Damasio AR (1988) Alz-50 antibody recognizes Alzheimer-related neuronal changes. Ann Neurol 23:371–379
- Kang J, Lemaire H-G, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters C, Grzeschik K-H, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Muller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell surface receptor. Nature 325:733-736
- Katzman R, Terry RD, DeTeresa R, Brown T, Davies P, Fuld P, Renbing X, Peck A (1988) Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: a subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. Ann Neurol 23:138–144
- Khachaturian ZS (1985) Diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol 42:1097-1105
- Kitaguchi N, Takahashi Y, Tokushima Y, Shiojiri S, Ito H (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331:530-532
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Masters CL, Simms G, Weinman NA, Multhaup G, McDonald BL, Beyreuther K (1985) Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4245-4249
- Mehta PD, Thal L, Wisniewski HM, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (1985) Paired helical filament antigen in CSF. Lancet I:35
- Mori H, Kondo J, Ihara Y (1987) Ubiquitin is a component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Science 235:1641-1644
- Perry G, Fiedman R, Shaw G, Chau V (1987) Ubiquitin is detected in neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaque neurites of Alzheimer brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:3033-3036
- Ponte P, Gonzalez-DeWhitt P, Schilling J, Miller J, Hsu D, Greenberg B, Davis K, Wallace W, Leiberberg I, Fuller F, Cordell B (1988) A new A4 amyloid RNA contains a domain homologous to serine proteinase inhibitors. Nature 331:525-527
- St George-Hyslop P, Tanzi RE, Polinsky RJ, Haines JL, Nee L, Watkins PC, Myers RH, Feldman RG, Pollen D, Drachman D, Growden J, Bruni A, Foncin J-F, Salmon D, Frommelt P, Amaducci L, Sorbi S, Piacentini S, Stewart GD, Hobbs WJ, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1987) The genetic defect causing familial Alzheimer's disease maps on chromosome 21. Science 235:885-890
- Tabaton M, Whitehouse PJ, Perry G, Davies P, Autilio-Gambetti L, Gambetti P (1988) Alz50 recognizes abnormal filaments in Alzheimer's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy. Ann Neurol 24:407-413
- Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Watkins PC, Bruns GAP, St George-Hyslop P, Van Keuren ML, Patterson D, Pagan S, Kurnit DM, Neve RL (1987) Amyloid beta protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. Science 235:880–884
- Terry RD, Hansen LA, DeTeresa R, Davies P, Tobias H, Katzman R (1987) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type without neocortical neurofibrillary tangles. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 46:262–268
- Tomlinson BE, Blessed G, Roth M (1968) Observations on the brains of nondemented old people. J Neurol Sci 7:331-356
- Wischik CM, Novak M, Thogersen HC, Edwards PC, Runswick MJ, Jakes R, Walker JE, Milstein C, Roth M, Klug A (1988) Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4506-4510
- Wisniewski HM, Iqbal K (1988) Paired helical filaments (PHF): Update 1988. In: Sinet P-M, Lamour Y, Christen Y (eds) Genetics and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 157–163

22 P. Davies

- Wolozin BL, Pruchnicki A, Dickson DW, Davies P (1986) A neuronal antigen in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Science 232:648-650
- Wolozin BL, Davies P (1987) Alzheimer related protein A68: Alzheimer specific accumulation and detection in cerebrospinal fluid. Ann Neurol 22:521–526
- Wolozin BL, Scicutella A, Davies P (1988) Re-expression of a developmentally restricted antigen in Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 16:6202-6206
- Wong CW, Quaranta V, Glenner GG (1985) Neuritic plaques and cerebrovascular amyloid in Alzheimer disease are antigenically related. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:8729-8732
- Yen SH, Dickson DW, Crowe A, Butler M, Shelanski ML (1987) Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles contain unique epitopes and epitopes in common with the heat-stable microtubule associated proteins, tau and MAP2. Am J Pathol 126(1):81-91

Cerebrospinal Fluid-Based Laboratory Test for Alzheimer's Disease*

H. M. Wisniewski, P. D. Mehta, K. S. Kim, and G. S. Merz

Summary

Mouse monoclonal antibodies to specific paired helical filament (PHF) antigens and a sensitive immunoassay were used to evaluate the presence of PHF antigens in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD) and non-AD controls. Our results showed higher levels of PHF antigens in CSF of AD patients than in CSF of non-AD controls. Although the range of values overlaps with those of non-AD controls, the higher values of PHF antigens in CSF of AD patients may be useful to the diagnosis of AD. Our data also showed the presence of beta-protein in CSF of patients with AD. Further evaluation of the concentrations of both PHF antigens and beta-protein in CSF of AD patients and their correlation with the degree of dementia are needed to determine their usefulness in the diagnosis of AD.

At present a conclusive diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease (AD) can be made only by correlating clinical findings (cognitive deficiency) and neuropathological studies of postmortem tissue. The leading neuropathological and biochemical changes correlated with the diagnosis of AD are: 1. amyloid deposits in the form of neuritic (senile) plaques and diffuse amyloid infiltrates and 2. paired helical filaments (PHF) which accumulate in neuronal perikarya, neurites, the neuritic plaques, and neuropil threads in nerve cell processes. An extensive loss (over 40%) of large and medium-sized nerve cells is seen in association with a deficiency in several neurotransmitters. Many other pathological changes are also found in AD (Wisniewski and Terry 1973). However, they have not been considered of critical importance in the diagnosis of AD. At this point we would like to stress that the same changes are found in the aged, but otherwise normal brain. However, there are many more lesions in the AD brain and they are more widely distributed in the CNS than in the normal aged brain. Recent studies (Ogomori et al. 1989) show that, indeed, in comparison with normal aging the expanded distribution of AD neuropathology is the most characteristic feature of AD.

^{*} Supported in part by grant nos. PO1 AGO-4220-06 and PO1 HD-22634-03 from the National Institutes of Health, Grant # MH 44031 from the National Institute of Mental Health and a grant from the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association.
24 H. M. Wisniewski et al.

As indicated above the difference between AD and aged normal brain appears to be quantitative, not qualitative. The question then arises: Is AD a disease or part of the normal aging process? From a biological point of view aging should be considered a developmental process and is the stage when the cell, organ, or organism, after reaching a stage of *maximal* functional performance, will start to show evidence of functional decline. Differences in life span between various animal species and the existence of syndromes associated with premature aging (Brown and Wisniewski 1983) point to the existence of aging genes. From studies of Down syndrome (DS) and familial AD, we also know that gene expression influences the deposition of beta-protein amyloid. Topographical and individual susceptibility to PHF formation also points to the role of local gene(s) expression in the formation of these lesions.

Since AD appears to be a cerebral form of amyloidosis (Wisniewski et al. 1988), it is possible that local ectoantigens (toxic, bacterial, or viral) may play an essential role in AD amyloidosis, as has been observed in systemic and experimental amyloidosis. We consider AD a disease because the intensity of the pathology far exceeds that which is seen in a majority of normal *old-aged* individuals. Because there are no new lesions in AD, in comparison to age-matched controls, we have to assume the existence of a preclinical form of AD (Wisniewski et al., in press). This preclinical form of AD would be a condition in which the number of characteristic AD lesions (plaques and tangles or plaques with few, if any, tangles) would be equal to the neuropathological criteria for AD. From recent clinicopathological studies it is evident that the number of senile plaques by and large does not distinguish between demented and nondemented subjects (Dickson et al. 1988). However, the presence of many plaques and tangles correlates well with dementia. From these observations, it has become apparent that the presence of neurofibrillary changes has greater impact on the function of the brain than amyloid deposits. Tangles made of PHF occur in many, unrelated pathological conditions. In diseases where there are many PHF-bearing neurons, dementia is present, i.e., parkinsonism-dementia complex, dementia pugilistica, and sporadic cases with many neurons with neurofibrillary degeneration (Wisniewski et al. 1979). On the other hand, the conditions with beta-peptide amyloid deposits present are not common, i.e., AD, DS, normal aging, and Dutch familial vascular amyloidosis. Because PHF tangle formation is a result of neuronal responses to different "noxious" agents, individuals in whom many neurons show neurofibrillary changes without plaques are, therefore, not AD patients. However, patients with many plaques, but few, if any, neurons with neurofibrillary changes should be diagnosed as having AD. A great majority of AD patients have both plaques and tangles in the neocortex. In very old people with AD, however, there may be few tangles in the neocortex, but they are present in the hippocampus (Katzman et al. 1988). Evidence is accumulating that deposits of beta-peptide amyloid fibers may precede formation of neuronal perikarya localized neurofibrillary tangles.

The abnormal form of tau, a microtubule-associated protein shown to be part of the PHF, has also been shown by recent immunohistological studies to exist in a nontangle form (Bancher et al. 1989). We have used this information to develop our PHF-protein diagnostic test which is based on the existence (1) of a soluble PHF-protein present in the CSF, which is in a ubiquitinated, unpolymerized form, and (2) on the observation that there is also an antigen in the CSF which reacts with anti-beta-peptide antibody.

Using a monoclonal antibody to PHF in an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), CSF from groups of AD and control patients from different AD clinics was examined for the presence of PHF antigens. In our initial experiments, CSF specimens from 18 patients were collected by Dr. Leon Thal (Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY, USA). These included nine patients with AD (mean age \pm SD, 63.9 \pm 9.7 years) and nine non-AD controls (mean age \pm SD, 55.6 ± 19 years). The non-AD controls consisted of patients with stroke, seizures, multiple sclerosis, and other neurological conditions. Only Alzheimer's disease/ senile dementia of the Alzheimer type (AD/SDAT) patients meeting research diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of SDAT (Eisdorfer and Cohn 1980; McKhann et al. 1984) were included. The specimens were coded and the code was broken by Dr. Thal after completion of CSF analysis. The PHF antigen concentration was determined by a two-step competitive inhibition ELISA (Mehta et al. 1985). The mean concentration of PHF antigen in CSF from patients with AD was significantly increased compared with that of the non-AD controls (P < 0.05, one-tailed "t" test). Eight of the nine AD CSF specimens contained over 0.2 units of PHF antigen(s), whereas only three of nine controls exceeded this level (Fig. 1).

In another experiment, 40 CSF specimens were obtained from 14 patients with AD (mean age \pm SD, 63.0 \pm 8.2) and 26 non-AD controls (mean age \pm SD, 51.2





26 H. M. Wisniewski et al.

 \pm 18.5). The latter included patients with multiple sclerosis, seizures, migraine, vasculitis, stroke, and other neurological disorders. Using a modified competitive inhibition ELISA assay, the CSF specimens from the AD patients showed a higher percentage inhibition of binding (mean \pm SD, 72.6 \pm 30.6) between PHF and the monoclonal antibody to PHF antigens than the control specimens (mean \pm SD, 47.9 \pm 21.8). This difference was statistically significant (P < 0.005, one-tailed t-test). Again, even though the difference was significant, some degree of overlap was observed between these groups (Fig. 2). The reason for this overlap is not clear. It is possible that the several non-AD controls which exhibited "false-positive" values may belong to a preclinical group of AD.

Comparison of monoclonal antibody 5-25 reactivity with PHF, ubiquitin (from bovine red blood cells, Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) and synthetic beta-peptide by direct ELISA revealed identical titers for PHF antigen and ubiquitin. There was no reactivity to the beta-peptide. However, it required 20-fold more ubiquitin to reach the same titer obtained against the PHF antigen. These findings are consistent with those of Grundke-Iqbal et al. (1988), who found that monoclonal anti-



Fig. 2. Percent inhibition binding of AD and non-AD control CSF with monoclonal antibody to PHF

body 5-25 reacts with both PHF and ubiquitin in an immunoblot and dot blot assay. These observations suggest that the antibody 5-25 recognizes a ubiquitinated form of tau. They also indicate that ubiquitin can be used as a standard in the ELISA assay. One of the main advantages of using ubiquitin instead of a PHF suspension as the standard is that it is commercially available, and thus variability between assays will be minimal.

Because the AD neuropathology is also characterized by the presence of amyloid deposits, we also examined CSF for the presence of both PHF and betapeptide antigens. Coded CSF specimens from 19 patients were provided by Dr. Barclay (Psychiatry Service, Westchester Medical Center, Cornell University, NY, USA). The specimens included five patients with AD (mean age \pm SD, 73.8 \pm 5.81) in late stage of the disease and 14 non-AD controls (mean age \pm SD, 65.7 \pm 13.14). The controls included CSF from patients with multi-infarct dementia, unspecified dementia, and CNS tumor. PHF antigens were quantitated by a two-step competitive inhibition ELISA using monoclonal antibody 5-25 with ubiquitin as the standard. When the code was broken, CSF from AD patients had significantly higher (P < 0.025) reactivity with the monoclonal antibody than did the 14 non-AD controls (Fig. 3).

To assay for beta-peptide antigen we used a monoclonal antibody raised against a synthetic peptide corresponding to the first 24 amino acid residues (Kim et al. 1988). The antibody selectively stains both vascular and neuritic plaque beta-peptide amyloid, but does not stain PHF or tau. Using a sandwich ELISA, we quanti-



Fig. 3. Concentration of ubiquitin in CSF of AD and non-AD controls



Fig. 4. Concentration of beta-protein in CSF of AD and non-AD controls

tated beta-protein antigen concentrations in the same 19 CSF specimens in a blind fashion. Although beta-peptide antigen was detected in both the AD patients and the controls, the concentrations did not differ significantly (Fig. 4). Thus, CSF specimens from AD patients have consistently had a higher concentration of PHF antigens than those of non-AD controls, but beta-protein levels (as measured in this series) were similar for both groups. These findings appear to be consistent with neuropathological data showing that, in patients with AD in late stage, the number of neurons with neurofibrillary changes was more closely associated with the degree of dementia than the number of plaques (Barcikowska et al., in press; German et al. 1987; Katzman et al. 1988).

In three separate analyses the concentration of PHF antigens was elevated in the CSF of AD patients. Although the range of values overlaps with those of other neurological diseases, the higher values may serve as a useful adjunct to the diagnosis and therapeutic response when combined with appropriate clinical neuropsychological findings. Because of the complex nature of the pathology, it is possible that no single biochemical marker will be specific for the diagnosis of AD. Our preliminary finding that amyloid beta-protein is present in AD CSF will permit the correlation of the concentrations of both PHF antigens and beta-protein in CSF of AD patients. The correlation of these measurements with neuropsychological data and neuropathological findings is needed to determine their usefulness in the clinical diagnosis of AD.

Acknowledgment. The authors wish to thank Dr. Alex Zemcov for facilitating the collection of samples and Patricia Merz for advice and editorial assistance.

References

- Bancher C, Brunner C, Lassmann H, Budka H, Jellinger K, Wiche G, Seitelberger F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Wisniewski HM (1989) Accumulation of abnormally phosphorylated tau precedes the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 477:90-99
- Barcikowska M, Wisniewski HM, Bancher C, Grundke-Iqbal I (1989) About the presence of paired helical filaments in dystrophic neurites participating in the plaque formation. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 78:225-231
- Brown WT, Wisniewski HM (1983) Genetics of human aging. Rev Biol Res Aging 1:81-99
- Dickson DW, Farlo J, Davies P, Crystal H, Fuld P, Yen SH (1988) Alzheimer's disease. A double-labeling immunohistochemical study of senile plaques. Am J Pathol 132:86-101
- Eisdorfer C, Cohn J (1980) Diagnostic criteria for primary neuronal degeneration of the Alzheimer type. Fam Pract II:553-557
- German DC, White III CL, Sparkman DR (1987) Alzheimer's disease: neurofibrillary tangles in nuclei that project to the cerebral cortex. Neuroscience 21:305-312
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Vorbrodt AW, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Wang GP, Wisniewski HM (1988) Microtubule-associated polypeptides tau are altered in Alzheimer paired helical filaments. Mol Brain Res 4:43-52
- Katzman R, Terry RD, DeTeresa R, Brown T, Davies P, Fuld P, Renbing X, Peck A (1988) Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: a subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. Ann Neurol 23:138–144
- Kim KS, Miller DL, Sapienza VJ, Chen C-MJ, Bai C, Grundke-Iqbal I, Currie JR, Wisniewski HM (1988) Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies reactive to synthetic cerebrovascular amyloid peptide. Neurosci Res Commun 2:121–130
- McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM (1984) Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of the Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. Neurology 34:939-945
- Mehta PD, Thal L, Wisniewski HM, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (1985) Paired helical filaments antigen in CSF. Lancet II:35
- Ogomori K, Kitamoto T, Tateishi J, Sato Y, Suetsugu M, Abe M (1989) Beta-protein amyloid is widely distributed in the central nervous system of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 134:243-251
- Wisniewski HM, Terry RD (1973) Morphology of the aging brain, human and animal. Prog Brain Res 40:184-186
- Wisniewski K, Jervis JA, Moretz RC, Wisniewski HM (1979) Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles in diseases other than senile and presenile dementia. Annals Neurol 5:288–294
- Wisniewski HM, Currie JR, Barcikowska M, Robakis NK, Miller DL (1988) Alzheimer's disease, a cerebral form of amyloidosis. In: Pouplard-Barthelaix A, Emile J, Christen Y (eds) Immunology and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 1–6
- Wisniewski HM, Bancher C, Barcikowska M, Wen GY, Currie J (1989) Spectrum of morphological appearance of amyloid deposits in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 78:337-347

Probes for the Molecular Components of Plaques and Tangles Point to a Broadening View of Alzheimer Pathology

K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe

Summary

The use of new antibody and cDNA probes has broadened our view as to the anatomical loci of the lesions in Alzheimer's disease. Amyloid is deposited in many locations in the central nervous system, including areas that are not clinically affected by the disease process. Likewise, the neurofibrillary lesions are seen in locations beyond the classical distribution of NFT; however, these lesions do remain restricted to regions such as the hippocampus, cerebrocortical association areas, and certain limbic and brainstem nuclei that are affected clinically. Associated with the neurofibrillary lesions are some of the light microscopic stigmata of a growth or regenerative response. The stimulus for this response may arise as a result of the deposition of β -amyloid protein. Regenerative-type neurites are present in neurons undergoing degeneration, and therefore these processes occur concurrently in the same cell. A major component of the neuritic response is the microtubule-associated protein tau, which we have shown to undergo developmentally regulated splicing. One of the previously reported sequences obtained directly from paired helical filament preparations corresponds to an immature tau isoform. The presence of an immature isoform in the paired helical filament may occur as a recapitulation of development, and its presence within a mature cellular milieu may be associated with the assembly of tau into filaments.

Introduction

Even a superficial look at the research into Alzheimer's disease (AD) reveals a broadening of the dichotomy between neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and senile plaques, the two classical hallmarks of the disease. However, the commonly framed format of the debate concerning the fundamental importance of one or the other structure to the disease process is not nearly so useful as elucidating the relationship between these two lesions. The following observations suggest some of the hazards and complexities of arriving at a basic disease mechanism by considering either plaques or tangles in isolation. Neither NFT nor senile plaques are completely specific for AD. NFT without senile plaques occur in a number of pathological entities, such as subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (Wisniewski et al. 1979), dementia pugilistica (Corsellis et al. 1973), and the Guamanian Parkinson dementia complex (Wisniewski et al. 1970), to name only a few (Wis-

niewski et al. 1979) [Whether in each of these diseases the ultrastructural correlates of NFT are Alzheimer-type paired helical filaments is not completely resolved (Wischik and Crowther 1986).] While senile plaques are considerably more specific for AD, the amyloid protein is also deposited in hereditary Dutch disease (Van Duinen 1987). Senile plaques can also occur, even in numbers sufficient to diagnose Alzheimer's disease, without any clinical evidence of dementia (Katzman et al. 1988). Furthermore, amyloid precursor protein deposits diffusely in the cerebellum and spinal cord of some Alzheimer patients without any apparent clinical dysfunction localized to these tissues (Yamaguchi et al. 1989). Diffuse plaques were detected by the Bielschowsky silver stain in earlier studies of AD brain, but they have only recently received attention due to their labeling with antibodies to the β -amyloid protein (Ulrich 1985; Tagliavini et al. 1988; Yamaguchi et al. 1988; Mann and Isiri 1988; Joachim et al. 1988; Struble et al. 1988; Kitamoto et al. 1987).

These diffuse plaques are not likely to contain β -amyloid protein in a β -pleated sheet conformation since they are not detected by Congo red or thioflavin. A feature of diffuse plaques is that they do not appear to be associated with a neuritic response.

While it is possible that deposition of the amyloid precursor protein may be an early manifestation of the disease process, the observed clinical impairment may more closely parallel the neurofibrillary lesions, the compaction of amyloid into senile plaques, or ultimately the neuronal loss. If this scenario is correct, it raises the question as to why certain brain regions, such as the cerebral cortex and regions of the limbic system, develop a neurofibrillary reaction to the amyloid, whereas other regions, such as the cerebellum and spinal cord, do not.

Tau Immunocytochemistry

Because the NFT has nearly become a household word, it is worth briefly describing how the concept of this lesion has grown from its original description using silver stains to its recent immunohistochemical analysis with highly specific antibodies. The perceived scope of pathological features encompased by the neurofibrillary lesions has been limited by equating this aspect of the pathology solely with NFT. However, it has become quite clear that NFT represent only one aspect of a host of neurofibrillary-type lesions. NFT have been well visualized by antibodies to the microtubule-associated protein, tau (Brion et al. 1985; Wood et al. 1986; Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986b; Kosik et al. 1986; Delacourte and Défossez 1986; Nukina and Ihara 1986; Yen et al. 1987). Tau protein is of interest to investigators from strikingly diverse vantage points. As a microtubule-binding protein it serves as a means of probing microtubule function and dynamics. As a microtubule-associated protein that is compartmentalized within neurons, it is a window upon neuronal polarity, the establishment of axonal identity, and possibly the selective sorting of molecules or organelles to the axon. As a protein that is developmentally regulated in the expression of its isoforms, it serves as a starting point for the identification of regulators of brain development and morphology. As a phosphoprotein it leads to the characterization and function of brain kinases.

32 K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe

And finally, as a component of the Alzheimer NFT, it clearly has a role in brain pathology.

In addition to labeling NFT, tau antibodies label a massive neuritic dystrophy that is more pervasive than either the NFT or the senile plaques (Braak et al. 1986; Kowall and Kosik 1987). The dystrophic neurites extend well beyond the neuritic portion of the senile plaque, which surrounds the amyloid core, to regions such as layer I of the cerebral cortex, where senile plaques are rare. The identification of these structures as either axons or dendrites has been difficult. In favor of a dendritic origin is the fact that occasionally these neurites are observed in contiguity with the apical dendrite of pyramidal cells (McKee et al. 1989), and that they are observed in dendritic fields, particularly the region around the layer II entorhinal star cell clusters. These clusters of neuronal somata are surrounded, under normal conditions, by a rich dendritic plexus that is readily demonstrated with antibodies to MAP2. The clusters and their dendritic surrounds are separated by axonal bundles. Unlike control tissue, in AD the dendritic fields are readily labeled by the tau antibody in a dystrophic pattern. Since we have observed that tau consistently labels axons and has failed to label neuronal somata and dendrites, the presence of tau-immunoreactive NFT in the somatodendritic region of the neuron represents an aberrant localization of the antigen, and tau reactivity in distal dendritic fields as dystrophic neurites is even more displaced. One possibly unifying hypothesis is that the abundant neuritic dystrophy of AD represents ectopic axonal growth from dendrites.

Many of these neurofibrillary features appear related to a widespread regenerative process, in that one observes supernumerary basilar dendrites on pyramidal cells, projections from tangle-bearing cell somata of filopodial- and lamellipodiallike structures, and the proliferation of the apical dendritic tree in the form of dystrophic neurites or "curly fibers" (McKee et al. 1989). While these features might not strike one as typical of regeneration, dendritic growth is, in fact, a type of primary response that a vertebrate neuron can undergo. The "close axotomy" in the lamprey (Hall and Cohen 1983, 1988a, b; Hall et al. 1989), a system ideally suited for the in situ observation of regeneration, demonstrates a possibly analogous pattern. In this model close axotomy results in ectopic axonal regeneration from the dendrites. The more familiar axonal sprouting, which results from a distal axotomy, has also been observed in AD (Geddes et al. 1985) but may not contribute as massively to the neurofibrillary pathology. Our observations in cerebrocortical neuronal cell cultures suggest that during regeneration of neurites after plating tau is transiently present in dendrites (Kosik and Finch 1987). We have also observed that a subset of the curly fibers are labeled by a ubiquitin monoclonal antibody raised in our laboratory, and thus the presence of ubiquitin conjugates within these structures suggests the possibility of ongoing simultaneous degeneration and regeneration within the same cellular locus.

Polarity and the Compartmentation of Tau Protein

The basic mechanisms by which neurons establish, maintain, and reestablish polarity after injury clearly arise, directly from AD pathology. In this area the

work of Banker has been seminal. Although limited to cultured hippocampal pyramidal cells at low density on a polylysine substrate, his work has demonstrated specific sorting of molecules to axons and dendrites, and, along with other workers, he has suggested that a basis for selective sorting lies in the orientation of microtubules. While microtubules have their plus ends directed distally in the axon, they appear to orient in both directions in the mature dendrite (Baas et al. 1988). Perhaps more germane to the scientific underpinnings of this proposal is Banker's finding of the intrinsic plasticity in neurites, such that after a close axotomy any of the dendrites can undergo a transformation to an axon (Dotti and Banker 1987). The potential traffic problems encountered to direct appropriate sorting pari passu with the establishment of axonal or dendritic identity are staggering, in that molecules and organelles are being rearranged while certain microtubule-based transit systems are becoming uniform in their orientation.

Where does tau fit with regard to questions concerning neuronal polarity? Although not universally agreed upon, a significant body of data, including our own, suggest that tau protein is most abundant in neurons, and within neurons it is enriched in the axonal compartment. Our data are based on immunocytochemical patterns with various tau monoclonal antibodies in both tissue (Kowall and Kosik 1987) and in culture (Kosik and Finch 1987), Northern blots of various tissues (Neve et al. 1986), and in situ hybridization (Kosik et al. 1989b) from which a consistent picture emerges. The axonal localization of tau raises a problem commonly encountered by the neuron – that is, since the axon is devoid of ribosomes beyond the axon hillock, how does the protein become compartmentalized? For some proteins, particularly those transported within vesicles, a potential answer lies in the orientation of the microtubule, since vesicle translocator molecules, e.g., kinesin and dynein, are defined in terms of their movement either toward or away from the plus end of microtubules. For tau, one theroretically possible way in which some degree of compartmentation might be obtained is a positioning of the tau ribosomal population such that their synthetic products can be directly launched into the axon. In fact, this is not the case, since we have shown, by in situ hybridization using probes to two discrete nonoverlapping regions of the tau sequence, that the population of tau mRNAs is present throughout the cell body and extends into the proximal dendrite. The dendritic extent of hybridization was comparable to a ribosomal RNA probe. Two possibilities that might explain the localization are: (a) tau is only immunocytochemically detectable in the axon because its antigenic presentation changes upon entry into the axon; (b) tau moves through the somatodendritic compartment by diffusion so that its levels are low, but once entering the axon it moves by slow transport and thus accumulates. The presence of NFT-related tau immunoreactivity in the somatodendritic domain and tau immunoreactivity in more distal dendritic fields suggests a highly aberrant localization of the protein in AD. The site of NFT deposition, in fact, more closely resembles the distribution of the tau ribosomal population than the tau protein (Kosik et al. 1989b).

34 K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe

Tau Splicing

Recently we have discovered that differentially spliced forms of tau are developmentally regulated (Kosik et al. 1989a). Mature tau involves the insertion of at least two distinct sequences, one of which is a 31 amino acid sequence homologous to the carboxy-terminal repeated sequences (Lee et al. 1988) that have the property of microtubule binding (Aizawa et al. 1988; Lewis et al. 1989; Lee et al. 1989). Using insert and junctional probes to rodent brain RNA extracted at defined developmental time points, a very clear isogene switching event occurs at approximately postnatal day 8. The internal homology of these repeats and their homology to the microtubule-binding domain in MAP2 (Lewis et al. 1988) is shown in Fig. 1. Tau repeat 2 is the inserted sequence.

The two reported tau sequences derived from the paired helical filament and described as type I and type II (Goedert et al. 1988) can now be assigned to developmentally distinct isotypes. The immature tau mRNA is either shut off or down-regulated to nondetectable levels after approximately postnatal day 8. At this time the brain is undergoing synaptogenesis, and the isogenic switch to a four repeat binding domain may relate to the more highly targeted transport required of microtubules once synaptic contact is made. The presence of the immature tau sequence within the paired helical filament suggests either a reexpression of the immature isoform, accumulation of low-level continued constitutive expression of an immature isoform through adult life, or significant expression of the immature isoform in neuronal subpopulations vulnerable to the development of NFT. Emergent reexpression may be a concomitant of the observed regenerative response and its known tendency to recapitulate developmental events (Hoffman and Cleveland 1988). An immature tau isoform within an adult milieu may have decreased affinity for microtubules and/or may be an inappropriate substrate for developmentally regulated kinases. (Phosphorylation is thought to decrease the affinity of microtubule-associated proteins for microtubules.) One potential example of inappropriate phosphorylation could be via calcium/calmodulindependent kinase which, we have found, does not get expressed until the isogenic

-	• •	н	÷
	м		
			~

1)	235	QTA	PVP	MP D	LKN	VRS	KIG	STE	NL	KHQ	PG	G (GK	265
2)	266	VQI	INK	KLD	LSN	vqs	KCG	SKD	NI	≺н∨	PG	Ġ (ĠS	296
3)	297	VQI	VYK	PV D	LSK	VTS	I I KC G	I SLG	I NIF	нк	I PG	I G (I GQ	327
4)	308	VEV	KGE	кі п				 SID		гuv			 2 N	250
-+) ΜΔΓ	020 02	VEV	NGE		FRDI	1000				1117				359
1417-0	2													
1)	1662	RLI	NQP	LPD	LKN	VKS	KIG	STD		۲Q	PK I	G (GQ I	1692
3)	1693	VQI	νтк	кір	LSH	VTS	ĸċġ	ŚLK	ŇIF	RHR	PG	Ġ	GR	1723
4)	1724	VKI	ESV	KLD	FKE	KAQA	KV G	SLD	NAF	нν	PG	Ġ	GN	1755
Fig. 1. Sequences of tau and MAP2 proteins														

switch of tau to its mature form occurs (Kosik et al. 1989a). These events might lead to the accumulation of tau unassociated with microtubules in certain neurons and the precipitation of these proteins into insoluble filaments or paired helical filaments.

The clearly distinct forms of tau mRNAs that are differentially present during development poses the question as to the site at which this regulation occurs. Both *cis* and *trans* controls that become operationally active at postnatal day 8 are possible sites. While many examples of alternative splicing of mRNA precursors have been documented, clearly demonstrated examples of regulation entirely by splice site selection and, by implication, *trans*-acting factors, are less numerous.

Tau Phosphorylation

Two features appear to predominate in studies of the posttranslational modifications of tau. One is that phophorylation is the only known posttranslational modification of tau. A second feature is that conformational changes, perhaps linked to phosphorylation events, must be considered in the design of protein level tau probes, and these changes are likely to have both biological and pathological implications. Regarding tau phosphorylation the following observations are found in the literature. Tau is a phosphoprotein; however, the degree to which it is phosphorylated under various conditions and the in vivo sites of the phosphates are not known. Tau appears to exist in at least two distinct phosphorylation states (Lindwall and Cole 1984); however, its microheterogeneity by two-dimensional gels has raised the possibility of multiple phosphorylation states (Butler and Shelanski 1986). Tau can serve as an in vitro substrate for three kinases: calcium/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (Schulman 1984; Yamamoto et al. 1983). protein kinase C (Hoshi et al. 1987; Baudier et al. 1987), and an independent kinase (Ishiguro et al. 1988). Crude tau preparations can incorporate phosphate stoichiometrically in the presence of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (Schulman 1984; Yamamoto et al. 1983), and recently conditions have been described by which purer tau preparations can incorporate up to 100% phosphate (mole/mole; Baudier and Cole 1987). Tau does not appear to be a good in vitro substrate for any of the cyclic AMP-dependent kinases, including that which is associated with MAP2, nor for any of several tyrosine kinases tested. Phosphorylated forms of tau have been detected in NFT, and the suggestion has been made that the phosphorylation of tau in Alzheimer tangles is aberrant (Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986a; Wood et al. 1986; Ihara et al. 1986; Saitoh and Dobkins 1986). One of the experimental bases for this suggestion is the tau monoclonal antibody designated tau-1. This antibody is specific for tau but, unlike other tau antibodies, recognizes NFT only after they have been treated with alkaline phosphatase (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986a; Wood et al. 1986). In physiologic terms phosphorylation of microtubule-associated proteins has been reported to decrease their ability to promote microtubule polymerization.

36 K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe

References

- Aizawa H, Kawasaki H, Murofushi H, Kotani S, Suzuki K, Sakai H (1988) Microtubule-binding domain of tau proteins. J Biol Chem 263:7703-7707
- Baas PW, Deitch JS, Black MM, Banker GA (1988) Polarity orientation of microtubules in hippocampal neurons: uniformity in the axon and nonuniformity in the dendrite. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:8335-8339
- Baudier J, Cole RD (1987) Phosphorylation of tau proteins to a state like that in Alzheimer's brain is catalyzed by a calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase and modulated by phospholipids. J Biol Chem 262:17577-17583
- Baudier J, Lee SH, Cole DR (1987) Separation of the different microtubule-associated tau protein species from bovine brain and their mode II phosphorylation by CA²⁺/phospholipiddependent protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 262:17584–17590
- Braak H, Braak E, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (1986) Occurrence of neuropil threads in the senile human brain and in Alzheimer's disease; a third location of paired helical filaments outside of neurofibrillary tangles and neuritic plaques. Neurosci Lett 65:351-355
- Brion JP, Passareiro H, Nunez J, Flament-Durand J (1985) Mise en evidence immunologique de la proteine tau au niveau des lesions de degenerescence neurofibrillaire de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Arch Biol (Bruxelles) 95:229–235
- Butler M, Shelanski M (1986) Microheterogeneity of microtubule-associated tau proteins is due to differences in phosphorylation. J Neurochem 47:1517-1522
- Corsellis JAN, Bruton CJ, Freeman-Browne D (1973) The aftermath of boxing. Psychol Med 3:270–303
- Delacourte A, Défossez A (1986) Alzheimer's disease: tau proteins, the promoting factors of microtubule assembly, are the major components of paired helical filaments. J Neurol Sci 76:173-186
- Dotti CG, Banker GA (1987) Experimentally induced alteration in the polarity of developing neurons. Nature 330:254-256
- Geddes JW, Monaghan DT, Cotman CW, Lott IT, Kim RC, Chui HC (1985) Plasticity of hippocampal circuitry in Alzheimer's disease. Science 230:1179–1181
- Goedert M, Wischik CM, Crowther RA, Walker JE, Klug A (1988) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4051-4055
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Quinlan M, Wisniewski H, Binder LI (1986a) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913–4917
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Quinlan M, Tung Y-C, Zaidi MS, Wisniewski HM (1986b) Microtubule-associated protein tau: a component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem 261:6084-6089
- Hall GF, Cohen MJ (1983) Extensive dendritic sprouting induced by close axotomy of central neurons in the lamprey. Science 222:518-521
- Hall GF, Cohen MJ (1988a) The pattern of dendritic sprouting and retraction induced by axotomy of lamprey central neurons. J Neurosci 8:3584–3597
- Hall GF, Cohen MJ (1988b) Dendritic amputation redistributes sprouting evoked by axotomy in lamprey central neurons. J Neurosci 8:3598–3606
- Hall GF, Poulos A, Cohen MJ (1989) Sprouts emerging from the dendrites of axotomized lamprey central neurons have axonlike ultrastructure. J Neurosci 9:588–599
- Hoffman PN, Cleveland DW (1988) Neurofilament and tubulin expression recapitulates the developmental program during axonal regeneration: induction of a specific beta-tubulin isotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4530-4533
- Hoshi M, Nishida E, Miyata Y, Sakai H, Miyoshi T, Ogawara H, Akiyama T (1987) Protein kinase C phosphorylates tau and induces its functional alterations. FEBS Lett 217:237-241
- Ihara Y, Nukina N, Miura R, Ogawara M (1986) Phosphorylated tau protein is integrated into paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. J Biochem 99:1807–1810
- Ishiguro K, Ihara Y, Uchida T, Imahori K (1988) A novel tubulin-dependent protein kinase forming a paired helical filament epitope on tau. J Biochem 104:319-321

- Joachim CL, Morris JH, Selkoe DJ, Kosik KS (1988) Pathological changes in the cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease (Abstract). Neurology 38:325
- Katzman R, Terry R, DeTeresa R, Brown T, Davies P, Fuld P, Renbing X, Peck A (1988) Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: a subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. Ann Neurol 23:138–144
- Kitamoto T, Ogomori K, Tateishi J, Prusiner SB (1987) Methods in laboratory investigation: formic acid pretreatment enhances immunostaining of cerebral and systemic amyloids. Lab Invest 57:230-236
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau (τ) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Kosik KS, Finch EA (1987) MAP2 and tau segregate into dendritic and axonal domains after the elaboration of morphologically distinct neurites: an immunocytochemical study of cultured rat cerebrum. J Neurosci 7:3142-3153
- Kosik KS, Orecchio LD, Bakalis S, Neve RL (1989a) Developmentally regulated expression of specific tau sequences. Neuron 2:1389–1397
- Kosik KS, Crandall JE, Mufson EJ, Neve RL (1989b) Tau in situ hybridization in normal and Alzheimer brain: localization in the somatodendritic compartment. Ann Neurol, in press
- Kowall NW, Kosik KS (1987) Axonal disruption and aberrant localization of tau protein characterize the neuropil pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 22:639-643
- Lee G, Cowan N, Kirschner M (1988) The primary structure and heterogeneity of tau protein from mouse brain. Science 239:285–289
- Lee G, Neve RL, Kosik KS (1989) Characterization of human tau protein and its microtubule binding domain. Neuron, in press
- Lewis SA, Wang D, Cowan NJ (1988) Microtubule associated protein MAP2 shares a similar microtubule binding motif with tau protein. Science 242:936–939
- Lindwall G, Cole RD (1984) Phosphorylation affects the ability of tau protein to promote microtubule assembly. J Biol Chem 259:5301–5305
- Mann D, Isiri MM (1988) The site of the earliest lesions of Alzheimer's disease (Letter). N Engl J Med 318:789
- McKee AC, Kowall NW, Kosik KS (1989) Microtubular reorganization and growth response in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol, in press
- Neve RL, Harris P, Kosik KS, Kurnit DM, Donlon TA (1986) Identification of cDNA clones for the human microtubule-associated protein tau and chromosomal localization of the genes for tau and microtubule-associated protein 2. Mol Brain Res 1:271–280
- Nukina N, Ihara Y (1986) One of the antigenic determinants of paired helical filaments is related to tau protein. J Biochem 99:1541-1544
- Saitoh T, Dobkins KR (1986) Increased in vitro phosphorylation of a M_r 60,000 protein in brain from patients with Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:9764–9767
- Schulman H (1984) Phosphorylation of microtubule-associated proteins by a Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase. J Cell Biol 99:11–19
- Struble RG, Becker PS, Hedreen JC, Price DL (1988) Multiple types of senile plaques in Alzheimer's disease: assortment in familial and sporadic cases (Abstract). J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 47:393
- Tagliavini F, Giaccone G, Frangione B, Bugiani O (1988) Preamyloid deposits in the cerebral cortex of patients with Alzheimer's disease and nondemented individuals. Neurosci Lett 93:191-196
- Ulrich J (1985) Alzheimer changes in non-demented patients younger than sixty-five: possible early stages of Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Ann Neurol 17:273-277
- Van Duinen SG (1987) Hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis in patients of Dutch origin is related to Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:5991-5994
- Wischik CM, Crowther RA (1986) Subunit structure of the Alzheimer tangle. Br Med Bull 42:51-56
- Wisniewski HM, Terry RD, Hirano A (1970) Neurofibrillary pathology. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 29:163–176

38 K. S. Kosik and D. J. Selkoe

- Wisniewski K, Jervis GA, Moretz RC, Wisniewski HM (1979) Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles in diseases other than senile and presenile dementia. Ann Neurol 5:288–294
- Wood JG, Mirra SS, Pollock NJ, Binder LI (1986) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau (τ). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4040–4043
- Yamaguchi H, Hirai S, Morimatsu M, Shoji M, Ihara Y (1988) A variety of cerebral amyloid deposits in the brains of the Alzheimer-type dementia demonstrated by beta-protein immunostaining. Acta Neuropathol 76:541-549
- Yamaguchi H, Hirai S, Morimatsu M, Shoji M, Nakazato Y (1989) Diffuse type of senile plaques in the cerebellum of Alzheimer-type dementia demonstrated by β protein immunostain. Acta Neuropathol 77:314–319
- Yamamoto H, Fukunaga K, Tanaka E, Miyamoto E (1983) Ca²⁺, calmodulin-dependent regulation of microtubule formation via phosphorylation of microtubule-associated protein 2, tau factor, and comparison with the cyclic AMP-dependent phosphorylation. J Neurochem 41:1119-1125
- Yen S-H, Dickson DW, Crowe A, Butler M, Shelanski ML (1987) Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles contain unique epitopes and epitopes in common with the heat-stable microtubule-associated proteins, tau and MAP2. Am J Pathol 126:81-91

Tau 64 and Tau 69: Two Early Biochemical Markers of Neurofibrillary Degeneration

A. Delacourte, S. Flament, A. Défossez, L. Buee, B. Hémon, M. Parent, A. Furby, D. Leys, M. Goudemand, A. Destee, and H. Petit

Summary

Tau proteins are the major antigenic component of PHF that accumulate in degenerating neurons in the brains of patients with AD. An abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins has been suggested, but this is still under discussion. However, the mechanisms of incorporation of these normal cytoskeletal proteins in the PHF structure remain unknown. To obtain clues about the means by which tau proteins are modified during AD, we compared the tau immunodetection profile on immunoblots of brain homogenates from numerous Alzheimer patients versus numerous controls, using well-characterized antisera against human tau and against PHF.

The results of this study are that two pathological tau variants, having a higher MW than the normal set of tau proteins, are systematically found in homogenates of Alzheimer brain areas showing NFT and SP while they are never detected in control brains. These proteins, called tau 64 and tau 69, were also found in a biopsy, suggesting that they may be early markers of neurofibrillary degeneration. Tau 64 and tau 69 have a high MW due to their abnormal phosphorylation, as shown by the alkaline phosphatase treatment which provoked a decrease in their MW.

A parallel study was performed on CSF from controls and from probable AD patients. Even if tau 64 and tau 69 were never found, we observed that CSF contained a heat-stable material which cross-reacted with anti-PHF, anti-human tau and other antibodies raised against tau. Nevertheless, there was not a significant correlation between the detection of this "tau-like" material and the Alzheimer pathology.

We suggest that tau 64 and tau 69, which are early markers of neurofibrillary degeneration, might be used to establish experimental models for the study of the degenerating process in AD.

Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive dementing illness accompanied by characteristic neuropathological changes in the association cortical areas and areas anatomically connected to it (Mann 1988a). The changes consist of (a) severe loss of cortical neurons (Duyckaerts et al. 1985; Hansen et al. 1988), (b)

40 A. Delacourte et al.

accumulation of amyloid filaments in the extracellular domain, and (c) accumulation of paired helical filaments (PHF) in neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), at the periphery of extracellular amyloid deposits (neuritic plaques; Hansen et al. 1988), in degenerating neurites scattered in the parenchyma (Braak and Braak 1988), and sometimes around pathological blood vessels (Peers et al. 1988).

Many observations of cross-reactions between antibodies raised against PHF and tau proteins have shown that microtubule-associated tau proteins are probably likely the major structural proteins of PHF (Brion et al. 1985; Delacourte and Défossez 1986; Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986a, 1988; Kosik et al. 1986; Wischick et al. 1988). It has also been suggested that tau proteins are abnormally phosphorylated in AD, following the observation that the staining of NFT with a monoclonal antitau antibody named tau-1 is enhanced by pretreatment of tissue sections with phosphatase (Wood et al. 1986; Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986b), and that the immunolabeling of NFT is increased with antibodies against phosphorylated tau proteins (Ihara et al. 1986). Surprisingly, a more detailed analysis of tau proteins with tau-1 and Alz-50 has suggested that tau proteins in brain affected by AD are not abnormally phosphorylated (Ksiezak-Reding et al. 1988).

We summarize here the results of our various analyses of tau proteins in the different brain areas of patients with AD compared to those of controls using wellcharacterized antisera raised against PHF and normal human tau proteins. Our results show that two abnormal tau variants are systematically present in human brain areas having the characteristic lesions of neurofibrillary degeneration of the Alzheimer type. The analysis of these two proteins demonstrates that they are abnormally phosphorylated. The potential use of detecting pathological tau proteins for diagnosis is also examined.

Materials and Methods

Clinical data

Ten patients with definite AD (McKhann et al. 1984), aged between 55 and 85 years (mean, 70), were compared to ten age-matched individuals aged 53-98 years (mean, 74) who had died without clinical or histopathological evidence of neurological disease. Control brains and AD brains were obtained 3-7 h after death (mean, 5 h).

Immunoblot studies

Biochemical and histochemical studies on the different brain areas were performed simultaneously as previously described (Delacourte and Défossez 1986). Brain tissue was homogenized in the Laemmli sample buffer (Laemmli 1970) 1:10 weight/volume, with or without β -mercapto-2-ethanol (β ME) or dithiotreitol (DTT), and then heat treated. The brain proteins were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), using a 5%-20% acrylamide gradient and 14 × 14 cm slab gels. Resolved proteins were then transferred electrophoretically to nitrocellulose paper for tau immunodetection, as described by Parent et al. (1988).

The anti-human tau immuneserum was obtained by immunizing a rabbit with tau proteins. These were isolated from a heat-stable tau protein preparation from a normal human brain and were further purified by a preparative SDS-PAGE. The anti-human tau was used at a dilution of 1/10 000, and the anti-PHF was used at 1/200.

Alkaline Phosphatase Treatment

Tau preparations from Alzheimer brains were incubated either with alkaline phosphatase from *Escherichia coli* type III S (Sigma) at 10 units/ml or with calf intestine alkaline phosphatase (Boehringer Mannheim) at 100 units/ml. The enzyme action was stopped by heating after addition of an equal volume of the Laemmli solution to the sample. Since proteases may be present in the phosphatase alkaline preparation, the phosphatase was also inhibited by the addition of sodium pyrophosphate at 100 mg/ml and used as a control (Flament et al. 1989b).

Immunoabsorption

The anti-tau serum and anti-PHF serum were incubated with different protein amounts of control human brain homogenates (protein concentrations were 0.0125 g/ml-1 g/ml) or with Tris buffered saline alone overnight at 4°C. The next morning, the serum samples were centrifuged at 30 000 g for 30 min. The supernatants were collected and filtered through 0.22-µm pore size filters. Then nitrocellulose sheets with resolved brain proteins from controls were reacted with the absorbed antisera to estimate the protein concentration needed to annul the immunoreactivity. The anti-PHF at 1/200 was also absorbed with brain homogenates from Alzheimer patients. Thereafter, both antisera were immunochemically and immunocytochemically tested.

CSF Treatment

The CSF study was performed on 12 controls aged 54-81 years (mean, 67 ± 7.5). These were patients with lumbar disk hernias in whom a lumbar puncture was performed for radiculography. They were free of any neurological disease. Each had a score higher than 28 on the Mini-Mental State Exam (Folstein et al. 1975). The study was performed with the approval of the ethics committee. The 12 probable Alzheimer patients (diagnosed according to NINCDS-ADRDA classification) were aged between 38 and 88 years (mean, 66.7 ± 15.1). CSF samples were stored frozen at -20 °C immediately after the sampling. In order to analyze the tau protein contents immunochemically, the CSF was treated as follows: one volume of the Laemmli sample buffer was added to one volume of CSF, and the sample was heat treated at 100 °C for 10 min. For heat stability, NaCl 0.75 *M* was added to several CSF samples and after storage for 1 h at 4°C these samples were boiled (100 °C, 5 min). The samples were then centrifuged at 10 000 g for 15 min, and supernatants and pellets were collected and heat treated after the addition of the

42 A. Delacourte et al.

Laemmli sample buffer (1 volume added to 1 volume of supernatant; pellets were resuspended in 2 volumes) for electrophoresis and immunoblot analysis.

Properties of Anti-PHF and Anti-Tau

We report below a detailed analysis of the tau immunoblot profile, using immunesera prepared against a pathological structure, the PHF, and against a preparation of native tau proteins of human origin. Before describing the modifications of the tau profile in Alzheimer brains, it is important to recall the main features of these antibodies that are currently known.

Anti-PHF and Anti-Tau Immunocytochemical Properties

At the optical level, on Alzheimer tissue sections the anti-PHF serum labels the neurofibrillary degeneration exclusively – the NFT, the degenerating neurites around senile plaques (SP) and numerous degenerating neurites scattered in the parenchyma. Sometimes, blood vessels with amyloid angiopathy are surrounded by a sleeve of degenerating neurites immunolabeled with these antisera (Delacourte et al. 1987; Peers et al. 1988). On the same tissue sections, using the elution technique (Delacourte and Défossez 1986) or on adjacent semithin sections embedded in araldite (Défossez et al. 1988), anti-PHF and anti-tau label the same structures. At the electron microscopic level, the double immunogold-labeling technique performed on the ultrathin section adjacent to the previous semithin sections showed that anti-PHF and anti-tau detect PHF structures exclusively (Défossez et al. 1988).

During the course of the neurodegenerative process, the immunological properties of tau proteins are modified. First, we observe a strong tau immunoreactivity of the NFT which are not labeled with thioflavine, a marker of the amyloid substance. Second, after the neuron death, the neurofibrillar material of the NFT becomes extracellular since the membrane and the nucleus of the dead neuron have disappeared. These NFT ("ghost tangles") are no longer stained with tau antibodies, but they are strongly stained with thioflavine. All transition phases between these two stages are observed (Défossez and Delacourte 1987). The anti-PHF and anti-tau sera also stain the tangles of the nervous tissue of patients with Down's syndrome (Mann et al. 1989) and with Pick bodies (unpublished results). No immunological cross-reactions are observed between these antibodies and antibodies against the β -protein amyloid A4 (Behrouz et al. 1989a, b).

Immunoblot Study

Upon Western blot analysis the antiserum against PHF specifically detects the tau profile among the total protein extracts of normal brains. In these extracts and on enriched preparations of cytoskeletal proteins, anti-PHF does not detect neuro-filament protein, tubulin, or MAP2. Anti-PHF detects tau proteins in the brain of

all the vertebrates. It detects fetal and adult tau proteins, with the adult tau profile in brains from normal individuals aged 20-80 years being identical (Parent et al. 1988). The anti-native human tau proteins possess roughly the same characteristics, but there are minor differences, such as its higher affinity for tau proteins. We used a dilution of 1/10 000. In control brain homogenates, the binding of both antibodies was strong in the gray matter of cortical areas while it was weak in the cortical white matter or in brain regions rich in axons, such as spinal cord or corpus callosum. These results suggest that tau proteins are major components of the somato-dendritic domain (Delacourte et al. 1988a) and are abundant in Alzheimer brain regions where NFT are found (Delacourte and Défossez 1986).

Results

Immunoblot Detection of Tau Proteins in Autopsied Human Brain

In Different Regions of a Normal Brain and an Alzheimer Brain

In the control brain, the anti-PHF and anti-tau sera detected the same profile of tau proteins: four main components with MW ranging from 45 kDa to 62 kDa. In the Alzheimer brain, two higher tau proteins of MW 64 and 69 kDa were detected in addition to the four tau variants present in control brain (Flament et al. 1989a). These proteins which we call tau 64 and tau 69, were never found in areas of the control brain. In the Alzheimer brain, both were always present in regions which contained NFT and SP – temporal, frontal, parietal, and occipital – but they were absent from regions not affected by the neurofibrillary degeneration – caudate nucleus, cerebellum, spinal cord, and thalamus.

Control experiments showed that tau 64 and tau 69 were not detected if the first antibody (anti-PHF or anti-tau) was omitted, or if the anti-PHF or anti-tau was preincubated with a tau preparation from an Alzheimer patient. Antitubulin, anti-neurofilament proteins, and anti-MAP2 did not stain tau 64 or tau 69.

In Different Alzheimer Brains

The cortical areas of ten Alzheimer brains and ten control brains were compared. Tau 64 and tau 69 were never found in control cortices (Fig. 1, C1), even in a very old (98-year-old) patient. In fact, there was only one case in which tau 64 and tau 69 were found: the hippocampus of an 80-year-old man (Fig. 1, C2). Immunohistochemical study of this tissue revealed the presence of SP and NFT in smaller amounts than in Alzheimer brains (Fig. 1, C2). In Alzheimer brains, the two variants were always detected, and the immunoreactivity was stronger in regions in which the Alzheimer pathology (presence of NFT and SP) was more developed (Fig. 1, Alz). In the cortex, the tau 64 and tau 69 detection generally decreased from the temporal and frontal cortex to the occipital cortex and was absent in the occipital pole (not shown). Their labeling seemed stronger in Alzheimer brains having an early age of onset. Tau 64 and tau 69 were also detected by several antisera raised against bovine tau proteins – one described in Delacourte and Défossez (1986) and the other a generous gift of Dr. J. Baudier (not shown). In addition,



Alz



Fig. 1. Tau 64 and tau 69 and neurofibrillary degeneration. Tissue sections and corresponding immunoblots stained with anti-PHF. CI, temporal cortex from a 52-year-old control; C2, hippocampus from an 80-year-old control; Alz, frontal cortex from a 73-year-old Alzheimer patient; *Biopsy*, frontal biopsy from a 58-year-old patient who began to develop an unusual dementia. In autopsy pieces, tau 64 and tau 69 (*arrowheads*) are more strongly detected in areas which contain a much higher density of NFT and SP. In the frontal biopsy tissue, tau 64 and tau 69 are more strongly detected than in the frontal autopsy tissue although the density of NFT and SP is not higher (compare Alz and Biopsy). Therefore, it seems that the phosphorylation of tau proteins might appear before their incorporation in PHF, and that tau 64 and tau 69 are reliable early markers of neurofibrillary degeneration

smears along migrating tracks always accompanied proportionally the presence of tau 64 and tau 69.

In Different Regions of the Same Alzheimer Brain

It would be interesting to know how tau proteins are modified at the beginning of the process of neurofibrillary degeneration, and in regard to their phosphorylation whether tau 64 appears before tau 69. To explore this possibility, we observed the tau staining pattern in homogenates from many cortical areas of the same Alzheimer brain, in the hope of finding areas which had very recently been affected by neurofibrillary degeneration. The patient was a 78-year-old woman with clinically and histopathologically diagnosed AD. In the 30 cortical brain areas that we studied, the situation was similar to that observed in all the brain homogenates which had previously been studied. Indeed, only two patterns were found: either tau 64 and tau 69 were both absent or they were present together, with the intensity of their immunodetection varying from one area to another. There was no transitional case showing only one of these pathological tau variants (tau 64) which might have corresponded to a precursor present at early stages of neurofibrillary degeneration.

Immunoabsorption Experiments

On immunoblots, the immunostaining of normal human tau proteins with the two antisera was tested after their immunoabsorption with control brain homogenates. The immunoreactivity of the anti-tau was completely abolished when the antisera were preincubated with control brain proteins at 0.15 g/ml. This absorbed anti-tau was unable to stain either tau proteins from controls or those from Alzheimer brains, including tau 64 and tau 69. This complete loss of immunoreactivity was immunocytochemically confirmed. Absorption of the anti-PHF with normal brain proteins (0.025 g/ml) enhanced the loss of immunoreactivity towards normal tau proteins. By contrast, the staining of tau proteins from Alzheimer brains by the same absorbed anti-PHF was not abolished; even if the immunoreactivity decreased, tau 64 and tau 69 were still detected, as well as the heaviest normal tau variants. The addition of increasing amounts of normal brain proteins did not result in eliminating the immunoreactivity of anti-PHF toward tau 64 and tau 69.

On the other hand, however, it was possible to abolish the detection of tau 64 and tau 69 by anti-PHF using Alzheimer brain extracts. These results suggest that tau 64 and tau 69 possess at least two types of epitopes. The first type is probably due to the primary and secondary structures of tau proteins, and therefore, these epitopes are shared by all tau proteins, including tau 64 and tau 69. The immuno-detection of these epitopes may be abolished using normal brain proteins, which explains the elimination of the immunoreactivity of the absorbed anti-tau towards tau 64 and tau 69 as well as the decrease in immunoreactivity of the absorbed anti-PHF towards tau 64 and tau 69. The second type of epitope is specific to the pathology and may be due to a tertiary structure with numerous abnormal phosphory-lated sites. These epitopes are detected exclusively by anti-PHF, and their immunodetection can only be absorbed with Alzheimer brain extracts.

Characterization of Tau 64 and Tau 69

State of Reduction of the Protein Samples

The pathological tau variants have a heavier MW than normal tau proteins. This may be due to their binding to a small protein. To verify this hypothesis, we compared the tau staining pattern from the same sample heat treated after addition of different amounts of reducing agents (β ME up to 5%, DTT up to 1%, or no reducer at all). Immunodetection of tau 64 and tau 69 was independent of the state of reduction of the samples.

Alkaline Phosphatase Treatment

To determine whether these abnormal tau variants were the result of a pathological phosphorylation of normal tau proteins, we dephosphorylated a solution of tau proteins extracted from an Alzheimer brain cortex. After 4 h of incubation with alkaline phosphatase at 37° C, we observed a decrease in the MW of the two pathological tau variants. As a control, the solution of Alzheimer tau proteins were incubated with the same amount of phosphatase in the presence of sodium pyrophosphate at 100 mg/ml; the two tau variants were still labeled, and their MW remained unchanged, even after overnight incubation. This control test shows that the decrease in the MW of tau 64 and tau 69 is not due to their proteolysis but is provoked by their dephosphorylation. Nevertheless, it is also possible that our antisera were unable to detect tau 64 and tau 69 once they were in a dephosphorylated state. To test this hypothesis, we incubated the heat-stable fraction once separated by SDS-PAGE and electroblotted on a nitrocellulose paper with the same amount of enzyme for 4 h at 37° C. After this experiment, our antibodies were still able to stain dephosphorylated tau 64 and tau 69 (Flament et al. 1989b).

Diagnosis of the Presence of Neurofibrillary Degeneration in Brain Tissue

From Brain Biopsies

Very recently, we had the opportunity to analyze a biopsy from the frontal cortex, performed on a 58-year-old patient with unusual clinical frontal signs (Flament and Delacourte 1989). The two pathological tau variants were detected at a much higher level than in all the autopsied regions (compare Biopsy and Alzheimer in Fig. 2), suggesting that the brain sample was affected by neurofibrillary degeneration. Our presumption was corroborated by the neuropathological study which demonstrated the presence of SP and NFT (Fig. 1, Biopsy), which were not present at a much higher density than in autopsied pieces (compare Alz and Biopsy in Fig. 1).

From Cerebrospinal Fluid

Since tau 64 and tau 69 are reliable biochemical markers of neurofibrillary degeneration of the Alzheimer type, we were interested to determine whether they are detected at the peripheric level, for example in the CSF of patients. Such a detec-



Fig. 2. Tau 64 and tau 69 at an early stage of the illness. Frontal cortex homogenates from a 58year-old patient (biopsy, 1), a 52-year-old patient (control, autopsy, 2), and a 72-year-old patient with AD (autopsy, 3). *Left*, dilution 1; *middle*, dilution 1/2; *right*, dilution 1/4. Tau 64 and tau 69 are more strongly detected in the frontal biopsy (1) than in a corresponding autopsy piece (3). Therefore, tau 64 and tau 69 are more strongly detected at early stages of the illness, which might be due to the fact that they appear before the PHF structure. The standard molecular weights are bovine serum albumin (68 kDa) and ovalbumin (43 kDa)

tion of these pathological tau proteins would permit establishment of the diagnosis of neurofibrillary degeneration in a nontraumatic way. Once the electrophoretic transfer was performed, the staining of nitrocellulose sheets with Ponceau red revealed the protein profile of CSF. Two bands were detected: a fine band, sometimes present at 70 kDa, and another band, often large and diffuse, present between 60 and 65 kDa. These two proteins are present in different amounts and in different ratios for each patient. When anti-tau or anti-PHF was applied on immunoblots of CSF proteins, a band, often large and diffuse, was detected at 55 kDa (Fig. 3); another band was sometimes weakly immunolabeled at 65 kDa. Nevertheless, this immunodetection profile was similar to neither a normal tau profile nor an Alzheimer tau profile (Fig. 3, B). To confirm that these proteins were really related to tau proteins, different anti-tau antibodies were used: each of them also stained the two bands. Then, the heat-stable properties of these proteins were assayed, and we observed that this immunoreactive material was heat stable.



Fig. 3. Tau 64 and tau 69 in cerebrospinal fluid. The binding of anti-tau on immunoblots of CSF from 20 patients aged 54–88 years: ten patients with probable Alzheimer's disease (A) and ten age-matched controls (C). All samples were identically prepared: one volume of CSF was treated by an equal volume of the Laemmli sample buffer and heat treated; $25 \ \mu l \ (top)$ or 50 $\ \mu l \ (bottom)$ of this solution was loaded per well at the top of 10% - 20% polyacrylamide gels. Proteins were electrophoretically resolved and then transferred onto a nitrocellulose sheet before addition of anti-tau at $1/10 \ 000$. Samples are organized from the youngest (*left*) to the oldest patient (*right*). The immunostaining in CSF is quite different from usual tau profiles which are observed in brain homogenates (compare with the brain homogenate from the 72-year-old Alzheimer patient, B). However, tau 64 and tau 69 (*arrowheads*) are never detected. In addition the intensity of immunostaining was not significantly correlated with the pathology

The "tau-like" proteins were found in varying amounts in CSF from probable Alzheimer patients (Fig. 3, A) and from controls (Fig. 3, C), but there was no significant correlation between the amount of "tau-like" material and the Alzheimer pathology (Utest of Mann and Whitney, not significant).

Discussion

The anti-PHF and the anti-tau sera used in this study have already been shown to be very sensitive tools for the immunohistochemical detection of neurofibrillary degeneration. Both antisera specifically label neurons containing PHF structures in Alzheimer brain sections. In addition, they detected tau proteins exclusively and identically when used on the same blot of resolved proteins from a brain homogenate, showing that both are suitable for tau immunodetection.

Tau 64 and Tau 69 are Biochemical Markers of Neurofibrillary Degeneration

The findings of this study using polyclonal antibodies are that two abnormal variants of tau proteins, tau 64 and tau 69, are present in Alzheimer brain homogenates. These results corroborate our preliminary report showing the presence of two additional higher MW tau proteins in cortical areas of an Alzheimer brain (Parent et al. 1988). They were detected only in regions showing an Alzheimer pathology and their staining intensity increased in regions that are strongly affected during the disease (temporal cortex). The detection of tau 64 and tau 69 was proportional to the smears, which is probably due to the partial dissociation of tau aggregates in PHF (Delacourte and Défossez 1986, Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1988). Both were often more strongly detected in homogenates from Alzheimer brains having an early age of onset. They were found in neither normal brain homogenates aged up to 98 years nor in Alzheimer brain extracts from regions without NFT and neuritic plaques (caudate nucleus, cerebellum, spinal cord). The only exception in our study was the presence of tau 64 and tau 69 in the hippocampus from one elderly control. The neuropathological study of this brain region revealed the presence of NFT.

A blind study was also performed with J.-J. Hauw and C. Duyckaerts of Salpetrière Hospital, Paris. We quantified tau 64 and tau 69 in different samples whose neuropathology was known only by J. J. Hauw. The results of this study show that there is a strong correlation between the presence of tau 64 and tau 69 and the presence of neurofibrillary degeneration (manuscript in preparation).

Since their detection is correlated with the neurofibrillary degeneration observed in AD, tau 64 and tau 69 may be considered as reliable biochemical markers of the Alzheimer degenerative process. These tau 64 and tau 69 proteins have not been detected by other researchers. A possible explanation for this is that many authors have worked on tau preparations after extraction in Mes buffer, according to the general protocol for tau protein preparation isolated from young vertebrates (Fellous et al. 1977). However, human tau proteins are essentially insoluble, especially in autopsy pieces, and we observed that a high percentage of tau was lost during the extraction. For this reason we worked with SDS extracts that solubilized all the forms of tau proteins except those previously incorporated in the PHF structure.

Monoclonal antibodies tau-1 and Alz-50 were not able to detect such pathological tau variants in brain homogenates (Ksiezak-Reding et al. 1988). This is probably because these monoclonal antibodies react with specific epitopes which are not present in tau 64 and tau 69. On the other hand, all the polyclonal antibodies against tau proteins that we have studied so far have reacted with tau 64 and tau 69. Tau 64 and tau 69 are probably not related to the 68-kDa component detected by Alz-50 (Flament et al. 1989b; Wolozin et al. 1986; Nukina et al. 1988).

50 A. Delacourte et al.

Tau 64 and Tau 69 are Abnormally Phosphorylated Proteins

To determine the nature of these pathological tau variants, we analyzed the samples in different reducing conditions to see whether tau 64 and tau 69 were bound by disulfide bridges to a small protein such as protein S100 (Baudier and Cole 1988). The MW remained unchanged in extreme conditions of reduction (5% β ME, 1% DTT), suggesting that tau 64 and tau 69 are not bound to such a protein.

We also analyzed the state of phosphorylation of these proteins, since an abnormal phosphorylation of tau during AD has been suggested (Wood et al. 1986: Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986; Ihara et al. 1986). In addition, it has been shown that the phosphorylation of boyine tau proteins by the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase enhanced a shift in the electrophoretic mobility of the set of tau proteins (Baudier and Cole 1987). The incubation of a heat-stable preparation of Alzheimer brain tau proteins with alkaline phosphatase for 4 hours dramatically changed the staining pattern of tau proteins; the two pathological variants disappeared, and the staining of the bands from 45 to 62 kDa increased. When sodium pyrophosphate was added to the alkaline phosphatase to inactivate the enzyme without removing the potential protease activity that might contaminate the preparation, we did not observe the disappearance of tau 64 and tau 69. Thus, the decrease in MW of tau 64 and tau 69 after incubation with the alkaline phosphatase is not due to their proteolysis. Therefore, we conclude that the high MW of tau 64 and tau 69 is due to a dysregulation in their phosphorylation. Nevertheless, this phosphorylation seems to be different from that which is observed with the $Ca^{2+}/$ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. Indeed, after alkaline phosphatase treatment the two pathological tau variants rejoin the normal set of tau proteins whereas the MW of the normal tau variants do not decrease. Whether the phosphorylation leading to the appearance of tau 64 and tau 69 is due to another protein kinase or to an extreme phosphorylation has yet to be determined.

Up to now, the theory of the abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins during AD was most often based on the fact that a stronger immunolabeling of Alzheimer tau proteins on immunoblots as well as of NFT on tissue sections from Alzheimer brains, was observed after dephosphorylation (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986; Wood et al. 1986). (The immunostaining of normal brain homogenates or sections was unchanged when the same treatment was applied.) Nevertheless, to our knowledge no other researchers using immunoblots of brain homogenates have reported the tau protein profile from patients with AD to be so different from that of controls. Therefore the discovery of tau 64 and tau 69, which are two abnormal tau proteins having a high MW due to their abnormal phosphorylation, constitutes new and direct evidence for the presence of an abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins in AD.

The Diagnostic Value of Tau 64 and Tau 69

We were able to detect tau 64 and tau 69 in a frontal biopsy performed on a patient who began to develop an unusual dementia. The detection of the pathological tau variants was stronger than in all the autopsy pieces which were studied up to that time. Based on this tau 64 and tau 69 detection, we diagnosed the presence of neurofibrillary degeneration. The histopathological analysis of the tissue revealed the presence of NFT and SP, confirming our diagnosis. Therefore, tau 64 and tau 69 appear to be reliable tools for the detection of neurofibrillary degeneration in brain tissue.

PHF antigens and PHF cross-reactive antigens had already been found in CSF (Mehta et al. 1985). This PHF immunoreactivity, detected by the enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay (ELISA), was shown to be present at higher concentrations in CSF from AD patients than from non-AD controls. Nevertheless, there was a considerable overlap between the detection of this antigen in CSF from patients and age-matched controls, suggesting that this test was not reliable enough to diagnose AD. The ELISA method described by Mehta et al. (1985) provides quantitative data. We employed the Western blotting method, with which qualitative data can be obtained, and were able to observe the electrophoretic profile of the CSF immunoreactive material as well as its approximative MW (it is well known that tau proteins are quite a heterogeneous family). We found that CSF contained material which cross-reacted with the anti-tau and anti-PHF antisera. This immunoreactive material consisted of a major band, often diffuse, with MW ranging from 50 to 60 kDa, accompanied sometimes by a minor band at 65 kDa. The electrophoretic profile was therefore different from the usual tau profiles: it was similar to neither a control tau profile nor to an Alzheimer tau profile. This material was related to tau proteins, as shown by the cross-reaction obtained with all the other anti-tau antibodies which were tested. In addition the "tau-like" material had heat-stable properties. However, tau 64 and tau 69 were never found in the CSF. Therefore, this test does not allow diagnosis of the presence of neurofibrillary degeneration, as done previously for biopsy pieces. Furthermore, even if the tau immunoreactive material was present in different amounts from one patient to another, we were not able to establish significant correlations between the quantity of this material in the CSF of different individuals and the extent of their dementia.

In conclusion, tau 64 and tau 69 appear to be early markers of neurofibrillary degeneration. They allowed us reliably to diagnose the presence of neurofibrillary degeneration in brain tissue in biopsy samples, but this diagnosis could not be established from CSF.

The Sequence of Events that May Provoke Neurofibrillary Degeneration

To understand the pathological mechanisms at the origin of AD it is important to dissect chronologically the sequence of events that lead to the destruction of the central nervous system. To determine the primary cause of the illness, it is necessary to know which areas degenerate first during the course of the disease, and in these regions which lesions are observed first.

The determination of structural components of the lesions has permitted the development of immunological tools which are more sensitive than the conventional histochemical techniques. Two main groups of antibodies have been prepared, the first against the β -protein A4, which is the main component of the

52 A. Delacourte et al.

straight 6- to 9-nm amyloid filaments found in the extracellular domain, and the second consisting of antibodies raised against tau proteins which are the major antigenic components of the PHF found in degenerating neurons. Based on these and conventional neuropathological tools, there is some consensus that, during the course of the disease, amyloid deposits of β PA4 first appear in areas such as the temporal cortex, the amygdaloid nucleus, and the hippocampus (Mann 1988b). Later, the degenerating process spreads to other areas, and degenerating neurons with bundles of PHF appear (Duyckaerts et al. 1988, Mann 1988b). It has also been shown that dystrophic peptidergic neurites found at the periphery of neuritic plaques precede the PHF formation (Lenders et al. 1989).

Amyloids deposits of β PA4 may therefore be responsible for the disease, provoking a toxification of neuronal cells. However, these deposits are also found, in varying amounts, located in the parenchyma (Davies et al. 1988; Tagliavini et al. 1988) and/or vessel walls (Masuda et al. 1988) in aged control brains with absolutely no signs of dementia. Some of these patients with preamyloid deposits might be in a preclinical stage of AD. However, the amyloid deposits in cortical blood vessels were present in 50% of the very old normal population, and the amyloid deposits in the nervous parenchyma were present in 80% of the old normal population, indicating that the prevalence of amyloid deposits was different from the prevalence of AD (Davies et al. 1988; Masuda et al. 1988). Consequently, some other factors may act in synergy with the presence of the amyloid deposits to provoke the neurodegenerative process (environmental or genetic factors, for example). Nevertheless, even if neurofibrillary degeneration is a late consequence of the disease, it is the resulting neuronal loss which must be responsible for dementia.

This is the reason that we have focused our interest on the factors that lead to neuronal death, and that may be responsible for the illness. Our results describing new biochemical markers of neurofibrillary degeneration show that an abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins occurs during the course of neurofibrillary degeneration. In our opinion, since tau 64 and tau 69 are always detected in conditions which are not able to solubilize PHF, and since they are more strongly detected in biopsy pieces at the beginning of the disease than in autopsy pieces, they must be early markers of neurofibrillary degeneration. Thus, it seems that tau proteins might be abnormally phosphorylated before their incorporation into insoluble PHF structures. At present, the reason for such a dysregulation of the phosphorylation-dephosphorylation system is still unknown.

Towards the Elaboration of an In Vitro Model for the Study of Neurofibrillary Degeneration

An in vitro model of AD may help to determine the factors able to provoke the degenerating process. Tau 64 and tau 69 may be helpful in elaborating such a model. For instance, it will be interesting experimentally to induce the production of tau 64 and tau 69 by attempting to phosphorylate normal human tau protein preparations using different kinases or different ratios of kinases and phosphatases. We will thus obtain clues about the enzymes involved in neurofibrillary degeneration. It will also be interesting to know how many phosphate groups are incorporated in each of these pathological tau proteins. Then, given such data about the phosphorylation of tau 64 and tau 69, we could attempt to induce as precisely as possible the formation of tau 64 and tau 69 in neuronal cell cultures and to verify the different etiopathogenic hypotheses which have been proposed. For example, we could test whether toxins such as glutamate, aluminum salts, or other components have an effect on the phosphorylation of tau proteins.

It will be interesting to determine if tau 64 and tau 69 are produced in transfected cells with the gene of pre-A4 (Salbaum et al., this volume) or the gene of superoxide dismutase (Delacourte et al. 1988b), or in transgenic animals with these genes. These models may help to identify the first biochemical events which are responsible for the abnormal physiology of the neuron enhancing the abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins and, later, their accumulation into insoluble PHF structures leading ultimately to neuronal death.

References

- Baudier J, Cole RD (1987) Phosphorylation of tau proteins to a state like that in Alzheimer's brain is catalyzed by a calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase and modulated by phospholipids. J Biol Chem 262:17577-17583
- Baudier J, Cole RD (1988) Reinvestigation of the sulfhydryl reactivity in bovine brain S100b (BB) protein and the microtubule associated tau proteins. Ca⁺⁺ stimulates disulfide cross-linking between the S100b B-subunit and the microtubule associated Tau(2) protein. Biochemistry 27:2728-2736
- Behrouz N, Défossez A, Delacourte A, Hublau P, Mazzuca M (1989a) Alzheimer's disease: polyclonal antibodies raised against a synthetic 1-10N terminal subsequence of beta amyloid protein react with plaque cores, plaque peripheries and cerebrovascular amyloid but do not react with neurofibrillary tangles. J Gerontol, in press
- Behrouz N, Défossez A, Delacourte A, Hublau P, Mazzuca M (1989b) Maladie d'Alzheimer: Caractérisation immunohistochimique des dépôts amyloides cérébraux. CR Acad Sci, 308:437-444
- Braak H, Braak E (1988) Neuropil threads occur in dendrites of tangle-bearing nerve cells. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 14:39-44
- Brion JP, Passareiro H, Nunez J, Flament-Durand J (1985) Mise en évidence immunologique de la proteine tau au niveau des lésions de dégénérescence neurofibrillaire de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Arch Biol 95:229-235
- Davies L, Wolska B, Hilbich C, Multhaup G, Martins R, Simms G, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1988) A4 amyloid protein deposition and the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. Prevalence in aged brains determined by immunocytochemistry compared with conventional neuropathologic techniques. Neurology 38:1688–1693
- Défossez A, Delacourte A (1987) Transformation of degenerating neurofibrils into amyloid substance in Alzheimer's disease: histochemical and immunological studies. J Neurol Sci 81:1-10
- Défossez A, Beauvillain JC, Delacourte A, Mazzuca M (1988) Alzheimer's disease: a new evidence for common epitopes between microtubule associated protein tau and paired helical filaments (PHF): demonstration at the electron microscope by a double immunogold labelling. Virchows Arch 413:141–145
- Delacourte A, Défossez A (1986) Alzheimer's disease: tau proteins, the promoting factors of microtubule assembly, are major antigenic components of paired helical filaments. J Neurol Sci 76:173–186
- Delacourte A, Défossez A, Persuy P, Peers MC (1987) Observation of morphological relationship between angiopathic blood vessels and degenerative neurites in Alzheimer' disease. Virchows Archiv A 411:199–204

- 54 A. Delacourte et al.
- Delacourte A, Hémon B, Verleye M, Han K-K, Défossez A (1988a) Tau proteins are major components of the somato-dendritic domain of the human brain. Study in normal and Alzheimer brains in structure and functions of the cytoskeleton. In: Rousset BAF (ed) Structure and Functions of the Cytoskeleton. John Libbey Eurotext London Paris, pp 225–230 (Colloque INSERM, vol 171)
- Delacourte A, Défossez A, Céballos I, Nicole A, Sinet P-M (1988b) Preferential localization of copper zinc superoxide dismutase in the vulnerable cortical neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience Lett 92:247-253
- Duyckaerts C, Hauw J-J, Piette F, Rainsard C, Poulain V, Berthaux P, Escourolle R (1985) Cortical atrophy in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type is mainly due to a decrease in cortical length. Acta Neuropathol 66:72-74
- Duyckaerts C, Delaere P, Poulain V, Brion J-P, Hauw J-J (1988) Does amyloid precede "PHF" in the senile plaque? A study of 15 cases with graded intellectual status in aging and AD. Neurosci Lett 91:354-359
- Fellous A, Francon J, Lennon A-M, Nunez J (1977) Microtubule assembly in vitro. Eur J Biochem 78:167-174
- Flament S, Delacourte A (1989) Abnormal tau species are produced during Alzheimer's disease neurodegenerating process. FEBS Lett 247:213–216
- Flament S, Delacourte A, Hémon B, Défossez A (1989a) Direct biochemical evidence for an abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins during Alzheimer's disease. CR Acad Sci 308:77-82
- Flament S, Delacourte A, Hémon B, Défossez A (1989b) Characterization of two pathological tau variants in Alzheimer brain cortices. J Neurol Sci, in press
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PR (1975) "Minimental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 12:189–198
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Quinlan M, Tung Y-C, Zaidi MS, Wisniewski HM (1986a) Microtubule-associated protein tau a component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem 261:6084-6089
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986b) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913-4917
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Vorbrodt AW, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Wang G, Wisniewski HM (1988) Microtubule-associated polypeptides tau are altered in Alzheimer paired helical filaments. Mol Brain Res 4:43-52
- Hansen LA, Deteres AR, Davies P, Terry RD (1988) Neocortical morphometry, lesion counts, and choline acetyltransferase levels in the age spectrum of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 38:48-54
- Ihara Y, Nukina N, Miura R, Ogawara M (1986) Phosphorylated tau protein is integrated into paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's diesease. J Biochem (Tokyo) 99:1807–1810
- Ksiezak-Reding H, Binder LI, Yen S-H (1988) Immunochemical and biochemical characterization of tau proteins in normal and Alzheimer's disease brains with Alz-50 and Tau-1. J Biol Chem 263:7947-7953
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Laemmli UK (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during head assembly of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680-685
- Lenders MB, Peers M-C, Tramu GA, Delacourte A, Défossez A, Petit H, Mazzuca M (1989) Dystrophic peptidergic neurites in senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease hippocampus precede formation of paired helical filaments. Brain Res 481:344–349

Mann DMA (1988a) Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Histopathology 13:125–137 Mann DMA (1988b) The site of the earliest lesions in AD. N Engl J Med 318:789

- Mann DMA, Prinja D, Davies CA, Ihara Y, Delacourte A, Défossez A, Mayer RJ, Landon M (1989) The immunocytochemical profile of neurofibrillary tangles in Down's syndrome patients of different ages. J Neurol Sci, in press
- Masuda J, Tanaka K, Ueda K, Omae T (1988) Autopsy study of incidence and distribution of cerebral amyloid angiopathy in Hisayama, Japan. Stroke 19:205-210

- McKhann G, Drachman D, Folstein M, Katzman R, Price D, Stadlan EM (1984) Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA work group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services task force on Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 34:939–944
- Mehta PD, Thal L, Wizniewski HM, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K (1985) Paired helical filament antigen in CSF. Lancet I:35
- Nukina N, Kosik KS, Selkoe DJ (1988) The monoclonal antibody, Alz 50, recognizes tau proteins in Alzheimer's disease brain. Neurosci Lett 87:240-246
- Parent M, Delacourte A, Défossez A, Hémon B, Han K-K, Petit H (1988) Alzheimer's disease: study of the distribution of paired helical filaments tau proteins in the human central nervous system. CR Acad Sci 306:391–397
- Peers MC, Lenders MB, Défossez A, Delacourte A, Mazzuca M (1988) Cortical angiopathy in Alzheimer's disease: the formation of dystrophic perivascular neurites is related to the exudation of amyloid fibrils from the pathological vessels. Virchows Arch 414:15-20
- Tagliavini F, Giaccone G, Frangione B, Bugiani O (1988) Preamyloid deposits in the cerebral cortex of patients with AD and non demented individuals. Neurosci Lett 93:191-196
- Wischik CM, Novak M, Thogersen HC, Edwards PC, Runswick MJ, Jakes R, Walker JE, Milstein C, Roth M, Klug A (1988) Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4506-4510
- Wolozin BL, Pruchniki A, Dickson DW, Davies P (1986) A neuronal antigen in the brains of Alzheimer patients. Science 232:648-650
- Wood JG, Mirra SS, Pollock NJ, Binder LI (1986) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4040-4043

A cDNA Encodes Epitopes Shared Between Microtubule-Associated Protein MAP2 and Alzheimer Neurofibrillary Tangles: In Situ Hybridization and Immunocytochemistry*

J. P. Brion, A. M. Couck, M. E. Cheetham, D. Hanger, B. H. Anderton, and J. Flament-Durand

Summary

Neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease are composed of abnormal filaments whose biochemical composition is partly resolved. Cytoskeletal proteins are major components of these abnormal fibers, the microtubule-associated protein tau being the main constituent demonstrated in neurofibrillary tangles. Other cytoskeletal proteins or fragments of them which have been immunologically detected in tangles are the microtubule-associated protein MAP2 and neurofilament 150- and 200-kDa polypeptides. We have isolated a cDNA encoding epitope shared between MAP2 and neurofibrillary tangles, as demonstrated by immunocytochemistry with an antiserum raised against a fusion protein. In situ hybridization with this cDNA on tissue sections of the hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease did not show increases in the hybridization signal in tanglebearing neurons. These results suggest that the accumulation of MAP2 immunoreactivity in neurofibrillary tangles is not directly related to an overexpression of this protein. This also strengthens the hypothesis implicating posttranslational modifications of cytoskeletal proteins as mechanisms of neurofibrillary tangles formation.

Introduction

Neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques are characteristic neuropathological lesions of Alzheimer's disease, the most common cause of dementia in aging. Quantitative studies have shown that the number of neurofibrillary tangles and plaques is correlated with the severity of dementia (Wilcock and Esiri 1982; Duyckaerts et al. 1987). Unraveling the molecular composition and the mechanisms of formation of these lesions can thus provide important insights into the etiology of this disease.

^{*} This work was supported by grants from the Belgian FNRS, FRFC, and FRSM (numbers 96048082, 90548082, 90148082), NATO, The Wellcome Trust, and the MRC.

Neurofibrillary tangles are made of bundles of abnormal filaments (paired helical filaments, PHF) accumulating in neurons. Although these abnormal filaments are ultrastructurally different from the normal intraneuronal fibers (microtubules, neurofilaments, and microfilaments), they have been shown to share antigenic cross-reactivity with several cytoskeletal proteins. Immunocytochemical (Brion et al. 1985; Kosik et al. 1986; Delacourte and Défossez 1986; Nukina and Ihara 1986: Wood et al. 1986) and biochemical studies (Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986a: Goedert et al. 1988; Wischik et al. 1988; Kosik et al. 1988b) have demonstrated that these abnormal filaments contain tau proteins, a group of four to six closely related microtubule-associated proteins (MAP). These MAP play an important role in the stability of microtubules in situ and induce the polymerization of tubulin in microtubules. Other cytoskeletal epitopes which have been detected in neurofibrillary tangles concern MAP2 (Kosik et al. 1984; Ksiezak-Reding and Yen 1987; Yen et al. 1987) and neurofilament 150- and 200-kDa polypeptides (Anderton et al. 1982; Perry et al. 1985; Sternberger et al. 1985; Miller et al. 1986). Abnormalities of microtubule proteins in tangle-bearing neurons could explain the collapse of microtubule networks in these cells, with probable severe impairment of neuroplasmic flow (Flament-Durand and Couck 1979: Dustin and Flament-Durand 1982). Ubiquitin, a polypeptide involved in an extralysosomal proteolytic pathway, has also been demonstrated in tangles (Mori et al. 1987; Perry et al. 1987; Brion et al. 1989); this ubiquitination of tangles could reflect an attempt by affected neurons to remove these abnormal fibers.

The senile plaques are composed of abnormal neurites, containing neurofibrillary tangles, which surround an extracellular deposit of amyloid material. This amyloid deposit is composed mainly of a 4-kDa polypeptide (A4 protein; Masters et al. 1985); A4 polypeptide derives from a large precursor which could be a membrane protein (Kang et al. 1987). Amyloid A4 and neurofibrillary tangles do not share immunological cross-reactivity (Selkoe et al. 1986).

The molecular mechanisms leading to the accumulation of cytoskeletal proteins in neurofibrillary tangles are unknown. It is not known whether this is associated with an overexpression of these proteins, a decrease in their catabolism, or no change in their turnover. Some aspects of these questions can be investigated by in situ hybridization, and we report here results obtained with a cDNA encoding epitope shared between a MAP and neurofibrillary tangles.

Isolation of a cDNA Encoding MAP epitope

Total RNA was prepared from adult rat brain by the guanidinium thiocyanate extraction procedure. Polyadenylated RNA was obtained by oligo(dT)-cellulose chromatography, and 10 µg polyadenylated RNA was used to prepare cDNAs which were inserted into the *Eco*RI site of the bacteriophage expression vector λ gt11 (Huynh et al. 1985) and yielded a library of 10⁶ recombinant phages. A total of 200 000 plaques were screened with a rabbit polyclonal anti-tau serum diluted 1/100 (stripped from anti-*Escherichia coli* antibodies), using a protein A alkaline phosphatase detection method. This serum was obtained by immunization with rat tau proteins contained in a slice of a preparative 5%-15% gradient sodium

58 J. P. Brion et al.

dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel on which thermostable MAP were run. On Western blots of thermostable MAP, this serum strongly labels tau proteins but also shows a weak reactivity with MAP2. The same MAP2 band was labeled on blots of total brain proteins (10^5 g supernatant; Fig. 1, A). This serum also strongly labels neurofibrillary tangles.

Five clones were isolated (Brion et al. 1987). One 2.2-kb cDNA, called pt6, was subcloned into bluescript vector (Stratagene). Northern blot analysis indicated that in rat brain this cDNA hybridized mainly to a 6-kb RNA. No signal was detected in kidney, liver, and muscle RNA.

E. coli Y1089r-containing a lysogen recombinant phage corresponding to pt6 was used to prepare a β -galactosidase fusion protein. Bacterial homogenates were run on a preparative 5% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, and the high molecular weight



Fig. 1. Immunoblots of total bovine brain proteins $(10^5 \text{ g} \text{ supernatant})$ separated on a 10% polyacrylamide gel (SDS-PAGE), labeled with: *A*, the anti-tau serum used to screen the λ gt 11 library – tau proteins (*arrowheads*) and also, weakly, MAP2 (*arrow*) are labeled; *B*, an anti-MAP2 serum; *C*, the serum raised against the pt6 fusion protein. MAP2 is strongly labeled in *B* and *C*

(>200 kDa) fusion protein, clearly separated from bacterial proteins, was sliced out from the gel. This gel slice was homogenized with Freund complete adjuvant and injected in rabbits. The serum was tested by Western blotting and observed to label high molecular weight bands in total brain proteins, the most intense migrating at the same level as MAP2 (Fig. 1, B and C), as judged from adjacent blots labeled with a polyclonal anti-MAP2 (Brion et al. 1988). The fusion protein was labeled on Western blots by the anti-fusion serum, the anti-MAP2, and the antitau used to screen the library (not shown).

The cDNA pt6 Encodes Epitopes Present on Neurofibrillary Tangles

The anti-fusion protein was used to perform immunolabeling on paraffin sections of hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease. Many neurofibrillary tangles were observed to be labeled (Fig. 2A); this labeling was strongly reduced by preabsorption of the serum with rat brain thermostable MAP. Immunolabeling was also performed in electron microscopy on PHF in situ and after isolation in the presence of SDS, as previously reported (Miller et al. 1986; Brion et al. 1989). Approximately 15% - 20% of isolated PHF were labeled (Fig. 2B).



Fig. 2. A Paraffin section of the hippocampus in a case of Alzheimer's disease. Immunolabeling (PAP method) with the serum raised against the pt6 fusion protein. Several neurofibrillary tangles are strongly labeled. *Scale bar*, 10 μ m. **B** Electron microscopy. Immunolabeling on isolated PHF (immunogold staining method) with the serum raised against the pt6 fusion protein. *Arrowhead* points to gold particles; *arrow* shows an unlabeled PHF; *Scale bar*, 200 nm
In Situ Hybridization with pt6

In situ hybridization was performed on rat and human brain sections with pt6 cDNA labeled with [35 S-]dATP using the random primed method (Feinberg and Vogelstein 1983). Cryostat sections were fixed for 15 min in 4% paraformaldehyde, digested with proteinase K, prehybridized for 2 h in 5 × SSC, 50% formamide, 100 µg/ml salmon sperm DNA, 5 × Derhnardt solution, 100 µg/ml poly(A+), and 200 mM dithiotreitol and then hybridized overnight at 42 °C in the same solution added to the denatured probe (2.10⁴ cpm/section, specific activity of 5.10⁸ cpm/µg) and 10% dextran. Sections were then washed for 2 h in 2 × SSC and for 2 h in 0.1 × SSC at room temperature. After dehydration they were dipped in K5 Ilford emulsion and exposed for 1 week. Control sections were pretreated with ribonuclease (50 µg/ml, 12 h at 37°C).

On rat and human brain sections, the hybridization signal was observed on neurons; this signal was especially strong in the hippocampus on granule cells and pyramidal neurons (Fig. 3). In Alzheimer's disease, the hybridization signal was also observed on granule cells and on pyramidal neurons in the Ammon's horn. A counterstaining with Congo red was performed to visualize simultaneously neurofibrillary tangles. The hybridization signal in tangle-bearing neurons was similar or decreased by comparison with adjacent neurons without neurofibrillary tangles (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. In situ hybridization with pt6 cDNA labeled with ³⁵S-dATP, on a section of adult rat brain. Dark-field photography, showing the strong hybridization signal on granule cells and on pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus. *Scale bar*, 200 μ m



Fig. 4 A, B. In situ hybridization with pt6 cDNA labeled with ³⁵S-dATP, on sections of Ammon's horn in a case of Alzheimer's disease. A Area examined under half-crossed polarization filters after Congo red staining. *Arrowheads* point to neurofibrillary tangle-bearing neurons and *arrows* to neurons without tangles. B Dark-field photography of the same area, showing the same hybridization-positive neurons with (*arrowheads*) and without (*arrows*) neurofibrillary tangles. *Scale bar*, 20 μ m

62 J. P. Brion et al.

Discussion

A cDNA encoding epitope shared between MAP and neurofibrillary tangles was used for in situ hybridization studies on Alzheimer's disease sections of the hippocampus, to appreciate the level of corresponding messenger in affected cells. The hybridization signal was not observed to be increased in tangle-bearing neurons relative to adjacent neurons. These results suggest that simple overexpression of this MAP is not directly related to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles.

This cDNA most probably encodes a fragment of rat MAP2. By Western blotting of soluble brain proteins, the corresponding anti-fusion protein labels a high molecular weight protein which migrates at the same level as MAP2. Sequencing data (manuscript in preparation) indicate that this cDNA shows a high homology with a published sequence of MAP2 (Lewis et al. 1988). By Northern blot analysis, this cDNA detects messengers which are brain specific (Brion et al. 1987); the stronger signal is seen for a size of 6 kb, but a 9-kb signal has been observed in primary cultures of embryonic neurons (unpublished data). The reported size for MAP2 messenger is 9 kb in adult mouse (Lewis et al. 1986), but a 6-kb messenger is also abundantly present in the developing and the neonatal brain, although it can be detected in adult (Garner and Matus 1988). This 6-kb MAP2 messenger encodes a 70-kDa MAP2 species (MAP2c), also abundant in the developing and the neonatal brain (Couchie and Nunez 1985; Garner et al. 1988).

Two hundred amino acids at the carboxyl end of MAP2 share a high homology with tau proteins in mouse (Lewis et al. 1988). Several reports have already indicated that MAP2 and tau share immunological cross-reactivity with some antibodies (Ksiezak-Reding and Yen 1987; Yen et al. 1987). The anti-tau serum that we used to screen the library also shows a cross-reactivity with MAP2, and it labels the fusion protein corresponding to pt6 cDNA on Western blot. This could explain why this anti-tau serum identified a MAP2 clone.

Some anti-MAP2 antibodies label neurofibrillary tangles (Kosik et al. 1984; Yen et al. 1987). Similarly, our anti-fusion protein labels tangles in situ, which suggests that pt6 cDNA encodes similar epitopes shared between MAP2 and neurofibrillary tangles. The labeling of neurofibrillary tangles by this antiserum is also strongly decreased by preabsorption with rat MAP. Only a portion of isolated, SDS-extracted PHF was labeled by this anti-fusion protein; these epitopes could thus be lost during the extraction procedure. The isolation of MAP2 cDNA using antibodies labeling neurofibrillary tangles has been reported by other authors (Neve et al. 1986; Dammerman et al. 1988; Kosik et al. 1988a); we show here that a serum raised against a MAP2 fusion protein corresponding to a cDNA directly labels neurofibrillary tangles.

For tau proteins, no differences in the level of corresponding messengers have been reported between normal and Alzheimer's disease cases, by Northern analysis, or by in situ hybridization (Goedert et al. 1988, 1989). The present results suggest that this also holds true for MAP2 in tangle-bearing neurons. The pathological events leading to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles could thus involve primarily posttranslational modifications of MAP rather than simple overexpression of them. Abnormal phosphorylation (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986b) and ubiquitination (Mori et al. 1987; Perry et al. 1987; Brion et al. 1989) are examples of such posttranslational modifications.

Changes in the stability and the translational efficiency of MAP messengers in Alzheimer's disease would not be appreciated directly by Northern analysis and in in situ hybridization studies. cDNA probes like the one we have isolated are also interesting tools to investigate these aspects of MAP metabolism in Alzheimer's disease.

References

- Anderton BH, Breinburg D, Downes MJ, Green PJ, Tomlinson BE, Ulrich J, Wood JN, Kahn J (1982) Monoclonal antibodies show that neurofibrillary tangles and neurofilaments share antigenic determinants. Nature 298:84–86
- Brion JP, Passareiro H, Nunez J, Flament-Durand J (1985) Mise en évidence immunologique de la protéine tau au niveau des lésions de dégénérescence neurofibrillaire de la maladie d'Alzheimer. Arch Biol (Brux) 95:229–235
- Brion JP, Cheetham M, Robinson PA, Couck AM, Anderton BH (1987) Isolation of cDNAs coding for epitopes shared by microtubule-associated proteins and neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. FEBS Lett 226:28–32
- Brion JP, Guilleminot J, Couchie D, Flament-Durand J, Nunez J (1988) Both adult and juvenile tau microtubule-associated proteins are axon specific in the developing and adult rat cerebellum. Neuroscience 25:139–146
- Brion JP, Power D, Hue D, Couck AM, Anderton BH, Flament-Durand J (1989) Heterogeneity of ubiquitin immunoreactivity in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Int 14:121-128
- Couchie D, Nunez J (1985) Immunological characterization of microtubule-associated proteins specific for the immature brain. FEBS Lett 188:331-335
- Dammerman M, Goldstein M, Yen SHC, Shafit-Zagardo B (1988) Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones encoding epitopes shared with Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles. J Neurosci Res 19:43-51
- Delacourte A, Défossez A (1986) Alzheimer's disease: tau proteins, the promoting factors of microtubule assembly, are major components of paired helical filaments. J Neurol Sci 76:173-186
- Dustin P, Flament-Durand J (1982) Disturbances of axoplasmic transport in Alzheimer's disease. In: Weiss DG, Gorio A (eds) Axoplasmic transport in physiology and pathology. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 131–136
- Duyckaerts C, Brion JP, Hauw JJ, Flament-Durand J (1987) Comparison of immunocytochemistry with a specific antibody and Bodian's protargol method. Quantitative assessment of the density of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 73:167-170
- Feinberg A, Vogelstein B (1983) A technique for radiolabeling DNA restriction endonuclease fragments to high specific activity. Anal Biochem 132:6-13
- Flament-Durand J, Couck AM (1979) Spongiform alterations in brain biopsies of presenile dementia. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 46:159-162
- Garner CG, Matus A (1988) Different forms of microtubule-associated protein 2 are encoded by separate mRNA transcripts. J Cell Biol 106:779–783
- Garner CG, Brugg B, Matus A (1988) A 70-kilodalton microtubule-associated protein (MAP2c), related to MAP2. J Neurochem 50:609-615
- Goedert M, Wischik CM, Corwther RA, Walter JE, Klug A (1988) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer's disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4051-4055
- Goedert M, Spillantini MG, Potier MC, Ulrich J, Crowther RA (1989) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding an isoform of microtubule-associated protein tau containing four tan-

64 J. P. Brion et al.

dem repeats: differential expression of tau protein mRNAs in human brain. EMBO J 8:393-399

- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Quinlan M, Tung YC, Zaidi MS, Wisniewski HM (1986a) Microtubule- associated protein tau: a component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem 261:6084-6089
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung YC, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986b) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913-4917
- Huynh TV, Young RA, Davis RW (1985) Constructing and screening cDNA libraries in λ gt10 and λ gt11. In: Glover DM (ed) DNA cloning: a practical approach, vol 1. IRL Press, Oxford, pp 49–78
- Kang J, Lemaire HG, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Grzeschik KH, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Müller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature 325:733-736
- Kosik KS, Duffy LK, Dowling MM, Abraham C, McCluskey A, Selkoe DJ (1984) Microtubuleassociated protein 2: monoclonal antibodies demonstrate the selective incorporation of certain epitopes into Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81:7941-7945
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) The microtubule-associated protein, tau, is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Kosik KS, Orecchio LD, Bakalis S, Duffy L, Neve RL (1988a) Partial sequence of MAP2 in the region of a shared epitope with Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles. J Neurochem 51:587–598
- Kosik KS, Orecchio LD, Binder L, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VMY, Lee G (1988b) Epitopes that span the tau molecule are shared with paired helical filaments. Neuron 1:817–825
- Ksiezak-Reding H, Yen SH (1987) Two monoclonal antibodies recognize Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles, neurofilament, and microtubule-associated proteins. J Neurochem 48:455-462
- Lewis SA, Villasante A, Sherline P, Cowan NJ (1986) Brain-specific expression of MAP2 detected using a cloned cDNA probe. J Cell Biol 102:2098-2105
- Lewis SA, Wang D, Cowan NJ (1988) Microtubule-associated protein MAP2 shares a microtubule binding motif with tau protein. Science 242:936–939
- Masters CL, Multhaup G, Simms G, Pottgiesser J, Martins RN, Beyreuther K (1985) Neuronal origin of a cerebral amyloid: neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease contain the same protein as the amyloid plaque cores and blood vessels. EMBO J 4:2757–2763
- Miller CCJ, Brion JP, Calvert R, Chin TK, Eagles PAM, Downes MJ, Flament-Durand J, Haugh M, Kahn J, Probst A, Ulrich J, Anderton BH (1986) Alzheimer's paired helical filaments share epitopes with neurofilaments side arms. EMBO J 5:269–276
- Mori H, Kondo J, Ihara Y (1987) Ubiquitin is a component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Science 325:1641-1644
- Neve RL, Selkoe DJ, Kurnitt DM, Kosik KS (1986) A cDNA for a human microtubule associated protein 2 epitope in the Alzheimer neurofibrillary tangle. Mol Brain Res 1:193-196
- Nukina N, Ihara Y (1986) One of the antigenic determinants of paired helical filaments is related to tau protein. J Biochem 99:1541-1544
- Perry G, Rizzuto N, Autilio-Gambetti L, Gambetti P (1985) Paired helical filaments from Alzheimer disease patients contain cytoskeletal components. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:3916-3920
- Perry G, Friedman R, Shaw G, Chau V (1987) Ubiquitin is detected in neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaque neurites of Alzheimer disease brains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:3033-3036
- Selkoe DJ, Abraham CR, Podlisny MB, Duffy L (1986) Isolation of low molecular weight proteins from amyloid plaque fibres in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 45:1820–1834
- Sternberger NH, Sternberger LA, Ulrich J (1985) Aberrant neurofilament phosphorylation in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4274–4276
- Wilcock GK, Esiri MM (1982) Plaques, tangles and dementia. A quantitative study. J Neurol Sci 56:343-356

- Wischik CM, Novak M, Thogersen HC, Edwards PC, Runswick MJ, Jakes R, Walker JE, Milstein C, Roth M, Klug A (1988) Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4506-4510
- Wood JG, Mirra SS, Pollock NJ, Binder LI (1986) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4040-4043
- Yen SH, Dickson DW, Crowe A, Butler M, Shelanski ML (1987) Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles contain unique epitopes and epitopes in common with the heat-stable microtubule associated protein tau and MAP2. Am J Pathol 126:81–91

Epitopes Characteristic of Paired Helical Filaments Demonstrated in Microglial Cells and Macrophages of the Meninges: A Possible Laboratory Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease from Cerebrospinal Fluid?

J. Ulrich, S. Ipsen, A. Probst, and J. P. Brion

Summary

In AD microglial cells were known for a long time to be present in the senile plaque. Here we demonstrate that in AD a minority of the microglial cells in the neocortex and in the hippocampus can be immunostained with an antiserum to paired helical filaments. Some of them are localized within or in the vicinity of senile plaques, and some have no obvious relationship to plaques. They are more numerous in brains from patients with AD than from those who have only occasional changes of Alzheimer type. Occasional macrophages immunostained for paired helical filaments can also be observed in the cerebrospinal fluid. Therefore it is conceivable that laboratory tests for Alzheimer dementia based on cerebrospinal fluid cytology could become useful.

Introduction

Paired helical filaments (PHF) are the ultrastructural element of Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles (Kidd 1963). Recently several groups have prepared antisera which stain these structures very specifically (Brion et al. 1985; Joachim et al. 1987; Bancher et al. 1987; Perry et al. 1987; Défossez et al. 1988). The most important epitopes to which these sera bind are phosphorylated tau proteins (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986).

If one looks at histological brain sections from patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD) immunostained with one of these sera, one discovers that, in addition to the neurofibrillary tangles, the processes of tangle-afflicted neurons (so-called "threads"; Braak and Braak 1988) and PHF-containing neurites of senile plaques are stained. Furthermore, when screening the sections carefully, one can also discover immunostained microglia within the central nervous system and in macrophages of the leptomeninges.

The observation of an immunoreactivity thought to be characteristic of PHF in mesenchymal cells might be of considerable interest for research on the pathogenesis of AD. Therefore we investigated these cells more closely. Among other considerations, the possibility of using the immunostained cells as diagnostic markers was kept in mind.

Materials and Methods

In all immunostains used for this study the antiserum to PHF prepared and described by Brion et al. (1985) was used as a primary antiserum.

A total of 380 sections previously immunostained with the antiserum in diagnostic work and in unpublished studies was reevaluated. On most of these sections the immunostains had been used in conjunction with an antibody-alkaline-phosphatase complex, using fuchsin as a chromophore.

For the quantitative study sections from neocortex and hippocampus of ten cases, i.e., five Alzheimer dementias and five controls, were immunostained using Mason's immunoalkaline-phosphatase technique (Mason and Sammons 1978), as recommended by Dakopatts. Briefly, the sections were deparaffinized and soaked in Tris buffer and then exposed for 30 min to the primary antiserum at a dilution of 1 : 600. After washing with Tris buffer the sections were exposed to a goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulin G conjugated to alkaline phosphatase at a dilution of 1 : 40 for 30 min. After washing in buffer the sections were reacted with a sub-strate containing naphthol AS-Bi phosphatase, propaniol-levamisol, dimethylformamide, sodium nitrate, and new fuchsin. With this procedure, the immunoreactive structures stained red. They were photographed in dark green illumination, which made them appear dark gray or black in the photographic prints.

On each section the total number of immunostained cells with a microglial morphology in the gray matter was counted. The cut surface of gray matter was measured, and the number of microglial cells per square centimeter was calculated. Only cells with a clearly visible nucleus were counted.

Results

Reexamination of Stained Sections Previously Stained for PHF

In addition to senile plaques and Alzheimer tangles (Fig. 1a), microglia-like cells stained with the antiserum to PHF were observed (Fig. 1b). These cells were sometimes present within plaques, usually in contact with the central amyloid core (Fig. 1d). Similar cells without obvious relationship to plaques were also seen. Furthermore, some of these immunostained cells were present in the perivascular spaces (Fig. 1c), in perineuronal position and within the meninges (Fig. 2a).

As these sections were counterstained with hematoxylin, it was possible to identify not only the mature types of plaques by their amyloid core but, occasionally, also some more primitive forms, such as those observed by Probst et al. (1987). About 50 plaques of this type with a central microglial cell could be identified. In this particular type of plaque the central cells were never observed to contain any material reactive with the anti-PHF serum.



Fig. 1a-d. a Plaques and Alzheimer tangles immunostained with anti-PHF serum (\times 80). **b** Microglial cell in the hippocampal neuropil on the same section as **a** (\times 320). **c** Microglial cell in contact with a capillary, same section as **a** and **b** (\times 320). **d** Microglial cell (*arrow*) in close relationship to a senile plaque (\times 320). The photograph was taken through a green filter, which makes the immunostained structures in the tissue (red) appear black

New Sections Stained with the AAP Method

No microglial cells were stained in any of these sections when PBS was used instead of the anti-PHF serum. In the nondemented control cases, occasional neurones with neurofibrillary tangles and their processes ("threads") (Braak and Braak 1988) were seen. A few immunostained mesenchymal cells were also observed. They were clearly less numerous, however, than in the demented cases. No positively stained cells in the meninges were present. Cases with Alzheimer's dementia, as expected, showed many immunostained neurofibrillary tangles, threads and abnormal neurites within senile plaques (Fig. 1a). Furthermore, there was a considerable number of immunostained microglial cells. Some of these were in obvious relationship to plagues. As in the sections mentioned above, such cells were seen in the immediate vicinity of the amyloid core or between altered immunostained neurites of the plaque. It should be stressed, however, that the majority of all microglial cells, both within and outside of the plaques, were not reactive with our anti-PHF serum. Occasional, very primitive plaques (Probst et al. 1987) could be identified because of the altered texture of the neuropil and because of their central microglial cell. None of these showed any positive staining



Fig. 2a-c. a Macrophage in the subarachnoid space overlying the cortex in a case of Alzheimer's disease (× 320). b Sediment of cerebrospinal fluid taken at autopsy; several macrophages (arrows) are immunostained (× 500). a and b immunostained as, in Fig. 1. c Entorhinal cortex of the patient whose cerebrospinal fluid is shown in b. PHF are present in several nerve cells (Gallvas stain: × 160)



with the anti-PHF serum. A considerable number of immunostained microglial cells without obvious relationship to senile plaques was also observed (Fig. 1b). As with the similarly stained cells in the previously stained sections, some of them were in contact with vessels and perivascular spaces (Fig. 1c), some were in satellite position to neurones and their processes, and some were present in the neuropil without any obvious relationship to other structures. Occasional positively stained cells were also present in the leptomeninges (Fig. 2a). These meningeal cells were not in contact with vessels.

The positively stained microglial cells in gray matter were counted, and their number per square centimeter of gray matter was calculated. They were found to be more numerous in cases of Alzheimer's dementia than in the controls (Fig. 3). The difference was statistically significant in the hippocampus (p < 0.05) but not in the cortex.

Discussion

Microglial cells are present both in normal and pathological central nervous tissue. They can be identified morphologically by their elliptic nucleus rich in chromatin, their scanty cytoplasm, and their slender, rarefied cytoplasmic processes stainable with the silver carbonate method of del Rio Hortega. In electron micrographs, their cytoplasm is of distinctive high density (Peters et al. 1976).

In AD microglial cells have been known for a long time to be present in the senile plaque, where they were considered to be a kind of reactive glia (Wisniewski 70 J. Ulrich et al.



Fig. 3a, b. Number of immunostained microglial cells per square centimeter in hippocampus (a) and cortex (b) of patients with Alzheimer's disease and normal controls

and Terry 1973). Their development from normal microglia has not been studied so far. It is known, however, that in AD there are microglial cells present in the cortical tissues which present type II histocompatibility antigens (McGeer et al. 1987), and that in some types of senile plaques they take a central position, which argues for an important role in the formation of the plaque (Probst et al. 1987). They can be stained with various markers, such as the Ricinus communis agglutinin (Mannoji et al. 1986).

In the present study the microglial cells and macrophages were not identified by immunocytochemical markers but by morphology. The majority did not stain for PHF antigens. In a minority, however, as first observed by chance, PHF antigens can be demonstrated. In cortex and hippocampus such immunostained cells occur much more frequently than in tissue of healthy controls. Both in clinically healthy cases with some Alzheimer-type changes and in cases with AD, they were seen in relation to senile plaques, in perivascular and perineuronal position or in the neuropil without any obvious relationship to normal or pathological structures, and in the meninges. Their number was roughly proportional to the number of immunostained neurofibrillary tangles and neuronal processes inside and outside of the plaques. It is probable, therefore, that they phagocytose fragments of cells containing PHF. It is conceivable, however, that they express pathological epitopes related to AD by themselves.

The fact that immunostained microglial cells were not observed in the simpler types of plaques which do not contain neurites with PHF (Probst et al. 1987) suggests the presence of PHF epitopes in phagocytosed material. As macrophages immunoreactive for PHF were also observed in the meninges, it should be possible to discover them in the cerebrospinal fluid. This was actually possible in cerebrospinal fluid drawn at autopsy from a patient with moderate Alzheimer-type changes (Fig. 2b, c).

The present investigation is oriented to the PHF-reactive microglial cells. These might, however, not be representative of the complete population of microglial cells. More complete investigations into these cells are planned.

Acknowledgements. We are grateful to Mrs. Mia Nebiker, Mrs. C. Bauer, and Mr. H. R. Zysset for photographic work and to Mrs. L. Bollag for typing the manuscript.

References

- Bancher L, Lassmann H, Budka H, Grundke-Iqbal I, Wiche G, Seitelberger F, Wisniewski HM (1987) Neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease and progressive supranuclear palsy: antigenic similarities and differences. Microtubule associated protein tau antigenicity is prominent in all types of tangles. Acta Neuropathol 74:39–46
- Braak H, Braak E (1988) Neuropil threads occur in dendrites of tangle-bearing nerve cells. Neuropath Applied Neurobiol 14:39-44
- Brion JP, Couck AM, Passareiro E, Flament-Durand J (1985) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease: An immuno-histochemical study. J Submicrosc Cytol 17:89-96
- Défossez A, Beauvillain JC, Delacourte A, Mezzuca M (1988) Alzheimer's disease: a new evidence for common epitopes between microtubule associated protein Tau and paired helical filaments (PHF): demonstration at the electron microscopic level by double immunogold labelling. Virchows Arch Pathol Anat 413:141-145
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung YC, Quinnlan M, Wisniewski H, Binder LI (1986) Abnormal phosphorylation of microtubule associated protein Tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913-4917
- Joachim CL, Morris JH, Kosik KS, Selkoe DJ (1987) Tau antisera recognize neurofibrillary tangles in a range of neurodegenerative disorders. Ann Neurol 22:514-520

72 J. Ulrich et al.

- Kidd M (1963) Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 197:192-193
- Mannoji H, Jeger H, Becker LE (1986) A specific histochemical marker (lectin Ricinus communis agglutinin 1) for normal human microglia and application to routine histopathology. Acta Neuropath 71:341-343
- Mason DY, Sammons R (1978) Alkaline phosphatase and peroxydase for double immunoenzymatic labelling of cellular constituents. J Clin Pathol 31:454-460
- McGeer PL, Itagaki S, Tago H, McGeer E (1987) Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. Neurosci Lett 79:195-200
- Perry G, Friedman R, Kang DH, Manetto V, Autilio-Gambetti L, Gambetti P (1987) Antibodies to the neuronal cytoskeleton are elicited by Alzheimer paired helical filament fractions. Brain Res 420:233-242
- Peters A, Palay SF, Webster HDF (1976) The fine structure of the nervous system. Saunders, Philadelphia, pp 254-263
- Probst A, Brunnschweiler H, Lautenschlager C, Ulrich J (1987) A special type of senile plaque, possibly an initial stage. Acta Neuropathol 74:133–141
- Wisniewski HM, Terry RD (1973) Reexamination of the pathogenesis of the senile plaque. In: Zimmermann HM (ed) Progress in neuropathology, vol 2. Grune and Stratton, New York, pp 101-142

Relationship Between Tau, Paired Helical Filaments, Amyloid and the Intellectual Deterioration in the Neocortex in Normal Aging and in Senile Dementia of the Alzheimer Type

P. Delaère, C. Duyckaerts, J. P. Brion, F. Piette, and J.-J. Hauw

Summary

The mental status of 15 women over 75 years, either intellectually normal of affected by senile dementia of the Alzheimer type at various degrees of severity, was assessed prospectively by Blessed's test score. The pattern and density of tau immunoreactivity were studied in temporal neocortex area 22, and compared with those of PHF immunoreactivity and with the density of amyloid revealed by thio-flavin S.

Anti-tau labelled a neuropil meshwork only in cases in which it also labelled senile plaques. The density of this meshwork increased with the severity of the disease. It was higher in layers II, III and V. The number and size of tau positive fibres within the senile plaques also increased with the intellectual deficit.

The densities of senile plaques and of NFT were correlated with the severity of the disease regardless of the staining methods used – anti-tau, anti-PHF or thioflavin S. The three methods revealed a systematically different number of changes. The pathological changes best linked to dementia were those in NFT revealed by tau antiserum. A higher proportion of amyloid-rich plaques was noted in the least affected cases, suggesting that tau and PHF epitopes appeared secondarily. Tau and PHF epitopes were observed simultaneously in the more affected cases. However, tau-positive NFT were statistically more numerous than PHFpositive NFT and increased by a higher factor in the most demented patients. This suggests that PHF accumulate later than tau epitopes in the course of the disease. Another explanation would be that the changes of phosphorylated tau are more directly linked to the dementing process.

Introduction

Tau proteins, which are normally associated with tubulin in microtubules, are considered a major constituent of paired helical filaments (PHF; Brion et al. 1985a; Kosik et al. 1986; Wischik et al. 1988). They are abnormally phosphorylated in these changes (Ihara et al. 1986; Nukina and Ihara 1986). Little is known about the pathological accumulation of tau proteins in relationship with PHF according to the severity of dementia in Alzheimer's disease. Moreover, the relationship

74 P. Delaère et al.

between neurites and amyloid remains open to question. Amyloid may appear first and then be surrounded by neurites, or it may occur secondarily to the degenerating neurites. There is as yet no model to study the development of lesion components in Alzheimer's disease.

A prospective study was undertaken to select intellectually normal elderly subjects and patients of the same age range with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type (SDAT). The test score of Blessed et al. (1968; BTS) was used to quantify the severity of the mental impairment. Clinical criteria were chosen so as to obtain all possible degrees of deterioration and to discard all known causes of dementia other than SDAT. The use of prospectively assessed cases and of morphometric methods allowed us to correlate the severity of the mental dysfunction with neuropathological changes. After death, one hemisphere (randomly right or left) was formalin-fixed. The other was frozen for biochemical studies. Fifteen brains were studied. Macroscopic and microscopic data have been reported previously (Duyckaerts et al. 1985, 1986, 1987, 1988). Anti-tau serum, anti-PHF serum and thioflavin S were used to stain contiguous sections of the temporal neocortex (area 22) of the same series of 15 cases (Delaère et al. 1989).

Anti-Tau Immunostaining

Three major neuropathological lesions are immunolabelled by various anti-tau antibodies in Alzheimer's disease: neurofibrillary tangles (NFT), senile plaques (SP; Brion et al. 1985b; Nukina and Ihara 1986; Delacourte and Défossez 1986;

Case No.	BTS		SP		NI	Neuropil.	
		Tau	PHF	Thio	Tau	PHF	Tau fibres
2634	28	0	0	9.25	0	0	0
2944	27	0	0	2.4	0	0	0
2809	26	0	0	3.48	0	0	0
2739	26	0	0	5.81	0.54	0.59	0
2857	19	0	0	0.36	0	0	0
2916	16	0	0	0	0.32	0	0
2943	13	1.07	3.17	24.67	2.97	0.32	+
2813	10	0	0	0	0	0	0
2825	8	7.63	1.90	21.69	24.24	11.98	++
2722	6	0.71	1.77	11	2.15	3.55	+
2942	6	4.62	3.15	12.14	9.53	6.30	++
2812	4	14.82	9.52	29.1	54.08	40.29	++++
2782	2	2.19	1.48	2.54	18.22	6.24	++
2704	2	13.06	8.71	27.59	23.23	11.25	+++
2971	0	1.40	0	27.44	34.53	16.21	++

Table 1. Densities of SP, NFT and tau-positive fibres dispersed in the neuropil

BTS, Test score of intellectual status (Blessed et al. 1968) prospectively assessed in each case the most affected cases having the lowest values; tau and PHF, densities (n/mm^2) of SP and NFT immunostained with antisera against tau proteins and against PHF – labelling was revealed by peroxidase anti-peroxidase; Thio, SP density (n/mm^2) after staining by thioflavin S; neuropil tau fibers, semiquantitative evaluation of the density of fibers dispersed in the neuropil, immunolabelled with antiserum raised against tau proteins, from a few (+) to very abundant (++++)



Fig. 1A, B. Tau immunoreactivity in the neuropil of SDAT temporal neocortex (revealed by peroxidase anti-peroxidase, counterstained by cresyl violet). A Tau-positive fibres (dark) were rare and very thin in the neuropil of mildly affected patients. B Tau-positive fibres were numerous and thick in the neuropil of severely affected patients. (\times 25)

Yen et al. 1987) and an abnormal meshwork in the neuropil (Joachim et al. 1987; Kowall and Kosik 1987). The antiserum that we used was shown to be specific in a series of studies (Brion et al. 1985a,b, 1986). Anti-tau labelled an abnormal meshwork only in cases where it also labelled SP (Table 1), i.e. in the demented cases and not in the intellectually normal subjects. The density of this meshwork (Fig. 1) was linked to the number of SP. It was higher in layers II, III and V. This abnormal accumulation of tau proteins could result in a disorganization of the cortical connective network. Recent data obtained after Bodian silver impregnation on the same series of 15 cases indicated that the density of the small, tortuous and abnormally oriented fibres in the same neocortical area was statistically linked to the severity of the dementia (Duyckaerts et al. 1989). The number and size of taupositive fibres within the SP also increased with the intellectual deficit (Table 2; Fig. 2). Features of tau-positive NFT varied: weak, fibrillary, dense, globular or torch-like, and sometimes reaching the proximal dendrite segments (Fig. 3).

Localization of SP and NFT in the Neocortical Thickness

As revealed by techniques other than immunocytochemistry, SP have a prominent distribution in layers II and III (Pearson et al. 1985; Rogers and Morrison 1985;



Fig. 2A–F. Tau immunoreactivity in SDAT temporal neocortex showing various aspects of senile plaques (revealed by peroxidase anti-peroxidase, counterstained by cresyl violet). A Amyloid core (*arrows*) stained by cresyl violet without tau immunoreactivity. **B**, **C** A small number of tau-positive neurites (dark) within the SP. **D**, **E** A large number of tau-positive neurites, sometimes thick, within the SP. **F** A large number of tau-positive neurites embedded in a dense tau-positive matrix. (× 100)

Duyckaerts et al. 1986), and NFT are more numerous in layers III and V (Pearson et al. 1985). According to our morphometric data, the distribution of SP and NFT in the thickness of the neocortex was the same after anti-tau, anti-PHF and thio-flavin S staining (Figs. 4, 5). This suggested that the methods which we used stained the same SP and the same NFT, since the latter have the same laminar topographies.



Fig. 3A–D. Tau immunoreactivity in SDAT temporal neocortex showing various aspects of neurofibrillary tangles (revealed by peroxidase anti-peroxidase, counterstained by cresyl violet). A Small weak labelling (dark) in the proximal dendritic process but not in the perikaryon. B Weak labelling in the perikaryon. C Dense fibrillar labelling in the perikaryon and in proximal dendritic processes. D Dense torch-like labelling which fills all the perikaryon and extends into a dendritic process. Bar, 25 μ m

Densities of SP and NFT after Anti-Tau, Anti-PHF and Thioflavin S

The density of silver-stained cortical SP is linked to the severity of dementia (Blessed et al. 1968; Wilcock and Esiri 1982; Duyckaerts et al. 1986). The densities of SP and NFT revealed by each of the three staining methods (Table 1) were negatively correlated with the BTS (Table 3); the density of each lesion increased with the intellectual deficit. These correlations were not significantly different from one another. Nevertheless, the pathological changes best linked to dementia were those in NFT revealed by anti-tau.



Fig. 4. Density of the SP as a function of their localization in the thickness of the neocortex. Neocortical thickness expressed on a standardized 10-level scale (1, under the pial surface; 10, bordering the white matter). Density, relative frequency; tau, SP immunolabelled by anti-tau; PHF, SP immunolabelled by anti-PHF; thioflavin S, staining method for amyloid



 Table 2. Assessment of neurites within SP immunolabelled by anti-tau according to the severity of the disease

Case No.	BTS	Number	Number of			% of tau-positive SP with			
		SP	Fev	Few neurites		Many neurites			
			Small	Large	Small	Large	Very la	arge matrix	
2943	13	25	48	24	16	8	4	_	
2825	8	26	12	46	19	19	4	_	
2722	6	14	7	21	36	29	7	_	
2942	6	27	15	29	15	26	15	_	
2812	4	30		3	13	50	17	17	
2782	2	30	10	13	30	34	13	_	
2704	2	29		4	24	41	21	10	
2971	0	30	3	10	30	50	7	_	

BTS, Test score of intellectual status (Blessed et al. 1968) prospectively assessed in each case, the most affected cases having the lowest values; % of tau-positive SP, percentage of SP within which anti-tau have labelled a variable number of neurites; few neurites, <10 neurites in a SP; many neurites, ≥ 10 neurites; small, tau-positive SP neurites with an approximate diameter of 1 µm; large, approximate diameter of 2.5 µmm; very large, approximate diameter of 5 µm; dense matrix, SP with tau-positive neurites embedded in a tau-positive dense matrix.

80 P. Delaère et al.

Table 3. Correlation of intellectual status (BTS) with the densities of SP and NFT assessed by three staining methods

		SP			T	
	Tau	PHF	Thio	Tau	PHF	_
BTS	56 ^a	54 ^a	57^{a}	67 ^b	57 ^a	

Pearson correlation coefficients using the least squares method. BTS, test score of intellectual status (Blessed et al. 1968), the most affected cases having the lowest values – this explains the negative correlation between BTS and the densities of senile changes; tau, PHF, immunostaining with antibodies against tau proteins and paired helical filaments (revealed with peroxidase anti-peroxidase); Thio: staining of amyloid with thioflavin S.

```
p^{a} p < 0.05
```

 ${}^{b}p < 0.002$

Amyloid, Tau and PHF Epitopes: Development According to the Severity of Dementia

The density values varied systematically according to the stain. This could be explained by various sensitivities of the staining methods. It may also have been the consequence of a change in the composition of the lesions.

Neocortical SP in the least affected cases contained amyloid revealed by thioflavin S but not tau- and PHF-positive neurites (Table 1). Moreover, SP with amyloid were statistically more numerous than SP immunolabelled by anti-tau and by anti-PHF. These results suggest that amyloid appeared not only before PHFpositive neurites, as previously shown (Duyckaerts et al. 1988), but also before tau-positive neurites.

Tau- and PHF-positive lesions were lacking in the temporal neocortex of the least affected cases. They were observed simultaneously in the more affected cases (Table 1). These results suggest that the presence of tau and PHF epitopes is strongly related to the changes. However, tau-positive NFT were statistically more numerous than PHF-positive NFT and increased by a higher factor in the most demented patients. This suggests that PHF accumulate later than tau epitopes in the course of the disease. According to our data and those from other studies (Joachim et al. 1987; Bancher et al. 1989), tau epitopes could be present early, and PHF accumulate later in NFT formation. Another explanation would be that the changes of phosphorylated tau are more directly linked to the dementing process.

Conclusion

These results suggest that, in the neocortex, amyloid is present in normal aging while abnormal intracytoplasmic accumulation of tau proteins and PHF is more characteristic of SDAT. The accumulation of tau protein in the neocortical connective network, in SP and in NFT is linked to the severity of the dementia. Tau and PHF epitopes are strongly related within Alzheimer's changes, but tau protein aggregation seems to be an early stage in PHF formation (Delaère et al. 1989). These results suggest also that the changes in tau proteins are more directly linked to the dementing process. Recent results (Flament et al. 1989) support the assumption that an abnormal phosphorylation of tau proteins leads to their incorporation into PHF (Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986). The earlier appearance of amyloid in the neocortex over abnormally phosphorylated tau proteins does not necessarily mean a direct or constant relationship of causality. Even in the brain of centenarians, in spite of constant amyloid accumulation, labelling of abnormal neurites by Bodian silver impregnation makes it possible to discriminate easily two groups of cases - those with and those without Alzheimer's changes. In addition, the prevalence of AD is not markedly higher in this group of centenarians than in the 80- or 90-year-old groups (Hauw et al. 1986). This suggests that SDAT is not necessarily an unavoidable consequence of aging and of amyloid deposit. Transcriptional events (Palmert et al. 1988), including modulation of the production of amyloid from the precursor protein (Tanzi et al. 1989) or decrease of amyloid resorption by circulating monocytes/macrophages, microglial cells (Probst et al. 1982) and perhaps astrocytes, are possible candidates for the regulation of amyloid deposit in the brain (Hauw et al. 1988). The factor responsible for the abnormal phosphorylation of tau protein remains open to question.

References

- Bancher C, Brunner C, Lassmann H, Budka H, Jellinger K, Wiche G, Seitelberger F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Wisniewski HM (1989) Accumulation of abnormally phosphorylated tau precedes the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 477:90-99
- Blessed G, Tomlinson BE, Roth M (1968) The association between quantitative measures of dementia and senile changes in the cerebral grey matter of elderly subjects. Br J Psychiatr 114:797-811
- Brion JP, Couck AM, Passareiro E, Flament-Durand J (1985a) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease: an immunohistochemical study. J Submicrosc Cytol 17:89-96
- Brion JP, Van den Bosch de Aguilar P, Flament-Durand J (1985b) Senile dementia of Alzheimer type: morphological and immunocytochemical studies. In: Traber J, Gispen WH (eds) Senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo, pp 164-174
- Brion JP, Passareiro E, Flament-Durand J (1986) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease: ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study. In: Vezzasini P, Facchini A (eds) Neuroendocrine system and aging. EURAGE, pp 239-244
- Delacourte A, Défossez A (1986) Alzheimer's disease: tau proteins, the promoting factors of microtubule assembly, are major components of paired helical filaments. J Neurol Sci 76:173-186
- Delaère P, Duyckaerts C, Brion JP, Poulain V, Hauw J-J (1989) Tau, paired helical filaments and amyloid in the neocortex: a morphometric study of 15 cases with graded intellectual status in aging and senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 77:645-653
- Duyckaerts C, Hauw J-J, Piette F, Rainsard C, Poulain V, Berthaux P, Escourolle R (1985) Cortical atrophy in senile dementia of Alzheimer type is mainly due to a decrease in cortical length. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 66:72-74
- Duyckaerts C, Hauw J-J, Bastenaire F, Piette F, Poulain V, Rainsard C, Javoy-Agid F, Berthaux P (1986) Laminar distribution of neocortical senile plaques in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 70:249-256

- 82 P. Delaère et al.
- Duyckaerts C, Brion JP, Hauw J-J, Flament-Durant J (1987) Quantitative assessment of the density of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Comparison of immunocytochemistry with a specific antibody and Bodian's protargol method. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 73:167-170
- Duyckaerts C, Delaère P, Poulain V, Brion JP, Hauw J-J (1988) Does amyloid precede paired helical filaments in the senile plaque? A study of 15 cases with graded intellectual status in aging and Alzheimer disease. Neurosci Letters 91:354–359
- Duyckaerts C, Kawasaki H, Delaère P, Rainsard C, Hauw J-J (1989) Fiber disorganisation in the neocortex of patients with senile dementia of Alzheimer type. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 15:233-247
- Flament S, Delacourte A, Hémon B, Défossez A (1989) Démonstration directe d'une phosphorylation anormale des protéines microtubulaires Tau au cours de la maladie d'Alzheimer. C R Acad Sci Paris 308:77–82
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Quinlan M, Tung Y-C, Zaidi MS, Wisniewski HM (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau, a component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem 261:6084-6089
- Hauw J-J, Vignolo P, Duyckaerts C, Beck H, Forette F, Henry J-F, Laurent M, Piette F, Sachet A, Berthaux P (1986) Etude neuropathologique de 12 centenaires. Rev Neurol (Paris) 142:107-115
- Hauw J-J, Duyckaerts C, Delaère P, Chaunu MP (1988) Hypothèse: maladie d'Alzheimer, amyloïde, microglie. Rev Neurol (Paris) 144:155-157
- Ihara Y, Nukina N, Ogawara M (1986) Phosphorylated tau protein is integrated into paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. J Biochem (Tokyo) 99:1807–1810
- Joachim CL, Morris JH, Phil BC, Selkoe DJ, Kosik KS (1987) Tau epitopes are incorporated into a range of lesions in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 46:611–622
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau (t) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Kowall NW, Kosik KS (1987) Axonal disruption and aberrant localization of tau protein characterize the neuropil pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 22:639-643
- Nukina N, Ihara Y (1986) One of the antigenic determinants of paired helical filaments is related to tau protein. J Biochem (Tokyo) 99:1541-1544
- Palmert MR, Golde TE, Cohen ML, Kovacs DM, Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Usiak MF, Younkin LH, Youkin SG (1988) Amyloid protein precursor messenger RNAs: differential expression in Alzheimer's disease. Science 241:1080–1084
- Pearson RC, Esiri MM, Hiorns RW, Wilcock GK, Powell TP (1985) Anatomical correlation of the distribution of the pathological changes in the neocortex in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4531-4534
- Probst A, Ulrich J, Heitz PU (1982) Senile dementia of Alzheimer type: astroglial reaction to extracellular neurofibrillary tangles in the hippocampus: an immuno-cytochemical and electron-microscopic study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 57:75-79
- Rogers J, Morrison JH (1985) Quantitative morphology and regional and laminar distributions of senile plaques in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 5:2801–2808
- Tanzi RE, St George-Hyslop PH, Gusella JF (1989) Molecular approaches to Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 12:152–158
- Wilcock GK, Esiri MM (1982) Plaques, tangles and dementia. A quantitative study. J Neurol Sci 56:343-356
- Wischik CM, Novak M, Thogersen HC, Edwards PC, Runswick MJ, Jakes R, Walker JE, Milstein C, Roth M, Klug A (1988) Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical fragment of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4506-4510
- Yen SH, Dickson DW, Crowe A, Butler M, Shelanski ML (1987) Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles contain unique epitopes and epitopes in common with the heat-stable microtubules associated tau and MAP2. Am J Pathol 126:81–91

Molecular Insights into Alzheimer's Disease

J. W. Pettegrew

Summary

Recent in vitro and in vivo ³¹P NMR studies demonstrate increased levels of PME and PDE in Alzheimer's brain. The PME levels have an inverse correlation with the numbers of SP and are thought to represent an early molecular event in the pathogenesis of the disease. Similar high levels of PME are observed normally in the developing brain, especially during the period of dendritic proliferation. Cytological studies demonstrate the elaboration of dendritic processes in AD. The levels of PDE have a positive correlation with the numbers of SP and are thought to represent markers of neuronal degeneration. Fluorescence spectroscopy studies reveal that PME and PDE can alter membrane molecular dynamics. Solid-state ³¹P NMR studies reveal that PME but not PDE can alter the conformation of synthetic phospholipid model membranes and induce transformations from the bilayer phase to the hexagonal II and micellar phases. Similar transformations in vivo could induce the formation of vesicles (micellar) and the fusion of membranes (hexagonal II) with important biological consequences. Computer modeling studies demonstrate the PME to have striking conformational similarities with the neurotransmitters NMDA and L-glutamate. Recent studies reveal the PME to be neuromodulators at L-glutamate receptors in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. This finding suggests possible molecular mechanisms for memory loss and the degenerative features of the disease. The elevated levels of PME also could reflect enhanced phospholipase C activity, which could stimulate protein kinase C activity. Enhanced protein kinase C activity could lead to many diverse biological effects, including the hyperphosphorylation of proteins such as the ADAP and microtubule-associated tau proteins, resulting in altered posttranslational processing of these proteins. These findings provide insights into the molecular pathology of AD which could guide future therapeutic and preventive strategies.

Introduction

The histological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease (AD) have long been considered to be neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and neuritic or senile (SP) plaques distributed throughout the allo- and neocortices (Tomlinson and Corsellis 1984). However, recent reports suggest that AD does not necessarily require the presence of NFT (Terry et al. 1987), and the cytopathological changes may be limited to the hippocampus (Ball et al. 1985). In addition, NFT have been demonstrated in some

84 J. W. Pettegrew

24 neurological disorders (Halper et al. 1986), and SP occur with normal aging without associated dementia (Tomlinson 1972). Therefore, NFT and SP are not specific to AD and could represent end-stage markers. More recent studies, such as event-related evoked potentials (Fletcher and Sharpe 1986, 1988), positron emission tomography (PET; Cutler et al. 1985; Duara et al. 1986; Jagust et al. 1987; Haxby et al. 1987; Beradi et al. 1987; Berent et al. 1987; Friedland et al. 1987; Horwitz et al. 1987; Rapoport et al. 1986) and phosphorus 31 nuclear magnetic resonance (³¹P NMR) spectroscopy (Pettegrew et al. 1984; 1987a, b, 1988a, b; Gorell et al. 1988; Gdowski et al. 1988) have demonstrated physiological and metabolic abnormalities in areas of association neocortex, such as the prefrontal and inferior parietal cortices, that are not always the site of numerous NFT or SP. The PET studies demonstrate alterations in glucose uptake, and the ³¹P NMR studies demonstrate alterations of membrane phospholipid metabolism in the association cortex of AD patients. Our ³¹P NMR studies demonstrate elevations in the levels of phosphomonoesters (PME) early in the course of AD which progress to elevations in the levels of phosphodiesters (PDE) as the disease progresses (Pettegrew et al. 1988a, b).

Central Hypothesis

The central hypothesis guiding our studies is that the primary molecular/metabolic abnormalities of AD start in the neo- and allocortices and produce secondary retrograde changes in subcortical nuclei such as the nucleus basalis of Meynert, septal nucleus, locus coeruleus, and dorsal raphe nucleus (Pettegrew et al. 1988b). The retrograde changes are simple atrophy of neurons and astrocytosis that occurs with transsynaptic degeneration under other circumstances, for example, dorsomedian neuronal atrophy in the thalamus after frontal leukotomy (Cowan 1970; Duchen 1984). As such, the earliest molecular/metabolic changes in AD occur in the neo- and allocortices, resulting in cellular degeneration and death in these cortical areas and retrograde transsynaptic degeneration in subcortical nuclei. A type of degeneration of cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus secondary to cerebral cortical damage has been demonstrated in the rat (Sofroniew et al. 1983; Sofroniew and Pearson 1985). Others have suggested that a similar retrograde degeneration may occur in AD (Pearson et al. 1983a, b; Pearson and Powell 1987). Our studies suggest that the earliest molecular/metabolic changes in AD result in elevated levels of PME in the neocortex and allocortex. Cortical and subcortical elevations of PDE occur later in the course of the disease and reflect cellular degeneration and death (Pettegrew et al. 1984, 1987a, b, 1988a, b).

Methodology

Information Contained in the ³¹P NMR Spectrum

The ³¹P NMR spectrum of mammalian brain can be conveniently separated into three regions (Glonek et al. 1982): (a) orthophosphate (5 to -1.5 ppm), (b)

guanidophosphate (-3.5 to -5 ppm), and (c) polyphosphate (-5 to -23 ppm). The orthophosphate region can be further subdivided into PME (5 to 1.5 ppm) and PDE regions (1.5 to -1.5 ppm). The polyphosphate region can be further subdivided into ionized ends (-5 to -8 ppm), esterified ends (-8 to -14 ppm), and middles (-18 to -23 ppm).

Contributing to the PME region are hexose 6-phosphates, triose phosphates, pentose phosphates, phosphoethanolamine, phosphocholine, inorganic orthophosphate (P_i), anomeric sugar phosphates, and several signals that have not been characterized as to the source phosphate. Contributing to the PDE region are glycerol PDE (primarily glycerol 3-phosphoethanolamine and glycerol 3-phosphocholine), a broad resonance from phosphorylated glycolipids and glycoproteins, and several uncharacterized resonances. The guanidophosphate region contains resonances from phosphocreatine (P_{Cr}) and phosphoarginine.

In the polyphosphate part of the spectrum, the ionized ends region contains resonances from the γ -phosphate of nucleotide triphosphates and the β -phosphate of nucleotide diphosphates. The esterified ends region contains resonances for the α -phosphate of nucleotide triphosphates, the α -phosphate of nucleotide diphosphates, the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotides, and the uridine diphospho sugars (galactose, glucose, mannose). The only resonance that makes a contribution to the middles region is the β -phosphate of nucleotide triphosphates. In mammalian brain, the predominant contributors to the nucleotide triphosphate and nucleotide diphosphate resonances are adenoside triphosphate (ATP) and adenosine diphosphate (ADP) (Fig. 1).

From a metabolic viewpoint, the ³¹P NMR spectrum contains information about the energy status of the brain from the resonances for P_{Cr} , ATP, ADP and P_i . Resonances related to phospholipid metabolism are contained in the PME and PDE regions (Pettegrew et al. 1987a, b). In mammalian brain, the PME region contains resonances predominantly from α -glycerol phosphate, phosphoethanolamine and phosphocholine, with smaller contributions from sugar phosphates such as hexose 6-phosphates, fructose 1,6- diphosphate, inositol phosphates, and nucleoside phosphates such as ribose 5'-phosphate, inosine 5'-



Fig. 1. High-resolution ³¹P NMR spectrum of 24-month-old Fischer 344 rat brain perchloric acid extract

monophosphate, adenosine 5'-phosphate and NADP 2'-phosphate. In normal brain. a-glycerol phosphate. phosphocholine. and mammalian phosphoethanolamine are found predominantly in the anabolic pathway of membrane phospholipid metabolism. However, a recent study demonstrates that the Ha-ras oncogene specifically activates phospholipase Chydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine (PtdC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PtdE), giving rise to elevated levels of diacylglycerol and the PME phosphocholine and phosphoethanolamine (Lacal et al. 1987). Other biological activators of phospholipase C also could produce elevated levels of PME. The PDE region contains predominantly the resonances of glycerol 3-phosphoethanolamine and glycerol 3-phosphocholine which, in mammalian brain, are catabolic breakdown products of phospholipids due to phospholipase $A_1 + A_2$ activity (Dawson 1985; Porcellati and Arienti 1983). Therefore the steady-state turnover of brain phospholipids (anabolism/ catabolism) can be assessed by ³¹P NMR spectroscopy (Pettegrew et al. 1987a, b). Since neural membrane (especially synaptosomal) structure, dynamics and function are of vital importance to normal neurochemical, neurophysiological, and neuropharmacological function, ³¹P NMR has the potential to provide important insights into normal and altered brain function.³¹P NMR spectra of post-mortem brain contains resonances only from the PME, PDE and P_i. Therefore, ³¹P NMR studies on post-mortem brain predominantly allow assessment of antemortem phospholipid metabolism and possible biological activation of phospholipase C and phospholipase $A_1 + A_2$ through the PME and PDE resonances, respectively.

In Vitro ³¹P NMR Studies

The in vitro ³¹P NMR studies provide chemical conditions more favorable to ³¹P NMR analysis than occur in the living brain and, therefore a greater sensitivity and resolution are achieved as compared to in vivo analytical approaches. The enhanced sensitivity and resolution of in vitro extract studies permit the characterization and quantitation of many different phosphorus-containing compounds. Previous in vitro ³¹P NMR studies demonstrated a remarkable correlation with more classical assay procedures and, in addition, revealed previously uncharacterized metabolites and unrecognized metabolic relationships (Pettegrew et al. 1982a, b, 1983, 1984, 1985, 1986a, b, 1987a, b; Glonek et al. 1982; Cohen et al. 1984).

To correctly interpret ³¹P NMR spectra, the identities of the individual resonance signals must be carefully verified through the use of appropriate biochemical and spectroscopic procedures. The importance of this verification was recently demonstrated for a prominent ³¹P NMR resonance at 3.84 ppm in mammalian brain which has now been definitively identified as phosphoethanolamine (Pettegrew et al. 1986a). The identification was based on ¹H and ³¹P NMR findings (including pH titrations) at 4.7 and 14.1 Tesla, as well as thin-layer chromatography studies. The ³¹P NMR studies are in agreement with earlier studies that demonstrated a relative abundance of phosphoethanolamine in developing rabbit brain (Cohen and Lin 1962). A relatively prominent PME resonance exhibiting the appropriate ³¹P chemical shift has been reported in human neonatal brain

(Cady et al. 1983; Younkin et al. 1984) and childhood neuroblastoma (Maris et al. 1985) using an in vivo ³¹P NMR surface coil technique.

In Vivo ³¹P NMR Methodology

We recently have obtained in vivo spectra under resting conditions (lying quietly, eyes open, ears unoccluded) from the dorsal prefrontal cortex of 41 subjects with an age range of 12-81 years. In vivo ³¹P NMR spectroscopy was conducted on a General Electric Signa 1.5 Tesla whole body system equipped with the standard spectroscopy accessory. The spectra were acquired using a depth-resolved pulse sequence employing an H₁ field gradient and concentric 8- and 3-in. surface coils A ¹H image was initially obtained using the MRI body coil as the ¹H transmitter and the 3-in. surface coil as the ¹H receiver. The images obtained were from 15-20 cm³ of the dorsal prefrontal cortex (Fig. 2). The H₀ field was then shimmed on the H₂0 ¹H signal to a line width of approximately 0.1 ppm, and ³¹P spectra were obtained which were easily phased. The individual resonances were deconvoluted into component Lorentzian peaks and integrated to yield quantitative results.

The in vivo results compare quite favorable with results obtained from extracts of freeze-clamped animal cerebral tissue. The resonances of PME, P_i , PDE, ionized ends, esterified ends, and middles are easily distinguished (Fig. 3). The PME, P_i , PDE, and P_{Cr} resonances of brain are not completely resolved in the



Fig. 2. ¹H labeled brain image of a normal volunteer demonstrating that the surface coils used for ³¹P NMR spectroscopy observe signals only from the dorsal prefrontal cortex



Fig. 3a, b. a In vivo ³¹PNMR spectrum from the dorsal prefrontal cortex of a normal elderly volunteer. **b** The unprocessed (*top*), simulated (*middle*), and component Lorentzian (*bottom*) spectra are shown

unprocessed in vivo ³¹P NMR spectrum obtained at 1.5 Tesla. This is probably due to a combination of at least three factors. (a) The NMR natural line widths for these brain chemical species in vivo are probably broader than for the same chemical species in solution. (b) There is decreased resolution of these resonances at 1.5 Tesla compared to H₀ fields of 4.7 Tesla or higher. (c) The H₀ field homogeneity across the human head is not as good as that attainable across smaller sample (5-20 mm) diameters.

Our in vivo results in human subjects demonstrate that we not only can detect the PME and PDE resonances as well as the resonances for P_i , P_{Cr} , ATP, ADP, and nucleoside diphospho-derivates (NDP-D), but that we also can accurately quantify the levels of these metabolites and the intracellular pH (Pettegrew et al. 1988c). We have determined test-retest (n = 10) and interrater reliability (n = 10) in young and elderly controls and the above-mentioned patient groups for all of these metabolites. The test-retest results demonstrate a standard deviation of less than 5% of the mean, and the interrater reliability results also demonstrate a standard deviation of less than 5% of the mean.

Results

In Vitro ³¹P NMR Studies of Autopsy Brain

Recent ³¹P NMR studies from this laboratory have demonstrated alterations of membrane phospholipid metabolism in AD brain obtained at autopsy and biopsy (Pettegrew et al. 1984, 1985, 1987a, b, 1988a, b; Miotto et al. 1986). The alterations do not correlate with the duration of the postmortem interval and are thought to reflect antemortem metabolic changes. AD brains contain significantly elevated levels of PME (p < 0.001), which are precursors to membrane phospholipids or products of phospholipase C activity, without significant elevations of PDE, which are phospholipase $A_1 + A_2$ mediated breakdown products of membrane phospholipids. In contrast, non-AD diseased control brains contain significant elevations of PDE (p < 0.01). The areas of AD brain with PME elevations are the superior and middle frontal gyri and the inferior parietal cortex. These same cortical areas of AD brain have decreased glucose utilization and abnormal electrophysiological responses to event-related evoked potentials (Cutler et al. 1985; Duara et al. 1986; Jagust et al. 1987; Haxby et al. 1987; Beradi et al. 1987; Berent et al. 1987; Friedland et al. 1987; Horwitz et al. 1987; Rapoport et al. 1986; Fletcher and Sharpe 1986, 1988). Correlative ³¹P NMR and morphological studies have been conducted on 32 samples obtained from the middle frontal and superior temporal gyri of 11 AD brains. A significant negative correlation was found between the levels of PME and the numbers of SP (p = 0.05; r = 0.76) and a significant positive correlation between the levels of PDE and the numbers of SP (p =0.01; r = 0.89). No correlations were found between the numbers of NFT and the levels of PME or PDE. These findings suggest that elevations in the levels of PME precede the appearance of SP, and that elevations in the levels of PDE coincide with the appearance of SP.

In Vivo ³¹P NMR Studies

Effect of Normal Aging

Studies to date investigated the levels of PME, P_i , PDE, P_{Cr} , ATP, NDP-D (uridine diphospho-sugars (UDP-S) and cytidine diphospho-derivatives such as

90 J. W. Pettegrew

CDP-choline and CDP-ethanolamine) and intracellular pH in the dorsal prefrontal cortex of normal young adult ($n = 10, 27 \pm 2$ years) and normal elderly (n = 6, 72 ± 3 years) individuals. All subjects were screened for and determined to be free of medical, neurological, and psychiatric disorders.

Compared to young adults $(27.6 \pm 1.7 \text{ years})$, normal elderly subjects $(72.3 \pm 3.1 \text{ years})$ have decreased levels of PME (p = 0.05) and NDP-D (p = 0.0002) and increased levels of PDE (p = 0.0004) without changes in P_{Cr}, ATP, or intracellular pH. The decreased levels of PME and increased levels of PDE suggest decreased synthesis and increased breakdown of membrane phospholipids in normal elderly human cerebral cortex. The decreased levels of NDP-D suggest decreased glycosylation of membrane proteins and lipids (UDP-S) or decreased synthesis of membrane phospholipids (CDP-choline). Neither of these aging-related changes in membrane metabolism is surprising given the histological evidence for changes in dendritic spines in aged animal and human brain (Connor et al. 1980, 1982; Flood et al. 1986; Hinds and McNelly 1977, 1981; Rogers et al. 1984). However, for the first time these changes can be noninvasively followed in living human subjects. These findings provide molecular insights into normal brain aging processes not available with other in vivo techniques.

In Vivo ³¹P NMR Studies in Alzheimer's Disease

These studies examined high-energy phosphate and membrane phospholipid metabolism in the dorsal prefrontal cortex of AD patients by in vivo ³¹P NMR and correlated the NMR findings with the degree of dementia as determined by the Mattis dementia rating scale. To date we have studied six probable AD patients (ADRDA-NINCDS criteria) and six normal age-matched elderly controls. Mattis dementia rating scales were performed on all subjects within 6 months of the NMR studies. The results demonstrate a negative correlation between the levels of PDE and the Mattis scores ($R^2 = 0.97$; p = 0.01) and a positive correlation between the P_{Cr} levels and the Mattis scores ($R^2 = 0.95$; p = 0.01). The PME levels did not have a significant correlation with the Mattis scores ($R^2 = 0.61$). There were no withingroup or between-group differences in the intracellular pH. Therefore, the P_{Cr} changes were not due to a pH-induced alteration in the creatine kinase equilibrium.

These in vivo findings are consistent with our PDE findings in AD autopsy brain and suggest that the alterations in PME perhaps antedate the onset of cognitive changes and, therefore, are an early molecular alteration. The correlation between PDE and Mattis scale suggests that the cognitive decline is closely associated with neuronal degeneration which occurs later in the course of the disease. The correlation between P_{Cr} and Mattis scale suggests either decreased synthesis or increased utilization of P_{Cr} as the disease progresses. These metabolic insights taken together could prove valuable in advancing our understanding of the molecular basis of AD. In vivo ³¹P NMR also could prove valuable in noninvasively following metabolic responses to therapeutic interventions. Recently an independent in vivo ³¹P NMR spectroscopy study also demonstrated increased levels of PME in the temporoparietal cortex of probable AD patients as compared to patients with subcortical multi-infarct dementia and demented patients with Parkinson's disease (Gdowski et al. 1988; Brown et al. 1989).

Possible Explanations for Increased PME

The findings of increased PME in AD brain cannot be explained simply by degeneration of brain tissue; with degeneration, the PDE should be elevated and not PME. Increased turnover of membrane phospholipids should result in elevations of both PME and PDE as observed in normal aging in Fischer 344 rats (Pettegrew et al. 1985). The PDE elevations in non-AD diseased brain could be consistent with increased phospholipid turnover or degeneration of brain tissue. The finding of increased PME in AD brain suggests one or more of the following mechanisms:

- a) increased synthesis of membrane phospholipids (Pettegrew et al. 1987a, b, 1988a, b);
- b) a relative metabolic block in the synthetic pathway (Pettegrew et al. 1987a, b, 1988a, b);
- c) a decreased breakdown of PME secondary to decreased phospholipase D activity in AD brain (Kanfer and McCartney 1987); or
- d) stimulation of phospholipase C by neuromodulators and growth factors (Nishizuka 1986) or oncogenes (Lacal et al. 1987).

Elevated levels of PME are observed normally in the immature, developing brain (Pettegrew et al. 1986a, b, 1987a, b, 1988a, b), particularly during the period of elaboration of dendritic processes. Our findings of elevated PME in AD brain could, therefore, suggest an increase in membrane phospholipid synthesis as occurs during the elaboration of complex membranous structures such as dendritic processes. Cytological evidence for the elaboration of dendritic processes has been previously reported in AD (Scheibel 1979; Geddes et al. 1985) and normal aged brain (Buell and Coleman 1979, 1981). In addition, similar regenerative attempts have been observed in Huntington's disease brain (Graveland et al. 1985), another "degenerative" neurological disorder in the behavioral and neuropathological senses. However, other studies have been interpreted as evidence of failed compensatory dendritic growth in the parahippocampal gyrus and the hippocampal dentate gyrus of AD brain (Flood et al. 1986; Flood and Coleman 1986). Neither of these structures has been studied to date by ³¹P NMR, and the ³¹P NMR findings in cerebral cortex may not be the same as for the parahippocampal gyrus and the hippocampal dentate gyrus. In fact, studies in the rat have demonstrated regional variability for age-related dendritic changes (Hinds and McNelly 1977, 1981; Connor et al. 1980, 1982; Rogers et al. 1984). Finally, a recent study of AD platelets has demonstrated increased proliferation of platelet internal membranes (Zubenko et al. 1987a), suggesting a generalized increase in the synthesis of membranes in AD.

An elevation of the PME phosphoethanolamine and phosphocholine also could occur if there existed a relative metabolic block at the enzyme cytidine triphosphate (CTP):phosphoethanolamine (or phosphocholine) cytidyltransferase (EC 2.7.7.15), which is the rate-limiting enzyme in phospholipid synthesis (Dawson

1985). An enzymatic block at this step could result in elevated levels of PME as assayed by ³¹P NMR and decreased levels of the phospholipids, PtdC and PtdE. Recent high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) studies of AD brain phospholipids do demonstrate a reduction in AD brain phospholipids as expressed as micromoles of phospholipid per gram wet weight of brain (Pettegrew et al. 1988d). As compared to non-AD diseased controls (60 samples, 9 brains), AD brain (131 samples, 17 brains) has decreased levels of PtdC (p = 0.001). PtdE (p = 0.003), and cholesterol (p = 0.01) and small but nonsignificant decreases in the levels of phosphatidylserine (PtdS). The levels of PtdC, PtdE, PtdS, and cholesterol were correlated with the number of SP per \times 200 magnification between cortical layers II and IV in the same brain regions. This revealed a nonlinear correlation for PtdC which peaked around 10 SP/ \times 200 magnification and declined with increasing SP numbers ($R^2 = 0.9$; p = 0.0001). Linear negative correlations were observed for PtdE ($R^2 = 0.6$; p = 0.2) and PtdS ($R^2 = 0.8$; p =0.003) and no correlation for cholesterol ($R^2 = 0.8$; p = 0.5). These findings suggest an increase in PtdC synthesis early in the pathogenesis of AD at a time when PME levels are high. In theory, the augmented synthesis of PtdC could shunt available choline from acetylcholine synthesis, producing a functional cholinergic deficit which is observed clinically (Bartus et al. 1982). As the disease progresses, membrane degradation assumes prominence. It must be emphasized that these findings are based on HPLC analysis which uses UV detection at 203 nm as the method of quantitation. Therefore the number of fatty acid double bonds that are present determine the absorbance. One cannot assume the fatty acid double bond composition for any given phospholipid to be the same in a human disease state as it is in the nondiseased state from which the phospholipid standards are derived. For this reason an independent analytical method is essential to confirm or refute the HPLC findings. A recently described ³¹P NMR method for the direct qualitative and quantitative determination of phospholipids on the basis of the phosphorus atom is such a method (Meneses and Glonek 1988). We are presently pursuing these ³¹P NMR phospholipid studies.

The increased levels of PME early in the pathogenesis of AD also could reflect altered levels of, or responses to, neuromodulators, growth factors, or oncogenes. It is therefore of interest that CTP:phosphocholine cytidyltransferase activity has been demonstrated to be decreased under conditions that favor phosphorylation of proteins, such as stimulation of protein kinase systems (Pelech et al. 1985). There is other evidence for possible elevated protein kinase activity in AD brain. The microtubule-associated tau proteins have been shown to be hyperphosphorylated in paired helical filaments found in AD brain (Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986). The hyperphosphorylation of the tau proteins could secondarily result in defective microtubule assembly and altered axoplasmic flow in AD brain (Iqbal et al. 1986). The hyperphosphorylated tau proteins also might be abnormally metabolized. leading to the formation of paired helical filaments found in NFT. A recent report demonstrates that the AD amyloid precursor protein (ADAP) is phosphorylated by protein kinase C and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (Gandy et al. 1988). Phosphorylation of ADAP potentially could interfere with membrane insertion resulting in cleavage to β-amyloid protein which is deposited intracellulary and in SP in AD brain. It is conceivable that the elevated levels of

PME early in the course of AD reflect increased synthesis of membrane phospholipids, but that later in the course of the disease a metabolic block develops at the rate-limiting enzyme step which further increases PME levels. The metabolic block could arise secondary to activation of receptors linked to phospholipase C and protein kinase C activity such as the L-glutamate and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. A recent study of protein kinase C levels in AD autopsy brain (Cole et al. 1988) is consistent with a compensatory down-regulation of protein kinase C after overactivation early in the disease process. It is also of interest that a 28 amino acid fragment ($\beta 1-28$) of the β -amyloid precursor protein has been demonstrated to have neurotrophic activity in cultures of hippocampal pyramidal neurons (Whitson et al. 1989). What physiologic role if any the $\beta 1-28$ fragment has in AD is unknown at this time.

Effects of PME and PDE on Membrane Properties

In an effort to study the possible consequences of elevated levels of PME and PDE on membrane molecular properties, we have performed fluorescence spectroscopy on intact normal human erythrocytes and platelets in the absence and presence of varying concentrations of the PME (phosphocholine, phosphoethanolamine, L-phosphoserine, and combinations thereof) and PDE (glycerol 3-phosphocholine and glycerol 3-phosphoethanolamine). The fluorescence spectroscopy studies reveal that PME can significantly alter membrane molecular dynamics in normal human erythrocytes and platelets (Pettegrew et al., manuscript in preparation). These findings provide an explanation for the recent platelet findings in AD (Zubenko et al. 1984, 1987a, b). The platelet findings could reflect the alterations in PME and PDE levels that are occurring in the brain of AD patients.

In an effort to study the consequences of the elevated levels of PME and PDE on plasma membrane phase and conformation, we performed solid-state ³¹P NMR spectroscopy on model membranes in the presence of 1.0 mM PME or PDE. It was observed that the PME do not affect the powder pattern spectrum of the phospholipid palmitoryloleoylphosphatidylcholine (POPC), whereas significant alterations were observed in palmitoryloleoylphosphatidyl-ethanolamine (POPE) and bovine brain PtdS. These results demonstrate alterations in the head group orientation and motion in POPE and PtdS but not in POPC. PDE had no effect on the line shape of any of the lipids (Pettegrew et al., in preparation). It should be noted that POPC is predominantly on the external face, and POPE and PtdS are the major components of the cytoplasmic face of cell membranes. Should similar changes occur in plasma membranes in vivo, significant functional changes can be expected. Calcium and Al³⁺ induce very similar alterations in membrane phase and conformation (Pettegrew and Panchalingam 1989). These studies taken together strongly suggest that in the presence of elevated levels of Ca^{2+} , Al^{3+} , or PME, the phospholipids located on the cytoplasmic face of membranes can be transformed from a normal bilayer phase to micellar and hexagonal II phases. The micellar phase could facilitate the formation of vesicles providing a packaging of the PME and other neurotransmitters such as L-glutamate. The formation of the

94 J. W. Pettegrew

hexagonal II phase could facilitate the fusion of the vesicles to the cytoplasmic face of the membrane for transmembrane transport to the extracellular space. These functional alterations could affect membrane receptors, ion channels, and structural and enzymatically active proteins such as those involved in the second messenger molecular cascade. Such alterations could have significant clinical implications.

Computer Molecular Modeling Studies

Some consideration should be given to the possibility that the elevated PME could have a neurophysiological role in AD beyond merely reflecting membrane abnormalities. Available evidence now suggests that the elevated PME (phosphoethanolamine, phosphocholine, and L-phosphoserine) have other functions, for example, as false neurotransmitters. This possibility was stimulated by our observation that the PME have chemical structural similarities to the known neurotransmitters L-glutamate and NMDA. To investigate the possibility of conformational similarity, minimum energy conformations were computed by



Fig. 4a–c. Computer calculated minimum potential energy conformations. **a** NMDA, L-glutamate, phosphorylethanolamine (*PE*) and L-phosphoserine (*PS*). **b** Phosphorylcholine (*PC*) and AP₅. **c** Two different views of the same conformation of IP₃ in which the phosphates are axial

molecular mechanics calculations for L-glutamate, NMDA, and the PME phosphocholine, phosphoethanolamine, and L-phosphoserine, as well as for inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃ and 2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (AP₅). The molecular mechanics calculations are based on the AMBER force fields of Kollman (Weiner et al. 1984) using the Macro Model computer program. The calculated minimum potential energies (in kilo joules/mole) are: L-glutamate (-233.40), NMDA (-203.05), phosphocholine (-78.18), phosphoethanolamine (-262.90), L-phosphoserine (-292.60), IP₃ (axial +199.95) and AP₅ (-59.47). The conformations corresponding to these minimum potential energies reveal definite simarilities for NMDA, L-glutamate, phosphoethanolamine, and L-phosphoserine when shown in stereo projections (Pettegrew et al. 1988a) (Fig. 4). Phosphocholine and AP₅ have conformational similarities, and IP₃ has a different conformation from all the others. Phosphocholine has a conformation intermediate between L-glutamate and the L-glutamate antagonist AP₅.










96 J. W. Pettegrew

Possible Electrophysiological Effects of PME

Recently we found that PME have profound effect on extracellular population excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) responses evoked by stimulating the



Fig. 5a-d. Extracellular population EPSP recorded from rat hippocampal slice CA1 pyramidal cell layer during stimulation of the Schaffer collaterals. Depicted are the EPSP before, during, and after perfusing either phosphorylethanolamine (*PE*) or phosphorylcholine (*PC*) at the indicated concentration. **a** 100 μ M PE. **b** 1 mM PE. **c** 100 μ M PC. **d** 1 mM PC

Schaffer collateral/commissural input to field CA1 (Barrionuevo et al. 1988). These studies of superfused rat hippocampal brain slices demonstrate that phosphoethanolamine and phosphocholine both depress the amplitude of the EPSP of CA1 neurons in a dose-dependent fashion at 10 μ M and 100 μ M concentrations. However, at 1 mM concentration phosphocholine greatly enhances the amplitude of the population EPSP of CA1 neurons, whereas phosphoethanolamine and L-phosphoserine continue to depress the amplitude of the EPSP (Fig. 5). ³¹P NMR spectroscopy studies conducted on hippocampal slices in the presence of varying



98 J. W. Pettegrew

concentrations (10 μ M-1.0 mM) of PME demonstrate normal high-energy phosphate metabolism (Pettegrew et al. 1988e). These results suggest that the effects of PME on the CA1 population EPSP represent a specific interaction between the PME and some aspect of the L-glutamate receptor complex. These findings lead us to suggest that low concentrations of PME could block L-glutamate receptors in the hippocampus and might be important in the memory impairment characteristic of AD. However, at higher concentrations, phosphocholine may have the characteristics of an excitatory neurotoxin resulting in cellular degeneration and death. The levels of PME that we detect in AD brain could be in the 5-7 mM range in individual affected cells.

Recent studies, a combination of extracellular recordings and current- and voltage-clamp techniques, were conducted to examine the effects of phosphoethanolamine on the biophysical properties of CA1 neurons (Bradler et al., in preparation). As in previous studies, recordings were made from rat hippocampal slices (3-month-old Fischer 344) prepared in the conventional manner. Extracellular and intracellular EPSP as well as EPSC amplitudes were monitored prior to and during a 30-min bath application of 1 mM phosphoethanolamine. Based on these measurements, two groups of CA1 cells were defined. In one group (n = 6), synaptic responses decreased in amplitude with a peak effect within 10-15 min exposure to phosphoethanolamine (mean depression, 63%; range, 25% - 98%). Recovery was observed in only one of five cells in which recordings were obtained during the wash-out period. In three cells, amplitudes of synaptic responses rebounded during the wash, exceeding preexposure baseline. In the remaining cell, no recovery was detected. In three cells of this group, action potential duration (both orthodromic and current-evoked) decreased in the presence of phosphoethanolamine by 15%, 19%, and 7%. In the other group (n = 7), synaptic responses increased within the first 5 min of phosphoethanolamine exposure and continued to increase throughout the exposure (mean increase, 124%; range, 11% - 345%). Recovery was observed in only one of five cells in which recordings were obtained during wash-out. In three cells there was no recovery, and in one cell the amplitude of synaptic responses rebounded below original baseline levels. In six cells of this group, action potentials increased by 13.8%, with a range of 8% - 18%. In six of the previously mentioned 13 cells, the after-hyperpolarization measured in hybrid clamp was reduced or abolished. No recovery was seen in any case, even in recordings obtained after 40 min of wash.

A potential neurotoxic role for L-glutamate in AD has been hypothesized by Maragos et al. (1987). In addition, a recent report demonstrated a normal density and distribution of NMDA receptors in AD hippocampus (Geddes et al. 1986), which contrasts with previous reports that claimed decreased NMDA receptors in AD cortex (Greenamyre et al. 1985) and hippocampus (Young and Greenamyre 1986). The contrasting results of these two laboratories could be due to differences of the severity of the disease in the two studies, or could reflect a difference in the methods used. If the density and distribution of NMDA receptors are normal in AD brain until cell loss occurs, then cells with NMDA receptors could be vulnerable to the potential neurotoxic effects of elevated levels of PME. In addition, the lower levels of PME which would occur in the earlier stages of the disease could produce memory problems by blocking NMDA receptors.

Conclusions

Recent studies provide substantial evidence for elevated levels of PME early in the course of Alzheimer's disease, perhaps even prior to the onset of clinical symptoms, although this remains to be demonstrated. Similar high levels of PME are observed normally in the developing brain, especially during the period of dendritic proliferation. Along with the elevations of PME in AD brain, transient increases in the levels of PtdC occur, suggesting increased synthesis of PtdC. In theory increased synthesis of PtdC could shunt available choline away from acetyl-choline synthesis and produce a functional cholinergic deficit. As the disease progresses, the elevated levels of PME decline and are replaced by elevated levels of PDE and decreasing levels of brain phospholipids.

The elevated levels of PME also could reflect enhanced phospholipase C activity which would stimulate protein kinase C activity. Enhanced protein kinase C activity could lead to many diverse biological effects, including the hyperphosphorylation of proteins such as ADAP and microtubule-associated tau proteins. The hyperphosphorylation of these proteins could alter their metabolism, including membrane insertion of ADAP, leading eventually to β -amyloid and paired helical filament deposition. The hyperphosphorylated β -amyloid and tau proteins would provide chelation sites for Ca²⁺ and Al³⁺, leading to further cross-linking of the individual polymers and sequestration of these cations. The enhanced phospholipase C activity also could elevate cytoplasmic levels of IP₃, leading to mobilization of intracellular Ca²⁺ and further exaggerating the above processes.

The PME phosphocholine, phosphoethanolamine, and L-phosphoserine have now been demonstrated to share striking conformational similarities with the neurotransmitters NMDA and L-glutamate. Hippocampal brain slice extra- and intracellular recordings demonstrate that these PME are neurophysiologically active in CA1 cells which contain L-glutamate receptors and appear to inhibit the slow Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel (Bradler et al., in preparation). In addition, the PME have been demonstrated to alter the structure and dynamics of erythrocyte and platelet membranes and the phospholipid head group region in synthetic model membranes. These alterations could have in vivo biological significance for the packaging and release of the PME and other neurotransmitters such as L-glutamate. These mechanisms are summarized in Fig. 6. An important unanswered question is what turns this whole molecular process on in AD? Since the findings early in the course of AD appear to resemble events normally occurring in the developing brain, abnormal levels of, or responses to, growth factors, neuromodulators or oncogenes should be pursued.

References

Ball MJ, Hachinski V, Fox A, Kirshen AJ, Fisman M, Blume M, Kral VA, Fox H, Merskey H (1985) A new definition of Alzheimer's disease: a hippocampal dementia. Lancet I:14–16 Barrionuevo G, Bradler JE, Pettegrew JW (1988) Electrophysiological effects of phos-

phomonoesters on hippocampal brain slices (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 38/1:336

Bartus RT, Dean RL, Beer B, Lippa AS (1982) The cholinergic hypothesis of geriatric memory dysfunction. Science 217:408-417



Fig. 6. Possible interactions between neuromodulators, growth factors, oncogenes, and membrane receptors giving rise to changes in the intracellular levels of PME, PDE, Ca^{2+} , and Al^{3+} resulting in memory impairment, membrane changes, neurotoxicity, and Ca^{2+} and Al^{3+} deposition in Alzheimer's disease

- Beradi A, Haxby JV, Grady CL, Rapoport SI (1987) Asymmetrics of brain glucose consumption and memory performance in mild dementia of the Alzheimer type and in healthy aging (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 37/1:160
- Berent S, Foster NL, Gilman S, Hichwa R, Lehtinen S (1987) Patterns of cortical ¹⁸F-FDG metabolism in Alzheimer's and progressive supranuclear palsy patients are related to the types of cognitive impairments (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 37/1:172
- Brown GG, Levine SR, Gorell JM, Pettegrew JW, Gdowski JW, Bueri JA, Helpern JA, Welch KMA (1989) In vivo ³¹P NMR profiles of Alzheimer's disease and multiple subcortical infarct dementia. Neurology, in press
- Buell SJ, Coleman PD (1979) Dendritic growth in the aged human brain and failure of growth in senile dementia. Science 206:854-856
- Buell SJ, Coleman PD (1981) Quantitative evidence for selective dendritic growth in normal human aging but not in senile dementia. Brain Res 241:23-41

- Cady EB, Dawson MJ, Hope PL, Tofts PS, De L, Costello AM, Delpy DT, Reynolds EOR, Wilkie DR (1983) Non-invasive investigation of cerebral metabolism in newborn infants by phosphorus nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Lancet I:1059-1062
- Cohen MM, Lin S (1962) Acid soluble phosphates in the developing rabbit brain. J Neurochem 9:345-352
- Cohen MM, Pettegrew JW, Kopp SJ, Minshew N, Glonek T (1984) P-31 nuclear magnetic resonance analysis of brain. Normoxic and anoxic brain slices. Neurochem Res 9:785-801
- Cole G, Dobkins KR, Hansen L, Terry RD, Saitoh T (1988) Decreased levels of protein kinase C in Alzheimer brain. Brain Res 452:165–174
- Connor JR, Diamond MC, Johnson RE (1980) Occipital cortical morphology of the rat: alterations with age and environment. Exp Neurol 68:158-170
- Connor JR, Beban SE, Hopper PA, Hansen B, Diamond MC (1982) A Golgi study of the superficial pyramidal cells in the somatosensory cortex of socially reared old adult rats. Exp Neurol 76:35-45
- Cowan WM (1970) Anterograde and retrograde transneuronal degeneration in the central and peripheral nervous system. In: Nauta WJH, Ebbesson SOE (eds) Contemporary research methods in neuroanatomy. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 217-251
- Cutler NR, Haxby JV, Duara R, Grady CL, Moore AM, Parisi JE, White J, Heston L, Margolin R, Rapoport S (1985) Brain metabolism as measured with positron emission tomography: serial assessment in a patient with familial Alzheimer's disease. Neurology (Cleveland) 35:1556-1561
- Dawson RMC (1985) Enzymatic pathways of phospholipid metabolism in the nervous system. In: Eichberg J (ed) Phospholipids in nervous tissues. Wiley, New York, pp 45–78
- Duara R, Grady C, Haxby J, Sundaram M, Cutler NR, Heston L, Moore A, Schlageter N, Larson S, Rapoport SI (1986) Positron emission tomography in Alzheimer's disease [¹⁸F] 2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose study in the resting state. Neurology (Cleveland) 36:879–887
- Duchen LW (1984) General pathology of neurons and neuroglia. In: Adams JH, Corsellis JAN (eds) Greenfield's Neuropathology. Wiley, New York
- Fletcher WA, Sharpe JA (1986) Saccadic eye movements dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 20:464-471
- Fletcher WA, Sharpe JA (1988) Smooth pursuit dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 38/2:272-276
- Flood DG, Buell SJ, Horwitz GJ, Coleman P (1986) Dendritic extent in human dentate gyrus granule cells in normal aging and senile dementia. Brain Res 402/2:205-216
- Flood G, Coleman PD (1986) Failed compensatory dendritic growth as a pathophysiological process in Alzheimer's disease. Can J Neurol Sci 13:475–479
- Friedland RP, Jagust WJ, Budinger TF, Koss E, Ober BA (1987) Consistency of temporal parietal cortex hypometabolism in probable Alzheimer's disease (AD): relationships to cognitive decline (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 37/1:224
- Gandy S, Czernik AJ, Greengard P (1988) Phosphorylation of Alzheimer disease amyloid precursor peptide by protein kinase C and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:6218-6221
- Gdowski JW, Brown GG, Levine SR, Smith M, Helpern J, Bueri H, Gorell J, Welch KMA (1988) Patterns of phospholipid metabolism differ between Alzheimer and multi-infarct dementia (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 38/1:268
- Geddes JW, Monaghan DT, Cotman CW, Lott IT, Kim TC, Chui HC (1985) Plasticity of hippocampal circuitry in Alzheimer's disease. Science 230:1179-1181
- Geddes JW, Chang-Chui H, Cooper SM, Lott IT, Cotman CW (1986) Density and distribution of NMDA receptors in the human hippocampus in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 399:156-161
- Glonek T, Kopp SJ, Kot E, Pettegrew JW, Harrison WH, Cohen MM (1982) P-31 nuclear magnetic resonance analysis of brain: the perchloric acid extract spectrum. J Neurochem 39:1210-1219
- Gorell JM, Bueri JA, Brown GG, Levine SR, Welch KMA, Gdowski JW, Helpern JA, Smith MB (1988) Parietal and frontal high-energy cerebral phosphate metabolism in Alzheimer and Parkinson dementia. Neurology 38:227

102 J. W. Pettegrew

- Graveland GA, Williams RS, DeFiglia M (1985) Evidence for degenerative and regenerative changes in neostriatal spiny neurons in Huntington's disease. Science 227:770–773
- Greenamyre JT, Penny JB Jr., Young AB, Amato CJ, Hicks SP, Shoulson I (1985) Alterations in L-glutamate binding in Alzheimer's and Huntington's diseases. Science 227:1496–1499
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung YC, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule associated protein tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913–4917
- Halper J, Scheithauer B, Okazaki H, Laws E (1986) Meningioangiomatosis: a report of six cases with special reference to the occurrence of neurofibrillary tangles. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 45/4:426-446
- Haxby JV, Grady CL, Ross E, Friedland RP, Rapoport SI (1987) Heterogenous metabolic and neuropsychological patterns in dementia of the Alzheimer type: cross-sectional and longitudinal studies (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 37/1:159
- Hinds JW, McNelly NA (1977) Aging of the rat olfactory bulb: Growth atrophy of constituent layers and changes in size and number of mitral cells. J Comp Neurol 171:345–368
- Hinds JW, McNelly NA (1981) Aging in the rat olfactory system: correlation of changes in the olfactory epithelium and olfactory bulb. J Comp Neurol 203:441-453
- Horwitz B, Grady CL, Schlageter NL, Duara R, Rapoport SI (1987) Intercorrelations of regional cerebral glucose metabolic rates in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 407:294-306
- Iqbal K, Zaidi T, Wen GY, Grundke-Iqbal I, Merz PA, Shaikh SS, Wisniewski HM, Alafuzoff I, Winblad B (1986) Defective brain microtubule assembly in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet II:421-426
- Jagust WJ, Friedland RP, Koss E, Ober BA, Mathis CA, Huesman RH, Budinger TF (1987) Progression of regional cerebral glucose metabolic abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 37/1:156
- Kanfer JN, McCartney DG (1987) Phosphatase and phospholipase activity in Alzheimer brain tissues. In: Wurtman RJ, Corkin S, Growden JH (eds) Topics in the basic and clinical science of dementia. Springer, Vienna New York, pp 183–188 (Journal of neural transmission, suppl 24)
- Lacal JC, Moscat J, Aaronson S (1987) Novel source of 1,2-diacylglycerol elevated in cells transformed by Ha-*ras* oncogene. Nature 330/19:269-271
- Maragos WF, Greenamyre JT, Penney JB Jr., Young AB (1987) Glutamate dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease: an hypothesis. Trends Neurosci 10:65–68
- Maris JM, Evans AE, McLaughlin AC, D'Angio GJ, Bolinger L, Manos H, Chance B (1985) ³¹P nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopic investigation of human neuroblastoma in situ. N Engl J Med 312:1500–1505
- Meneses P, Glonek T (1988) High resolution ³¹P NMR of extracted phospholipids. J Lipid Res 29:679-690
- Miotto O, Gonzalez RG, Buonanno F, Growdon J (1986) In vitro ³¹P NMR spectroscopy detects altered phospholipid metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. Can J Neurol Sci (Suppl) 13:535-539
- Nishizuka Y (1986) Studies and perspectives of protein kinase C. Science 233:305–312
- Pearson RCA, Sofroniew MV, Cuello AC, Powell TPS, Eckenstein F, Esiri MM, Wilcock GK (1983a) Persistence of cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus in a brain with senile dementia of the Alzheimer's type demonstrated by immunohistochemical staining for choline acetyl-transferase. Brain Res 289:375–379
- Pearson RCA, Gatter KC, Powell TPS (1983b) Retrograde cell degeneration in the basal nucleus in monkey and man. Brain Res 261:321-326
- Pearson RCA, Powell TPS (1987) Anterograde vs. retrograde degeneration of the nucleus basalis medialis in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm 24:139–146
- Pelech SL, Audubert F, Vance DE (1985) Regulation of phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis in mammalian systems. In: Horrocks LA, Kanfer JN, Porcellati G (eds) Phospholipids in the nervous system, vol 2. Raven Press, New York, pp 247-258
 Pettegrew JW, Panchalingam K (1989) Solid state ³¹P and ²⁷Al NMR studies of model mem-
- Pettegrew JW, Panchalingam K (1989) Solid state ³¹P and ²⁷Al NMR studies of model membranes and mammalian brain: possible implications for Alzheimer's disease. In: Pettegrew JW (ed) Nuclear magnetic resonance: the principles and applications of NMR spectroscopy and imaging to biomedical research. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York

- Pettegrew JW, Minshew NJ, Glonek T, Kopp SJ, Cohen MM (1982a) Phosphorus-31 nuclear magnetic resonance analysis of Huntington and control brain (abstract). Ann Neurol 12:91
- Pettegrew JW, Minshew NJ, Glonek T, Kopp SJ, Cohen MM (1982b) Phosphorus NMR study of gerbil stroke model (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 32:196
- Pettegrew JW, Kopp SJ, Glonek T, Minshew NJ, Cohen MM (1983) Phosphorus-31 NMR analysis of normoxic and anoxic brain slices (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 33/2:152
- Pettegrew JW, Minshew NJ, Cohen MM, Kopp SJ, Glonek T (1984) P-31 NMR changes in Alzheimer's and Huntington's disease brain (abstract). Neurology (Minneapolis) 34/1:281
- Pettegrew JW, Kopp SJ, Minshew NJ, Glonek T, Feliksik JM, Tow JP, Cohen MM (1985) ³¹P NMR studies of phospholipid metabolism in developing and degenerating brain. Neurology 35/1:257
- Pettegrew JW, Kopp SJ, Dadok J, Minshew NJ, Feliksik JM, Glonek T, Cohen MM (1986a) Chemical characterization of a prominent phosphomonoester resonance from mammalian brain: ³¹P and ¹H NMR analysis at 4.7 and 14.1 Tesla. J Magn Res 67:443-450
- Pettegrew JW, Post JFM, Withers G, Panchalingam K (1986b) ³¹P NMR studies of brain development (abstract). Ann Neurol 20:400-401
- Pettegrew JW, Kopp SJ, Minshew NJ, Glonek T, Feliksik JM, Tow JP, Cohen MM (1987a) ³¹P Nuclear magnetic resonance studies of phosphoglyceride metabolism in developing and degenerating brain: preliminary observations. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 46:419–430
- Pettegrew JW, Withers G, Panchalingam K, Post JFM (1987b) ³¹P nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy of brain in aging and Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Trans 24:261–268
- Pettegrew JW, Moossy J, Withers G, McKeag D, Panchalingam K (1988a)³¹P nuclear magnetic resonance study of the brain in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropath Exp Neurol 47/3:235-248
- Pettegrew JW, Panchalingam K, Moossy J, Martinez JA, Rao G, Boller F (1988b) Correlation of ³¹P NMR and morphological findings in Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol 45:1093–1096
- Pettegrew JW, Withers G, Panchalingam K, Post JFM (1988c) Considerations for brain pH assessment by ³¹P NMR. Magn Res Imag 6:135-142
- Pettegrew JW, Moossy J, Strychor S, McKeag D, Boller F (1988d) Membrane phospholipid alterations in Alzheimer's brain (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 38/1:267
- Pettegrew JW, Panchalingam K, McKeag D, Barrionuevo G (1988e) Metabolic effects of phosphomonoesters on hippocampal brain slices (abstract). Neurology (Cleveland) 38/1:323
- Porcellati G, Arienti G (1983) Metabolism of phosphoglycerides. In: Lajtha A (ed) Metabolism in the nervous system. Plenum, New York, pp 133–161 (Handbook of neurochemistry, vol 3)
- Rapoport SI, Horwitz B, Haxby J, Grady CL (1986) Alzheimer's disease: metabolic uncoupling of associative brain regions. Can J Neurol Sci 13:540-545
- Rogers J, Zornetzer SF, Bloom FE, Mervis RE (1984) Senescent microstructural changes in rat cerebellum. Brain Res 292:23-32
- Scheibel AB (1979) Dendritic changes in senile and presenile dementias. In: Katzman R (ed) Congenital and acquired cognitive disorders. Based on the proceedings of the 57th annual meeting of the Association for Research in Nervous and Mental Diseases, December 2–3, 1977. Raven, New York, pp 107–124
- Sofroniew MV, Pearson RCA, Eckenstein F, Cuello AC, Powell TPS (1983) Retrograde changes in cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus of the forebrain of the rat following cortical damage. Brain Res 289:370-374
- Sofroniew MV, Pearson RCA (1985) Degeneration of cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus following kainic or *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid application to the cerebral cortex in the rat. Brain Res 339:186–190
- Terry RD, Hansen LA, DeTeresa R, Davies P, Tobias H, Katzman R (1987) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type without neocortical neurofibrillary tangles. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 46:262–268
- Tomlinson BE (1972) Morphological brain changes in non-demented old people. In: Von Praag HM, Kalverboer AF (eds) Aging of the central nervous system. Bohn, New York, pp 37–57
- Tomlinson BE, Corsellis JAN (1984) Aging and the dementias. In: Adams JH, Corsellis JAN, Duchen LW (eds) Greenfield's neuropathology. Wiley, New York, pp 951–1025
- Veech R, Harris RL, Veloso D, Veech DH (1973) Freeze-blowing: a new technique for the study of the brain in vivo. J Neuro Chem 20:183–188

104 J. W. Pettegrew

- Weiner SJ, Kollman PA, Case DA, Singh UC, Ghio C, Alagona G, Profeta S Jr, Weiner P (1984) A new force field for molecular mechanical simulation of nucleic acids and proteins. J Am Chem Soc 106:765-784
- Whitson JS, Selkoe DJ, Cotman CW (1989) Amyloid β protein enhances the survival of hippocampal neurons in vitro. Science 243:1488–1490
- Young AB, Greenamyre JT (1986) Autoradiographic analysis of L-³H-glutamate receptors in mammalian brain. In: Boast CA, Snowhill EW, Altar CA (eds) Quantitative receptor autoradiography. Liss, New York, pp 79–101
- Younkin DP, Delivoria-Papadopoulos M, Leonard JC, Harihara V, Subramanian VH, Eleff S, Leigh JS Jr, Chance B (1984) Unique aspects of human newborn cerebral metabolism evaluated with phosphorus nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Ann Neurol 16:581-586
- Zubenko GS, Cohen BM, Growdin J, Corkin S (1984) Cell membrane abnormality in Alzheimer's disease (letter). Lancet II:235
- Zubenko GS, Malinakova I, Chojnacki B (1987a) Proliferation of internal membranes in platelets from patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 407–418
- Zubenko GS, Cohen BM, Reynolds CF, Boller F, Malinakova I, Keefe MA (1987b) Platelet membrane fluidity in Alzheimer's disease and major depression. Am J Psych 144:860–868

Altered Protein Kinase and Amyloid β-Protein Precursor in Alzheimer's Disease: Which Comes First?*

T. Saitoh and D. S. Iimoto

Summary

AD is a neurodegenerative disease characterized by the formation of neuronal inclusions, termed NFT, and extracellular amyloid deposits surrounded by dystrophic neurites, collectively referred to as NP. NP are specific to AD, whereas NFT are found in many other neurodegenerative diseases. The purpose of this report is to present a hypothesis regarding the biochemical basis for these pathologic features of AD – neurodegeneration and NFT and NP formation.

Among the three AD pathologies, neurodegeneration is central to the disease. The reason for the premature death of neurons in AD brains is unknown. Because neuronal survival requires the combined effect of growth factors, it is possible that one or more growth factors are missing in the AD brain. Alternatively, the intracellular machinery responsible for the function of growth factors may be deficient in the disease. One form of machinery important for growth factor-mediated cell maintenance is the battery of protein kinases, in particular, PKC. PKC mediates many functions of nerve growth factor, the best-characterized neurotrophic factor. Both the kinases, including PKC, and the phosphorylation levels are altered in AD brains, whereas levels of nerve growth factor are not.

There are questions to be answered. Is aberrant phosphorylation in AD specific to this disease? Is aberrant phosphorylation intrinsic to AD or secondary to neurodegeneration? Is PKC reduction relevant to NFT and NP formation? Why is phosphorylation aberrant in AD?

The abnormality in phosphorylation may be related to the expression of some biochemical characteristics that correlate with NFT formation. Furthermore, phosphorylation may be involved in the regulation of the processing of ABPP, which constitutes a major portion of the NP core. Conversely it is possible that ABPP is involved in the regulation of phosphorylation in neurons. Because ABPP is aberrantly processed in AD brain, this protein may be a candidate as the cause of abnormal phosphorylation and eventual neurodegeneration in AD.

^{*} This work was supported by grants from the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association, the McKnight Foundation, the California State Department of Health Services, the Sandoz Foundation for Gerontological Research, and the National Institutes of Health (AG 05386, AG 05131, and AG 08205). D.S.I. is the recipient of a Pathological Training Grant (NS07078-12).

106 T. Saitoh, D. S. Iimoto

Introduction

In the brain tissue of Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients, many proteins are affected. It is possible that some biochemical changes are primarily involved in the pathogenesis of the disease, although many are the result of neurodegeneration or neuronal malfunctioning. Because a key issue of AD pathology is the malfunction and death of neurons, it is worth investigating molecules involved in the maintenance of neuronal survival and activity. We have been studying protein phosphorylation and protein kinases in AD brain, hoping that the study will bring us to an understanding of mechanisms crucial to neuronal degeneration. We have found that several protein kinases and phosphoproteins are altered in the disease. In this chapter, we summarize these findings and speculate as to the hierarchy of these alterations. Furthermore, we propose a hypothesis for the initial event which triggers the aberrant protein phosphorylation in AD.

Phosphorylation of Altered Proteins in AD Brain

Many biochemical alterations have been documented in homogenates of AD brains (see Terry and Katzman 1983, for a review). Several of these biochemical abnormalities have been found in various protein kinases and phosphoproteins. Because protein phosphorylation mediates the effect of second messengers generated by the activation of receptors for growth factors, and because it plays a pivotal role in regulating cellular metabolism (Greengard 1978; Krebs and Beavo 1979), these findings may provide a clue to the cause of neuronal death in AD.

Aberrant phosphorylation in AD was first reported in 1985. Sternberger et al. (1985) discovered that, among the many monoclonal antibodies that react with epitopes of neurofilaments, one that recognizes phosphorylated epitopes reacts with all neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and neuritic plaques (NP). The other monoclonal antibodies react with many normal axonal projections, but with few NP and NFT. These data suggest that there is an aberrant posttranslational processing of neurofilament such that one or several sites become phosphorylated in AD, sites that are not normally phosphorylated in the cell body. Furthermore, alkaline phosphatase treatment of sections abolishes the immunostaining of NFT and NP but does not completely abolish staining in normal neuronal tissue. This suggests that normal neurofilaments have phosphorylated epitopes that are inaccessible or insensitive to phosphatase treatment. Finally, the specific phosphorylation of neurofilaments in AD also suggests that there is a specific kinase that is operating in AD.

The second cytoskeletal phosphoprotein identified to be aberrant in AD brain was a microtubule-associated protein, tau (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986; Ihara et al. 1986). In normal neurons, the tau protein functions to promote tubulin polymerization and thus microtubule assembly (Cleveland et al. 1977). In AD, however, the tau protein is overphosphorylated and is located on the NFT; all tau antibodies react with NFT, and many paired helical filament (PHF) antibodies react with tau (Brion et al. 1985; Kosik et al. 1986; Wood et al. 1986). Also, recent sequencing work by Goedert et al. (1988) has shown that tau is an integral part of the PHF and comprises at least 10% of its composition. It is known that overphosphorylated tau, as seen in AD, is no longer able to promote tubulin assembly (Hoshi et al. 1987; Lindwall and Cole 1984). In these same NFT-bearing neurons, the micro-tubules are disorganized. The tubulin seems to be normal because, given the right polymerization conditions, the tubulin forms microtubules (Iqbal et al. 1986). Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the overphosphorylated tau in the NFT-bearing neurons is unable to promote microtubule assembly and thus contributes to the destabilization of microtubules.

The kinase responsible for the tau phosphorylation in AD is currently unknown. There are two modes of tau phosphorylation, one which changes the electrophoretic mobilities of tau (mode I) and another which does not (mode II; Lindwall and Cole 1984). Protein kinase C (PKC) dependent phosphorylation does not change the mobility of tau on sodium dodecyl sulfate polycrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE; Baudier et al. 1987). The overphosphorylated tau associated with NFT in AD has slower mobility on SDS-PAGE than normal tau, and it has been proposed that this mode I phosphorylation is catalyzed by a calcium/calmodulindependent kinase (Baudier and Cole 1987). Yet other evidence indicates that calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase is not responsible for the tau phosphorylation reported in AD. The tau-1 monoclonal antibody does not recognize overphosphorylated tau from AD brains although it recognizes the phosphatasetreated tau from AD. Phosphatase treatment of tau shifts the mobility of AD tau on SDS-PAGE (Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986) to that of tau from normal individuals. The overphosphorylated tau protein generated using calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase is reactive with the tau-1 monoclonal antibody and, thus, does not have the same conformation as the tau seen in AD. Therefore, there is another protein kinase that phosphorylates a different residue on tau and is responsible for changing its conformation to mask the tau-1 epitope, as well as to change the electrophoretic mobility.

Ishiguro et al. (1988) have discovered a tubulin-dependent protein kinase that phosphorylates tau according to mode I phosphorylation and thus alters tau mobility on SDS-PAGE. Furthermore, the phosphorylation of tau with the tubulin-dependent kinase forms an epitope on tau that is recognized by anti-PHF antibodies. Thus, the tubulin-dependent protein kinase may be responsible for overphosphorylating tau in AD. This kinase is not activated by known kinase activators and has a molecular mass of 30 kDa. This distinguishes it from kinases such as PKC, casein kinase I and II (CK-I and -II), and cAMP-, cGMP-, and Ca²⁺/ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase. This enzyme, however, may not be involved in tau phosphorylation in AD because this kinase is activated under conditions which stimulate microtubule formation. Since the microtubules are disassembling rather than forming in AD, it would suggest that this would inactive the kinase rather than activate it during the AD pathogenesis.

It is important to determine which kinase is responsible for tau phosphorylation in AD because there are two pieces of evidence that tau is overphosphorylated before NFT assembly (Bancher et al. 1989), and this could be an early stage in the neurodegenerative process seen in AD. Previous work by Hyman et al. (1988) has shown Alz-50 immunoreactivity prior to NFT formation. Alz-50 recognizes an epitope of tau (Nukina et al. 1988; Ksiezak-Reding et al. 1988) which is preferentially expressed in AD. Since this epitope is not expressed in tau artificially synthesized in bacteria (Kosik et al. 1988), it is likely that this epitope is a posttranslational modification. We obtained evidence that the Alz-50 epitope is also phosphorylated. Therefore, it is possible that tau is phosphorylated by several protein kinases in the AD brain and, as mentioned below, CK-II may be one of these kinases.

Aberrant In Vitro Phosphorylation in AD Brain

Another aberrant phosphorylation found in AD was that of a M_r 60000 protein (P60; Saitoh and Dobkins 1986a). In in vitro phosphorylation experiments of cytosolic fractions, P60 was phosphorylated 250% more in the AD brains than in the control samples. This increased phosphorylation may be due to a greater concentration of the P60 or the kinase responsible for the P60 phosphorylation in AD brains. Another possibility is that the P60 has a lower phosphorylation state in AD than in normal brains, such that more sites are available for in vitro phosphorylation. Regardless, the in vitro phosphorylation of P60 is altered in AD. Furthermore, the increased in vitro phosphorylation of this protein is correlated with the number of NFT, but not with the quantity of NP present (Saitoh et al. 1988) This indicates that the P60 phosphorylation might be a marker for the insult which causes the formation of the NFT. The association of the P60 with the NFT, if any, must be a loose one at best, because as previously mentioned, P60 is a cytosolic protein whereas the PHF is an insoluble structure that would be found in the particulate fraction.

The nature of the P60 protein is not well elucidated because it has not yet been purified. P60 phosphorylation seems to be an autophosphorylation event because the rate of phosphorylation is not affected by increased sucrose concentrations, suggesting that an intramolecular reaction is occurring. Also, the kinase and phosphoprotein cannot be separated by protein purification on several chromatography columns. The phosphorylation of this protein is not dependent on cAMP, $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$, or $Ca^{2+}/phospholipid$ (Saitoh and Dobkins 1986a). Furthermore, this phosphorylation is not inhibited by heparin (data not shown). Therefore, the kinase which phosphorylates P60 is not cAMP-dependent kinase, $Ca^{2+}/$ calmodulin-dependent protein kinase, or CK-II. It will be important to determine the nature of the kinase which acts on this phosphoprotein, and therefore it will be important to purify P60 and determine its structure and function. By doing so, we will gain a better appreciation of the link between P60 and the biochemical abnormalities seen in AD.

It may be useful to point out here the possibility that P60 is not specific to AD or NFT-bearing diseases. First, after ischemic insult on rabbit spinal cord, we observed a phosphoprotein of M_r 63 000 in the cytosolic fraction (Kochhar et al. 1989). At the moment, there is no conclusive evidence that this is a homologue of the AD P60, although some biochemical characters, such as localization in cytosol, heat and alkali stability, and isoelectric point, indicate that they are homologous. Second, we observed higher levels of P60 phosphorylation after prolonged treatment of human neuroblastoma cells with phorbol esters (Saitoh et al.

Altered Protein Kinase and Amyloid β-Protein Precursor in Alzheimer's Disease 109

1989). Again, circumstantial evidence indicates that this is a homologue of the AD P60. The concentration of the phorbol ester used was destructive to neurons (Mattson et al. 1988) and effectively down-regulated PKC. Therefore, this experiment may indicate the hierarchy of two altered molecules in AD. Reduced levels of PKC precede altered P60, which is detected as its increased in vitro phosphorylation.

Another phosphorylation which is altered in the AD brain is the M_r 86 000 protein (P86) phosphorylation (Cole et al. 1988). The P86 is a substrate of PKC, and in in vitro phosphorylation experiments the P86 phosphorylation is reduced in AD as compared to control samples. The P86 protein is one of two major proteins phosphorylated by PKC in an in vitro assay of human cortex homogenate (Saitoh and Dobkins 1986b). It is possible that the reduced level of P86 phosphorylation in AD brain is due to a reduced level or activity of PKC and/or P86 in AD. Yet, it is also possible that the phosphorylation state of P86 is higher in AD brains than in controls, and therefore it would be less phosphorylated in an in vitro assay. The reduced P86 phosphorylation in AD brains is specific to AD, and not a general response in neurodegeneration. P86 phosphorylation was unchanged in Pick's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Binswanger's disease. How the altered P86 phosphorylation is related to the pathogenesis of AD is not known at this point and awaits further investigation.

Protein Kinases in AD Brain

The phosphorylation of several proteins seems to be affected in AD. How is the altered phosphorylation brought about? There are several possibilities. The state of phosphorylation is determined by the extent of forward and backward reactions. In other words, the balance between protein kinases and phosphoprotein phosphatases determines the state of phosphorylation. The other possibility is the accessibility of substrate proteins to kinases and phosphatases. Compartmentalization of enzymes and substrate proteins may be an important factor for determining phosphorylation state. One additional factor is the structure of the substrate. For example, it is possible that a nonexposed phosphorylation site in the soluble tau may be exposed after tau becomes denatured or aggregated into a pathological structure. Here, we consider only the altered protein kinases in AD, because the other aspects of altered phosphorylation in AD have not been studied.

The activity of PKC, as determined by its ability to phosphorylate histone, is reduced in AD brain particulate fractions. The activity of PKC in cytosolic fractions, however, shows a slight, though not significant, increase in AD (Cole et al. 1988). It is known that activating PKC shifts free PKC to its membrane-bound form. The results might indicate, therefore, that there is less active PKC in AD brains.

One way to quantify PKC is to use a radioactive activator of PKC such as $[{}^{3}H]$ -phorbol, 12,13 dibutyrate (PDB). Because the interaction is stoichiometric, the quantity of PKC can be determined by counting the radioactivity bound to the enzyme. The comparison of $[{}^{3}H]$ -PDB binding in AD samples to age-matched and postmortem time-matched controls demonstrated that the $[{}^{3}H]$ -PDB binding

activity in the total or particulate fraction from AD cases was about half of that in the control. Thus, we can assume that AD tissue contains fewer PKC molecules, and therefore less PKC activity.

There are at least seven different isoforms of PKC which differ slightly in their amino acid sequence, the conditions required for activation, and in the types of tissues and cells in which they are found (Nishizuka 1988). There is no reason to suspect that all of the isoenzymes are affected in AD. Preliminary immunoquantification of several of the isoenzymes by Western blot analysis indicates that some of the isozymes are not reduced in AD. Thus, the lower level of PKC in AD may be confined to a few isoforms. Furthermore, PKC is immunolocalized in the NP in AD. Therefore, not only are PKC activity and concentration altered in AD, but its localization is also aberrant. Its presence in the NP indicates that PKC is directly associated with the pathological process of AD. Whether NP formation is linked to cellular death or is part of a neurite regeneration is debatable, and the answer to this question may be determined in part by the role that PKC plays in the NP.

Another protein kinase which is altered in AD is CK-II. Immunoquantification by Western blot analysis revealed that CK-II is 60% lower in AD cortex than in control cortex. These data are supported by immunocytochemical data showing a 15%-30% decrease in CK-II immunoreactivity in non-NFT-bearing neurons. The CK-II activity was measured by its ability to phosphorylate casein and is reduced, though not significantly, in AD. As a result, the specific activity of the CK-II is higher in AD brains. Therefore, there seems to be a compensatory mechanism in the brain for the lower amounts of CK-II present. Furthermore, the localization of CK-II seems to be altered. Immunohistochemical data show that CK-II is associated with the NFT. Since the overphosphorylated tau protein is also located in the NFT, and since tau has several sites that can be phosphorylated by CK-II, this kinase may be responsible for overphosphorylating tau and may play a role in NFT formation. Rabbit anti-CK-II also stains the neuritic component of senile plaques whose adjacent sections are positive for anti-PHF. This would support a CK-II association with some component of the PHF.

There are protein kinases which are apparently not affected in AD. They include cAMP-dependent protein kinase (Meier-Ruge et al. 1984) and casein kinase I (Iimoto and Saitoh 1988). Therefore, the aberrant protein kinases described hitherto are relatively specific changes relevant to neurodegeneration. Nevertheless, it should be stressed that these protein kinase alterations are not entirely specific to AD. For example, PKC was found to be involved in the neurodegeneration caused by ischemia (Kochhar et al. 1989). On the other hand, CK-II was found to be involved in many neurodegenerative diseases such as Pick's disease, multi-infarct dementia, and Binswanger's disease (Iimoto et al. 1989).

Protein Phosphorylation in AD Fibroblast

In the brain tissue of AD, many biochemical changes are secondary to neurodegeneration. To obtain insight about primary changes in the disease, it may be useful to study tissues which do not undergo pathological changes. Although AD manifests itself most severely in the brain, it is thought that the disease is also systemic, and that some of the biochemical abnormalities in the brain may also be seen in fibroblasts (Blass and Zemcov 1984). For example, cultured AD fibroblasts are more sensitive to X rays and alkylating reagents (Li and Kaminskas 1985), and the Ca²⁺ concentration in AD fibroblasts is altered (Peterson and Goldman 1986). Also, secretion of a cholinergic differentiation factor is reduced in AD fibroblast (Kessler 1987), and AD fibroblasts spread less (Peterson et al. 1986) and adhere less to a plastic substratum (Uéda et al. 1989) In addition to the above abnormalities, one phosphoprotein, a M_r 79000 protein (P79), and one protein kinase, PKC, have been found to be abnormal in AD fibroblasts (Huynh et al. 1989).

P79 seems to be the major cytosolic endogenous substrate for PKC in fibroblasts, as is P86 in brain. Similar to P86 in brain, the in vitro phosphorylation of P79 is reduced in both sporadic AD fibroblasts and, to a greater extent, in the familial AD fibroblasts. The greater reduction of P79 phosphorylation in familial AD fibroblasts, as opposed to sporadic AD fibroblasts, parallels the severity of the disease seen in familial AD cases. Thus, reduced P79 phosphorylation in the fibroblast may be a good marker for AD.

In addition to the altered phosphoprotein, PKC is affected in AD fibroblasts. The levels of PKC, as determined by immunoreactivity of goat anti-PKC on a Western blot, were lower in the cytosolic fraction of fibroblasts for both familial and sporadic AD cases than for those of controls. The activity of PKC in fibroblasts, however, was unaltered in both sporadic and familial cases. As a result, the specific acitivity of PKC is higher in the AD fibroblasts than in the control samples. This indicates that there may be a compensatory mechanism for the lower PKC levels in the affected cells. This compensatory mechanism may well take place in fibroblasts but not in neuronal tissue, because the AD brain tissue shows both lower PKC activity and concentration in the particulate fraction. This could partially explain why the pathology of AD manifests itself in brain more than elsewhere.

Altered Protein Phosphorylation and Neurodegeneration

To determine the effects of the altered protein kinases and phosphoproteins and how they might interrelate with each other, we formulated a working model based on existing evidence that can be modified as new information arises. We propose such a model for altered kinases and their substrate proteins in AD (see Fig. 1).

It is conceivable that one reason that a neuron would start to die is the formation of an abnormal structure, such as PHF, that places stress on normal cellular function. During this process the nutrient transport system, composed of microtubules, breaks down, hastening the death of the neuron. Feedback mechanisms, which are not yet understood at the molecular level, mobilize various trophic factors to compensate for this neuronal degeneration. In the process, neurite outgrowth takes place, generating NP.

On a biochemical level, several proteins, including CK-II and tau, are abnormally regulated at transcriptional, translational, and posttranslational levels. The

112 T. Saitoh, D. S. Iimoto



Fig. 1. A hypothesis for the neuronal death in Alzheimer's disease. The primary deficit in Alzheimer's disease is postulated to be in the deregulation of a trophic factor, such as amyloid β -protein precursor (*ABPP*), which is linked to protein kinase C (PKC). The resulting aberrant PKC reactions induce many abnormal biochemical reactions, including membrane perturbation, increased ATP-dependent proteolysis (which may be involved in the plaque formation), decreased expression of Ca²⁺-binding proteins (which leads to abnormal Ca₂₊-metabolism), increased P60 phosphorylation (which may be involved in tangle formation). Concurrent with the PKC abnormality, casein kinase II becomes aberrant and may be involved in the aberrant tau phosphorylation. Neuronal death is postulated to be brought about by the combination of aberrant gene expression, abnormal Ca²⁺ metabolism, and altered cytoskeletons. The ? denotes some proteins with altered expression; these may include IMCAL, calpain I and II, ubiquitin, A68, P86, P60 GAP-43, PKC, CK-II, and ChAT

reason that these proteins may be among the first affected is the following. In pathologically affected regions of the brain there is a decrease in CK-II immunoreactivity in non-NFT-bearing neurons, suggesting that the morphologically normal-appearing neurons are undergoing biochemical changes. In addition, in non-NFT-bearing neurons, Bancher et al. (1989) have shown that tau protein is aberrantly phosphorylated. This work is supported by evidence that there are many Alz-50 (a tau antibody) positive neurons without NFT formation (Hyman et al. 1988). CK-II levels in non-NFT-bearing neurons are reduced in AD, and CK-II is localized to the NFT. Whether CK-II is responsible for phosphorylation tau through a colocalization event is not known. Another, as yet unidentified,

kinase could also phosphorylate tau. For example, because P60 phosphorylation increases proportionally to the number of NFT in AD, it is possible that the kinase phosphorylating P60 may also phosphorylate tau.

Based on altered phosphorylation, the disintegration of the microtubule transport system and the formation of PHF might be explained. First, CK-II phosphorylates microtubule-associated protein 1B and enhances its ability to promote microtubule assembly from tubulin monomers (Diaz-Nido et al. 1988). Also, CK-II is responsible for phosphorylating β -tubulin in its polymerized form and, therefore, for maintaining its structure (Serrano et al. 1987). It has also been shown that CK-II phosphorylation of tubulin may be related to neurite outgrowth (Serrano et al. 1987). Thus, the reduction in CK-II may contribute to the destabilization of microtubules in the axon. Second, it has been shown that overphosphorylated tau, as seen in AD, is unable to promote microtubule assembly (Iqbal et al. 1986). This then leaves a smaller population of normal tau which is probably below the critical concentration to promote microtubule smay begin to disassemble, and the disassembly of microtubules may lead to neurite degeneration.

At the same time, PHF formation may take place. Since overphosphorylated tau has been shown to be present in non-NFT-bearing neurons, it is likely that this form of tau is involved in early PHF development. It is known that the turnover of tau occurs when the unassembled tau becomes ubiquinated and then degraded. Ubiquitin normally binds to proteins targeted for removal by the cell. Because ubiquitin has also been immunolocalized to NFT, it is possible that ubiquitin binds to the phosphorylated tau on some other aberrant component of the NFT, such as the neurofilament. The different conformation of these aberrant proteins may make them resistant to proteolytic degradation even if they were ubiquitinated. Alternatively, it is possible that these aberrant proteins are not degraded because they have only a single ubiquitin molecule associated with them; it has been shown that many ubiquitin molecules must be associated with proteins for their degradation. Hence, these abnormal proteins could continue to aggregate and form insoluble structures that form NFT.

It is then thought that the degenerating neurites attract astrocytes to the area. This response may be one of the feedback mechanisms in the brain to promote neurite outgrowth. There is evidence that in a brain injury, such as an infarct, resting astrocytes become reactive and surround the injured area (Birecree et al. 1988). It is conceivable that these reactive astrocytes are secreting trophic factors which are responsible for the sprouting of degenerating neurons.

In fact, within NP of AD brain, the degenerating neurites that are positive for PHF are positive for epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptors (Birecree et al. 1988), a finding that is compatible with the idea that these aberrant neurites are regenerating axons responding to EGF secreted by reactive glial cells. The deposition of the amyloid β -protein may be interpreted in the context of a feedback mechanism to generate axonal outgrowth. The amyloid β -protein is thought to be a result of aberrant processing of the amyloid β -protein precursor (ABPP). PKC phosphorylates ABPP (Gandy et al. 1988) and it is known that PKC is aberrant in AD and is colocalized with the ABPP in NP. The significance of phosphorylation of ABPP by PKC is not known, although it is possible that aberrant PKC activity

114 T. Saitoh, D. S. Iimoto

and localization may induce the abnormal processing of ABPP, causing the amyloid deposition. Whitson et al. (1989) have evidence that the amyloid β -protein may have a limited effect in maintaining the viability of hippocampal neurons in vitro. Because they used only a portion of the total amyloid β -protein to test for trophic effects, it is possible that the entire amyloid β -protein in the NP might induce a better trophic response and may be involved in the process of neuritic regeneration. It is also known that the NP cores contain heparan sulfate proteoglycans which also have been shown to have trophic activity (Snow et al. 1988).

This neurite regeneration attempt eventually fails because the neuron is unable to digest the PHF and clear the abnormal proteins from the intracellular space. Eventually the neurites completely degenerate and the neuron dies, leaving a burned out plaque and a ghost tangle. Although not proven, it is not difficult to imagine that the neurons containing NFT send axons to NP.

The Initial Event in Aberrant Protein Phosphorylation

Since abnormal protein phosphorylation may be a key event in neuronal death, it is imperative to determine the initial event leading to this alteration. It is known that growth factors play an important role in regulating kinase activity. For example, CK-II activity in fibroblasts can be stimulated by adding insulin or an insulinlike growth factor (Klarlund and Czech 1988) and, therefore, any alteration affecting these growth factors would affect CK-II activity. It is tempting to speculate that CK-II synthesis is also under the control of these growth factors. PKC is also regulated by growth factors, and thus any alteration of the growth factors responsible for regulating PKC activity may alter its activity. It is interesting to note that the levels of PKC are under the control of PKC activity. For example, hyperactivating PKC by phorbol esters can down-regulate PKC by accelerating its degradation. The reason for the lower PKC levels in AD must be elucidated. Thus far, nerve growth factor has been shown to be unaltered in AD (Goedert et al. 1986). However, many other growth factors which act on neuronal tissue have not been studied. These include fibroblast growth factor, EGF, insulin, insulin-like growth factors. and others.

Whatever is affecting the aberrant phosphorylation events seen in AD is also affecting cells in the peripheral tissue. Again, growth factors may be responsible for these changes. In addition to classical growth factors listed above, a previously unknown growth factor may be involved in causing aberrant protein phosphorylation. Recently, Whitson et al. (1989) reported that amyloid β -protein is neurotrophic to some extent. It is reasonable to speculate that its precursor, ABPP, also has trophic activity. This idea fits in with the finding that ABPP is secreted from cells such as PC12 and fibroblasts (Schubert et al. 1988, 1989; Uéda et al. 1989). It is conceivable that an insult that affects the ability of a neuron to synthesize, posttranslationally modify, or secrete ABPP, may alter its trophic effect on cells for which it is targeted. This alteration as a trophic factor may affect the phosphorylation cascade in AD. Importantly, a few reports have appeared that described aberrant processing of ABPP in AD at the transcriptional level (Neve et al. 1988; Tanaka et al. 1988; Uéda et al. 1989; Clark et al. 1989) or at the posttranslational level (Cole et al. 1989). Therefore, at present, ABPP is a strong candidate which may trigger aberrant phosphorylation cascade in AD.

One other, although more remote, possibility is that some transmissible agent or environmental factor enters neuronal tissue which may be especially vulnerable to it. The viral or environmental factors may then interfere directly with the genetic processing that leads to aberrant protein synthesis. As a result, this could alter protein kinase levels and the entire phosphorylation cascade mechanism.

In conclusion, in AD, there are a few phosphoproteins and protein kinases that are altered. PKC and CK-II, both under regulation by trophic factors, are severely affected in this disease. It is conceivable that an aberrant trophic factor is causally involved in the generation of the altered protein kinase cascade. It will be important to pinpoint the cause of the altered phosphorylation because this may bring us closer to the primary insult responsible for causing AD.

Acknowledgments. We thank Robert Davignon and Isabelle Hafner for editorial help in preparing this manuscript.

References

- Bancher C, Brunner C, Lassmann H, Budka H, Jellinger K, Wiche G, Seitelberger F, Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Wisniewski HM (1989) Accumulation of normally phosphorylated tau precedes the formation of neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 477:90–99
- Baudier J, Cole RD (1987) Phosphorylation of tau proteins to a state like that in Alzheimer's brain is catalyzed by a calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase and modulated by phospholipids. J Biol Chem 262:17577-17583
- Baudier J, Lee S-H, Cole RD (1987) Separation of the different microtubule-associated tau protein species from bovine brain and their mode II phosphorylation by Ca²⁺/phospholipiddependent protein kinase C. J Biol Chem 262:17584–17590
- Birecree E, Whetsell WO, Stoscheck C, King LE, Nanney LA (1988) Immunoreactive epidermal growth factor receptors in neuritic plaques from patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neural 47:549-560
- Blass JP, Zemcov A (1984) Alzheimer's disease: a metabolic systems degeneration? Neurochem Pathol 2:103-114
- Brion JP, van den Bosch de Aguilar P, Flament-Durand J (1985) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type: morphological and immunocytochemical studies: In: Traber J, Gispen WH (eds) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 164-174 (Advances in applied neurological sciences, vol 2)
- Clark AW, Krekoski CA, Parhad IM, Liston D, Julien J-P, Hoar DI (1989) Altered expression of genes for amyloid and cytoskeletal proteins in Alzheimer cortex. Ann Neurol 25:331-339
- Cleveland DW, Hwo S-Y, Kirschner MW (1977) Physical and chemical properties of purified tau factor and the role of tau in microtubule assembly. J Mol Biol 116:227-247
- Cole G, Dobkins KR, Hansen LA, Terry RD, Saitoh T (1988) Decreased levels of protein kinase C in Alzheimer brain. Brain Res 452:165-174
- Cole C, Masliah E, Terry RD, Huyhn TV, DeTeresa R, Saitoh T (1989) An antiserum against amyloid β -protein precursor detects a unique peptide in Alzheimer's brain. Neurosci Lett 100:340-346
- Diaz-Nido J, Serrano L, Mendez E, Avila J (1988) A casein kinase II-related activity is involved in phosphorylation of microtubule-associated protein MAP-1B during neuroblastoma cell differentiation. J Cell Biol 106:2057–2065
- Gandy S, Czernik AJ, Greengard P (1988) Phosphorylation of Alzheimer disease amyloid precursor peptide by protein kinase C and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:6218-6221

- 116 T. Saitoh, D. S. Iimoto
- Goedert M, Fine A, Hunt SP, Ullrich A (1986) Nerve growth factor mRNA in peripheral and central rat tissues and in the human central nervous system: lesion effects in the rat brain and levels in Alzheimer's disease. Mol Brain Res 1:85–92
- Goedert M, Wischik CM, Crowther RA, Walker JE, Klug A (1988) Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:4051-4055

Greengard P (1978) Phosphorylated proteins as physiological effectors. Science 119:146–152

- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung Y-C, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913-4917
- Hoshi M, Nishida E, Miyata Y, Sakai H, Miyoshi T, Ogawara H, Akiyama T (1987) Protein kinase C phosphorylates tau and induces its functional alterations. FEBS Lett 217:237-241
- Huyhn TV, Cole G, Katzman R, Huang K-P, Saitoh T (1989) Reduced M_r 79,000 protein phosphorylation and PK-C immunoreactivity in AD fibroblasts. Arch Neurol, in press
- Hyman BT, Van Hoesen GW, Wolozin BL, Davies P, Kromer LJ, Damasio AR (1988) Alz-50 antibody recognizes Alzheimer-related neuronal charges. Ann Neurol 23:371–379
- Ihara Y, Nukina N, Miura R, Ogawara M (1986) Phosphorylated tau protein is integrated into paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. J Biochem 99:1807–1810
- Iimoto DS, Masliah E, DeTeresa R, Terry RD, Saitoh T (1989) Aberrant casein kinase II in Alzheimer's disease. Submitted
- Iimoto DS, Saitoh T (1988) Altered casein kinase activity in Alzheimer brain. Soc Neurosci Abstr 14:1085
- Iqbal K, Grundke-Iqbal I, Zaidi T, Merz PA, Wen GY, Shaikh SS, Wisniewski HM, Alafuzoff I, Winblad B (1986) Defective brain microtubule assembly in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet II:421-426
- Ishiguro K, Ihara Y, Uchida T, Imahori K (1988) A novel tubulin-dependent protein kinase forming a paired helical filament epitope on tau. J Biochem 104:319–321
- Kessler JA (1987) Deficiency of a cholinergic differentiating factor in fibroblasts of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 21:95–98
- Klarlund JK, Czech MP (1988) Insulin-like growth factor I and insulin rapidly increase casein kinase II activity in BALC/C 3T3 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 263:15872–15875
- Kochhar A, Saitoh T, Zivin JA (1989) Reduced protein kinase C activity in ischemic spinal cord. J Neurochem 53:946–952
- Kosik KS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau (τ) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Kosik KS, Orecchio LD, Binder L, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM-Y, Lee G (1988) Epitopes that span the tau molecule are shared with paired helical filaments. Neuron 1:817–825
- Krebs EG, Beavo JA (1979) Phosphorylation-dephosphorylation of enzymes. Annu Rev Biochem 48:923-959
- Ksiezak-Reding H, Davies P, Yen S-H (1988) Alz-50, a monoclonal antibody to Alzheimer's disease antigen, cross-reacts with τ proteins from bovine and normal human brain. J Biol Chem 263:7943-7947
- Li JC, Kaminskas E (1985) Deficient repair of DNA lesions in Alzheimer's disease fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 129:733-738
- Lindwall G, Cole RD (1984) The purification of tau protein and the occurrence of two phosphorylation states of tau in brain. J Biol Chem 59:12241-12245
- Mattson MP, Guthrie PB, Kater SB (1988) Intracellular messengers in the generation and degeneration of hippocampal neuroarchitecture. J Neurol Res 21:447-464
- Meier-Ruge W, Ivangoff P, Reichlmeier K (1984) Neurochemical enzyme changes in Alzheimer's and Pick's disease. Arch Gerontol Geriat 3:61-65
- Neve RL, Finch EA, Dawes LR (1988) Expression of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor gene transcripts in the human brain. Neuron 1:669–677
- Nishizuka Y (1988) The molecular heterogeneity of protein kinase C and its implications for cellular regulation. Nature 334:661–665
- Nukina N, Kosik KS, Selkoe DJ (1988) The monoclonal antibody, Alz-50, recognizes tau proteins in Alzheimer's disease brain. Neurosci Lett 87:240–246

- Peterson C, Goldman JE (1986) Alterations in calcium content and biochemical processes in cultured skin fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:2758-2762
- Peterson C, Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Goldman JE (1986) Cytosolic free calcium and cell spreading decrease in fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:7999-8001
- Saitoh T, Cole G, Huynh TV (1989) Aberrant protein kinase C cascades in Alzheimer's disease.
 In: Lauder J, Privat A, Giacobini E, Timiras PS, Vernadakis A (eds) Molecular aspects of development and aging of the nervous system. Plenum, New York, in press
- Saitoh T, Dobkins KR (1986a) In vitro phosphorylation of a M_r 60,000 protein is elevated in Alzheimer brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:9764–9767
- Saitoh T, Dobkins KR (1986b) Protein kinase C in human brain and its inhibition by calmodulin. Brain Res 379:196–199
- Saitoh T, Hansen LA, Dobkins KR, Terry RD (1988) Increased M_r 60,000 protein phosphorylation is correlated with neocortical neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 47:1–8
- Schubert D, LaCorbiere M, Saitoh T, Cole G (1989) Characterization of an amyloid β -precursor protein that binds heparin and contains tyrosine sulfate. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86:2066-2069
- Schubert D, Schroeder R, LaCorbiere M, Saitoh T, Cole G (1988) Amyloid β protein precursor is possibly a heparan sulfate proteoglycan core protein. Science 241:223–226
- Serrano L, Diaz-Nido J, Wandosell F, Avila J (1987) Tubulin phosphorylation by casein kinase II is similar to that found in vivo. J Cell Biol 105:1731–1739
- Snow AD, Mar H, Nochlin D, Kinata K, Kato M, Suzuki S, Hassell J, Wight TN (1988) The presence of heparin sulfate proteoglycans in the neuritic plaques and congophilic angiopathy in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 133:456–463
- Sternberger NH, Sternberger LA, Ulrich J (1985) Aberrant neurofilament phosphorylation in Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4274-4276
- Tanaka S, Nakamura S, Uéda K, Kameyama M, Shiojiri S, Takahashi Y, Kitaguchi N, Ito H (1988) Three types of amyloid protein precursor mRNA in human brain: their differential expression in Alzheimer's disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 157:472-479
- Terry RD, Katzman R (1983) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Ann Neurol 14:497-506
- Uéda K, Cole G, Sundsmo M, Katzman R, Saitoh T (1989) Decreased adhesiveness of Alzheimer fibroblast: is β-protein precursor involved? Ann Neurol 25:246–251
- Whitson JS, Selkoe DJ, Cotman CW (1989) Amyloid β-protein enhances the survival of hippocampal neurons in vitro. Science 243:1488–1490
- Wood JG, Mirra SS, Pollock NJ, Binder LI (1986) Neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer disease share antigenic determinants with the axonal microtubule-associated protein tau (τ). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4040–4043

The Amyloid Gene of Alzheimer's Disease and Neuronal Dysfunction*

J. M. Salbaum, C. L. Masters, and K. Beyreuther

The pathological hallmark of Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the deposition of fibrillar amyloid aggregates in the brain (Glenner and Wong 1984; Masters et al. 1985). The major constituent of these depositions is a protein that is now commonly termed the $\beta A4$ protein, according to its proposed secondary structure of beta pleated sheets and its relative molecular weight of 4 kDa. Protein sequencing of amyloid from brains of patients with AD as well as Down's syndrome revealed the $\beta A4$ protein to have a length of 42 to 43 residues (Kang et al. 1987). The $\beta A4$ amyloid arises from a much larger precursor protein, PreA4. Elucidation of the mechanism leading to $\beta A4$ deposition is crucial in understanding AD.

The precursor of the amyloid $\beta A4$ protein is encoded by the precursor of amyloid in Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome (PAD) gene on chromosome 21. Analysis of the structure of the PAD gene has so far revealed 18 exons (Lemaire et al. 1989; Kitaguchi et al. 1988). Exon 1 contains the 5'-untranslated region, the translation start, and the signal peptide. It extends two codons beyond the cleavage site of the signal peptidase. Exon 7 encodes a protein sequence with homology to the Kunitz family of serine protease inhibitors (Kitaguchi et al. 1988; Tanzi et al. 1988; Ponte et al. 1988). The 19 amino acids of exon 8 show homology to the MRC OX-2 antigen. Exons 7 and 8 are subject to alternative splicing. Recently, the presence of an additional exon, 13A, was reported between exons 13 and 14 (DeSauvage et al. 1989). Exon 17 contains 11 amino acids of the extracellular domain, the transmembrane sequence of 24 residues, and 14 residues of the cytoplasmic domain of the precursor protein. The rest of the cytoplasmic domain and the 3'-untranslated region are covered by exon 18. The region coding for the $\beta A4$ amyloid is extended over two exons, supporting the idea that $\beta A4$ is not a functional protein entity. The N-terminal 17 amino acids of the B4A amyloid protein are encoded by the 3'-part of exon 16, whereas the further 26 residues could be located in the 5'-part of exon 17. The last 15 residues of β A4 belong to the membrane spanning region of the precursor protein. Aberrant splicing was proposed to be a mechanism to generate $\beta A4$. However, a splicing event between exons 1 and 16 would lead to a shift in the translation frame since exon 16 does not start on a full codon. The consequence of that frameshift would be premature termination at a TGA codon at PreA4770 cDNA position 1965. Thus, the structure of

^{*} The work was made possible by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, the Fritz Thyssen Stiftung, the Bundesministerium für Forschung und Technologie, the Fonds der Chemischen Industrie, and the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia.

exons 1, 16, and 17 rules out the possibility that the β A4 amyloid is the product of an aberrant alternative splicing event (Lemaire et al. 1989).

The analysis of genomic DNA from the 5'-end of the PAD gene revealed the structure of the PAD gene promotor (Salbaum et al. 1988). The promoter has the characteristic features of promoters of housekeeping genes. It lacks a typical TATA box, has a high GC content, and transcription initiates at multiple sites. Sites for DNA methylation are clustered in the region up to -400 bp from the transcription start. The concept of a housekeeping gene is consistent with the ubiquitous expression of the PAD gene. However, the term does not imply constitutive expression as the PAD gene does respond to regulatory events (Mobley et al. 1988). The DNA sequence at the 5'-end leads to the identification of 26 sequence elements which may be involved in the transcriptional regulation of the PAD gene. The sequence of the elements and their position relative to the strongest transcription start site are shown in Table 1. Acute phase elements in the distal part of the promoter may be involved in regulation of the PAD gene during a response to inflammatory conditions (Tsuchiya et al. 1987). Cellular stress conditions may act on the heat shock element (HSE) in the proximal promoter region. These two groups of elements could well interact in their effect on the PAD gene during stress responses. The binding sites for the Hox1.3 protein presumably have a function in regulation of the PAD gene during development and, possibly,

Position	Sequence	Putative element	
-3314	CAGTGGGAT	Acute phase element	
-2986	GAGTGGGAG	Acute phase element	
-2887	AGTGA	Acute phase element	
-2655	AGTGA	Acute phase element	
-2598	GATAATCATC	Hox1.3 binding site	
-2310	AGCTGGGAC	Acute phase element	
-2278	GCTAATTTT	Hox1.3 binding site	
-2092	CGGTGGGAG	Acute phase element	
-1898	AGCTGGGAT	Acute phase element	
-1799	TGACCTCA	CRE	
-1762	TGCTGGGAT	Acute phase element	
-1716	ΑΑΤΑΑΤGΤΑΑ	Hox1.3 binding site	
-1555	AGTGA	Acute phase element	
-1471	GTTCATTAGC	Hox1.3 binding site	
-1436	AATAATAGTA	Hox1.3 binding site	
- 913	TATAATTCAG	Hox1.3 binding site	
- 762	CCCCCCGCCCCG	SP-1 site	
- 350	TGATTCA	AP-1 site	
- 317	CTCGACTTTTCTAG	HSE	
- 198	GGGAGCGGA	GC-rich box	
- 187	GGGCGCGTG	GC-rich box	
- 178	GGGTGCAGG	GC-rich box	
- 146	GGGCGCGGG	GC-rich box	
- 123	CGGCGCGAG	GC-rich box	
- 113	GGGCGCAGT	GC-rich box	
- 45	TGACTCG	AP-1 site	

Table 1. Putative elements of the PAD promoter DNA

regeneration. Hox1.3 is a transcription factor which interacts with DNA via a homeobox motif. Homeobox proteins are involved in gene regulation during development (Gehring 1987). The binding site consensus sequence for the transcription factor SP-1, as well as the cluster of six copies of the GC-rich element, may be involved in the ubiquitous expression of the PAD gene, but could also modulate the level of expression in different tissues. The cyclic AMP responsive element (CRE) relates the PAD gene to receptor signal transduction events. The two consensus binding sites for the transcription factor AP-1 make the PAD gene subject to regulatory events after an "immediate-early response." This involves the products of the proto-oncogenes c-fos and c-jun, which form the AP-1 complex. The transcriptional induction of the PAD gene by nerve growth factor or phorbol esters (Mobley et al. 1988) is presumably mediated by the AP-1 sites. AP-1 binding sites and CRE can be included in common regulatory circuits (Karin 1989), and it remains to be established whether the AP-1 sites of the PAD promoter can also respond to cyclic AMP.

The single copy PAD gene gives rise to a number of protein products. Alternative splicing of exons 7 and 8 leads to primary translation products of 770, 751, or 695 amino acids, respectively. These proteins are typical transmembrane proteins which span the lipid bilayer once (Dyrks et al. 1988). The presence of the recently described exon 13A generates much shorter transcripts due to the termination of transcription and use of an alternative polyadenylation site. Exons 14 through 18 are missing. The encoded proteins are secreted as a consequence of the absence of exon 17, which encodes the transmembrane domain (De Sauvage et al. 1989). These proteins are nonamyloidogenic, and their biochemistry has yet to be worked out.

The amyloidogenic protein products of the PAD gene have been studied extensively. In vitro translation studies monitored membrane insertion and the removal of the 17 amino acid signal peptide from the precursor during translation. The exact site of cleavage was determined by radiosequencing. The signal peptide cleavage is followed by N-linked glycosylation (Dyrks et al. 1988). Monoclonal antibodies against a recombinant PreA4695 protein allowed us to identify the PreA4 proteins in cells and tissues and to follow their biogenesis. The precursor proteins undergo multiple posttranslational modifications. Following N-glycosylation, we were able to demonstrate O-glycosylation, sulfation of tyrosine residues, and proteolytic cleavage. This cleavage dissects the extracellular domains of the PreA4 proteins from the transmembrane and cytoplasmic domain. The proteolysis takes part in the Golgi apparatus and leads to secretion of C-terminally truncated, nonamyloidogenic proteins, which are also found in serum and CSF. Both forms, transmembrane as well as secretory PreA4 proteins, coexist in cells, whereas only the secretory form is detectable in conditioned medium (Weidemann et al. 1989). The half-life of the transmembrane proteins in cells is 20 to 30 min (Weidemann et al. 1989). The posttranslational modifications that have been demonstrated and the molecular weights of the corresponding proteins are compiled in Table 2.

The fact that amyloid precursor proteins are proteolytically processed further advances the idea that $\beta A4$ amyloid is generated by proteolysis and not by aberrant splicing, as outlined before. The release of the extracellular domain by cleav-

Protein	PreA4 ₆₉₅	PreA4751	PreA4 ₇₇₀
Primary translation product	91 kDa	101 kDa	103 kDa
Signal peptide removal (17 AA), N-glycosylation	91 kDa	101 kDa	103 kDa
O-glycosylation	110 kDa	128 kDa	130 kDa
Tyrosine sulfation	110 kDa	128 kDa	130 kDa
Secreted form, due to intracellular proteolysis	93 kDa	111 kDa	113 kDa

Table 2. Biogenesis of $\beta A4$ amyloid precursor proteins

age leaves a peptide in the membrane that spans the transmembrane and the cytoplasmic domains of the precursor proteins. The exact site of cleavage is not known. The A4CT protein, which starts at the methionine residue preceding the β A4 protein and extends to the C-terminus of the precursor, could resemble the peptide that is left in the membrane after precursor processing. In vitro expression of A4CT revealed the aggregational properties of this protein. Proteinase K treatment of A4CT aggregates results in a protein with the same electrophoretic mobility as β A4, suggesting a precursor–product relationship (Dyrks et al. 1988). A proteolytic cleavage step that is part of the normal metabolism of the PreA4 proteins could be the first step towards β A4 amyloid deposition.

The precursor proteins were identified in neurons (Shivers et al. 1988; Schubert et al., submitted). Laser scanning light microscopy as well as electron microscopy using monoclonal anti-PreA4 antibodies showed the presence of the precursor proteins at synaptic sites in brain and muscle. Colocalization with synaptophysin could be demonstrated (Schubert et al., submitted). These results suggest a function of these proteins in synaptogenesis. Accordingly, their expression might be linked to synaptic turnover and neuronal plasticity. Amyloid deposition initiated in neurons or between synapses would occur at sites relevant for impairment of intellectual functions. It might thereby interfere with neuronal and synaptic function either by depletion of precursor proteins or massive buildup of amyloid depositions. This may represent the proximal cause of the clinically detectable impairment of AD.

We have now learned that the deposition of these characteristic pathological hallmarks may predate clinical expression of AD by three decades. This became evident from postmortem studies of brains from patients with AD, normal controls, and individuals with trisomy 21 (Davies et al. 1988; Rumble et al. 1989).

The ultimate cause or start of pathology, i.e., the primary lesion, is presumably not represented by β A4 amyloid deposition. The primary lesion may lie in processes such as PAD gene dosage, PAD gene expression, alternative splicing, membrane damage, incorrect membrane insertion of amyloid precursor proteins, and pathological degradation of precursor proteins to β A4 amyloid protein. The genetic predisposition to the primary lesion are represented by the conditions of Down's syndrome and familial AD. Which of the aforementioned mechanisms are triggered by Down's syndrome or the familial AD gene remains to be shown.

122 J. M. Salbaum et al.

References

- Davies L, Wolska B, Hilbich C, Multhaup, G, Martins R, Simms G, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1988) A4 amyloid deposition and the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: prevalence in aged brains determined by immunocytochemistry compared with conventional neuropathologic techniques. Neurology 38:1688-1693
- De Sauvage F, Maloteaux J-M, Octave J-N (1989) Cloning of different amyloid peptide precursors from brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's Disease and Associated Disorders 3 [Suppl 1]:35
- Dyrks T, Weidemann A, Multhaup G, Salbaum JM, Lemaire HG, Kang J, Müller-Hill B, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1988) Identification, transmembrane orientation and biogenesis of the amyloid A4 precursor of Alzheimer's disease. EMBO J 7:949–957
- Gehring WJ (1987) Homeoboxes in the study of development. Science 236:1245-1252
- Glenner GG, Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120:885–890
- Kang J, Lemaire HG, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Grzeschik KH, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Müller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell surface receptor. Nature 325:733–736
- Karin M (1989) Complexities of gene regulation by cAMP. Trends Genet 5/3:65-66
- Kitaguchi N, Takahashi Y, Tokushima Y, Shirohiri S, Ito H (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331:385–396
- Lemaire HG, Salbaum JM, Multhaup G, Kang J, Bayney RM, Unterbeck A, Beyreuther K, Müller-Hill B (1989) The PreA4₆₉₅ precursor protein of Alzheimer's disease A4 amyloid is encoded by 16 exons. Nucl Acid Res 17:517–522
- Masters CL, Simms G, Weinman NA, Multhaup G, McDonald BL, Beyreuther K (1985) Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4245-4249
- Mobley WC, Neve RL, Prusiner SB, McKinley MP (1988) Nerve growth factor increases mRNA levels for the prion protein and the β -amyloid precursor in developing hamster brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:9811–9815
- Ponte P, Gonzalez-DeWhitt P, Schilling J, Miller J, Hsu D, Greenberg B, Davis K, Wallace W, Lieberburg I, Fuller F, Cordell B (1988) A new A4 amyloid mRNA contains a domain homologous to serine proteinase inhibitors. Nature 331:525-527
- Rumble B, Retallack R, Hilbich C, Simms G, Multhaup G, Martins R, Hockey A, Montgomery P, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1989) Amyloid A4 protein of Alzheimer's disease and its precursors in Down's syndrome. N Engl J Med 320:1446-1452
- Salbaum JM, Weidemann A, Lemaire HG, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1988) The promoter of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 precursor gene. EMBO J 7:2807–2813
- Schubert W, Weidemann A, Fischer P, Beer J, Bunke D, Multhaup G, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1989) Synaptic localisation of the amyloid precursor protein of Alzheimer's disease, submitted
- Shivers B, Hilbich C, Multhaup G, Salbaum JM, Beyreuther K, Seeburg PH (1988) Alzheimer's disease amyloidogenic glycoprotein: expression pattern in rat brain suggests a role in cell contact. EMBO J 7:1365-1370
- Tanzi RE, McClatchey AI, Lamperti ED, Villa-Komaroff L, Gusella JF, Neve RL (1988) Protease inhibitor domain encoded by an amyloid protein precursor mRNA associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nature 331:528-530
- Tsuchiya Y, Hattori M, Hayashida K, Ishibashi H, Okubo H, Sakaki Y (1987) Sequence analysis of the putative regulatory region of the rat α_2 -macroglobulin gene. Gene 57:73–80
- Weidemann A, König G, Bunke D, Fischer P, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1989) Identification, biogenesis and localization of precursors of Alzheimer's disease A4 amyloid protein. Cell 57:115-126

Cloning of Different Amyloid Peptide Precursors from Brains of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease

F. de Sauvage, A. F. Macq, J. M. Maloteaux, and J. N. Octave

Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive degenerative disorder of the central nervous system characterized by neuronal loss and by brain lesions including senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (Roth et al. 1966; Terry et al. 1981; Whitehouse et al. 1982; Glenner 1983). Recent studies have provided an amino acid sequence for a major polypeptide of the cerebral amyloid found in AD, the amyloid β -protein (Glenner and Wong 1984) or A4 protein (Masters et al. 1985).

The sequencing data permitted the isolation of related cDNAs and characterization of a larger A4 amyloid peptide precursor (A4 APP; Kang et al. 1987; Tanzi et al. 1987a; Goldgaber et al. 1987; Robakis et al. 1987). The A4 APP resembles a transmembrane protein (Kang et al. 1987), and its mRNA is preferentially expressed by large pyramidal neurons (Bahmanyar et al. 1987). The gene coding for the A4 APP is located on chromosome 21 (Kang et al. 1987; Tanzi et al. 1987a; Goldgaber et al. 1987; Robakis et al. 1987) and may be responsible for the amyloid deposits in Down's syndrome and AD. However, the A4 APP gene is different from the genetic defect on chromosome 21 responsible for familial AD (Tanzi et al. 1987b; Van Broeckhoven et al. 1987) and is not duplicated in sporadic or familial AD (Tanzi et al. 1987c; St George-Hyslop et al. 1987; Podlisney et al. 1987).

Alternate forms of the A4 APP mRNA have been found and are different from the originally described form by an internal domain with extensive homology to a class of protease inhibitors (Tanzi et al. 1988; Ponte et al. 1988; Kitaguchi et al. 1988). While the presence or absence of the inserts could explain the difference between the two major RNA forms found as 3.2- and 3.4-kb bands in Northern blot analysis, our results show instead that the doublet corresponds to the use of two polyadenylation sites.

The A4 APP can be detected in two forms using immunoblotting performed with polyclonal antibodies directed against synthetic peptides corresponding to various portions of the precursor: a membrane-bound form which can be stained with both the antibodies to the N-terminal and the C-terminal portions of the A4 APP, and a soluble form lacking the C-terminus including the A4 protein, detected only with the N-terminal antibodies (Abraham and Potter 1989). The soluble form seems to be derived from the transmembrane precursor by proteolytic cleavage (Weidemann et al. 1989). However, we have recently isolated a clone from a human brain cDNA library that contained the structural sequence to 124 F. de Sauvage et al.

encode an amyloid precursor devoid of the transmembrane domain and the A4 peptide, which could correspond to a secreted form of the A4 APP.

The Use of Two Polyadenylation Signals in the 3' Untranslated Region of the A4 APP mRNA

A λ GT11 AD brain cDNA library was screened with a 1-kb cDNA probe (positions 1796–2850 in the Kang sequence). Among 12 isolated clones, two showed an unusual pattern when restricted with *Eco*RI. Sequencing data indicated that these clones use the first polyadenylation site, present at position 2934, and that a poly(A) chain starts at position 2950 (Fig. 1). Consequently, this cDNA sequence has 258 fewer nucleotides, compared to the Kang sequence (Kang et al. 1987).

An anti-sense riboprobe, encompassing 50 nucleotides between the two polyadenylation sites (Fig. 1), was used for Northern blot analysis. The results, presented in Fig. 2, indicate that this 50-nucleotide riboprobe recognizes only the 3.4-kb band and not the two bands recognized by the riboprobe corresponding to the cDNA probe which was used for screening of the cDNA library. These results indicate that the 3.2- to 3.4-kb mRNA doublet expressed in normal brain and in

A : The short 3'UTR.

CTGCAGGATGATTGTAGAGAATCATTGCTTATGACATGATCGCTTTCTACACTGTATTAC 2930 PstI

ATA AATAAA TTAAATAAAAT-poly(A)tail

B: The long 3' UTR

CTGCAGGATGATTGTAGAGAATCATTGCTTATGACATGATCGCTTTCTACACTGTATTAC 2930 PstI

ATAAATAAATTAAATAAAATAACCCCCGGGCAAGACTTTTCTTTGAAGGATGACTACAGAC 2990

ATTAAATAATCGAAGTAATTTTGGGTGGGGGAGAAGAGGCAGATTCAATTTTCTTTAACCA 3050

GTCTGAAGTTTCATTTATGATACAAAAGAAGATGAAAATGGAAGTGGCAATATAAGGGGA 3110

TGAGGAAGGCATGCCTGGACAAACCCTTCTTTTAAGATGTGTCTTCAATTTGTATAAAAT 3170

GGTGTTTTCATGTA AATAAA TACATTCTTGGAGGAGC-poly(A)tail

Fig. 1a, b. Nucleotide sequence of the two possible 3' UTR sequences of the A4 APP. **a** The short 3' UTR. **b** The long 3' UTR. The positions corresponding to the Kang sequence and the PstI site used for the constructs are indicated. The two polyadenylation sites used are *boxed*, and the sequence synthesized to obtain a riboprobe between the two polyadenylation sites is *underlined*



Fig. 2. Northern blot analysis of human brain RNA. The anti-sense riboprobes used for hybridization were the A4 APP riboprobe (A) or the 50-nucleotide riboprobe encompassing the sequence between the two polyadenylation sites (B)

other tissues is due to alternative use of two polyadenylation sites at the 3' noncoding sequence of the A4 APP mRNA.

We have studied the influence of the sequence contained within the two polyadenylation sites used in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the A4 APP on mRNA translation. The two possible 3' UTR sequences of the A4 APP mRNA were subcloned into an SP64 plasmid downstream of the sequence coding for the chicken lysozyme, which corresponds to a mRNA highly translated in *Xenopus* oocytes. When the chimeric messengers, obtained by in vitro transcription, were translated for 6 h in *Xenopus* oocytes, the mRNA containing the long 3'UTR sequence had synthesized more protein than the mRNA containing the short 3'UTR sequence (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Autoradiograms obtained after 6 h of in vivo translation of the lysozyme mRNA construct. The labeled proteins obtained after translation of the mRNA construct containing the short (A) or the long (B) 3' UTR sequence of the A4 APP mRNA were immunoprecipitated by an anti-lysozyme antibody and analyzed by SDS-PAGE

126	F.	de	Sauvage	et :	al.
100			Juarage		

Т	:	PRPRHVFNML 410	KKYVRAEQKD	RQHTLKHFEH 430	VRMVDPKKAA	QIRSQVMTHL 450
S	:	PRPRHVFNML	KKYVRAEQKD	RQHTLKHFEH	VRMVDPKKAA	QIRSQVMTHL
т	:	RVIYERMNQS 460	LSLLYNVPAV	AEEIQDEVDE 480	LLQKEQNYSD	DVLANMISEP 500
S	:	RVIYERMNQS	LSLLYNVPAV	AEEIQDEV <u>GA</u>	VAHACNSSIL	GGQGGQMT*
т	:	RISYGNDALM 510	PSLTETKTTV	ELLPVNGEFS 530	LDDLQPWHSF	GADSVPANTE 550
т	:	NEVEPVDARP 560	AADRGLTTRP	GSGLTNIKTE 580	EISEVKMDAE	FRHDSGYEVH 600
Т	:	HQKLVFFAED 610	VGSNK GAIIC	G LMVGGVVIA: 630	r VIVITLVML	к ккQYTSIHHG 650
т	:	VVEVDAAVTP 660	EERHLSKMQQ	NGYENPTYKF 680	FEQMQN*	

Fig. 4. Amino acid sequence of the transmembrane (T) and the soluble form (S) of the A4 APP. The amino acid positions corresponding to the Kang sequence are indicated. The 20 novel amino acids of the soluble protein are *underlined*, and the proposed transmembrane region of the membrane receptor is *boxed*

The Soluble Form of the A4 APP

A 1.4-kb cDNA fragment (Vitek et al. 1988) was used for the screening of a λ GT11 cDNA library constructed from the cerebral cortex of a 54-year-old AD patient. Of several hybridizing clones, one clone was shown by DNA sequence analysis to contain the structural sequence to encode an A4 APP with a serine protease inhibitor domain in which the 208 amino acids at the carboxyterminal are replaced by 20 amino acids (Fig. 4) derived from nucleotide sequences bearing homology to the Alu repeat family. The existence of the novel mRNA was confirmed by enzymatic amplification of the cDNA region where divergence occurred. Whereas no amplification was observed on the DNA, a fragment of 0.5 kb was amplified using cDNA templates from normal and AD mRNA. The sequence of the amplified fragment confirmed the existence of the novel mRNA, and the absence of amplification on the DNA ruled out the possibility that the region homologous to the Alu sequences at the 3' end of the A4 APP represents an unspliced intron.

The novel mRNA described here, devoid of the A4 peptide and the transmembrane sequences (Fig. 5), most likely corresponds to a secreted form of the A4



Fig. 5a, b. Hydropathy blot of the soluble (a) and the transmembrane (b) A4 APP. The Kyte hydropathy values for a window of six amino acid residues were plotted with respect to position along the Kang amino acid sequence. *Positive numbers*, hydrophobicity; *negative numbers*, hydrophilicity

APP and shows that the APP gene can produce not only transmembrane receptors but also soluble proteins which are not cleavage products of the transmembrane precursor.

Discussion

Sequence analysis of several clones encoding the A4 APP have provided insights into the biochemistry of the amyloid precursor. Analysis of a full-length clone showed the precursor of the A4 protein to be a 695 amino acid protein which resembles a cell surface receptor (Kang et al. 1987). The expression of the gene was found to be relatively widespread in the organism, and alternative spliced versions of the mRNA were found, with the longer ones encoding a region highly homologous to the Kunitz type protease inhibitors. 128 F. de Sauvage et al.

We report here that the 3.2- to 3.4-kb mRNA doublet expressed in normal brain and in other tissues is due to alternative use of two polyadenylation sites at the 3' noncoding sequence of the A4 APP mRNA. Furthermore, the sequence contained within the two polyadenylation sites increases translation of the lysozyme reporter gene.

The A4 APP can be detected as a soluble form which seems to be derived from the membrane-bound form (Weidemann et al. 1989). The proteolytic cleavage of the transmembrane precursor is probably not the only way to obtain soluble precursor, as indicated by the cloning of a novel mRNA obtained by a new alternative splicing.

To get better insight into the normal function of the A4 APP, it is important first to identify the different precursors, since a transmembrane receptor could play a completely different role than a secreted protein with a protease inhibitor activity.

References

- Abraham CR, Potter H (1989) Alzheimer's disease: recent advances in understanding the brain amyloid deposits. Biotechnology 7:147–153
- Bahmanyar S, Higgins GA, Goldgaber D, Lewis DA, Morrison JH, Wilson MC, Shankar SK, Gajdusek DC (1987) Localization of amyloid β protein messenger RNA in brains from patients with Alzheimer's disease. Science 237:77–80
- Glenner G (1983) Alzheimer's disease: the commonest form of amyloidosis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 107:281-282
- Glenner GG, Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: initial report on the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120:885–890
- Goldgaber D, Lerman MI, McBride W, Saffiotti U, Gajdusek DC (1987) Characterization and chromosomal localisation of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. Science 235:877–880
- Kang J, Lemaire HG, Unterbeck A, Salbaum MJ, Masters CL, Grzeschik KH, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Muller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell surface receptor. Nature 325:733-736
- Kitaguchi N, Takahashi Y, Tokushima Y, Shiojiri S, Ito H (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid protein shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331:530-532
- Masters CL, Simms G, Weinman NA, Multhaup G, McDonald BL, Beyreuther K (1985) Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:4245-4249
- Podlisney MB, Lee G, Selkoe DJ (1987) Gene dosage of the amyloid beta precursor protein in Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:669–671
- Ponte P, Gonzalez-DeWhitt P, Schilling J, Miller J, Hsu D, Greenberg B, Davis K, Wallace W, Lieberburg I, Fuller F, Cordell B (1988) A new A4 amyloid mRNA contains a domain homologous to serine protease inhibitors. Nature 331:525–527
- Robakis K, Ramakrinshna N, Wolfe G, Wisniewski HM (1987) Molecular cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the cerebrovascular and the neuritic plaque amyloid peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:4190-4194
- Roth M, Tomlinson BE, Blessed G (1966) Correlation between scores for dementia and counts of "senile plaques" in cerebral grey matter of elderly subjects. Nature 209:109–110
- St George-Hyslop PH, Tanzi RE, Polinsky R, Neve RL, Pollen D, Drachman D, Growdon J, Cupples LA, Nee L, Meyers RH, O'Sullivan D, Watkins PC, Amos JA, Deutsch CK, Bodfish JW, Kinsbourne M, Feldman RG, Bruni A, Amaducci L, Foncin JF, Gusella JF (1987) Absence of duplication of chromosome 21 genes in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:664-666

- Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Watkins PC, Burns GAP, St George-Hyslop P, Van Keuren ML, Patterson D, Pagan S, Kurnit DM, Neve RL (1987a) Amyloid beta-protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. Science 235:880-884
- Tanzi RE, St George-Hyslop PH, Haines JL, Polinski RJ, Nee L, Foncin JF, Neve RL, McClatchey AI, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1987b) The genetic defect in familial Alzheimer's disease is not tightly linked to the beta amyloid protein gene. Nature 329:156-157
- Tanzi RE, Bird ED, Lat SA, Neve RL (1987c) The amyloid beta protein gene is not duplicated in brains from patients with Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:666-669
- Tanzi RE, McClatchey AI, Lamberti ED, Villa-Komaroff L, Gusella JF, Neve RL (1988) Protease inhibitor domain encoded by an amyloid protein precursor mRNA associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nature 331:528-530
- Terry RD, Peck A, De Teresa R, Schechter R, Horoupian DS (1981) Some morphometric aspects of the brain in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Ann Neurol 10:184–192
- Van Broeckhoven C, Genthe AM, Vandenbergh A, Horstemke B, Backhovens H, Raeymaekers P, Van Hul W, Wehnert A, Gheuens J, Cras P, Bruyland M, Martin JJ, Salbaum M, Multhaup G, Masters CL, Beyreuther K, Gurlind HMD, Hardy JA (1987) Failure of familial Alzheimer's disease to segregate with the A4-amyloid gene in several European families. Nature 329:153-155
- Vitek MP, Rasool CG, de Sauvage F, Vitek SM, Bartus RT, Beer B, Ashton RA, Macq AF, Maloteaux JM, Blume AJ, Octave JN (1988) Absence of mutation in the β-amyloid cDNAs cloned from the brains of three patients with sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Mol Brain Res 4:121-131
- Weidemann A, König G, Bunke D, Fischer P, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Beyreuther K (1989) Identification, biogenesis, and localization of precursors of Alzheimer's disease A4 amyloid protein. Cell 57:115-126
- Whitehouse PJ, Price DL, Struble RG, Clark AW, Coyle JT, Delong MR (1982) Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. Science 215:1237–1239

Genetic Studies of the Alzheimer's Disease-Associated Amyloid β-Protein Precursor Gene and Familial Alzheimer's Disease

R. E. Tanzi, P. St. George-Hyslop, M. James, J. L. Haines, and J. F. Gusella

Summary

Genetic linkage analysis of DNA markers from chromosome 21 in families with FAD should eventually lead to the isolation and characterization of the gene or genes responsible for autosomally transmitted FAD. Identification of the FAD gene should then help to elucidate the mechanism of pathogenesis in the sporadic form of AD. Parallel investigations of the process of amyloid formation should, in a retrograde manner, provide clues about other molecular factors involved in amyloidogenesis. These "factors" would not only act as candidates for the FAD gene defect but also provide new insights into the etiology of Alzheimer's disease with respect to their interactions with APP. Approaching the study of Alzheimer's disease from both ends should accelerate the understanding of the molecular changes underyling this disorder and, consequently, provide clues for new therapies aimed at ameliorating the effects of both sporadic and familial AD.

Introduction

The aggregation of a 4.2-kDa fragment (amyloid β -protein; ABP, or A4) in the form of amyloid plaques and cerebrovascular deposits (Glenner and Wong 1984) appears to be a key event in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease (AD). ABP is derived from a much larger precursor protein (APP) encoded by a gene located on chromosome 21 (Tanzi et al. 1987a; Goldgaber et al. 1987; Kang et al. 1987; Robakis et al. 1987a). Physical mapping techniques employing somatic cell hybrid panels and in situ hybridization place the APP gene immediately proximal to the obligate Down's syndrome region at the border of bands 21q21.3 and 21q22 (Patterson et al. 1988). Others map APP to the more proximal region of band 21q21.1 (Korenberg et al. 1988; Robakis et al. 1987b). The localization of the APP gene on chromosome 21 suggests that the presence of β -amyloid deposits in the brains of patients with Down's syndrome (DS, trisomy 21) might be most easily explained by gene dosage due to a third copy of the APP gene. However, increased APP gene dosage in the germline does not appear to explain the situation in AD or familial AD (FAD), based on studies of brain and lymphocyte DNA (Tanzi et al. 1987b; St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987a; Podlisney et al. 1987). Recently, genetic linkage has been demonstrated between FAD and the anonymous DNA markers D21S1/D21S11 and D21S16 in four FAD kindreds (St. George-Hyslop et al.

1987b). This marker is also genetically linked to the APP gene, suggesting that APP and FAD reside in the same general vicinity of chromosome 21. Whether this is merely coincidental, or the two loci interact in some way at the transcriptional or translational levels, is unknown. As a first step to resolving this question, we have employed genetic linkage analysis of the APP and FAD genes in both man and mouse to define the genetic relationship between these two loci.

Genetic Linkage Analysis of the APP and FAD Loci

We have constructed a genetic linkage map of the long arm of chromosome 21 using multiple anonymous DNA fragments and the genes encoding superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD 1), the *ets*-2 oncogene, and the leukocyte adhesion molecule CF18 (Tanzi et al. 1988a). To determine the position of APP on this map, the segregation of three restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLP; two with *Eco*RI and one with *BanI*) detected by the APP gene was traced through a large Venezuelan kindred employed as a reference pedigree for genetic linkage map construction. The results of these analyses indicate that the APP gene maps 4 cM above (centromeric to) the gene for SOD 1 (21q22.1) and 5 cM below (telomeric to) the anonymous DNA marker D21S1/D21S11 (Tanzi et al. 1988a). The latter marker has been previously demonstrated to be genetically linked to FAD in four extensively characterized pedigrees exhibiting a clear autosomal dominant inheritance of FAD with a relatively early age of disease onset (St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987a). Collectively, these data placed the APP gene in the same general vicinity on chromosome 21 as a locus for FAD.

If the APP gene actually harbored the defect leading to FAD, one would expect to observe no crossovers between the two loci in a direct two-point genetic linkage test. When tested against the four FAD families, six recombination events were observed between the APP and FAD loci (Tanzi et al. 1987c). Linkage analysis indicated that the APP gene was excluded from linkage with the FAD by a minimal genetic distance of 8 cM (approximately 8 Mb, assuming recombination to be random; Tanzi et al. 1987c). The presence of at least one crossover in each of the four families (detected with both *Eco*RI and *Ban*I RFLPs) implies that the APP gene is not the site of the defect in these pedigrees. It is still possible, however, that the APP gene is defective in cases of sporadic AD or, in the case of nonallelic heterogeneity, other FAD pedigrees. Preliminary analysis on 12 pedigrees and limited linkage disequilibrium analyses on 60 Caucasian sporadic cases, however, have not yet shown evidence to support this possibility (St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987a and unpublished data).

The approximate localization of the FAD locus on chromosome 21 represents the first step in molecular genetic strategies aimed at isolating the disease gene. Next, the precise location of the gene must be determined, and the possibility of genetic heterogeneity (other FAD loci on other chromosomes) must be addressed. Both of these tasks require the continuing isolation of novel informative DNA markers and the testing of additional FAD pedigrees. To provide a more exact location for the FAD gene, recombination events between FAD and linked DNA markers are used to direct the way to the gene. The possibility of genetic
132 R. E. Tanzi et al.

heterogeneity is addressed by demonstrating the existence of two sets of disease pedigrees, one that shows *close* genetic linkage to a set of genetic markers, and another in which linkage can be excluded at the initial locus and can be demonstrated at a second locus. The latter is required since failure to discover linkage could result from analysis of familially aggregated but nongenetic sporadic AD.

Schellenberg et al. (1988) have suggested nonallelic heterogeneity based on the apparent exclusion of FAD from D21S1/D21S11 in a set of pedigrees of predominantly Volga-German descent. In their primary analysis, an exclusion of 17 cM was obtained assuming full penetrance of the FAD gene and an FAD gene frequency of .001. However, an analysis of the same families using only affected individuals, to eliminate the uncertainty of the correct penetrance value for FAD, reduced the exclusion value to 4-6 cM. This genetic distance is considerably smaller than either the current estimates of genetic distance separating D21S1/D21S11 and the FAD gene (15 cM) or the distance between D21S16 and D21S1/D21S11. Therefore, the second, more conservative analysis reported by these authors does not entirely exclude the possibility that the FAD gene may be located centromeric to both D21S1/D21S11 and D21S16. This possibility would be compatible with the very broad curve of the multipoint analysis in our original report of linkage (St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987b), and with the more recent positive data from Goate et al. (1989) and Van Broeckhoven et al. (1989) which both suggest a more centromeric location for FAD. Thus, while the Volga-German pedigrees may appear to support the notion of genetic heterogeneity in FAD, the uncertainty associated with parameters necessary for accurate LOD score analysis (e.g., mutation rate, penetrance, age of onset, frequency of the gene defect) argues for a conservative interpretation of this conclusion at the present time. Given this problem, unequivocal evidence for genetic heterogeneity will most likely require the discovery of positive linkage between FAD and loci on chromosomes other than chromosome 21.

Pericak-Vance et al. (1988) have also suggested the possibility of a second FAD locus based on a lack of linkage between D21S1/D21S11 in pedigrees manifesting late-onset FAD. However, the pedigree with the potentially most informative structure in this study showed strongly positive scores with both D21S1/D21S11 and D21S16. Since this very informative pedigree also had an early age of onset, these authors suggested that early-but not late-onset FAD is linked to DNA markers on chromosome 21. Since not all early-onset pedigrees in their study showed such strongly positive scores, another possibility should be entertained. It could be argued that whether a family displays positive or negative linkage depends more heavily on pedigree size and structure than on the disease phenotype (e.g., age of onset or ethnic origin). Most late-onset FAD pedigrees and some early-onset pedigrees are small nuclear pedigrees of limited informativeness because most family members die of other diseases before demonstrating signs of FAD. It is probably not coincidental, therefore, that larger, more informative, multigenerational FAD pedigrees are usually characterized by an early age of onset given such an inherent selection bias. Consequently, positive LOD scores between FAD and D21S1/S11 or D21S16 derived from early-onset pedigrees could well reflect the fact that these pedigrees are usually larger, contain more affected individuals, and are thus more informative in linkage studies.

A number of additional circumstances associated with FAD linkage studies may tend to prevent the discovery of linkage even when it truly exists. First, the relatively high rate of misdiagnosis in the assessment of AD (10% - 20%) and the occasional occurrence of sporadic AD in an otherwise genetic pedigree, or familial clusters of nongenetic AD, can lead to false crossover events. These false recombinant events may be more likely to occur in late-onset, small pedigrees where the differential diagnosis of sporadic versus familial AD and the confirmation of unambiguous genetic transmission are more difficult to obtain. False recombinants, in the absence of a sufficient number of informative meioses favoring cosegregation in these small pedigrees, results in negative LOD scores. A second problem stems from the location of the most informative marker. D21S1/S11. quite distant from the FAD gene (15 cM). Theoretical modeling of expected LOD scores generated from linkage analysis with markers distant (e.g., >10 cM or approximately 10⁶ base pairs) from a disease gene indicates that smaller pedigrees individually provide primarily neutral or negative scores. The summation of these neutral to mildly negative LOD scores obtained from multiple smaller, nuclear pedigrees thus results in overall negative scores, thereby excluding linkage with the DNA markers previously shown to be linked to larger, early-onset families. It therefore remains unclear whether negative LOD scores obtained with smaller late-onset nuclear pedigrees and distantly linked markers reflect true nonallelic heterogeneity or simply reflect the lack of sufficient information to detect the existence of a distantly linked gene in the presence of the above confounding circumstances. Clearly, the issue of heterogeneity in FAD will only be ameliorated by the ascertainment of additional large, multigenerational pedigrees and highly informative, closely linked markers.

Given the above problems associated with FAD linkage analysis, we have focused subsequent analyses on additional pedigrees that meet the following criteria. First, the pedigree should be multigenerational, exhibit a clear autosomal dominant segregation of FAD, and include at least three affected individuals. Second, there should be at least one sampled or potentially fully reconstructable parent-to-child transmission of the disease. And, third, affected individuals should be diagnosed as such according to strictly specified criteria. Thirteen pedigrees, including the original four, have met these requirements and yield a two-point LOD score between FAD and D21S1/D21S11 of 3.25, at a distance of 15 cM, but still with a large confidence interval of 5–30 cM. This places FAD approximately 20 cM proximal of APP in a location close to the centromere.

The actual physical distance separating FAD and APP is not easily derived from the genetic studies. If recombination were perfectly random, the physical distance would be 25×10^6 bases of DNA (1 cM = approximately 10^6 base pairs). However, in this region of chromosome 21, a statistically significant higher frequency of recombination in women versus men has been observed, which implies that this region may contain a "hot spot" for recombination events (Tanzi et al. 1988a). Therefore, it is possible that the physical distance between the APP and FAD genes is somewhat smaller than 25 Mb.

134 R. E. Tanzi et al.

To further analyze the genetic relationship between the APP and FAD loci, we have mapped them in a region of mouse chromosome 16 syntenic with the long arm of chromosome 21 (Cheng et al. 1988). Interestingly, in the mouse, *App* is very tightly linked to the mouse homologue of the anonymous DNA marker D21S16. As discussed above, this marker is at least 20 cM from APP in human but is the most closely-linked marker to date with FAD. Aged mice do not develop amyloid plaques and deposits. Whether this is related to the tight genetic linkage between mouse *App* and the putative FAD locus region, as indicated by D21S16, is not known. The mouse does, however, provide the opportunity to clone within a relatively small region, the genetic material between *App* and D21S16 that has been "expanded" in man, thereby providing a possible "shortcut" to the FAD gene.

A Serine Protease Inhibitor Domain in APP

We have recently reported an alternative transcript for the APP gene encoding a 751 amino acid polypeptide containing an additional 56 residue domain interrupting amino acid 289 of the originally cloned APP695 (Tanzi et al. 1988b; Ponte et al. 1988; Kitaguchi et al. 1988). This domain exhibits 50% homology with the Kunitz family of serine protease inhibitors. Another exon of 57 bases was also discovered (Kitaguchi et al. 1988) and is separated from the 168 base exon by approximately 3000 bases of intron DNA. Northern blot analysis reveals that the Kunitz protease inhibitor (KPI) containing transcript (APP751) is present in both neuronal and nonneuronal tissues, while the APP695 transcript, lacking the inhibitor, appears to be more closely associated, although not exclusively, with neuronal tissues (Tanzi et al. 1988b; Ponte et al. 1988). In addition, while transcripts for APP695 appear to be more abundant in fetal tissues, APP751 RNA is present at higher levels in adult tissues, implying that the precursor lacking the protease inhibitor may be required in higher amounts during development. This suggests the possibility that the protease inhibitor domain regulates some activity of APP that is more crucially needed during fetal development. The most parsimonious explanation would be that the protease inhibitor domain prohibits specific cleavages of APP or other proteins associated with plasma or intracellular membranes that are crucial during periods of neuronal plasticity.

It has recently been demonstrated that Cos cells transfected with APP751 DNA were able to inhibit trypsin in vitro (Kitaguchi et al. 1988). This result agrees with the observation that the reactive site in the KPI domain encoded APP751 consists of an arginine flanked by a cysteine and an alanine indicating a specificity for trypsin and trypsin-like proteases. The strongest homology between the KPI domain and a human protein is with the HI-30 portion of the serum protease inhibitor, inter- α -trypsin inhibitor (Kaumeyer et al. 1986). HI-30 is composed of two interconnected KPI domains (I and II) each with a relative molecular weight of 7 kDa, and two carbohydrate groups on the N-terminal domain I. The KPI domain in APP751 exhibits a greater degree of homology to Kunitz domain II of HI-20, which is highly selective for trypsin-like proteases (Wachter and Hochstrasser 1981). These data suggest that, in considering proteases that may be involved in

processing APP, special emphasis should be placed on trypsin-like serine proteases (e.g., cathepsin G and plasmin).

The presence of a functional protease inhibitor in APP carries profound implications for the process of amyloidogenesis in AD. Amyloid formation might be prevented by the KPI domain by inhibiting certain proteases capable of releasing ABP or its penultimate proteolytic intermediate. Alternatively, the KPI domain could potentially accelerate the generation of A4 by impeding specific proteases from degrading this peptide or its penultimate fragment. It is conceivable that the proteolytic intermediates of APP might differ appreciably depending upon the presence or absence of the KPI domain, and that only one of these sets proceeds toward subsequent modification into amyloid plaques and deposits. It is, therefore, an important task to determine whether APP695, 751 or 770 gives rise to amyloid fibrils.

Assuming that neuronally derived APP contributes to amyloid formation, it becomes important to determine which forms of APP transcripts (with or without the protease inhibitor) are prevalent in affected regions of AD brain. So far, preliminary results have been somewhat contradictory. Northern blot analysis indicates a selective reduction of APP695 (lacking the inhibitor) in the frontal cortex of patients with AD (Tanzi et al. 1988b; Johnson et al. 1988). One interpretation of this result is that the neurons that are most heavily affected in this region primarily express APP695, and that reduced levels of this transcript simply reflect the degree of neuronal cell death. On the other hand, in situ hybridization of APP cRNA probes to sections of affected brains of 11 Alzheimer's patients reveals increased levels of APP695 transcripts (Palmert et al. 1988). This increase was observed in the nucleus basalis of Meynert and in the locus coeruleus but not in the subiculum, basis pontis, or occipital cortex.

The results obtained from these neuronal mRNA studies do not exclude the alternative possibility that serum-derived APP may be the source of cerebrovascular and senile plaque amyloid. In fact, APP polypeptides have been observed in human sera (D. Selkoe, personal communication). Finally, although it is important to determine the actual source of amyloid (e.g., neuronal or systemic, APP695 or APP751), it may be of equal import to identify the common denominator(s) in specific regions of the brain where amyloidogenesis occurs. These factors might reside in the blood-brain barrier or the neuronal microenvironment and include proteases, inhibitors, or certain cell populations (e.g., microglial cells) that specifically play a role in amyloid formation.

References

- Cheng SV, Nadeau J, Tanzi RE, Watkins PC, Haines JL, Sacci N, Stewart GD, Gusella JF (1988) Synteny in man and mouse of DNA markers from the chromosomal region linked to familial Alzheimer's disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:6032-6036
- Glenner GG, Wong CW (1984) Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 120:885–890
- Goate AM, Haynes AR, Owen MJ, Farrall M, James LA, Lai LYC, Mullan MJ, Roques P, Rossor MN, Williamson R, Hardy JA (1989) Predisposing locus for Alzheimer's disease on chromosome 21. Lancet 1:352-355

- 136 R. E. Tanzi et al.
- Goldgaber D, Lerman JI, McBride OW, Saffiotti U, Gajdusek DC (1987) Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of fibril protein. Science 235:877-880
- Johnson SA, Pasinetti GM, May PC, Ponte PA, Cordell B, Finch CE (1988) Selective reduction of mRNA for the beta-amyloid precursor protein that lacks a Kunitz-type protease inhibitor motif in cortex from Alzheimer brains. Exp Neurol 102:264–268
- Kang J, Lemaire HG, Unterbeck A, Salbaum J, Masters L, Grzeschik KH, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Muller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature 325:733-736
- Kaumeyer JF, Polazzi JO, Kotick MP (1986) The mRNA for a proteinase inhibitor related to the HI-30 domain of inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor also encodes alpha-1-microglobulin (protein HC). Nucl Acid Res 14:7839–7850
- Kitaguchi N, Takahashi Y, Tokushima Y, Shiojiri S, Ito H (1988) Novel precursor of Alzheimer's disease shows protease inhibitory activity. Nature 331:530-532
- Korenberg JR, West R, Pulst SM (1988) The Alzheimer protein precursor maps to chromosome 21 sub-bands q21.15-q21.2. Neurology (Suppl) 38:265
- Palmert MR, Golde TE, Cohen ML, Kovacs DM, Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Usiak MF, Younkin LH, Younkin SG (1988) Amyloid protein precursor messenger RNAs: differential expression in Alzheimer's disease. Science 241:1080-1084
- Patterson D, Gardiner K, Kao F-T, Tanzi R, Watkins P, Gusella J (1988) Mapping of the gene encoding the beta-amyloid precursor protein and its relationship to the Down syndrome region of chromosome 21. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85:8266-8270
- Pericak-Vance MA, Yamakoa LH, Haynes CS, Speer MC, Haines JL, Gaskell PC, Hung W-Y, Clark CM, Heyman AL, Trofatter JA, Eisenmenger JP, Gilbert JR, Lee JE, Alberts MJ, Dawson DV, Bartlett RJ, Earl NL, Siddique T, Vance JM, Conneally PM, Roses AD (1988) Genetic linkage studies in Alzheimer's disease families. Exp Neurol 102:271–279
- Podlisney M, Lee G, Selkoe D (1987) Gene dosage of the amyloid beta precursor protein in Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:669–671
- Ponte P, Gonzalez-DeWhitt P, Schilling J, Miller J, Hsu D, Greenberg B, Davis K, Wallace W, Lieberburg I, Fuller F, Cordell B (1988) A new A4 amyloid mRNA contains a domain homologous to serine proteinase inhibitors. Nature 331:525–527
- Robakis NK, Ramakrishna N, Wolfe G, Wisniewski HM (1987a) Molecular cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the cerebrovascular and the neuritic plaque amyloid peptides. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84:4190–4194
- Robakis ND, Wisniewski HM, Jenkins EC, Devine-Gage EA, Houck GE, Yao XL, Ramakrishna N, Wolfe G, Silverman WP, Brown WT (1987b) Chromosome 21q21 sublocalization of gene encoding beta-amyloid peptide in cerebral vessels and neuritic (senile) plaques of people with Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Lancet II:384
- Schellenberg GD, Bird TD, Wijsman EM, Moore DK, Boehnke M, Bryant EM, Lampe TH, Nochlin D, Sumi SM, Deeb SS, Beyreuther K, Martin GM (1988) Absence of linkage of chromosome 21q21 markers to familial Alzheimer's disease. Science 241:1507-1510
- St. George-Hyslop PH, Tanzi RE, Polinsky RJ, Neve RL, Pollen D, Drachman D, Growdon J, Cupples LA, Nee L, Myers RH, O'Sullivan D, Watkins PC, Amos JA, Deutsch CK, Bodfish JW, Kinsbourne M, Feldman RG, Bruni A, Amaducci L, Foncin J-F, Gusella JF (1987a) Absence of duplication of chromosome 21 genes in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:664–666
- St. George-Hyslop PH, Tanzi RE, Polinsky RJ, Haines JL, Nee L, Watkins PC, Myers RH, Feldman RG, Pollen D, Drachman D, Growdon J, Bruni A, Foncin J-F, Salmon D, Frommelt P, Amaducci L, Sorbi S, Piacentini S, Stewart GD, Hobbs WJ, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1987b) The genetic defect causing familial Alzheimer's disease maps on chromosome 21. Science 235:885-889
- Tanzi RE, Gusella JF, Watkins PC, Bruns GA, St. George-Hyslop P, Van Keuren ML, Patterson SP, Kurnit DM, Neve RL (1987a) Amyloid beta protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. Science 235:880-884
- Tanzi RE, Bird ED, Latt SA, Neve RL (1987b) The amyloid beta protein gene is not duplicated in brains from patients with Alzheimer's disease. Science 238:666–669

Genetic Studies of the Alzheimer's Disease-Associated Amyloid β-Protein Precursor 137

- Tanzi RE, St. George-Hyslop PH, Haines JL, Polinsky RJ, Nee L, Foncin J-F, Neve RL, McClatchey AI, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1987c) The genetic defect in familial Alzheimer's disease is not tightly linked to the amyloid B-protein gene. Nature 329:156–157
- Tanzi RE, Haines JL, Watkins PC, Stewart GD, Wallace MR, Hallewell R, Wong C, Wexler NS, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1988a) Genetic linkage map of chromosome 21. Genomics 3:129-136
- Tanzi RE, McClatchey AI, Lamperti ED, Villa-Komaroff L, Gusella JF, Neve RL (1988b) Protease inhibitor domain encoded by an amyloid protein precursor mRNA associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nature 331:528-530
- Van Broeckhoven C, Backhovens H, van Hul W, Van Camp G, Stinissen P, Wehnert A, Raeymaekers P, De Winter G, Bruyland M, Gheuens J, Martin JJ, Vandenberghe A (1989) Genetic linkage analysis in early onset familial Alzheimer's dementia. Neuropsychopharmacology, in press
- Wachter E, Hochstrasser K (1981) Kunitz type proteinase inhibitors derived proteolysis of the inter-alpha-trypsin, IV. Hoppe-Seyler's Z Physiol Chem 360:1351-1355

Alzheimer's Disease and Chromosome 21*

A. R. Haynes, M. J. Owen, A. M. Goate, L. A. James, M. J. Mullan, R. Williamson, P. Roques, M. N. Rossor, and J. A. Hardy

Summary

Evidence for a genetic basis to Alzheimer's disease includes several families of early onset, where the disease appears to segregate as a fully penetrant autosomal dominant disorder. The familial Alzheimer's disease (FAD) locus can be localised to a region of chromosome 21 by cosegregation of anonymous DNA markers with the disease phenotype. New data confirming the original linkage is presented and in addition suggests the location of the Alzheimer's disease gene as being centromeric of markers S1/S11 on the proximal long arm of chromsome 21. Each of the six pedigrees used in the recent study have disease onset below 62 years of age, with affected individuals present in at least two generations. The inability of other groups to find linkage of FAD to chromosome 21 (Schellenberg et al. 1988; Pericak-Vance et al. 1988) is discussed and their data shown to be consistent with our finding in early onset Alzheimer's disease.

Introduction

The discovery of a genetic defect predisposing to Alzheimer's disease on the long arm of chromosome 21 by St. George-Hyslop et al. (1987) marked a major step towards our understanding and, ultimately, our treatment of this disorder. These authors reported that, in four large pedigrees in which Alzheimer's disease segregated as an autosomal dominant disorder with onset in the presenium, the disease was genetically linked to two polymorphic loci on chromosome 21. This immediately raised two challenges: to locate more precisely and eventually identify the genetic defect in these and similar families and to determine the proportion of cases of familial Alzheimer's disease that are caused by mutations at this locus.

^{*} This research was supported by grants provided by the Medical Research Council, the Mental Health Foundation, and Research into Ageing.

Mapping the Genetic Defect on Chromosome 21 that Predisposes to Alzheimer's Disease

The original report of linkage placed the disease gene close to two genetic markers: D21S1/S11 and D21S16 (St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987). However, the orientation of these two loci was not known with certainty because D21S16 had not been put on the genetic map of chromosome 21 (Tanzi et al. 1988; Fig. 1). Furthermore, the linkage data given in the original report gave two possible positions of equal likelihood for the Alzheimer's disease locus – one on either side of D21S1/ S11. Thus, there was a clear need to map D21S16 relative to other loci on chromosome 21 and to follow the segregation of Alzheimer's disease in other families to determine whether the report of linkage could be replicated, and the position of the disease locus could be mapped more precisely.

D21S16 is a relatively uninformative genetic locus; approximately 95% of chromosomes share the common allele (human gene mapping IX). It had not, therefore, been sufficiently informative in reference pedigrees to determine its precise genetic position, although it was known to be close to D21S1/S11. Therefore, we decided to use physical mapping techniques, specifically, pulsed field gel electrophoresis (Barlow and Lehrach 1987) and analysis of somatic cell hybrids, to locate D21S16 with respect to the other loci on the proximal long arm of chromo-



Fig. 1. Ideogram of chromosome 21 showing loci in the proximal long arm and the genetic distances between them in centimorgans. *Brackets,* loci which we have linked to genetically mapped loci by pulse field gel electrophoresis. (Modified from Tanzi et al. (1988) and Goate et al. (1989); see also Fig. 3)



Fig. 2. Cell hybrids used to define sections A, B, and C of chromosome 21. 1, WA17 and 72532X-6; 2, ACEM-90; 3, 153E7BX; 4, 2Fur1; 5, R50-3

some 21. The results of this study are given in Fig. 2 and 3 and in Table 1. In essence they show that D21S16 maps within 700 kbp centromeric to D21S13 and is the most proximal marker locus on the long arm of chromosome 21. Our results concur with those obtained by other groups (Van Broeckhoven et al. 1989; Gardiner et al. 1988) and allow the construction of a more complete map of this area of the chromosome. The identification and positioning of more polymorphic loci in the vicinity of D21S1/S11 and D21S16 mean that more meioses will be genetically informative in existing pedigrees multiply affected by Alzheimer's disease.

	Hybrids						
Probes	WA17	72532X-6	ACEM-90	153É7BX	2FU ^r 1	R50-3	Region ^a
D21S16	+	+	_	+	+	_ ·	В
D21S48	+	+	_	+	+	_	В
D21S13	+	+	_	+	+	+	С
D21S46	+	+	-	+	+	+	С
D21S4	+	+	_	+	+	+	С
D21S52	+	+	_	+	+	+	С
D21S1	+	+	-	+	+	+	С
D21S11	+	+	-	+	+	+	С

Table 1. Pattern of hybridization to hybrid cell lines

^a See Fig. 1



Fig. 3a-c.a, bPulse field maps at different resolutions around D21S13 and neighbouring loci showing probe positions and rare cutter sites. N, NotI; Sf, SfiI; E, EegI; S, SacI; B, BssHII. c Restriction map of D21S13 showing position of CpG island and position of D21S80 sequence. E, EcorRI; Sm, SmaI; P, PvuII; S, SacI; Bs, BssHII; Cf, CfiI

142 A. R. Haynes

This, together with the collection of more such pedigrees, will permit more accurate mapping of the Alzheimer's disease locus and the determination of the generality of this linkage.

Largely through the Alzheimer's Disease Society, we have identified over 130 families, multiply affected by dementia. Of these, 13 have pedigrees with three or more affected individuals in two or more generations with a mean age of onset of under 60 years and clinical histories consistent with a diagnosis of probable Alzheimer's disease. Several have had histological confirmation of this clinical diagnosis. So far, we have collected six of these families and carried out linkage analysis using probes on the proximal short arm of chromosome 21. The results of this linkage analysis are shown in Fig. 4 (see Goate et al. 1989 for full details). In essence, our results confirm and refine those reported by St. George-Hyslop et al. (1987). Thus, they confirm that this form of Alzheimer's disease is predisposed by a locus in this region of chromosome 21; however, they also suggest that the disease locus is some considerable distance centromeric of the locus D21S1/S11 and close to the loci D21S13 and D21S16. Van Broeckhoven et al. (1989) have obtained essentially similar results through the genetic analysis of two large, earlyonset Belgian families. Thus, there are three reports which strongly suggest that early-onset disease is predisposed to by this locus.

Determining the Generality of the Chromosome 21 Linkage for Familial Alzheimer's Disease

None of the reports referred to above contain data which suggest that the disease is non-allelically genetically heterogeneous. In contrast, two reports (Schellenberg et al. 1988; Pericak-Vance et al. 1988) have failed to find evidence of a chromosome 21 linkage to Alzheimer's disease in the pedigrees that they have studied. However, these groups have used a more heterogeneous group of families for their analysis. Besides using early-onset families which conform to the criteria described above, they have also used pedigrees with a late age of onset (Pericak-Vance et al. 1988; Schellenberg et al. 1988) and pedigrees derived from a cultural isolate, the Volga Germans (Schellenberg et al. 1988). In both of these reports, the data derived from the early-onset, outbred families are consistent with a chromosome 21 location for the predisposing gene; they are thus in agreement with the three positive reports referred to above (St. George-Hyslop et al. 1987; Goate et al. 1989; Van Broeckhoven et al. 1989).

However, Schellenberg et al. (1987), Pericak-Vance et al. (1988) and our group (unpublished data) have found no evidence for linkage in families with a late age of onset of illness. Clearly, this may mean that the late-onset disease is caused by mutations at other loci. However, we are cautious about making this interpretation for two reasons. Firstly, because the genetic loci D21S13 and D21S16 are not very informative and are at the end of the current genetic map for the chromosome (human gene mapping IX; Tanzi et al. 1988), no group has been able to test the hypothesis that the late-onset disease is predisposed close to these loci or proximal of them. Yet our data (Fig. 4) and those of Van Broeckhoven et al. (1989), suggest that this is the most likely position for the locus leading to early-onset disease. Sec-



Fig. 4. Multipoint linkage map between early-onset Alzheimer's disease and loci on D21q1-q21. (From Goate et al. 1989)

ondly, as Alzheimer's disease is extremely common in the elderly, it is possible that some at least of the familial late-onset disease is merely happenstance and not related to genetic predisposition.

The data derived from the Volga German pedigrees (which are generally earlyonset; Schellenberg et al. 1988) are equally difficult to interpret at present. Thus, it is possible that this disease is predisposed by a locus on another chromosome, as the authors suggest; however, it is equally possible that the disease locus in these pedigrees, as for other familial cases of early-onset, is close to, or proximal of, D21S13 and D21S16. These loci have not been analysed or have not been informative in the Volga German population. A further problem in the analysis of the Volga German pedigrees is that the gene frequency for disease is not known in this population and may be high. A high gene frequency would reduce the chance of observing genetic linkage because it increases the possibility that the disease can be inherited from more that one source in a particular pedigree.

144 A. R. Haynes

In conclusion, data from all outbred early-onset Alzheimer's disease families are consistent with a predisposing locus on chromosome. Analyses of data derived from families with late onset are inconclusive; it remains possible that these, too, are predisposed to by the same locus, or by another locus, or are not genetic. The aetiology of the disease in Volga Germans also remains obscure.

Evidence for Allelic Heterogeneity in Early-Onset Alzheimer's Disease

The evidence reviewed above strongly suggests that the great majority, at least of familial early-onset (<60 years), Alzheimer's disease cases is caused by a locus on the proximal long arm of chromosome 21. However, many reports have demonstrated that the age of onset within a family is fairly constant, but that it differs between families (see Folstein et al. 1988). We have analysed the distribution of the age of onset within our population of families in which we have demonstrated linkage (Fig. 2; Goate et al. 1989). The results are illustrated in Fig. 5. We have confirmed in this population that the age of onset is more constant within families than between them (analysis of variance, p < 0.01). The simplest explanation of this observation is that different mutations at the same locus predis-



Fig. 5. Graph showing familiality of age of onset of chromosome 21 linked Alzheimer's disease through a plot of range of onset within a pedigree against mean age of onset within that pedigree (see also Folstein et al. 1988)

pose to disease of different onset age. This observation is likely to be important in deriving risk curves for familial Alzheimer's disease for use both in research and in clinical counselling.

Acknowledgements. We wish to thank Dr. Paul Watkins for providing the probes D21S1, D21S11, D21S4, D21S52, Dr. Gordon Stewart for providing D21S16, and Dr. David Patterson for providing the hybrid cell lines.

References

- Barlow DP, Lehrach H (1987) Genetics by gel electrophoresis: the impact of pulsed field gel electrophoresis on mammalian genetics. Trends Genet 3:167–171
- Folstein MF, Warren A, McHugh PC (1988) Heterogeneity in Alzheimer's disease: an exercise in the resolution of the phenotype. In: Sinet PM, Lamour Y, Christen Y (eds) Genetics and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 5–12
- Gardiner K, Watkins P, Munke M, Drabkin H, Jones C, Patterson D (1988) Partial physical map of chromosome 21. Somatic Cell Mol Genet 14:623-628
- Goate AM, Haynes AR, Owen MJ, Farrall M, James LA, Lai LC, Mullan MJ, Roques P, Roosor MN, Williamson R, Hardy JA (1989) Predisposing locus for Alzheimer's disease on chromosome 21. Lancet I:352-355
- Pericak-Vance MA, Yamaoka LH, Haynes CS, Speer MC, Haines JL, Gaskell PC, Hung WY, Clark CM, Heyman AL, Trofatter JA, Eisenmenger JP, Gilbert JR, Lee JE, Alberts MJ,
- Dawson DV, Bartlett RJ, Earl NL, Siddique T, Vance JM, Conneally PM, Roses AD (1988) Genetic linkage studies in Alzheimer's disease. Exp Neurol 102:271–279
- St. George-Hyslop PH, Tanzi RE, Polinsky RJ, Haines JL, Nee L, Watkins PC, Myers RH, Feldman RG, Pollen D, Drachman D, Growdon J, Bruni A, Foncin JF, Salmon D, Frommelt P, Amaducci L, Sorbi S, Piacenti S, Stewart GD, Hobbs WJ, Conneally PM, Gusella JP (1987) The genetic defect causing familial Alzheimer's disease maps to chromosome 21. Science 235:885-890
- Schellenberg GD, Bird TD, Wijsman EM, Moore DK, Boehnke M, Bryant EM, Lampe TH, Nochlin D, Sumi SM, Deeb SS, Beyreuther K, Martin GM (1988) Absence of linkage of chromosome 21q21 markers to familial Alzheimer's disease. Science 241:1507-1510
- Tanzi RE, Haines JL, Watkins PC, Stewart GD, Wallace MR, Hallewell R, Wong C, Wexler N, Conneally PM, Gusella JF (1988) Genetic linkage map of human chromosome 21. Genomics 3:129-136
- Van Broeckhoven C, Backhovens H, van Hul W, Van Camp G, Stinissen P, Wehnert A, Raeymaekers P, De Winter G, Bruyland M, Gheuens J, Martin JJ, Vandenberghe A (1989) Genetic linkage analysis in early onset familial Alzheimer's dementia. Neuropsychopharmacology (in press)

Calcium and the Cytoskeleton in Alzheimer's Disease*

M. L. Shelanski

Summary

Numerous studies in AD have shown the presence of a variety of cytoskeletal alterations within nerve cells. The presence of the microtubule-associated protein tau in the paired helical filaments has led to an increase of interest in this protein. The function of tau in vivo is still poorly understood, but knowledge of its primary structure has permitted us to better define its actions in vitro. AD appears to involve tissues other than the brain in a number of ways, including alterations of calcium homeostasis and cellular spreading.

Introduction

Although this conference focuses on markers for Alzheimer's disease (AD), it is difficult to avoid discussion of the function of the cytoskeleton. The paired helical filaments, one of the two major anatomical hallmarks of AD, is in part composed of the microtubule-associated tau and may also contain microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2; Brion et al. 1985; Kosik et al. 1986; Wischik et al. 1988; Yen et al. 1987). This may be a result of alterations in the cytoskeleton, or, conversely, the immobilization of tau may lead to cytoskeletal alterations. Tau normally plays a role in the regulation of the assembly of microtubules in vitro (Weingarten et al. 1975) and possibly in vivo (Drubin and Kirschner 1986). Other factors, especially the calcium ion, can also have profound effects on the form and function of the cytoskeleton. This chapter addresses two themes which are loosely interconnected by their relationship to the control of microtubular assembly. The first is the finding that the free cytosolic calcium concentration $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is markedly lower and cell spreading is inhibited in the fibroblasts of patients with familial AD as compared to age-matched controls. The second theme concerns the mechanism by which normal tau protein promotes microtubule assembly.

^{*} This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health and the American Health Assistance Foundation.

Alterations of [Ca²⁺]_i in Familial Alzheimer's Disease

The search for the cause of AD has concentrated on the brain. However, in many genetic diseases the results of the gene defect can be detected in all tissues of the body, even though clinical dysfunction is apparent in only one organ or organ system. For example, Tay-Sachs disease causes devastating damage to the central nervous system, but the deficiency in lysosomal hexosaminidase A which causes the disease can be detected in all tissues. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that in familial AD, at least, the biochemical abnormalities which ravage the brain can also be detected in more readily sampled peripheral tissues. Such alterations may serve as useful markers of the disease, while the tissues themselves may allow antemortem studies of biochemical processes in AD. At this moment it is unclear what pathways may be affected or what appropriate markers might be. However, in this paper and in the contributions by Saitoh and Blass in this volume, evidence is presented that characteristic alterations can be detected in skin fibroblasts taken from patients with AD.

The study of calcium in fibroblasts from AD donors began with the observation that radiocalcium (⁴⁵Ca) transport into fibroblasts from AD donors was reduced as compared to age-matched controls (Peterson et al. 1983). Shortly thereafter, the total calcium content of these cells was shown to be elevated (Peterson and Goldman 1986). The decreased entry of calcium into the cell together with the excess accumulation of calcium in the cell pointed toward a defect in the calcium metabolism in AD. However, the physiologically important form of calcium in these cells is the ionic or free calcium in the cytoplasm, $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$. This is the calcium responsible for the regulation of a wide range of cellular functions, including neurotransmitter release, cytoskeletal rearrangements, and the activation of a number of enzymes. Its normal concentration is below 100 nM, in contrast to the millimolar levels of total or bound calcium in normal cells. Measurement of ⁴⁵Ca uptake neither reveals the fate of calcium which enters the cell, nor does it reflect the amount of unlabeled calcium which may leave the cell during the same time period. Total calcium determinations are also incapable of informing us about free calcium levels. Until recently our ability to measure free calcium was limited to the use of ion-selective microelectrodes and the calcium-sensitive photoprotein aequorin. The former are too large to be utilized in most mammalian cells while the latter is relatively insensitive at concentrations under 100 nM. The development of calcium-sensitive fluorescent dyes based on dicarboxylic acid chelators (Tsien et al. 1982; Grynkiewicz et al. 1985) has greatly expanded our ability to make these measurements on a wide variety of cell types. Our laboratory has successfully used these dyes to study the role of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in the regulation of mitosis (Ratan et al. 1986; Ratan and Shelanski 1986), and we have applied these techniques to fibroblasts from familial AD and control donors.

In these studies, cells were labeled with either Quin2 or Fura2, and the ionic calcium was measured using a fluorescent microscope with UV-sensitive optics and a computer-controlled photometer (Maxfield et al. 1989). Measurements were made on six cell lines from familial AD patients, six age-matched controls, and six young normal controls. With Fura2, the values obtained were (Peterson et al. 1986): Young normals, 60 nM; age-matched controls, 40 nM; familial AD patients, 16 nM (values rounded to nearest nM).

The ability of the AD fibroblasts to respond to a variety of stimuli was also altered (Peterson et al. 1988). The results suggested that there are alterations both in the entry of calcium into the cells and in the release of calcium from intracellular reserves.

As suggestive as these results are, they must be interpreted with extreme caution. The data are limited to the familial form of AD and may not be typical of sporadic AD cases. Moreover, the number of cases that we have studied is very small and are the same cases that have been examined in the studies of ⁴⁵Ca uptake and total cell calcium (Peterson et al. 1983; Peterson and Goldman 1986). The number of cases must be expanded and other degenerative neurological diseases included to establish the specificity of the alteration. Nonetheless, data are beginning to appear from other laboratories which also point to abnormalities of calcium metabolism in aging and AD. For example, alterations in the response of aged CD4 lymphocytes to mitogens have been reported using the dye INDO-1 (Grossman et al. 1989). A report has also appeared showing a modest decrease in ⁴⁵Ca uptake into mixed lymphocyte populations from AD patients (Gibson et al. 1987).

Cell Shape and Motility in AD

When cells from the same lines that were used in the calcium studies were plated into tissue culture dishes, it was noted that almost all of the young normal cells were completely spread on the culture dish within 2 h. In contrast, only a small fraction of the AD cells spread in this time period. The age-matched controls were intermediate in value (Peterson et al. 1986). When the calcium was elevated in the AD cells using a calcium ionophore, normal spreading was observed, suggesting that the failure to spread may be the result of the low level of ionic calcium in the AD cells. Calcium transients have not been observed in the slow spreading of fibroblasts, but the more rapid spreading of neutrophils substrate is accompanied by a transient elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Kruskal et al. 1986).

Another indication of altered cytoskeletal function in AD cells comes from studies on the migration of neutrophils in a thermal gradient (Fu et al. 1986). In this case the migration of neutrophils from AD patients is severely reduced and closely resembles that of cells treated with colchicine, a microtubule-depolymerizing agent. While direct measurements of free cytosolic calcium have not been done, normal neutrophil chemotaxis is marked by an elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in the leading portion of the cells as it approaches and phagocytoses its target (Marks and Maxfield 1989). Should changes in free calcium similar to those seen in fibroblasts be observed in AD neutrophils, rapid diagnosis from a simple venipuncture would be possible. Experiments are currently underway to evaluate this phenomenon.

The alterations in calcium and cell spreading do not prove a link between the levels of ionic calcium and the cytoskeleton. However, alterations in the regulation of cytoskeletal structures may well be involved in the evolution of AD.

Tau Structure and the Promotion of Microtubule Assembly

The control of cytoskeletal assembly and function depends on the complex interplay of a variety of ionic factors, posttranslation events, and interactions of the principal fibrillar elements with accessory proteins. It has recently been established that the MAP tau is a constituent of the paired helical filaments in AD (Brion et al. 1985; Kosik et al. 1986; Wischik et al. 1988). Tau is a complex of proteins with molecular weight in the range of 50-70 kDa, and whose members are generated by both splicing and posttranslational modification. The amino acid sequences of tau from mouse (Lee et al. 1988) and man (Kosik et al. 1986, 1989) have been deduced from cDNA clones. A remarkable feature of the sequence is the presence of three highly conserved but nonidentical 18 amino acid repeats in the amino-terminal portion of the molecule. In the adult an additional repeat of this type is also present. A similar repeat is present in MAP2 (Lewis et al. 1988) and in a 190-kDa MAP (Aizawa et al. 1988). All of these MAP show an ability to promote the assembly of pure tubulin. While it has been demonstrated that the triple-repeat region of MAP2 binds to tubulin (Lewis et al. 1988), it is unclear what role this region plays in the promotion of microtubule assembly. In an attempt to clarify this issue, our laboratory synthesized peptides corresponding to the three repeat regions: Tau-(187-204), Tau-(218-235) and Tau-(250-267). Each of these peptides was then tested for its ability to promote the assembly of phos-



Fig. 1. Tau structure and the promotion of microtubule assembly. Both Tau-(187-204) and Tau-(218-235) are capable of promoting assembly of phosphocellulose-purified tubulin. Tau-(250-267) is without activity. A fourth peptide, TauR, which is composed of the same amino acids as Tau-(187-204) in a random arrangement, does not promote assembly by itself

150 M. L. Shelanski

phocellulose-purified tubulin. Both Tau-(187–204) and Tau-(218–235) were capable of promoting assembly at concentrations over 100 μ M. Tau-(250–267), on the other hand, was without activity (Ennulat et al. 1989). The calculated pI of each of the assembly-promoting peptides was 10.55, whereas the pI of the inactive peptide was 7.0. This raised the possibility that the effect was due purely to an ionic interaction between the basic peptide and the acidic MAP-binding region of tubulin (Fig. 1) (Maccioni et al. 1989). To test this possibility, we assayed a fourth peptide, TauR which was composed of the same amino acids as Tau-(187–204) in a random arrangement and had the same pI. TauR did not promote assembly by itself, but did inhibit assembly by Tau-(187–204). This suggested that the ionic interactions are important in binding, but that that promotion was sequence specific. The very high concentration of the peptides suggests that other portions of the tau molecule are critical to optimal tau activity.

There are two principal ways in which tau may act to promote microtubule assembly. It could act to cross-link tubulin molecules into oligomers which form the nucleus for tubule elongation, or it could induce a conformational change in individual tubulin molecules which in turn favors polymerization. The finding of multiple repeats in the tau molecule would be consistent with the oligomerization model. However, it is unlikely that the individual 18 amino acid peptides would serve such a function. The data favor an allosteric mechanism. The conformational change could then lead to oligomerization or directly to polymer elongation (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Tau assembly models: the two principal ways in which tau may act to promote microtubule assembly

Acknowledgements. This work was carried out in collaboration with Drs. Rajiv Ratan, James Goldman, Christine Peterson, David Ennulat, and Frederick Max-field.

References

- Aizawa H, Kawasaki H, Murofushi H, Kotani S, Suzuki K, Sakai H (1988) A common amino acid sequence in 190-kDa microtubule-associated protein and tau for the promotion of microtubule assembly. J Biol Chem 264:5885-5890
- Brion JP, van den Bosch de Aquilar P, Flament-Durand J (1985) Morphological and immunocytochemical studies in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. In: Traben J, Gispen WH (eds) Senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York, pp 164-174 (Advances in applied neurological sciences, vol 2)
- Drubin DG, Kirschner MW (1986) Tau protein function in living cells. J Cell Biol 103:2739-2746
- Ennulat DJ, Liem RKH, Hashim GA, Shelanski ML (1989) Two separate 18-amino acid domains of tau promote polymerization of tubulin. J Biol Chem 264:5327-5330
- Fu TK, Matsuyama SS, Kessler JO, Jarvik LF (1986) Philothermal response, microtubules and dementia. Neurobiol Aging 7:41–43
- Gibson GE, Nielsen P, Sherman KA, Blass JP (1987) Diminished mitogen-induced calcium uptake by lymphocytes from Alzheimer patients. Biol Psychiat 22:1079–1086
- Grossmann A, Ledbetter JA, Rabinovitch PS (1989) Reduced proliferation in T lymphocytes in aged humans is predominantly in the CD8⁺ subset, and is unrelated to defects in transmembrane signaling which are predominantly in the CD4⁺ subset. Exp Cell Res 180:367–382
- Grynkiewicz G, Poenie M, Tsien RY, (1985) A new generation of Ca2⁺ indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J Biol Chem 260:3440–3450
- Kosik VS, Joachim CL, Selkoe DJ (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4044-4048
- Kosik KS, Orecchio LD, Bakalis S, Neve RL (1989) Developmentally regulated expression of specific tau sequences. Neuron 2:1389–1397
- Kruskal BA, Shak S, Maxfield FR (1986) Spreading of human neutrophils is immediately preceded by a large increase in cytoplasmic free calcium. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:2919–2923
- Lee G, Cowan N, Kirschner M (1988) The primary structure and heterogeneity of tau protein from mouse brain. Science 239:285–288
- Lewis SA, Wang D, Cowan NJ (1988) Microtubule-associated protein MAP2 shares a microtubule binding motif with tau protein. Science 242:936–939
- Maccioni RB, Rivas C, Vera JC (1988) Differential interaction of synthetic peptides from the carboxyl-terminal regulatory domain of tubulin with microtubule-associated proteins. EMBO J 7:1957-1963
- Marks PW, Maxfield FR (1989) Rapid ratio imaging of cytosolic free calcium in neutrophils undergoing chemotaxis and phagocytosis. Cell Calcium, in press
- Maxfield FR, Bush A, Marks P, Shelanski ML (1989) Measurement of cytoplasmic free calcium in single motile cells. In: Reid E (ed) Methodological surveys in biochemistry. Plenum, New York, in press
- Peterson C, Goldman J (1986) Alterations in calcium content and biochemical processes during aging and Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:2758-2761
- Peterson C, Gibson GE, Blass JP (1983) Altered calcium utpake in cultured skin fibroblasts from patients with Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 312:1063-1065
- Peterson CR, Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Goldman J (1986) Cytoplasmic free calcium and cell spreading decreases in fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:7999–8001
- Peterson C, Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Goldman JE (1988) Altered response of fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors to drugs that elevate cytoplasmic free calcium. Neurobiol Aging 9:261–266

152 M. L. Shelanski

- Ratan RR, Shelanski ML (1986) Calcium and the regulation of mitotic events. Trends Biochem Sci 11:456–459
- Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Maxfield FR (1986) Transition from methaphase to anaphase is accompanied by local changes in cytoplasmic free calcium in Pt K2 kidney epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:5136-5140
- Tsien RY, Pozzan T, Rink TJ (1982) Calcium homeostasis in intact lymphocytes: cytoplasmic free calcium monitored with a new intracellularly trapped fluorescent indicator. J Cell Biol 94:325-334
- Weingarten MD, Lockwood AH, Hwo SY, Kirschner MW (1975) A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 72:1858-1862
- Wischik CM, Novak M, Thogersen HC, Edwards PC, Runswick MJ, Jakes R, Walker JE, Milstein C, Roth M, Klug A (1988) Isolation of a fragment of tau derived from the core of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80:1194-1198
- Yen S-H, Dickson DW, Crowe A, Butler M, Shelanski ML (1987) Alzheimer's neurofibrillary tangles contain unique epitopes and epitopes in common with the heat-stable microtubule-associated proteins tau and MAP₂. Am J Pathol 126:63-73

Use of Cultured Skin Fibroblasts in Studies of Alzheimer's Disease

J. P. Blass, A. C. Baker, K.-F. R. Sheu, L. Ko, R. S. Black, and A. Smith

Summary

Since there are at least 14 reports of abnormalities in cultured skin "fibroblasts" from patients with Alzheimer's disease (DAT), studies were performed to test whether these cells cultured from skin could also express materials related to those associated with characteristic DAT lesions. When grown in a modified PC12 medium containing chick embryo extract or in a chemically defined medium, cells from both DAT patients and controls reacted both immunocytochemically and on Western blots with antibodies to neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and neurofilaments (NF). Both DAT and control cells reacted immunocytochemically to antibodies to paired helical filaments (PHF), but under appropriate culture conditions the proportion of DAT cells containing anti-PHF reactive materials was significantly higher than in the controls. Western blots revealed no anti-PHF reactive materials entering the gels, and ultrastructural studies revealed fascicles of 10 nm filaments, but no PHF in these cells. Although the nature of the immunochemically reactive materials requires further characterization, these data do suggest that cultured cells from skin are one of the useful systems for investigating the fundamental cellular abnormalities in DAT.

Introduction

A number of approaches are being taken in different laboratories toward identifying the etiology and pathophysiological mechanisms which lead to the premature dysfunction and death of neurons in Alzheimer's disease (DAT). One approach is to characterize the structures which accumulate in the neuropathological lesions characteristic of DAT, specifically amyloid and paired helical filaments (PHF). The precursor protein of the amyloid which accumulates in the plaque cores and in small blood vessels appears to be a normal gene product (Wong et al. 1985; Glenner 1988; Kang et al. 1987). It appears to be expressed in all mammalian tissues except nonnucleated red blood cells (Glenner 1988); excessive amounts of the protein can be found in the brains of aging humans who did not (at least, not by the time they died) suffer from dementia (Davies et al. 1988). PHF are not yet well characterized at the protein level, but the components which have been robustly identified are also normal gene products, namely tau proteins and ubiquitin (Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986; Mori et al. 1987). Available evidence suggests that the

154 J. P. Blass et al.

abnormal accumulation of amyloid and of PHF in DAT is less likely to result from abnormal transcriptional or translational mechanisms than from posttranslational modifications of the protein products of these genes, which have been proposed to be due to more fundamental cellular abnormalities (Glenner 1988; Grundke-Igbal et al. 1986; Love et al. 1988). Abnormal kinase-mediated phosphorylation has been proposed to be a mechanism in the formation of PHF (Glenner 1988; Grundke-Iqbal et al. 1986; Baudier and Cole 1987), as well as ubiquitination (Glenner 1988; Mori et al. 1987). A second approach toward identifying etiological and mechanistic factors is epidemiological; epidemiological studies have reinforced evidence for familial clustering in DAT (Rocca et al. 1986) and raised a possible role for toxins, including aluminium (Birchall and Chappel 1988). A third approach is the systematic search of the genome in familial DAT, by restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis and then further studies to identify the specific gene(s). Results from this approach, including the suggestion of a pericentromeric RFLP on C21, remain controversial (Sinet et al. 1988). The possibility has been raised that DAT is genetically heterogeneous, and the question has been raised as to whether or not the currently available informative kindreds have enough living affected members (from whom DNA can be obtained) to allow confident identification of an RFLP if different genes are indeed responsible in different kindreds. A fourth approach is to identify cellular and molecular abnormalities in DAT cells and to trace their cause and their relationship to the pathophysiology of the brain disease. This approach is capable, in principle, of detecting pathophysiological mechanisms which are common to several genetic variants of the disease, as indicated by precedents in the study of inborn errors of metabolism (Stanbury et al. 1983). This fourth approach has involved the use of extraneural tissues as well as autopsy brain since a number of the abnormalities of interest, which could be linked by plausible hypotheses to the brain damage (Baker et al. 1988), are labile post mortem (e.g., membrane transport, signal transduction, cellular calcium homeostasis, or metabolism - including mitochondrial metabolism).

There are at least 40 reports of abnormalities in extraneural tissues in DAT patients (see Baker et al. 1988 for partial review), including at least 14 reports of abnormalities in "fibroblasts" cultured from their skin (Table 1). These observations suggest that cellular and molecular abnormalities in DAT may be expressed in, and therefore may be studied in cells cultured from the Alzheimer patients themselves.

As a model system, the cultured cells have the advantage that they contain the same genome (and, therefore, any abnormal genes) as in the patients. On the other hand, the clinical disabilities in DAT relate uniquely to damage to the brain, raising the question of the relevance to the brain disease of abnormalities in clinical disorders with major genetic components, such as the lipidoses, in which studies of cultured skin cells and other extraneural tissues have led not only to improved understanding of the cellular pathophysiology, but also to useful diagnostic laboratory tests (Stanbury et al. 1983). However, negative precedents also exist, for instance, in Huntington's disease (Pettegrew et al. 1979) where reports of abnormalities in cultured skin cells have not yet led to significant advances in

Abnormality	Reference
Abnormal calcium homeostasis (uptake, levels, and	Peterson et al. 1985, 1986, 1988;
response to agents which alter levels)	Peterson and Goldman 1986
Excessive isoproterenol-stimulated cyclic AMP synthesis	McSwigan 1986; Hanson and Sheppard 1979; Malow et al. 1989
Decreased [U- ¹⁴ C]glutamine oxidation	Peterson et al. 1986; Sims et al. 1987
Abnormal glucose utilization	Peterson et al. 1986; Sims et al. 1987
Abnormal protein kinase activities (PK-A, PK-C, and CaM)	Saitoh et al. 1988, Huyhn 1989; Peterson and Cotman 1987
Decreased secretion of a cholinergic growth factor	Kessler 1987
Decreased cell adhesiveness	Saitoh et al. 1988, Huyhn 1989
Decreased cell spreading	Peterson et al. 1988
Decreased mRNA for APP (only in familial form)	Saitoh et al. 1988, Huyhn 1989
Decreased secretion of APP	Saitoh et al. 1988, Huyhn 1989
Increased accumulation of materials which react with antibodies to PHF	Baker et al. 1988 (and see text)
Defective DNA repair	Robison et al. 1987; Lai and Kamins- kas 1985
Decreased transketolase activity	Gibson et al. 1988

Table 1. Reports of abnormalities in cultured Alzheimer cells

PK, protein kinase; APP, amyloid precursor protein; PHF, paired helical filaments

understanding the disorder, despite the identification of an RFLP associated with this disorder.

The approach taken by most researchers to the problem of whether or not abnormalities in cultured DAT cells (and in other extraneural tissues) provide significant information about the disease process has been to study intensively the mechanisms underlying the abnormalities, in order to determine whether or not any of them relate by compelling hypotheses to the brain damage (Baker et al. 1988; Malow et al. 1989; Sims et al. 1987; Gibson et al. 1988). The hypotheses generated to relate the abnormalities discovered in the cultured cells to the brain damage by researchers using this approach have been plausible, but none has been generally accepted as compelling (Baker et al. 1988; Peterson et al. 1986; Malow et al. 1989; Sims et al. 1987; Kessler 1987; Robinson et al. 1987; Gibson et al. 1988). An alternative approach is to try to investigate abnormalities which have a "face validity," in that they deal with materials which characteristically accumulate in DAT. The classical neuropathological markers for DAT are paired helical filaments (PHF) and Alzheimer amyloid (Wong et al. 1985; Glenner 1988; Love et al. 1988). At the molecular level, neither marker is entirely specific for DAT, but no more widely accepted molecular markers for the biological process of DAT have as yet been identified (Glenner 1988; Love et al. 1988). Recent observations suggest that molecules which react with antibodies raised to preparations of PHF ("anti-PHF reactive materials") can be studied in cells cultured from human skin.

Methods and Results

Fibroblasts cultured from human skin were obtained from the Coriell Institute Repository in Camden, NJ, USA. These cells were then grown in a modified PC12 medium. Cells were plated at 10^4 /cm² in DMEM containing 16% fetal calf serum (FCS) and incubated overnight to facilitate attachment. This medium was then carefully removed, with three rinses in Puck's saline A to remove all traces of FCS. The medium was then replaced with the modified PC12 medium (EGE medium). This EGE medium contained "low glucose" (1.0 g/l) DMEM, 5% chick embryo extract, 1 mM dibutyryl cyclic AMP, 100 ng/ml of nerve growth factor (NGF, 7S, from Collaborative Research), and 10 µg/ml gangliosides (mixed, from bovine brain, type II, Sigma), 1% penicillin-streptomycin and 1% fungizone. It was filtered through an 0.45 µ Nalgene filter before use. The cells survived for up to 4 weeks in the EGE medium, but were normally studied after 10–14 days. Medium was replenished with fresh medium, including fresh growth factors every 4th day.

After 10–14 days in the EGE medium, the morphology of the cells was altered compared with cells from the same culture grown in parallel, but in DMEM with 16% FCS. Of the cells in the EGE medium, 29.7% \pm 9.3% had a spindle-shaped "fibroblastoid" morphology, while 70.3 \pm 9.3% had a more symmetrical cell body; in cells from the same cultures, but grown in DMEM with FCS for the same time, 93.3 \pm 2.0% of the cells were spindle shaped and 7.3 \pm 2.3 were not (mean \pm SEM for six cultures in each condition, at least 100 cells counted for each culture). The differences in the distribution of spindle-shaped versus nonspindle-shaped cells under the two culture conditions were significant (P < 0.002 by two-tailed t-test).

In recent experiments, in which cells have been cultured in a chemically defined medium, the cells have developed long processes although the cell bodies retain a flat morphology (Fig. 1). This chemically defined medium (CDMd) consists of low glucose DMEM, 1 mM dibutyryl cyclic AMP, 100 ng/ml of NGF, and 10 ng/ml of basic fibroblast growth factor (from bovine pituitary, Collaborative Research). Cells were plated in DMEM with 16% FCS at 10^{3} /cm² polylysine-coated, glass-based two-chamber slides or polylysine-coated plastic petri dishes. The low plating density was chosen to prevent contact inhibition. After an overnight incubation to allow attachment of the cells, the medium was changed to CDMd. Medium was replenished on the 3rd day, and on the 4th day the cells were fixed or harvested.

Cells grown in EGE medium stained immunocytochemically for two conventional markers used to identify neurons in culture, namely neuron-specific enolase (NSE; polyclonal, Polysciences, Warrington, PA) and neurofilaments (Polyclonal kindly donated by Dr. Charles Marotta, Harvard University). Western blots of extracts of the cells confirmed the existence of materials immunoreactive with these antibodies and with the electrophoretic motility expected of NSE (Fig. 2) and of each of the three neurofilament polypeptides. In recent experiments, cultured skin cells grown in the CDMd medium (a chemically defined modification of the EGE medium) have been found to react immunocytochemically with the polyclonal antibody to NSE and with a total of three polyclonal and three monoclonal antibodies to neurofilaments. These included polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies to each of the three neurofilament subunits.



Fig. 1. Fibroblasts grown in chemically defined medium (CDMd). Cells from a control subject were cultured on glass-based, polylysine coated two-chamber slides in CDMd, exactly as described in the text, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered-saline (PBS) for 30 min, and viewed with Nomarski optics (× 138)

When grown in EGE medium, DAT cells have been found to contain materials which react immunocytochemically with antibodies raised to PHF ("anti-PHF reactive materials") significantly more frequently than did cells from control subjects (Fig. 3). Results have been consistent in studies of 19 patients with both familial and apparently sporadic DAT compared to 19 cognitively intact controls of comparable age and sex. Preliminary results suggest that when grown in the CDMd medium, cells from both Alzheimer and control subjects contain anti-PHF reactive materials, but the staining is again greater in the Alzheimer cells. Western blots of Alzheimer cells grown in the EGE medium revealed no anti-PHF reactive



Fig. 2. Immunoblot for neuron-specific enolase. Cell extracts were prepared from the temporal cortex of a patient who died without neurological disease (*lane B*) or from fibroblasts (*lanes F*) grown in EGE medium. Brain and cells were homogenized in a solution containing proteinase inhibitors (10 mM Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7.2), 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 2 mM EGTA, 25 μ M leupeptin, 5 μ l aprotinin, and 50 μ l trypsin inhibitor). Blots were prepared and analyzed by published methods (Rittling et al. 1986; Sheu et al. 1988; Towbin et al. 1979)

materials entering the separating sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) gels; electron microscopy revealed fascicles of 10 nm filaments, but no structures identical to PHF (Baker et al. 1988).

Close attention to the details of tissue culture technique has proven critical to observing increased immunocytochemical staining with anti-PHF antibodies in Alzheimer compared to control lines. Experiments to explore the mechanisms leading to the expression of anti-PHF reactive materials in these cells have indicated that a variety of controlled insults can increase the proportion of control cells reacting immunocytochemically with anti-PHF antibodies to levels comparable to DAT cells. These include culturing control cells with CCCP, an uncoupler of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (Baker et al. 1988), and with aluminum. These agents were chosen because mitochondrial uncoupling (Sims et al. 1983, 1987a, b) and aluminum toxicity (Balin et al. 1988) have been proposed as cellular mechanisms in DAT. Whether other agents also induce anti-PHF reactivity in this system is being studied; data so far are consistent with the hypothesis that accumulation of anti-PHF reactive materials is one of the ways cells can respond to metabolic insults (Love et al. 1988; Baker et al. 1988). Furthermore, preliminary observations suggest that anti-PHF reactivity increases even in cells from controls which are approaching the end of their life span in culture (i.e., close to phaseout). This observation is also of potential pathophysiological interest since it raises the possibility that the accumulation of these materials, which are typical of DAT, may represent an interaction of biological age with environmental factors as well as with genetic predisposition. From the viewpoint of the proposed experiments, however, they reinforce the necessity of comparing DAT and control cell lines under precisely comparable conditions and at closely comparable biological age in culture.



Fig. 3A, B. Immunocytochemical reactivity of skin cells with an anti-PHF antibody. Cells from an Alzheimer patient (a) and a control subject (b) were grown in EGE medium exactly as described in the text, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline for 30 min, and stained immunocytochemically with the commercial (ICN) polyclonal anti-PHF antibody (dilution 1 : 1000), using the SABC technique (Zymed). The nuclear staining in **b** reflects counterstaining with hematoxyclin

Growth properties and biological ages of DAT and control cultures have been compared in detail in a collaborative study between Burke and the Laboratory of Investigative Dermatology at Rockefeller University (Rittling et al. 1986). Four DAT lines were compared with six control lines from donors of comparable chronological age and sex in thymidine incorporation (Cristofalo index), DNA/ cell, and protein/cell; cumulative population doubling levels (cPDL) and passages to phaseout were marginally, but statistically significantly higher in the DAT lines

160 J. P. Blass et al.

(P < 0.05). These data indicate that DAT cells do not show premature aging in culture. Others have noted no significant differences in the growth properties of DAT and control cells (Peterson and Goldman 1986; Peterson et al. 1986). Since growth properties and biological age in culture can have profound effects on the properties of cells cultured from skin, including the genes expressed (Sheu et al. 1988), this point is critical and requires reexamination in a larger population.

Discussion

The differences reported between cells from DAT and control lines have been quantitative and not so large as to appear "all-or-none." Their replicability over time and their confident interpretation require that DAT and control cultures be compared under as closely controlled and matched conditions as possible and in a large series. Abnormalities reported in cells from relatively small series of DAT patients and controls which do not replicate in a large series, including disease controls, are likely to be epiphenomena which do not call for intensive further research from the viewpoint of DAT.

Abnormalities which do replicate in a larger series or to characterize subgroups of DAT patients are likely to be interesting. They may provide useful laboratory aids to diagnosis, particularly for patients with atypical manifestations or other complicating disease processes. Such laboratory aids may be useful whether they turn out to be trait-dependent or state-dependent markers. They would be complimentary to RFLP or other markers at the DNA level since markers at the DNA level are presumptively trait-dependent markers and may be difficult to use if there is marked genetic heterogeneity (Sinet et al. 1988). Cellular abnormalities could turn out to relate to common pathophysiological mechanisms, which could, in principle, result from a number of related gene defects, and therefore be more useful diagnostic markers than studies at the DNA level; precedents for this possibility exist in a number of inborn errors of metabolism (Stanbury et al. 1983). Abnormalities which characteristically occur in cells from DAT or DAT subgroups may also be of interest by providing clues to the cellular pathophysiology. Such clues can then be used to guide further mechanistic research. If such mechanistic studies in relatively small series lead to interesting new observations, the clinical significance of those abnormalities will again have to be checked in a larger series.

The data available at the present time do suggest, however, that the use of extraneural tissues, including cultured cells from skin, may be one of the valid approaches to trying to unravel the cellular pathophysiology of DAT.

References

Baker A, Ko L, Blass JP (1988) Systemic manifestations of Alzheimer's disease. Age 11:60–65 Baker AC, Ko L, Sheu RFK, Young O, Blass JP (1988) Studies of "neuronal" and "Alzheimer" antigens in skin cells. Alz Dis Rel Dis 2:178

Balin AK, Baker AC, Leong IC, Blass JP (1988) Normal replicative lifespan of Alzheimer disease fibroblasts. Neurobiol Aging 9:195–198

- Baudier J, Cole RD (1987) Phosphorylation of tau proteins to a state like that in Alzheimer's brain is catalyzed by a calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase and modulated by phospholipids. J Biol Chem 262:17577-17583
- Birchall JD, Chappel JS (1988) Aluminum, chemical physiology, and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet II:1008-1010
- Davies L, Wolska B, Hilbich C, Multhaup G, Martins R, Simms G, Beyreuther K, Masters CL (1988) A4 amyloid protein deposition and the diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: prevalence in aged brains determined by immunocytochemistry compared with conventional neuropathologic techniques. Neurology 38:1688-1693
- Gibson GE, Sheu KFR, Blass JP, Baker A, Carlson KC, Harding B, Perrino P (1988) Reduced activities of thiamine-dependent enzymes in the brains and peripheral tissues of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol 46:836–840
- Glenner GG (1988) Alzheimer's disease: its problems and genes. Cell 52:307-308
- Grundke-Iqbal I, Iqbal K, Tung YC, Quinlan M, Wisniewski HM, Binder LI (1986) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:4913–4917
- Hanson DR, Sheppard JR (1979) Hormone responsiveness in cultured human skin fibroblasts from individuals with Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Am J Human Genetics 31:49A
- Huyhn TV, Cole G, Katzman R, Huang K-P, Saitoh T (1989) Reduced M_r 79,000 protein phosphorylation and PK-C immunoreactivitiy in AD fibroblasts. Arch Neurol, in press
- Kang J, Lemaire H-G, Unterbeck A, Salbaum JM, Masters CL, Grzaeschik K-H, Multhaup G, Beyreuther K, Mueller-Hill B (1987) The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature 325:733-736
- Kessler JA (1987) Deficiency of a cholinergic differentiating factor in fibroblasts of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 21:95–97
- Lai JC, Kaminskas E (1985) Deficient repair of DNA lesions in Alzheimer's disease fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 129:733-738
- Love S, Saitoh T, Quijada S, Cole GM, Terry RD (1988) Alz-50, ubiquitin, and tau immunoreactivity of neurofibrillary tangles, Pick bodies, and Lewy bodies. J Neuropathol Expt Neurol 47:393-405
- Malow BA, Baker AC, Gleason PM, Blass JP (1989) Use of cultured skin fibroblasts to search for new remedies for Alzheimer's disease. Arch Neurol (in press)
- McSwigan JD (1986) Alzheimer disease fibroblasts accumulate more cyclic AMP in response to beta adrenergic stimulation vs normal fibroblasts. Neurosci Abstr 12:1316
- Mori H, Kondo J, Ihara Y (1987) Ubiquitin is a component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease. Science 235:1641-1644
- Peterson C, Cotman CW (1987) Decreased growth factor response and protein phosphorylation in fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Neurosci Abstr 18:366.11
- Peterson C, Goldman JE (1986) Alterations in calcium content and biochemical processes in cultured skin fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:2578-2580
- Peterson C, Gibson GE, Blass JP (1985) Altered calcium uptake in cultured skin fibroblasts from patients with Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 312:1063-1065
- Peterson C, Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Goldman JE (1986) Altered response of fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors to drugs that elevate cytosolic free calcium. Neurobiol Aging 9:261-266
- Peterson C, Ratan RR, Shelanski ML, Goldman JE (1988) Cytosolic free calcium and cell spreading decrease in fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:7999–8001
- Pettegrew JW, Nichols JS, Stewart RM (1979) Fluorescence spectroscopy on Huntington's fibroblats. J Neurochem 23:905–911
- Rittling SR, Brooks GM, Cristofalo VJ, Baserga R (1986) Expression of cell-cycle-dependent genes in young and senescent WI-38 fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:3316-3320
- Robinson SH, Munzer JS, Tandan R, Bradley WG (1987) Alzheimer's disease cells exhibit defective repair of alkylating-induced DNA damage. Ann Neurol 21:250-258

- 162 J. P. Blass et al.
- Rocca WA, Amaducci LA, Schoenberg BS (1986) Epidemiology of clinically diagnosed Alzheimer disease. Ann Neurol 19:415-421
- Saitoh T, Cole G, Huynh T, Katzman R, Sundsmo M (1988) Abnormal protein kinase C in Alzheimer fibroblasts. Neurosci Abstr 19:65.4
- Sheu K-FR, Blass JP, Cederbaum JM, Kim Y-T, Harding BJ, DeCicco J (1988) Mitochondrial enzymes in hereditary ataxias. Metab Brain Dis 3:151-156
- Sims NR, Bowen DM, Neary D, Davison AN (1983) Metabolic processes in Alzheimer's disease: adenine nucleotide content and production of ¹⁴CO₂ form [U-¹⁴C]glucose in vitro in human neocortex. J Neurochem 41:1329–1334
- Sims NR, Finegan JM, Blass JP (1987a) Altered metabolic properties of cultured skin fibroblasts in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 21:451-456
- Sims NR, Finegan JM, Blass JP, Bowen DM, Neary D (1987b) Mitochondrial function in brain tissue in primary degenerative dementia. Brain Res 436:30-36
- Sinet PM, Lamour Y, Christen Y (eds) (1988) Genetics and Alzheimer's disease. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York
- Stanbury JD, Wyngaarden JB, Fredrickson DS, Goldstein JL, Brown MS (eds) (1983) The metabolic basis of inherited disease, 5th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J (1979) Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 76:4350-4354
- Wong CW, Quaranta V, Glenner GG (1985) Neuritic plaques and cerebrovascular amyloid in Alzheimer disease are antigenically related. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 82:8729-8732

Lactate Production and Glycolytic Enzymes in Skin Cultured Cells from Alzheimer's Disease Patients*

S. Sorbi, M. Mortilla, S. Piacentini, G. Tesco, S. Tonini, and L. Amaducci

Abstract

Changes in energy metabolism related enzymes have been reported in the brain of patients affected by Alzheimer's dementia. Recently an increase in lactate production was also observed in cultured cells from Alzheimer's patients. In this paper we report the results of an investigation of lactate production and of the activity of phosphofructokinase, lactate dehydrogenase and hexokinase in skin cultured fibroblasts from familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease patients. The production of lactate and the activity of phosphofructokinase and lactate dehydrogenase were similar in all groups studied. However, the activity of hexokinase was deficient in some patients with the familial dominant form of Alzheimer's disease whereas it was normal in sporadic cases. These results suggest that Alzheimer's disease may be a heterogenous disorder and that a modification on the catalytic activity of the rate limiting glycolitic enzyme hexokinase may play an important role in the pathogenesis of the disease in at least a subgroup of patients.

Introduction

Abnormalities in cerebral metabolic rate, cerebral oxygen consumption, cerebral blood flow, and cerebral glucose utilization were among the earliest and best documented alterations in dementias (Quastel 1932; Sokoloff 1966). Some studies have also indicated modifications in activities of enzymes of energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease (AD) and other dementias. Perry et al. (1980) and Sorbi et al. (1983) observed decreased activity of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDHC) in affected areas of brains from patients with AD and Huntington's disease. In an extensive study Bowen et al. (1979) observed that 19 of 37 neuroconstituents examined were reduced in postmortem AD brain. Among these the most marked decrease was in the activity of phosphofructokinase (PFK), a key enzyme in glycolysis that may be the rate-limiting enzyme in cerebral glucose utilization (Lowrey and Passanneau 1964). Iwangoff et al. (1980) also reported

^{*} This work was supported by grants from the Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche (85.00772.56 and 86.01951.56).

164 S. Sorbi et al.

declines of PFK activity with age and a marked decrease (90% of age-matched control values) in Alzheimer cerebral cortex.

The abnormality in PFK observed in postmortem brain seems to persist, in at least some patients, in cultured skin fibroblasts even after several passages (Sorbi and Blass 1983). Studies on cultured skin fibroblasts have also shown abnormalities in PDHC and PFK activities in patients with trisomy C-21 (Down's) syndrome (Sorbi et al. 1983; Sorbi and Blass 1983), who are at very high risk to develop Alzheimer's changes if they live long enough. Recently Sims et al. (1985, 1987) observed increased lactate production and decreased CO_2 production in cultured skin fibroblasts from AD patients. Contrasting results, however, have been reported by Peterson and Goldman (1986), who failed to observe changes in lactate production in similar cell cultures from AD patients. Moreover, the study by Peterson and Goldman (1986) indicated an overall alteration in cell metabolism in cultured skin fibroblasts. They reported changes in glucose oxidation, calcium content, protein and DNA synthesis in aged and AD fibroblasts.

To further investigate the involvement of glycolysis in cultured cells from AD patients, we studied lactate production, PFK, hexokinase (HK), and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activities in cultured skin fibroblasts from patients affected by familial AD, their unaffected relatives, patients with sporadic AD, apparently normal controls, and pathological controls.

Materials and Methods

The subjects of this study included three patients with familial AD: two brothers and a cousin from the same pedigree (family 1). Skin fibroblasts were also studied from three nonblood relatives (spouses) of family 1 and six age-matched, nonrelated, apparently normal controls. Leukocytes were also used to study PFK and HK in three other patients with familial AD, five with sporadic AD, and five apparently normal age-matched controls.

Fibroblast cell cultures were obtained from forearm skin biopsy. Cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium, supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum and harvested at confluence, 5-7 days after a 3:1 subculture, by mild trypsinization. Periodic testing revealed no contamination by pleuropneumonia-like organism. Protein content and cell numbers were similar in all lines studied as well as passage numbers. All cell lines were coded and studied in triplicate in at least three different experiments. Leukocytes were obtained in 30 ml blood collected from patients who fasted overnight, using a plastic syringe containing heparin.

PFK activity was measured by the method of Racker (1947) as modified by Sorbi and Blass (1983), LDH by that of Clark and Nicklas (1970), HK by that of Racker (1947), and protein concentration by that of Lowry et al. (1951).

Results

The activities of fibroblast PFK and LDH were comparable in all groups studied (Table 1). Fibroblast HK activity was significantly decreased in the affected mem-

	PFK	LDH	НК
$\overline{\text{Controls}(n=6)}$	34.3 ± 11	997 ± 27	25.3 ± 6
Familial AD $(n = 3)$	39.6 ± 11	621 ± 12	19.3 ± 2^{a}
Unaffected relatives $(n = 3)$	28.8 ± 12	486 ± 72	29.0 ± 5

Table 1. Fibroblast PFK, LDH, and HK, in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease (nmol/kg protein per minute)

^a p < 0.05

bers of family 1 compared to the unaffected relatives. All affected members of this family had HK activity below the lowest of control values. Leukocyte PFK activity was normal in those with sporadic and those with familial AD (Table 2). Leukocyte HK activity was significantly decreased in patients with familial but not in those with sporadic AD. LDH production was comparable in cultured skin fibroblasts from affected members of family 1, their unaffected relatives, and three controls (Table 3).

 Table 2. Leukocyte PFK and HK in familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease (nmol/kg protein per minute)

	PFK	НК
$\overline{\text{Controls}(n=5)}$	27.11 ± 9	55.9 ± 12
Familial $AD(n=3)$	20.9 ± 9	36.1 ± 5^{a}
AD(n=5)	40.5 ± 19	56.3 ± 24

 $^{a} p < 0.05$

Table 3. LDH production in familial Alzheimer's disease (nmol/kg protein per hour)

Familial AD $(n = 3)$	858 ± 40
Unaffected relatives $(n = 5)$	756 ± 12
Controls $(n = 3)$	676 ± 242

Discussion

In vivo studies of cerebral metabolic rates for oxygen and glucose and of cerebral blood flow have consistently disclosed significant reductions in the Alzheimer brain. Moreover, there is now evidence that metabolic changes associated with AD are not confined to the brain. The significance of the finding of abnormalities in peripheral tissues in AD is not yet clear. It is difficult to assess the role of metabolic changes in peripheral cells in the pathogenesis of AD. The finding of any abnormality in cultured cells even after several cell passages should indicate that such an abnormality is independent of exogenous factors and is linked, at least 166 S. Sorbi et al.

broadly, to the cellular genome. Moreover, the finding of a consistent abnormality in peripheral cells may lead to a biological marker being used as a test for the diagnosis.

In this study we report evidence of an alteration in the catalytic activity of the glycolytic rate-limiting enzyme HK in patients affected with the familial form of AD. Enzyme values were decreased versus unaffected relatives and versus apparently normal, unrelated controls. HK activity was decreased in cultured skin fibroblasts and in leukocytes from these patients but was normal in cells from patients with sporadic AD. In patients with familial AD, LDH concentration was normal, in contrast to the results of Sims et al. (1986).

These results suggest a possible heterogeneity among AD patients, suggesting that at least a subgroup with the familial form has a modification in the activity of HK. Further studies are in progress to evaluate the frequency of this finding among patients with familial AD and to characterize this abnormality at a molecular level.

References

- Bowen DM, White P, Spillane JA, Goodhart MJ, Curzon G, Iwangoff P, Mayer-Rouge W, Davison AN (1979) Accelerated aging or selective neuronal loss as an important cause of dementia? Lancet I:11-12
- Clark JB, Niclas WJ (1970) The metabolism of rat brain mitochondria. J Biol Chem 245:4724-4731
- Iwangoff P, Armbruster R, Enz A, Mayer-Rouge W (1980) Glycolytic enzymes from human autopsy brain cortex: normal aged and demented cases. Mech Aging Dev 14:203-209
- Lowrey OH, Passaneau J (1964) The relation between substrates and enzymes of glycolysis in brain. J Biol Chem 139:31-38
- Lowry OH, Rosenbrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193:265-275
- Perry EK, Perry RH, Tomlinson BE, Blessed G, Gibson PH (1980) Coenzyme A acetylating enzymes in Alzheimer's disease: possible cholinergic "compartments" of pyruvate dehydrogenase. Neurosci Lett 18:105-109
- Peterson C, Goldman JE (1986) Alterations in calcium content and biochemical processes in cultured skin fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:2758-2762
- Quastel JH (1932) Biochemistry and mental disorder. Lancet II:1417-1425
- Racker R (1947) Spectrophotometric measurement of hexokinase and phosphoexokinase activity. J Biol Chem 167:843-854
- Sims N, Finegan JM, Blass JP (1985) Altered glucose metabolism in fibroblasts from patients with Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 313:638-639
- Sims N, Finegan JM, Blass JP (1987) Altered metabolic properties of cultured skin fibroblasts in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 21:451–457
- Sokoloff L (1966) Cerebral circulatory and metabolic changes associated with aging. Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Mental Dis 41:237–241
- Sorbi S, Bird ED, Blass JP (1983) Decreased pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity in Huntington and Alzheimer brain. Ann Neurol 13:72–73
- Sorbi S, Blass JP (1983) Fibroblast phosphofructokinase in Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Banbury Rept 15:297-307

Subject Index

A 68 (cf Alz-50) acetylcholine 92, 100 acetylcholinesterase 1, 3, 6-12 ACTH 1, 8, 12 age of onset 1, 43, 131, 132, 142-144 aging genes 24 aging (normal) 18, 23, 24, 73-82, 84, 90, 91, 153 allelic heterogeneity 144-145 a-1-antichymotrypsin 18 α -glycerol phosphate 86 α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH) 1, 8, 10, 12 altered protein kinase 111 aluminium 53, 93, 99, 100, 154 Alz-50 19-20, 40, 44, 49-50, 107-108, 112 Ammon's horn 60, 61 amyloid 17-18, 23, 27, 30-32, 40, 52, 67, 73-82, 105, 112, 118, 123, 130, 135, 154 amyloid (in cerebral blood vessels) 17, 18, 130 amyloid precursor protein 17, 31, 92, 100, 105, 112 - 115, 118 - 121, 123 - 129, 155amyloid precursor protein gene 17, 52, 118-122, 123-129, 130-131, 133-135 amyloid protein (= β protein or A4 protein) 17, 24, 27-28, 30, 31, 42, 52, 57, 93, 99, 100, 114, 118-122, 123, 126, 127 amyloidosis 24, 120, 121, 130, 135 AP-1 119, 120 AP5 95, 96 astrocyte 81, 113 astrocytosis 84 basal forebrain 3 Binswanger's disease 109, 110 biopterin 1, 8, 9 blood-brain barrier permeability 3 blood-brain barrier 2-3, 5, 135blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier 2-3, 5c-fos 120 c-iun 120 calcium 35, 93, 99, 100, 108, 111, 146-152, 154, 155, 164

calcium metabolism 100, 112 calmodulin-dependent protein kinase 35, 50, 93, 107, 108 calmoduline 108 casein kinase 107, 108, 110-115 caudate nucleus 11, 43, 49 cell adhesiveness 155 cell shape (in Alzheimer's disease) 148 cellular degeneration 98, 111 centenarians (brain of) 81 cerebellum 11, 31, 43, 49 cerebral blood flow 163 cerebral glucose utilization 155, 163 Cerebrospinal fluid 1-16, 17-20, 23-29, 39, 41-42, 47-48, 66, 69 CF18 (leukocyte adhesion molecule) 131 cholinergic differentiation factor 111 cholinergic growth factor 155 cholinergic marker 1, 8-10 cholinergic projections 3 cholinergic system 1, 12, 84 chromosome 16 (of mouse) 134 chromosome 21 17, 21, 118, 123, 130-134, 138 - 1455-hydroxyindoleacetic acid 1, 6, 8-10 computer molecular modeling 94-96 cortex 32, 43, 44, 46, 49, 69, 70, 84, 86, 87, 90, 99, 135, 164 corticotropin (cf ACTH) corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) 1, 4, 8, 9, 10, 12 cyclic AMP responsive element 119-120 cytoskeleton 39, 43, 56-57, 106, 146-152 dementia pugilistica 19, 24, 30 dendritic changes (with age) 91 dendritic proliferation 83, 91, 99 dentate gyrus 91 diagnostic test 1, 4-5, 12, 17-22, 23-29, 160, 166 DNA probe 20, 30, 124, 139-143 DNA marker 20, 130, 132, 139, 160 DNA repair 155

dopamine-beta-hydroxylase 3

dopaminergic marker 1
dopaminergic system 1, 12 Down's syndrome 20, 24, 42, 118, 121, 123, 130.164 Dutch familial vascular amyloidosis 24, 31 dvnein 33 dystrophic neurites 32 early-onset vs late-onset 1, 10, 12, 20, 43, 49, 131-133, 142-144 ectoantigens 24 epidermal growth factor 113, 114 erythrocyte membrane 99 ets-2 oncogene 131 event-related evoked potentials 84 excitatory neurotoxin 98 excitatory postsynaptic potential 96-98 extraneural tissues (and Alzheimer's disease) 18, 135, 146-151, 153-160, 163-166 familial Alzheimer's disease 20, 24, 118, 121, 123, 130-135, 138-145, 146-148, 155, 164 - 166fibroblast growth factor 114, 156 fibroblast 110-111, 114, 146-148, 153-162, 163 - 166GABA 4 gene of the familial Alzheimer's disease 20, 118-120, 123, 130-137, 138-145 glial cell 69 glucose uptake 84, 163 glutamate 4, 53, 83, 93-95, 98-100 glycerol 3-phosphoethanolamine 85, 93 glycerol 3-phosphocholine 85, 86, 93 glycolytic enzymes 163-166 granule cell 60 growth factor 91, 92, 99, 100, 105, 106, 114 Guam Parkinson 30 Ha-ras oncogene 86 heat shock element 119 heparan sulfate proteoglycan 114 heterogeneity (in Alzheimer's disease) 1, 5, 12, 131-133, 144-145, 160, 166 hexokinase 164-166 hippocampus 3, 19, 24, 30, 33, 49, 56, 59, 60, 66, 67, 69, 70, 83, 91, 93, 97-99 Histocompatibility antigen 70 homeobox protein 120 homovanillic acid 1, 6-12 housekeeping gene 119 Hox1.3 protein 119-120 Huntington disease 91, 154-155, 163 hybridization (in situ) 56-63, 130, 135 hydrocephalus 6

hyperphosphorylation 83, 99

IgG 3 Immunoabsorption experiments 41, 45-46 Immunocytochemistry 19, 31, 33, 42, 45, 56-63, 71, 75, 156-157, 159 insulin 114 insulin-like growth factor 114 Intellectual deterioration (in Alzheimer's disease) 73-81 inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor 134 in vivo studies 4, 90 ion channel 99, 100 IP3 95, 96, 99, 100 ischemia 108, 110 kinases (cf also protein kinase C) 31, 34, 52, 53, 105-117, 154, 155 kinesin 33 Kunitz protease inhibitor 118, 127, 134, 135 L-dopa 10 L-phosphoserine 93-95, 97 laboratory test (cf also diagnostic test) 23-29, 154 lactate production 164 lactate dehydrogenase 164-166 linkage analysis 130-134, 138-145 locus coeruleus 3, 12, 84 LOD score 132, 133 macrophages 66-67, 69, 71, 81 membrane phospholipid 100 memory loss 83, 98, 100 meninges 66, 69 microfilament 57 microglial cell 66-71, 81 microtubule 18, 31, 33, 34, 35, 40, 57, 73, 106, 107, 113, 146, 149-150 microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) 32, 34, 35, 42, 43, 56-65, 146, 149-150 migraine 26 Mini Mental State Exam 8, 10, 41 mobility of the cells (an Alzheimer's disease) 148 molecular insights (into Alzheimer's disease) 83 - 104monoaminergic marker 8-10 MRC OX-2 antigen 118 multi-infarct dementia 27, 110 multiple sclerosis 3, 25, 26 myoclonus 1, 9, 10, 12 N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) 83, 93–99 neocortex 3, 19, 30, 66, 67, 73-81, 83, 84 neonatal brain 19, 62 nerve growth factor 105, 114, 156 neuritic plaque (cf senile plaque) neuroblastoma 108

progressive supranuclear palsy 19

neurochemical marker 1-16 neurofibrillary tangle (cf also paired helical filament) 4, 18-19, 24, 30-38, 40, 44, 51, 56-65, 66, 74-80, 83, 84, 89, 92, 100, 105-108, 112-114, 123 neurofilament 18, 19, 42, 57, 106, 113, 153, 156 neuron-specific enolase 153, 158 neuronal death 23, 31, 39, 52, 53, 84, 111, 112, 123, 135 neuronal plasticity 33, 134 neuropeptides 3, 4, 5, 8 neuropeptide Y 1, 4, 6-8, 10-12neurotransmitters 1-16, 23, 99, 100 neurotrophic activity 93, 111-114 nuclear magnetic resonance 83-104 neucleus basalis of Meynert 84, 135 oncogene 86, 91, 92, 99, 100 opioid-peptide 8 **P**60 108-109, 112, 113 P79 111 P86 109, 111, 112 paired helical filament (cf also neurofibrillary tangles) 23-29, 39-55, 57, 62, 66-72, 73-82,92,99,106-107,110,111,113,114, 146, 153-155, 157, 158 palmitoryloleoylphosphatidylcholine 93 palmitoryloleoylphosphatidyl-ethanolamine93 parahippocampal gyrus 91 Parkinson's disease 12, 109 Parkinsonism-dementia complex 24, 30 pathogenesis (of Alzheimer's disease) 3, 4, 92, 100, 106, 109, 130, 160, 165 pedigree 131-133, 140-143, 164 peptidergic marker 8-10phosphatase 35, 40, 41, 46, 50, 52, 106, 109 phosphatidylcholine 86, 92, 99 phosphatidylethanolamine 86, 92, 99 phosphatidilserine 92, 93 phosphocholine 85, 86, 91-97 phosphodiester 83-100 phosphoethanolamine 85, 86, 91-97 phosphofructokinase 163-165 phospholipase A 86, 89 phospholipase C 83, 89, 91, 99, 100 phospholipase D 86, 91 phospholipide 86, 89-93, 99, 100, 108 phosphomonoester 83-100 phosphoprotein phosphatase 109 phosphorylation of protein 105-115 Pick's disease 19, 109, 110 platelet membrane 91, 93, 99 positron emission tomography (PET) 3, 4, 84 posttranslational modification 35, 62-63, 111, 114-115, 149, 154 premature aging 160

protease inhibitor 112, 118, 123, 127, 128, 134, 135 protein kinase C 35, 83, 93, 100, 105-115, 155 proto-oncogene 120 pyramidal neuron 32, 33, 60, 83, 93, 123 pyruvate dehydrogenase complex 163, 164 raphe nucleus 3,84 regeneration 30, 32, 91, 114 restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) 131, 154, 155, 160 retrograde degeneration 84 RNA probe 33, 135 senile plaque 4, 17-19, 23, 24, 28, 30, 32, 39, 44, 51, 56, 57, 66, 68, 73-80, 83, 84, 89, 92, 100, 105-106, 108, 110-114, 123 serotonergic deficit 1 serotonergic marker 12 somatostatin 1, 4, 6-11 spinal cord 2, 6, 11, 31, 43, 49 splicing of the precursor of amyloid protein 118-120, 127 stroke 25, 26 subacute sclerosis panencephalitis 30 superoxyde dismutase 53, 131 synaptogenesis 34, 121 synaptophysin 121 tau 18, 24-25, 30-38, 39-55, 57, 62, 73-82, 83, 99, 106, 107, 109, 110, 111, 146, 149 - 150, 153tau phosphorylation 34-35, 40, 45-46, 50. 52, 62, 66, 73, 80, 81, 92, 99, 100, 106, 107, 110, 113 Tau 64 39-55 Tau 69 39-55 tau splicing 34-35, 149 thalamus 43,84 toxification 52 transketolase activity 155 trauma 3 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylthyleneglycol (MHPG) 1, 5, 6, 8, 10 tubulin 42, 57, 73, 107, 113, 149-150 tubulin polymerization 107, 113, 150 tumor 3, 27 tyrosine hydroxylase 1, 10 tyrosine kinases 35 ubiquitin 18, 24, 26–27, 32, 57, 63, 112, 113, 153, 154 ventral tegmental area virus 24, 114 Volga German pedigree 132, 142-144